THE BENEFICIAL EFFECTS OF AN IMMUNOTHERAPEUTIC ON PRECLINICAL GULF WAR ILLNESS NEUROLOGICAL ABNORMALITIES ALONG THE HIPPOCAMPAL

DORSOVENTRAL AXIS

by

KYLE ALEXANDER BROWN

(Under the Direction of John J. Wagner)

ABSTRACT

Gulf War Illness (GWI) is a chronic, progressive, multisymptom disease that affects onethird of the 700,000 U.S. military personnel deployed to 1990-1991 Gulf War. Currently, there is a paucity of available information regarding the acute and prolonged effects of GWI on synaptic plasticity and transmission. Further, GWI therapeutics are limited, leading to a demand for developing efficacious treatments for the disease. We assessed the circuit-level mechanisms underlying the detrimental acute impact of GWI-related chemicals on synaptic transmission along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis in ex vivo slice preparations. The efficacy of the immunotherapeutic lacto-N-fucopentaose-III (LNFPIII) in ameliorating GWI-specific neurological impairments in two well-established GWI animal models was also evaluated. Acute exposure to a nerve agent surrogate used in GWI animal models, diisopropylfluorophosphate (DFP), inhibited excitatory transmission via distinct cholinergic and noncholinergic mechanisms in the dH compared to the vH whereas disinhibition of inhibitory transmission in both hippocampal sectors was largely mediated by an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-specific mechanism. A GWI animal model comprised of pyridostigmine bromide (PB) and permethrin (PM) exposures produced long-term deficits in motor, mood, and cognitive function, acute and persisting deficits in synaptic responses along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis, and delayed neuroinflammation. Coadministration of LNFPIII during PB-PM exposure enhanced

hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission, ameliorated PB-PM-induced deficits in dH synaptic transmission, and enhanced trophic factor expression. Delayed LNFPIII treatment beginning four months after PB-PM exposure was beneficial for behavioral responses in the motor and cognitive domains, ameliorated or enhanced hippocampal synaptic responses uniquely along the dorsoventral axis, and rebalanced neuroinflammation. In a different GWI model, an initial enhancement followed by a delayed reduction in hippocampal synaptic transmission as well as a prolonged impairment in synaptic plasticity was detected in animals exposed to N,N-diethyl-meta-toluamide, PB, DFP, and corticosterone, aberrations that became more pronounced in the dH over time. Importantly, GWI-specific synaptic abnormalities in this model were ameliorated by delayed LNFPIII treatment, ameliorations that coincided with beneficial effects on trophic factor expression in animals that received the immunotherapeutic. Collectively, these findings addressed considerable knowledge gaps in GWI research and underscore the potential for LNFPIII as an efficacious treatment for the disease state.

INDEX WORDS: Dorsal hippocampus, Gulf War Illness, LNFPIII, Synaptic plasticity, Synaptic transmission, Ventral hippocampus, Working memory

THE BENEFICIAL EFFECTS OF AN IMMUNOTHERAPEUTIC ON PRECLINICAL GULF WAR ILLNESS NEUROLOGICAL ABNORMALITIES ALONG THE HIPPOCAMPAL

DORSOVENTRAL AXIS

by

KYLE ALEXANDER BROWN

B.S., The University of Georgia, 2016

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of The University of Georgia in Partial

Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

ATHENS, GEORGIA

© 2021

KYLE ALEXANDER BROWN

All Rights Reserved

THE BENEFICIAL EFFECTS OF AN IMMUNOTHERAPEUTIC ON PRECLINICAL GULF WAR ILLNESS NEUROLOGICAL ABNORMALITIES ALONG THE HIPPOCAMPAL

DORSOVENTRAL AXIS

by

KYLE ALEXANDER BROWN

Major Professor: John J. Wagner Committee: Gaylen L. Edwards Nikolay M. Filipov Philip V. Holmes

Electronic Version Approved:

Ron Walcott Vice Provost for Graduate Education and Dean of the Graduate School The University of Georgia May 2021

DEDICATION

My friends, family, and the city of Athens, GA

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge a number of folks that helped me complete this work. I thank Dr. John Wagner for humbly advising me through the process of graduate training. Dr. Wagner's steady, patient, and encouraging guidance was essential in not only my development as a researcher but also as a young professional. Previous members of the Wagner lab (Dr. Collin J. Preston in particular) aided me tremendously as well. I would like to express my gratitude for Dr. Nikolay Filipov and his laboratory for the plethora of hours we spent collaborating on much of the work presented in this document. The constructive and valuable suggestions I received from my graduate committee, Dr. Gaylen Edwards, Dr. Nikolay Filipov, Dr. Phil Holmes, and Dr. John Wagner, were also indispensable. I would like to thank the faculty and staff that make up the Interdisciplinary Toxicology Program, the Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, and the College of Veterinary Medicine for the support and stimulating environment I experienced during my time here. It is unlikely that I would have completed and enjoyed my training without the vibrant and loving community of Athens. Many individuals come to mind but I would like to express my gratitude for my family, Caroline Grant, Dr. Christopher Johnston, and Jim McManmon especially. Thank you all and Go Dawgs!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ACKNOWI	LEDGEMENTSv
LIST OF T	ABLESix
LIST OF F	IGURESx
CHAPTER	
1	INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW1
	1.1 The Hippocampus: A Brief Historical Perspective1
	1.2 Hippocampal Anatomy and Circuitry4
	1.3 Hippocampal Synaptic Transmission: Cellular Mechanisms12
	1.4 Hippocampal Synaptic Plasticity26
	1.5 Hippocampal-dependent Learning and Memory
	1.6 Gulf War Illness Introduction50
	1.7 Gulf War Illness in a Preclinical Setting52
	1.8 Treating Gulf War Illness: Preclinical Studies73
	1.9 Conclusion
	References
	Figures and tables115
2	DORSOVENTRAL-SPECIFIC EFFECTS OF NERVE AGENT SURROGATE
	DIISOPROPYLFLUOROPHOSPHATE ON SYNAPTIC TRANSMISSION IN THE
	MOUSE HIPPOCAMPUS
	Abstract124
	2.1 Introduction
	2.2 Methods

	2.3 Results131
	2.4 Discussion
	References144
	Figures151
3	LACTO-N-FUCOPENTAOSE-III (LNFPIII) AMELIORATES ACUTE ABERRATIONS
	IN HIPPOCAMPAL SYNAPTIC PLASTICITY AND TRANSMISSION IN A GULF
	WAR ILLNESS ANIMAL MODEL164
	Abstract165
	3.1 Introduction
	3.2 Methods168
	3.3 Results171
	3.4 Discussion173
	References177
	Figures and tables180
4	DELAYED TREATMENT WITH THE IMMUNOTHERAPEUTIC LNFPIII
	AMELIORATES MULTIPLE NEUROLOGICAL DEFICITS IN A MOUSE MODEL OF
	GULF WAR ILLNESS
	Abstract
	4.1 Introduction
	4.2 Methods194
	4.3 Results204
	4.4 Discussion210
	References
	Figures226

5	LACTO-N-FUCOPENATOSE-III AMELIORATES ACUTE AND PERSISTING
	HIPPOCAMPAL SYNAPTIC PLASTICITY AND TRANSMISSION DEFICITS IN A
	GULF WAR ILLNESS MOUSE MODEL
	Abstract238
	5.1 Introduction239
	5.2 Methods241
	5.3 Results246
	5.4 Discussion251
	References
	Figures and tables262
6	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
	6.1 Review of Experimental Results273
	6.2 Current Challenges in Gulf War Illness Research
	6.3 Implications for Clinical Gulf War Illness291
	References

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: Differential expression of receptors along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis122		
Table 3.1: The effect of PB-PM exposure ± LNFPIII coadministration (10 d) on the expression of		
key inflammatory cytokines and growth factors in the ventral hippocampus (vH)		
measured by qPCR 48 h post-PB-PM exposure186		
Table 5.1: List of primers used in the quantitative PCR (qPCR) analysis		
Table 5.2: The effect of GWIR exposure \pm LNFPIII on the expression of key inflammatory		
cytokines and growth factors in the ventral hippocampus (vH) measured by qPCR 48 h		
post GWIR exposure270		
Table 5.3: The effect of GWIR exposure \pm LNFPIII on the expression of growth factors in the		
dorsal (dH) and ventral hippocampus (vH) measured by qPCR post GWIR exposure.271		

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 1.1: Neuroanatomical location of the hippocampal formation (green) in human (upper)
and rodent (lower) brain115
Figure 1.2: Hippocampal laminar cytoarchitecture with perforant and
alvear pathways116
Figure 1.3: Afferent and efferent projections in the dorsal hippocampus (dH) and the ventral
hippocampus (vH)117
Figure 1.4: Differential functionality along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis
Figure 1.5: Cellular mechanisms of short-term and long-term plasticity in the hippocampus119
Figure 1.6: General forms of learning and memory120
Figure 1.7: Common tasks employed in the Morris water maze (panel 1) and the eight-arm
radial arm maze (panel 2)120
Figure 1.8: Current hypothesis of the initiation and progression of
GWI pathophysiology121
Figure 2.1: The effect of diisopropylfluorophosphate (DFP) wash-in on the population spike
(PS1) and AChE activity in the dorsal (dH) and the ventral (vH) hippocampus151
Figure 2.2: Cholinergic antagonist pretreatment prevents DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in the
dH, but not in the vH153
Figure 2.3: Either cholinergic or NMDAR blockade is sufficient in preventing DFP-mediated PS1
inhibition in the dH but NMDAR blockade in the vH is indispensable
Figure 2.4: Cholinergic antagonist pretreatment does not preserve population spike paired-
pulse inhibition (PS-PPI) in neither dH nor vH slices exposed to DFP157

Figure 2.5: NMDAR antagonist pretreatment preserves PS-PPI in dH and vH slices exposed to
DFP159
Figure 2.6: Proposed schematic illustrating the effects of DFP on dorsal (dH) and ventral (vH)
hippocampal neurocircuitry in relation to the mAChR, the nAChR, and the NMDAR161
Supplemental Figure 2.1: The effect of DFP wash-in on the population spike paired-pulse ratio
(PS-PPR) in the dH and the vH162
Supplemental Figure 2.2: The effect of D-APV on the population spike (PS1) and the population
spike paired-pulse ratio (PS-PPR) in the dorsal hippocampus (dH) and the ventral
hippocampus (vH)163
Figure 3.1: Experimental design of pyridostigmine bromide-permethrin (PB-PM) exposure \pm
LNFPIII coadministration and their effect on dorsal (dH) and ventral (vH) hippocampal
synaptic transmission 48 h post-exposure180
Figure 3.2: The effect of pyridostigmine bromide-permethrin (PB-PM) exposure \pm LNFPIII
coadministration on measurements of dorsal hippocampal (dH) synaptic plasticity 48 h
post-PB-PM exposure182
post-PB-PM exposure
post-PB-PM exposure
post-PB-PM exposure
post-PB-PM exposure 182 Figure 3.3: The effect of PB-PM exposure ± LNFPIII coadministration on measurements of ventral hippocampal (vH) synaptic plasticity 48 h post-PB-PM exposure 184 Figure 4.1: Experimental and Behavioral Timelines 226 Figure 4.2: Effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment
post-PB-PM exposure 182 Figure 3.3: The effect of PB-PM exposure ± LNFPIII coadministration on measurements of ventral hippocampal (vH) synaptic plasticity 48 h post-PB-PM exposure 184 Figure 4.1: Experimental and Behavioral Timelines 226 Figure 4.2: Effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment 227
post-PB-PM exposure182Figure 3.3: The effect of PB-PM exposure ± LNFPIII coadministration on measurements of ventral hippocampal (vH) synaptic plasticity 48 h post-PB-PM exposure184Figure 4.1: Experimental and Behavioral Timelines226Figure 4.2: Effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment on motor function227Figure 4.3: Long term mood effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed227
post-PB-PM exposure182Figure 3.3: The effect of PB-PM exposure ± LNFPIII coadministration on measurements of ventral hippocampal (vH) synaptic plasticity 48 h post-PB-PM exposure184Figure 4.1: Experimental and Behavioral Timelines226Figure 4.2: Effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment on motor function227Figure 4.3: Long term mood effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment229
post-PB-PM exposure182Figure 3.3: The effect of PB-PM exposure ± LNFPIII coadministration on measurements of ventral hippocampal (vH) synaptic plasticity 48 h post-PB-PM exposure184Figure 4.1: Experimental and Behavioral Timelines226Figure 4.2: Effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment on motor function227Figure 4.3: Long term mood effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment229Figure 4.4: Cognition and memory effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII229
post-PB-PM exposure 182 Figure 3.3: The effect of PB-PM exposure ± LNFPIII coadministration on measurements of ventral hippocampal (vH) synaptic plasticity 48 h post-PB-PM exposure 184 Figure 4.1: Experimental and Behavioral Timelines 226 Figure 4.2: Effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment 227 Figure 4.3: Long term mood effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed 229 Figure 4.4: Cognition and memory effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII 229 Figure 4.4: Cognition and memory effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII 220
post-PB-PM exposure 182 Figure 3.3: The effect of PB-PM exposure ± LNFPIII coadministration on measurements of ventral hippocampal (vH) synaptic plasticity 48 h post-PB-PM exposure 184 Figure 4.1: Experimental and Behavioral Timelines 226 Figure 4.2: Effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment 227 Figure 4.3: Long term mood effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed 229 Figure 4.4: Cognition and memory effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII 229 Figure 4.5: Hippocampal measurements of synaptic plasticity and transmission after prior 230

Figure 4.6: Tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) immunoreactivity in the dorsolateral and ventromedial		
striatum 9 months post PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment232		
Figure 4.7: GFAP and IBA-1 immunoreactivity in the hilus region of the hippocampus 9 months		
post-PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment233		
Figure 4.8: Radar Plots Summary234		
Supplemental Figure 4.1: Paired-pulse facilitation magnitude post PB/PM exposure and delayed		
LNFPIII treatment		
Figure 5.1: The effect of Gulf War Illness-related (GWIR) exposure \pm LNFPIII coadministration		
on measurements of hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission 48 h post		
GWIR/LNFPIII treatment		
Figure 5.2: The effect of GWIR exposure \pm delayed LNFPIII treatment on measurements of		
hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission 7 months post GWIR treatment264		
Figure 5.3: The effect of GWIR exposure \pm delayed LNFPIII treatment on measurements of		
dorsal hippocampal (dH) synaptic plasticity and transmission 11 months post GWIR		
treatment		
Figure 5.4: The effect of GWIR exposure \pm delayed LNFPIII treatment on measurements of		
ventral hippocampal (vH) synaptic plasticity and transmission 11 months post GWIR		
treatment		

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

<u>1.1 The Hippocampus: A Historical Perspective</u></u>

During 300 BC - 300 AD, ancient scholars of the Alexandria school of medicine noticed intricate curvature of a ram horn-shaped formation in the medial temporal lobe of the brain. Accordingly, these intellectuals named this novel structure after the Latin phrase for horn of the ram, cornu ammonis (Andersen et al., 2007). This ventricular protrusion continued to fascinate researchers over the following years, leading to the 16th century Bolognese anatomist Giulio Cesare Aranzi designating it the hippocampus as it more closely resembles a seahorse-shaped structure. Early opinions on the functional significance of the hippocampus were varied until the 1930s when consensus began to form around a fundamental olfactory role for the structure (Ferrier, 1876; Rose, 1935; Penfield and Erickson, 1941). While contemporary evidence associates the hippocampus with a minor, but noteworthy, role in olfaction, the veracity of the proposition that the hippocampus was primarily involved in olfaction was diminished by Brodal (1947) where evidence that was inconsistent with this putative role of the hippocampus was reviewed. For instance, one report indicated that temporal lobe lesions did not impair the performance of dogs in olfactory discrimination (Allen, 1940). Hypotheses based on hippocampal neural circuitry such as the Papez circuit (Papez, 1937), as well as the discovery of functional oscillatory activity in the hippocampus known as "theta" (Jung and Kornmüller, 1938) continued to cast doubts on the postulation that the hippocampus served as a principal player in olfaction. Revitalized interest in the role of the hippocampus in cognition began to subsequently burgeon. For instance, an earlier report by Brown and Sharpey-Schafer (1888) was one of the first studies associating the hippocampus with learning and memory. Following

other researchers in the 1880s, such as Carl Wernicke and Sergei S. Korsakov describing amnesia induced by thiamine deficiency, Bekhterev (1900) found that patients presenting comparable diseases exhibited substantial memory deficits and notable softening of the hippocampus (Wernicke, 1881; Korsakoff, 1889). Later, Scoville and Milner (1957) conducted a bilateral medial temporal lobectomy in a patient (H.M.) exhibiting severe epilepsy, an experiment that yielded devastating amnesia. Notably, following the procedure H.M. exhibited impaired ability to develop new episodic memories whereas his procedural and working memory function were unaffected. This lobectomy and the subsequent findings prompted the accelerated development of animal models to study learning and memory (Kimble, 1963; Douglas and Isaacson, 1964; Kimble, 1968) as well as robust and sensitive behavioral tasks to study learning and memory deficits (Kaada et al., 1961; Kimble, 1963; Kveim et al., 1964; Mishkin and Delacour, 1975; Olton et al., 1977; Morris, 1984). This preclinical research facilitated the discovery of multiple forms of hippocampal-dependent and hippocampalindependent memory such as declarative (Tulving, 1972) and nondeclarative memory (Winograd, 1975; Cohen and Squire, 1980), respectively. Importantly, work by O'Keefe and Dostrovsky (1971) demonstrated an association between hippocampal cellular activity and the relative location of an animal in space, suggesting that hippocampal place cells enable the hippocampus to serve as a cognitive map. These findings cemented the hippocampus as a pivotal structure involved in learning and memory, leading to decades of fruitful research inquiring into the circuitry-level mechanisms underlying the basis of hippocampal-dependent learning and memory.

Hippocampal studies revealed foundational principles of neural science such as excitatory (Kandel et al., 1961; Andersen et al., 1966a; Andersen et al., 1966b) and inhibitory synapses (Kandel et al., 1961; Andersen et al., 1964a; Andersen et al., 1964b; Curtis et al., 1970), long-term potentiation (Lømo, 1966; Bliss and Lømo, 1973; Bliss and Collingridge, 1993), and the functional role of oscillatory activity like theta rhythm (Vanderwolf, 1969; Kramis et al.,

1975). Unique anatomical and synaptic features of the hippocampus enabled the discovery of the aforementioned and many more cardinal features of the nervous system. For instance, the single-cell laminar structure of the hippocampus enabled a relatively easy investigation of circuit-level changes in the tissue compared to neocortical structures. This is due to the predominate unidirectional connectivity of the hippocampus, making the study of homogeneous principal cells in a particular layer relatively straightforward. Moreover, unidirectional connectivity in the hippocampus allowed for the assessment of heterogenous circuits such as the trisynaptic pathway. The first reports of axonal sprouting and reactive synaptogenesis in the brain were described in the hippocampus (Raisman, 1969; Matthews et al., 1976), revealing an inherent plasticity of this structure that has facilitated studies of neurogenesis. Further, synaptic properties can be assessed in long-living hippocampal neurons grown in culture. While early studies employed hippocampal cell cultures that lacked the laminar structural integrity exhibited in vivo (Banker and Cowan, 1977; Banker and Goslin, 1991), a later group developed the organotypic hippocampal slice culture (Gähwiler, 1981; Zimmer and Gähwiler, 1984; Gähwiler and Brown, 1985; Gähwiler, 1988), facilitating a variety of experiments such as the evaluation of neuron development before or after xenobiotic insult. The establishment of the transverse acute hippocampal slice experimental paradigm enabled the study of wide-ranging physiologicallyrelevant synaptic plasticity and transmission responses in vitro (Li and McIlwain, 1957; Bliss and Richards, 1971; Skrede and Westgaard, 1971). Properties such as the lack of a blood-brain barrier and sustained health of the preparation permitted in-depth investigation of translational hippocampal slice synaptic properties with extracellular and intracellular recording approaches. For instance, continued refinement of hippocampal electrophysiology techniques and hippocampal-dependent behavioral tasks led Whitlock et al. (2006) to observe an association between a synaptic response, long-term potentiation, and the capacity for learning and memory. As electrophysiological approaches such as multielectrode arrays and in vivo unit recordings as well as imaging technology like functional magnetic resonance imaging continue to be

improved, the story of the hippocampus will evolve. The following subsections will survey the neuroanatomy of the hippocampal formation, cellular properties that underlie the crucial functions of the hippocampus in synaptic transmission, forms and phases of hippocampal synaptic plasticity, and the pivotal role of the hippocampus in learning and memory.

1.2 Hippocampal Anatomy and Circuitry

<u>1.2.1 General anatomy of the hippocampus</u>

The hippocampus is a bilateral structure located in the mammalian medial temporal lobe (Fig. 1.1). Decades of research has been conducted on the intricate laminar configuration of the hippocampus that shapes its complex role in synaptic transmission. Recent studies have led to an increasing appreciation of the differential functionality along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis. Notably, this unique activity may be attributed to diverging extrinsic projections and distinct cellular properties throughout the hippocampal longitudinal axis. The following subsection will briefly review the anatomy and circuitry of the hippocampal formation.

A broad neuroanatomical characterization of this temporal lobe structure is the "hippocampal formation", which consists of the entorhinal cortex, parasubiculum, presubiculum, subiculum, dentate gyrus, and hippocampus proper (Fig. 1.2; Andersen et al., 2007). The hippocampus proper refers to the CA1-CA4 subfields and is generally defined as the unambiguous hippocampal structure. Regions within the hippocampal formation exhibit distinct laminar cytoarchitecture. Specifically, the subiculum, dentate gyrus, and hippocampus proper are distributed into laminar subregions defined as the *alveus*, *stratum oriens* (str. oriens), *stratum pyramidale* (str. pyr.), *stratum lucidum* (str. luc.), *stratum radiatum* (str. rad.), *stratum lacunosum-moleculare* (str. lac-mol.), *stratum granulosum* (str. gr.), and the hippocampal fissure (Andersen et al., 2007). The alveus is a thin fiber consisting of efferent CA1 fibers located on the ventricular surface of the hippocampus, bundling to form projections from hippocampal pyramidal cells to the subiculum and subsequently to the fornix. The str. oriens is positioned deep relative to the pyramidal cell layer and can be defined as an infrapyramidal region that

contains CA3-CA1 Schaffer collateral projections in addition to CA3-CA3 associational projections. The str. oriens also consists of basket cells, horizontal trilaminar cell somata, and basal dendrites of pyramidal cells. The str. pyr. is the principal cell layer of the hippocampus proper, comprising tightly packed pyramidal cell somata in the CA1 subfield and less condensed pyramidal cells in the CA2 and CA3 subfields. Cell bodies of interneurons such as radial trilaminar cells, axo-axonic cells, and bistratified cells, are also found in the str. pyr. A very thin, acellular, CA3-specific lamina including mossy fibers known as the str. luc. is positioned above the str. pyr. Directly above the str. pyr. in the CA1 and CA2 subfields but above the str. luc. in the CA3 subfield is the str. rad., a suprapyramidal lamina containing CA3-CA1 Schaffer collateral projections and CA3-CA3 associational connections (Fig. 1.2). A litary of interneurons (i.e., basket cells and radial trilaminar cells) as well as the apical dendrites of pyramidal cells are located within the str. rad. The subsequent layer, the str. lac-mol., is the most superficial lamina of the hippocampus, consisting of far-traveling distal apical dendrites of pyramidal cells and a myriad of interneurons. Dendritic branches of dentate gyrus granule cells are also found in the str. lac-mol. Notably, the str. lac-mol. is the target site of the perforant pathway, a significant entorhinal cortex projection. The str. gr. is a U/V-shaped layer consisting of dentate gyrus granule cell somata, where in between this lamina are dentate gyrus mossy cells and several other polymorphic cells that make up the hilus. The hippocampal fissure is a cell-free region involved in oscillatory activity and anatomically separates the dentate gyrus from the CA1 subfield of the hippocampus proper (Fig. 1.2).

1.2.2 Fundamental hippocampal circuitry

The structurally distinct and well-defined laminar configuration of the hippocampus formation facilitated the investigation of local circuitry within the structure, revealing two critical unidirectional glutamatergic projections that originate in the entorhinal cortex: the perforant pathway and the alvear pathway (Neves et al., 2008). The entorhinal cortex receives significantly processed innervation from brain regions responsible for integrating sensory

information, resulting in distinct subregions and layers within the entorhinal cortex serving as an interface between neocortical and hippocampal connectivity (Fyhn et al., 2004). The initial synapse of the perforant pathway, or trisynaptic pathway, is produced by excitatory projections from layers II and III of the entorhinal cortex that form a synapse at the dendritic branches of dentate gyrus granule cells. Axons of granule cells known as mossy fibers then carry excitatory projections to the apical dendrites of CA3 pyramidal cells, forming the second synapse in this trisynaptic pathway. Excitatory Schaffer collaterals originating in the CA3 subfield then form the third synapse at CA1 pyramidal cell apical dendrites in the str. rad., where the signal ultimately perforates the subiculum or feeds back to the entorhinal cortex. Additionally, the alvear pathway originates in layers II and III of the entorhinal cortex where the pathway turns toward the alveus before perforating CA1/CA3 pyramidal cells via termination in the str. lac-mol. (Clark and Squire, 2013). These two well-studied pathways underscore the efficiency of synaptic transmission mediated by the distinct subregion, subfield, and laminar organization of the hippocampal formation.

1.2.3 Functional differentiation along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis

There has been increased appreciation for differential functionality of the posterior [dorsal (dH), septal] and anterior [ventral (vH), temporal] hippocampal sectors over the past decade (Bannerman et al., 2004; Fanselow and Dong, 2010). Functional differences in efferent and afferent projections along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis were initially suggested in the 1970s (Siegel and Tassoni, 1971; Swanson and Cowan, 1977), followed by later findings by Moser et al. (1995), which revealed the unique roles the two sectors play in behavior. Overall, hippocampal-dependent behavior is regulated by dorsoventral-specific synaptic plasticity and transmission, resulting in the dH being predominately linked to spatial memory whereas the vH is primarily associated with affective and stress-related activity (Bannerman et al., 2004). Unique local circuitry along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis contributes to the differing properties of the dH and the vH (Fig. 1.3). For example, the majority of entorhinal cortex

projections reach the vH CA1 subfield via the perforant pathway; however, entorhinal cortex fibers increasingly follow the alvear pathway at more septal portions of the hippocampal longitudinal axis (Andersen et al., 2007). Therefore, entorhinal cortex innervation primarily moves along the alvear pathway to reach the dH CA1 subfield. Diverging efferent and afferent projections along the hippocampal longitudinal axis is another rudimental factor for this distinct behavioral functionality (Risold and Swanson, 1996; Fanselow and Dong, 2010; Poppenk et al., 2013). For instance, visuospatial sensory efferents from respective associational cortices reach the dH via caudolateral fibers of the entorhinal cortex whereas olfactory, gustatory, and visceral sensory-related efferents project to the vH through rostromedial entorhinal cortex selectively target the dH, resulting in this sector of the hippocampus playing a unique role in integrating spatial and cognitive information (Naber and Witter, 1998). Additionally, distinctive, direct projections from the olfactory bulb and other primary olfactory cortical regions to the vH CA1 lead to a vH-specific influence over sensory input (Roberts et al., 2007).

1.2.4 Dorsal hippocampal-specific circuitry

The dH CA1 and dorsal subicular complex send significant afferent projections to the retrosplenial and anterior cingulated cortices (Risold et al., 1997; Roberts et al., 2007), leading to further influence in spatial navigation, memory processing, and integration of visuospatial input (Jones and Wilson, 2005). The dH CA1 and CA3 subfields also innervate portions of the lateral septal nucleus (Risold and Swanson, 1996), a structure that projects to brain regions involved in the production and modulation of hippocampal theta rhythm during locomotion such as the supramammillary nucleus and medial septal complex (Stewart and Fox, 1990). The dH CA3 subfield projection to the lateral septum also leads to indirect innervation of the ventral tegmental area, impacting motivation and locomotor activity (Luo et al., 2011). The dorsal subiculum further shapes locomotor activity through direct projections to the rostrolateral nucleus accumbens and rostral caudoputamen (Groenewegen et al., 1996; Naber and Witter,

1998), resulting in subsequent indirect innervation of the ventral tegmental area and substantia nigra via the ventral pallidum or globus pallidus (Groenewegen et al., 1996). Additionally, the dorsal subiculum complex innervates the anterior thalamic complex and mammillary nuclei via the postcommissural fornix (Kishi et al., 2000), a pathway that reciprocally innervates the dH to generate and finetune a cognitive map during navigation and exploration (Risold et al., 1997).

1.2.5 Ventral hippocampal-specific circuitry

On the other hand, the vH CA1 and ventral subiculum exhibit unique bidirectional projections between the infralimbic, prelimbic, and agranular insular cortices of the medial prefrontal cortex as well as a myriad of amygdalar nuclei, resulting in the vH being well-positioned to influence affective states and emotional responses (Fanselow and Dong, 2010). Direct and indirect innervations from this bidirectional vH circuit project to the medial and central nuclei of the amygdala as well as the bed nucleus stria terminalis, ultimately terminating in the periventricular and medial zones of the hypothalamus to impact fundamental emotional and motivational behaviors such as defense, reproduction, and ingestion (Kishi et al., 2000). A monosynaptic projection to the nucleus accumbens shell from the vH CA1 as well as ventral subiculum further impact motivational states such as feeding and reward processing (Groenewegen et al., 1996; Naber and Witter, 1998). Additionally, polysynaptic projections from the ventral subiculum to the ventral tegmental area shape behavior related to motivation, further highlighting distinctions between extrinsic circuitry along the dorsoventral axis (Lisman and Grace, 2005; Kahn and Shohamy, 2013).

<u>1.2.6 Cellular and molecular differences between the dorsal hippocampus and the ventral</u> hippocampus

Additionally, differential cellular characteristics such as greater density and selectivity of place cells in the dH compared to the vH (Jung et al., 1994) contribute to unique functionality along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis (Fig. 1.4). A litany of other receptor-related differences influences distinct physiological activity between the dH and the vH (Table 1.1). Notably,

divergent glutamatergic, y-amino butyric (GABA)-ergic, and neuromodulatory receptor density in the dH compared to the vH results in divergent synaptic properties. Specifically, the dH exhibits greater α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptor and N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor density than the vH (Pandis et al., 2006). The vH has a greater GluN2A:GluN2B density ratio compared to the dH, contributing to discrete cation conduction that influences alterations in synaptic plasticity (Pandis et al., 2006). Further, studies suggest differential expression of metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluR) such as greater mGluR5 density in the dH compared to the vH promotes divergent synaptic properties between the sectors (Kouvaros and Papatheodoropoulos, 2016a). Unique density of GABA receptors has also been described along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis. For example, a greater density of the α_1 subunit of the GABA_A receptor was reported in the dH whereas elevated quantities of the α_2 subunit and α_5 subunit GABA_A receptor were described in the vH (Sotiriou et al., 2005). Further, studies demonstrated that the GABA_B receptor is found at greater densities in the dH compared to the vH (Papatheodoropoulos, 2015b; Papatheodoropoulos, 2015a; Kouvaros and Papatheodoropoulos, 2016b). Receptors involved in modulatory neurotransmission are also differentially expressed in the dH compared to the vH. For instance, the cannabinoid receptor type 1 was observed at greater densities in the dH compared to the vH (Kouvaros and Papatheodoropoulos, 2016a). Further, distinct expression of the muscarinic acetylcholine receptor (mAChR) and the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR) were reported along the dorsoventral axis (Ruiz et al., 1993; Jung et al., 1994; Huang and Winzer-Serhan, 2006; Kenney et al., 2012). Receptors implicated in the regulation of intracellular Ca²⁺ signaling like the ryanodine receptor (RyR) were also shown to be differentially expressed along the dorsoventral axis where the RyR1 was found at greater densities in the vH compared to the dH (Grigoryan et al., 2012). Additionally, membrane receptors involved in stress-related responses such as the glucocorticoid (GR) and mineralocorticoid (MR) receptors are dissimilarly expressed along the

hippocampal dorsoventral axis where the GR was found at greater densities in the dH whereas the MR was expressed at higher levels in the vH (Robertson et al., 2005).

1.2.7 Differential synaptic plasticity and transmission along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis

These unique cellular properties contribute to divergent synaptic transmission in the dH compared to the vH. For instance, the vH exhibits enhanced CA1 pyramidal cell excitability compared to the dH (Papatheodoropoulos, 2018). The vH also exhibits weaker overall synaptic inhibition (Papatheodoropoulos et al., 2002) and recurrent inhibition in the CA1 subfield (Petrides et al., 2007) relative to the dH, responses that are reflected in a greater fast and slow inhibitory postsynaptic potential amplitude in the dH compared to the vH (Papatheodoropoulos et al., 2002). Dorsoventral-specific differences in synaptic transmission also manifest in responses related to synaptic plasticity. For instance, dorsoventral-specific short-term alterations in synaptic plasticity were reported in a study that described the dH exhibiting greater paired-pulse facilitation magnitude whereas the vH displayed an elevated probability of neurotransmitter release (Papatheodoropoulos and Kostopoulos, 2000b). Further, the dH has a greater capacity for persisting synaptic potentiation, which is reflected by elevated long-term potentiation (LTP) magnitude and LTP half-life in the dH compared to the vH (Papatheodoropoulos and Kostopoulos, 2000a; Maggio and Segal, 2007b). Evidence of unique oscillatory activity in the dH compared to the vH has also been described. For example, the vH is the origination site of sharp-wave ripples (Patel et al., 2013; Kouvaros and Papatheodoropoulos, 2017) and exhibits greater spontaneous network activity (Brazier, 1970; Papatheodoropoulos, 2018) than the dH. These types of oscillatory responses and a weaker overall inhibitory tone in the vH contributes to the initiation of epileptogenesis in the temporal sector of the hippocampus that propagates toward the septal sector (Gilbert et al., 1985; Bragdon et al., 1986; Traub et al., 1993; Derchansky et al., 2006; Häussler et al., 2012; Mikroulis and Psarropoulou, 2012; Papatheodoropoulos, 2018). On the contrary, the dH is more responsive to oscillations in the theta range (5 Hz) and theta entrainment initially occurs in the

septal hippocampal sector and propagates towards the temporal sector (Goutagny et al., 2009; Lubenov and Siapas, 2009; Royer et al., 2010; Hinman et al., 2011; Long et al., 2015). Nonetheless, some physiological responses are sector-independent. For example, basal synaptic activity such as baseline input/output field excitatory postsynaptic potential (Papatheodoropoulos and Kostopoulos, 2000b; Papatheodoropoulos and Kostopoulos, 2000a; Pofantis and Papatheodoropoulos, 2014; Kouvaros and Papatheodoropoulos, 2016a; Kouvaros and Papatheodoropoulos, 2016b; Papatheodoropoulos, 2018) and presynaptic fiber volley (Papatheodoropoulos and Kostopoulos, 2000a; Maggio and Segal, 2007a; Grigoryan et al., 2012; Pofantis and Papatheodoropoulos, 2014; Kouvaros and Papatheodoropoulos, 2016b) responses, as well as synaptic plasticity measurements like long-term depression (LTD) (Maggio and Segal, 2009), are similar between the sectors. It is also presently unclear if there are any significant differences between dH and vH pyramidal cell resting membrane potential (Papatheodoropoulos, 2018). Exposure of the hippocampus to abnormal conditions underscores the profound functional impact of unique properties in the dH and the vH. For instance, the vH exhibits a greater capacity for metaplasticity, which is reflected in elevated vH, but not dH, LTP magnitude following in vitro exposure to a mGluR1 (Maggio and Segal, 2007b) or RyR agonist (Grigoryan et al., 2012) as well as pre-tetanic low-frequency stimulation priming (Maggio and Segal, 2007b). Further, a metaplastic stress effect resulted in the vH exhibiting greater LTP magnitude than the dH following exposure to stressful stimuli or bath application of corticosterone (Maggio and Segal, 2007a; Maggio and Segal, 2011; Grigoryan et al., 2015). An additional example of the metaplastic stress effect includes the substantial dorsoventral-specific disparities in LTD magnitude observed following exposure to stress or corticosterone where dH LTD was enhanced while vH LTD was reduced before being converted to slow-onset LTP (Maggio and Segal, 2009; Maggio and Segal, 2011). These distinct stress-induced responses in synaptic plasticity along the dorsoventral axis are related to the uniquely elevated expression of the GR and the MR in the dH and the vH, respectively (Maggio and Segal, 2010; Maggio and

Segal, 2012). Specifically, corticosterone-induced activation of the GR in the dH led to enhanced inhibitory postsynaptic current (IPSC) amplitude, resulting in hyperpolarized membrane potential and inactivation NMDA receptors. This consequently led to reduced dH LTP and elevated LTD. In the vH, corticosterone-mediated stimulation of the MR decreased the frequency of IPSCs, facilitating pyramidal cell excitability. This change in excitability enabled the activation of voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels (VGCC), increasing vH LTP magnitude. Additionally, increased vH pyramidal cell excitability stimulated the mGluR1, decreasing GABA production to ultimately shift LTD to slow-onset LTP. Overall, this example of differential stress-induced metaplasticity in the dH and the vH highlights the intricate functional segregation of the hippocampal dorsoventral axis which allows these structures to respond and adapt to a myriad of exogenous stimuli (Thiagarajan et al., 2007).

Cumulatively, these studies demonstrate how the elaborate yet well-organized cytoarchitectural and laminar structure of the hippocampal formation contributes to its activity in physiological responses. Functional segregation along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis may be attributed to distinct local and extrahippocampal afferent and efferent projections as well as dissimilar cellular properties within the sectors. Cellular properties that differentially manifest across the dH and the vH contribute to critical and unique roles these sectors play in synaptic plasticity and transmission.

1.3 Hippocampal Synaptic Transmission: Cellular Mechanisms

<u>1.3.1 Overview</u>

The action potential facilitates neural responses via neuronal signal transduction, resulting in the release of synaptic vesicles that enable synaptic transmission. Hippocampal synaptic transmission is predominately driven by excitatory glutamatergic activity and shaped by inhibitory GABA-related signaling. Neurotransmission is also modulated by neurotransmitters such as acetylcholine (ACh). The neurotransmitter responsible for facilitating excitatory transmission of principal cells, glutamate, primarily interacts with fast-acting AMPA and slow-

acting NMDA ionotropic receptors. The ionotropic GABA_A receptor is responsible for rapid inhibition of hippocampal neurotransmission whereas the metabotropic GABA_B receptor mediates slow inhibition of synaptic activity. ACh interacts with the ionotropic nAChR as well as the metabotropic mAChR, resulting in a variety of neuromodulatory effects on hippocampal synaptic transmission. The following subsection will provide a brief overview of a fundamental response involved in cell-to-cell communication throughout the nervous system, the action potential, that results in synaptic vesicle release. Additionally, fundamental receptors involved in glutamatergic, GABAergic, and cholinergic hippocampal synaptic transmission will be discussed.

1.3.2 Presynaptic mechanisms of synaptic transmission

The firing of an action potential is one of the most important decisions a neuron will make (Bean, 2007). Starting at a standard resting membrane potential of -70 mV, the action potential is initiated due to spatiotemporal-dependent graded depolarization of the membrane potential (V_m). Once a sufficient membrane depolarization threshold is met, the upstroke of the action potential begins via a substantial electrochemical gradient-driven influx of Na⁺ through opening of the activation gate of voltage-gated Na⁺ (Na_V) channels. As the V_m approaches the Na⁺ equilibrium potential (E_{Na}), the driving forces of the electrochemical gradient are reduced, leading to a reduced influx of Na⁺. Additionally, while the V_m approaches E_{Na}, spontaneous inactivation of Nav channels begins to occur due to the closing of the inactivation gate within the channel, ultimately producing the top of the action potential upstroke. At about the same time as inactivation of Na_V channels, the activation gate of delayed rectifying voltage-gated K⁺ (K_V) channels begins to open, allowing a massive efflux of K⁺ and the downstroke of the action potential. As Nav channels are still inactivated and the cell is predominately permeable to only K^+ , the electrochemical driving force of K^+ efflux and K^+ leak channels enable the V_m to become hyperpolarized relative to the resting membrane potential, resulting in a hyperpolarized afterpotential that is very similar to E_{K} . As the inactivation gate of Na_{V} channels and activation

gate of K_V channels close, a refractory period begins and the V_m of the cell reverses back to the resting membrane potential, resetting the cell for another action potential. At the subcellular level, the described action potential was generated at the axon hillock and travels down the axon via saltatory conduction to result in synaptic vesicle release in a process that consists of stages known as docking, priming, fusion-pore opening, and fusion (Ramakrishnan et al., 2012; Südhof, 2013). Docking is initiated as neuronal depolarization occurs following action potential invasion of the presynaptic bouton, resulting in altered V_m. This shift in V_m enables steric alterations in membrane-bound receptors such as the VGCC, facilitating Ca²⁺ influx. Intracellular Ca²⁺ then interacts with calmodulin, an interaction that results in the synapsin protein being released from the actin cytoskeleton. Synapsin releasing from the actin cytoskeleton initiates mobilization of the synaptic vesicle to its docking position in the active zone of the presynaptic terminal. Once the synaptic vesicle is docked, priming begins via synaptic vesicle-associated Rab3 interaction with active zone-associated proteins Munc13 and Rab3 interacting molecule (RIM). Following the occurrence of the Rab3-Munc13 interaction, the formation of the soluble Nethylmaleimide-sensitive factor (NSF) attachment receptor (SNARE) complex is initiated. The SNARE complex consists of synaptic vesicle-associated protein synaptobrevin (VAMP-1/2) and active zone-associated proteins syntaxin-1 and synaptosome-associated protein 25 (SNAP25). These three SNARE proteins physically interact via their relatively similar SNARE binding motif to assemble the SNARE complex. Other proteins interact with SNARE proteins to enable the priming process. For instance, Munc18 binds to the Habc domain of syntaxin-1 to facilitate stability of the SNARE complex. Sec1 also interacts with the SNARE complex to enable stabilization. The RIM-Rab3-Munc13 protein complex interacts with the active zone-associated RIM-binding protein (RIM-BP) to ensure that the synaptic vesicle is physically close enough to the active zone to encounter the trigger for vesicular fusion: Ca²⁺. Specifically, RIM-BP simultaneously interacts with VGCC proximal to the active zone and RIM-Rab3-Munc13 synaptic vesicle complex to ensure sufficient Ca²⁺ will be present at the active zone to trigger

fusion. A synaptic-vesicle-associated protein, synaptotagmin, acts as a Ca²⁺ sensor for fusion. Synaptotagmin functions as the Ca²⁺ sensor as a result of its two C2 Ca²⁺ binding domains that facilitate a physical interaction between the synaptic-vesicle-associated protein and the divalent cation. Once the priming steps are completed and sufficient Ca²⁺ is in the active zone, the fusion-pore opening will initiate for the readily releasable pool of synaptic vesicles as a result of Ca²⁺ binding to synaptotagmin. A phospholipid-binding motif of the Ca²⁺ sensor protein will then fuse with the cell membrane, allowing synaptotagmin to interact with the SNARE complex. Other proteins such as complexins facilitate this synaptotagmin-SNARE complex interaction. Synaptic vesicle fusion will occur next as the content of the vesicle is released into the synapse. Compounds such as SNAPs, NSF, and ATP will subsequently aid in clathrin-mediated or clathrin-independent endocytosis, vesicular recycling, and disassembly of the SNARE complex. Synaptic vesicles contain neurotransmitters such as glutamate, GABA, and ACh, chemical messengers that travel throughout the synapse following vesicular release and induce physiological responses by interacting with membrane-bound receptors such as the AMPA, NMDA, GABA, mACh, and nACh receptors.

1.3.3 Receptor-specific roles in hippocampal synaptic transmission

1.3.3.1 Glutamatergic receptors: AMPA and NMDA receptors

The AMPA receptor is a ligand-gated ion channel and a heterotetramer consisting of GluR1-GluR4 subunits capable of conducting cation (i.e., primarily Na⁺ and K⁺) at almost all hippocampal excitatory synapses (Hollmann et al., 1989; Keinanen et al., 1990; Hollmann and Heinemann, 1994; Nakanishi et al., 1998; Ozawa et al., 1998). The subunits contain M1, M2, M3, and M4 segments, each responsible for unique functions (Bleakman and Lodge, 1998; Andersen et al., 2007). The M1 and M3 subunit segments interact with the pore-loop region of the M2 segment to form the ion channel pore of the AMPA receptor. The M2 segment determines the ion selectivity of the AMPA receptor channel. The S1 region of the N-terminal domain and the S2 region of the extracellular loop between M3 and M4 subunit segments

generates the binding site for extracellular ligands. The binding site for intracellular proteins that facilitate AMPA receptor trafficking and signaling is found at the C-terminal domain of each subunit within the cell. Distinct amino acid compositions of the GluR subunits result in diverse channel properties. Interestingly, elevated divalent cation (i.e., Ca²⁺) conduction occurs in a voltage-dependent manner as polyamine molecules are cleared from the GluA2-lacking AMPA receptor (Bowie and Mayer, 1995; Donevan and Rogawski, 1995; Kamboj et al., 1995; Koh et al., 1995), facilitating a non-linear, rectifying I/V relationship and unique alterations in synaptic plasticity (Geiger et al., 1995; Swanson et al., 1997); however, the AMPA receptor generally conducts Na⁺ current at resting membrane potential, although low-levels of K⁺ conduction does occur at depolarized membrane potentials. Compared to other glutamate receptors like the NMDA receptor, the AMPA receptor exhibits very fast glutamate binding kinetics, a rapid rise time, and high opening probability following exposure to a pulse of glutamate (Jonas et al., 1993). AMPA receptors deactivate quickly (Colquhoun et al., 1992) and are susceptible to desensitization upon prolonged exposure to aberrant concentrations of glutamate, a response that exhibits a time course determined by AMPA receptor subunit composition (Mosbacher et al., 1994). While all four AMPA receptor subunits are found in the hippocampus, a litany of studies report cell-specific expression of AMPA receptor subunits throughout the hippocampus (Jensen et al., 2003). This differential expression pattern results in unique cellular properties and subregion-specific responsibilities of AMPA receptors throughout the hippocampus. For instance, AMPA receptors found in pyramidal cells predominately consist of GluR1 and GluR2 subunits (Keinanen et al., 1990) whereas interneurons express GluR1 and GluR4-containing AMPA receptors (Andersen et al., 2007). While some GluR2/GluR3 and homomeric GluR1 AMPA receptors are expressed in principal cells (Keinanen et al., 1990; Wenthold et al., 1996), the consistent presence of a GluR2 subunit facilitates non-rectifying monovalent cation conduction with low divalent cation permeability. On the contrary, the GluR1/GluR4 heterotetramer AMPA receptors commonly expressed by interneurons permit distinct cellular

activity of these GABAergic cells compared to their principal cell counterparts. For example, GluR1/GluR4-containing AMPA receptors expressed in interneurons are highly permeable to divalent cation and exhibit a rectifying I/V relationship (Geiger et al., 1995). Evidence also suggests a subcellular-specific distribution of hippocampal AMPA receptors where AMPA receptors are expressed at greater densities in the distal portion of dendrites compared to the proximal segment, suggesting that subcellular-specific expression of AMPA receptors may contribute to integration of synaptic activity (Magee and Cook, 2000).

Another classic ionotropic glutamate receptor is the NMDA receptor, a heterotetramer that is comprised of GluN1, GluN2A, GluN2B, GluN2C, GluN2D, GluN3A, or GluN3B subunits (McBain and Mayer, 1994). Each subunit consists of M1-M4 segments, serving functions that are generally similar to those mentioned in the previous AMPA receptor subsection. NMDA receptors commonly incorporate two GluN1 subunits and two GluN2 subunits (Dingledine et al., 1999). Current nomenclature rules define NMDA receptors containing two GluN1 and two GluN2A subunits as GluN2A receptor subtypes whereas NMDA receptors comprised of two GluN1 and two GluN2B subunits are defined as GluN2B receptor subtypes, and so on for the remaining GluN2 and GluN3 receptor subtypes. While the GluN2A and GluN2B receptor subtypes are the most commonly expressed forms of the NMDA receptor in the hippocampus, all NMDA receptor subtypes except the GluN3B receptor subtype are expressed in the temporal lobe structure (Andersen et al., 2007). Activation of the NMDA receptor requires glycine (Johnson and Ascher, 1987; Kleckner and Dingledine, 1988) or D-serine (Schell et al., 1995; Barañano et al., 2001) binding in addition to a physical interaction with glutamate, and the GluN1 subunit contains a binding site for these two co-agonists. GluN1 knockout experiments demonstrated that this subunit is essential for channel function of the NMDA receptor (Forrest et al., 1994). GluN2 subunits contain a binding pocket for glutamate and are primarily responsible for regulating electrophysiological as well as pharmacological properties of channels within the NMDA receptor (Laube et al., 1997). Specifically, GluN2 subunits regulate the NMDA receptor

conductance profile, duration of opening, and Mg²⁺ sensitivity; however, different GluN2 subunits provide unique physiological properties for NMDA receptors (Andersen et al., 2007). Specifically, the GluN2B receptor subtype conducts substantially more cation current than the GluN2A receptor subtype, leading to the former being essential for learning and memory-related effects of the NMDA receptor. Further, Mg²⁺ voltage sensitivity, as well as the activation/deactivation kinetic activity of GluN2D receptor subtypes, are substantially reduced compared to GluN2A and GluN2B receptor subtypes, providing cell-specific differences in hippocampal synaptic transmission. GluN3 subunits contain a glycine binding site, resulting in GluN3 NMDA receptor subtypes playing an essential role in glycine conduction (Dingledine et al., 1999). Specifically, heterotetramers comprised of GluN1 and GluN3 subunits act as glycinegated ion channels (Chatterton et al., 2002). While both the AMPA and NMDA receptors play a fundamental role in hippocampal excitatory synaptic transmission, the latter receptor exhibits slower overall kinetics (Dingledine et al., 1999). Altered kinetics of the NMDA receptor also leads to decrease probability of the receptor being in an open state (Jahr, 1992; Rosenmund et al., 1995) in addition to exhibiting a greater affinity for the endogenous ligand glutamate (Patneau and Mayer, 1990) compared to its AMPA counterpart, facilitating differential roles for these two receptors in glutamatergic transmission. Further, the NMDA receptor functions as a "coincidence detector" during unique moments of synaptic activity (Wigström and Gustafsson, 1986). Specifically, a voltage-dependent Mg²⁺ channel pore in the NMDA receptor is blocked under resting and slightly depolarized membrane potential, preventing the conduction of divalent cation (i.e., Ca²⁺); however, upon glutamate binding to the NMDA receptor and sufficient postsynaptic membrane depolarization, the Mg²⁺ block is expelled and Ca²⁺ conduction occurs. Subsequent downstream Ca²⁺-dependent signaling mechanisms activated by NMDA receptorinduced Ca²⁺ conduction facilitates processes of synaptic plasticity that have been associated with hippocampal-dependent learning and memory such as the induction of LTP (Emptage et al., 1999; Lüscher and Malenka, 2012). NMDA receptor subunits are differentially expressed

throughout the hippocampus in particular cell types, resulting in cell-specific physiological roles within hippocampal subregions (Monyer et al., 1994). For example, GluN1 subunits are expressed in all pyramidal cells, dentate granule cells, and many interneurons whereas GluN2A and GluN2B are expressed in principal cells as well as interneurons throughout all hippocampal lamina (Laurie and Seeburg, 1994; Monyer et al., 1994). The GluN3A receptor subtype is primarily expressed by CA1 pyramidal cells in the adult hippocampus (Laurie and Seeburg, 1994; Monyer et al., 1994), further underscoring region and cell-specific expression of NMDA receptor subunits. NMDA receptor subtypes are also differentially expressed at synapses. For instance, GluN2A receptor subtypes are preferentially expressed on commissural/associational synapses in the CA3 subfield whereas GluN2B receptor subtypes are commonly found at fimbrial-CA3 synapses (Ito et al., 1997). Subcellular-specific distribution of NMDA receptor subtypes within the hippocampus is also unique where GluN2B receptor subtypes are preferentially expressed on apical dendrites rather than basal dendritic compartments of neurons in the CA1 subfield that receive innervation from the CA3 subfield (Kawakami et al., 2003). Collectively, these reports briefly illustrate the complex synaptic, cellular, and regionspecific expression profile of dissimilar NMDA receptor subtypes that result in diverse physiological functionality of this essential glutamatergic receptor.

1.3.3.2 Inhibitory receptors: GABA receptors

Excitatory glutamatergic transmission and network oscillatory activity in the hippocampus is shaped by GABAergic interneurons that express presynaptic, postsynaptic, extrasynaptic, or perisynaptic GABA_A and GABA_B receptors (Watkins and Evans, 1981; Kullmann et al., 2005). The composition of ionotropic GABA_A receptors is distinct from metabotropic GABA_B receptors, resulting in unique physiological functions of the former monovalent anion (i.e., Cl⁻) conducting receptor compared to the latter G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) (Chebib and Johnston, 1999). GABA_A receptors are from the Cys-loop ligand-gated ion channel superfamily and are heteropentameric transmembrane (TM) receptors

comprised of either α_{1-6} , β_{1-3} , γ_{1-3} , δ , ϵ , π , or θ subunits (Mehta and Ticku, 1999). The subunits α_1 , α_2 , α_5 , β_3 , and γ_2 are notably expressed in the hippocampus proper whereas α_3 , α_4 , β_1 , β_2 , γ_1 , y_3 , and δ are found at low levels in the hippocampus proper (Sperk et al., 1997). Studies suggest that other subunits are differentially distributed throughout the rodent hippocampus while the subunits α_6 , ϵ , π , and θ are not found in the rodent hippocampus (Sperk et al., 1997). Hippocampal GABA_A receptors predominately consist of two α and two β subunits with either an individual γ or δ subunit (Chang et al., 1996; Farrar et al., 1999; Whiting et al., 1999). Each GABA_A receptor subunit serves a unique role in channel functionality, leading to diverse physiological properties of GABA_A synapses such as altering decay rate and conductance of IPSCs. For instance, the α subunit regulates receptor affinity for the endogenous GABA ligand, exogenous ligands such as benzodiazepines and anesthetics, and neuromodulatory agents like ethanol and Zn²⁺ (Barnard et al., 1998). GABA_A receptors are fast-acting (milliseconds) ligandgated ion channels, allowing for hyperpolarization of membrane potential following rapid Cl conduction that results in regulation of action potential frequency and elevation of secondary signaling molecules like Ca²⁺ (Andersen et al., 2007). While activation of GABA_A receptors instigates point-to-point inhibition of synaptic activity (Isaacson et al., 1993), the reversal potential of Cl ions is hyperpolarized relative to the resting membrane potential of many neurons in the hippocampus, resulting in additional influence on the resting membrane potential due to Cl⁻ shunting (Vida et al., 2006). The location of GABA_A receptors relative to the synapse leads to differential hyperpolarization effects due to varying spatial effects of C¹ conduction (Mody, 2001). Differential subcellular distribution of GABA_A receptors in pyramidal cells and interneurons also significantly influences synaptic activity. While evidence suggests that an individual hippocampal pyramidal cell exhibits approximately 1700 GABAergic synapses (Megias et al., 2001), the apical dendritic shaft displays the greatest GABA_A receptor density relative to the rest of the pyramidal cell dendrite (Papp et al., 2001). The high density of GABAergic synapses at this axon hillock region of pyramidal cells permits substantial regulation

of action potential initiation while distal GABAergic synapses on dendritic compartments monitors Ca²⁺ spike propagation. Additionally, differential density of GABA_A receptor subtypes expressed by hippocampal pyramidal cells permits distinct physiological function throughout the temporal lobe structure. For instance, unique kinetics of IPSCs are observed at various positions throughout pyramidal neurons, influencing neuronal electrotonics (Banks et al., 1998; Maccaferri et al., 2000). Overall expression of GABA_A receptors in interneurons is particularly concentrated at the perisomatic region as well as on the proximal segment of dendrites (Gulyás et al., 1999). Heavy GABA_A receptor density is also found at distal dendritic sites of interneurons but at a relatively lower density compared to the concentration at proximal dendritic sites. The functional consequence of this subcellular distribution as well as interneuron-specific GABA_A receptor expression results in a unique interneuron-selective interneuron impact on network oscillations in the hippocampus (Bartos et al., 2002).

Metabotropic GABA_B receptors in the hippocampus are heterodimer GPCRs consisting of a pair of seven TM domain protein subunits, GABA_BR₁ and GABA_BR₂ (Bettler et al., 2004). The GABA_BR₁ subunit contains a binding site for the endogenous ligand GABA as well as all competitive GABA_B ligands. The GABA_BR₁ subunit is essential for the function of GABA_B receptors as inactivation of the GABA_BR₁ gene results in the absence of biochemical and electrophysiological-related GABA_B activity (Andersen et al., 2007). The GABA_BR₂ subunit is involved in the structural activity of the GABA_B receptor such as mobilization of the heterodimer to dendritic compartments and translocation of GABA_BR₁ subunits to the cell surface (Pagano et al., 2001; Gassmann et al., 2004). Further, GABA_BR₂ knockout animals exhibit GABA_B responses in electrophysiological experiments, suggesting that the GABA_BR₂ subunit facilitates GPCR activity but is not essential to GABA_B functionality (Gassmann et al., 2004). Differential distribution of GABA_B receptor subtypes throughout synapses of principal cells and interneurons influences the receptor's diverse functional roles in the hippocampus. For example, activation of GABA_B receptors induces slow (500-2000 ms) physiological effects as a result of presynaptic,

postsynaptic, and extrasynaptic expression (Bettler et al., 2004). Presynaptic GABA_B receptors are typically localized to GABAergic and glutamatergic axon terminals (Kulik et al., 2003) and act through $G_i/G_0 \alpha$ -coupled mechanisms (Anwyl, 1991; Mintz and Bean, 1993; Poncer et al., 2000). Postsynaptic GABA_B receptors are heavily enriched on CA1 and CA3 pyramidal cell spines (Kulik et al., 2003) and facilitate K⁺ conduction (Andrade et al., 1986; Misgeld et al., 1995). Studies also suggest that activation of the GABA_B receptor induces the release of transcription factors such as cAMP-response element-binding (CREB) protein 2 and ATFx. potentially producing trophic factors like brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF; Nehring et al., 2000; White et al., 2000). Sufficient GABA spillover at the synapse following repetitive stimulation during events of widespread interneuron activation like network oscillations results in activation of extrasynaptic GABA_B receptors, leading to diffuse inhibitory transmission that may play a role in particular learning and memory states (Andersen et al., 2007). The functional role of GABA_B receptors is further complicated by their distinct concentration in subcellular compartments of hippocampal neurons. For instance, GABA_B receptors are predominately expressed on dendrites of hippocampal cells; however, subtypes of the GABA_BR₁ subunit are differentially expressed in subcellular locations of hippocampal pyramidal cells, particularly in the soma and distal dendritic compartments (Kulik et al., 2003). Subtypes of the GABA_BR₂ subunit localize in subcellular regions of pyramidal cells in a similar manner to subtypes of the GABA_BR₁ subunit (Kulik et al., 2003).

1.3.3.3 Neuromodulatory cholinergic receptors

Modulatory neurotransmitters such as ACh influence excitatory and inhibitory synaptic transmission in the hippocampus (Benardo and Prince, 1982a; Benardo and Prince, 1982b; Madison et al., 1987). Functional projections from the basal forebrain such as the medial septum/diagonal band complex and the nucleus basalis provide substantial extrahippocampal ACh to the temporal lobe structure (Stewart and Fox, 1990; Vertes and Kocsis, 1997; Hasselmo, 2006). Some hippocampal interneurons also produce low levels of ACh locally
(Andersen et al., 2007). These extrahippocampal and local sources of ACh allow the nAChR, a ligand-gated cation channel, and the mAChR, a metabotropic GPCR, to modulate hippocampal synaptic transmission. The nAChR is a member of the Cys-loop ligand-gated ion channel superfamily and is a pentameric structure (Albuquerque et al., 2009). Neuronal nAChRs consist of α_2 - α_{10} and β_2 - β_4 , resulting in a litany of distinct nAChR subtypes. While a myriad of nAChR subtypes are expressed throughout the nervous system, the majority of hippocampal nAChRs include the α_7 nAChR, the $\alpha_4\beta_2$ nAChR, and the $\alpha_3\beta_4$ nAChR subtypes (Zoli et al., 1998; Fabian-Fine et al., 2001). Each nAChR subunit contains four TM domains that facilitate specialized properties for each nAChR subtype. Importantly, the Cys-loop extracellular amino-terminal domain contains an α subunit that binds with the endogenous ligand, ACh, while TM2 acts as a rotating ion selectivity pore (Albuquerque et al., 2009). The α_7 nAChR rapidly inactivates following nonselective cation channel conduction and exhibits the unique property of being highly permeable to Ca²⁺. The $\alpha_4\beta_2$ and $\alpha_3\beta_4$ nAChR subtypes are predominately permeable to monovalent cations while the former is the primary target for nicotine. The α_7 , the $\alpha_4\beta_2$, and the $\alpha_3\beta_4$ nAChRs are expressed in a wide-variety of subcellular locations in principal cells and interneurons including the cell soma, dendrites, preterminal axon regions, axon terminals, and myelinated neuronal axons (Albuquerque et al., 1995; Wonnacott, 1997; MacDermott et al., 1999; Hogg and Bertrand, 2003; Alkondon and Albuquerque, 2004; Gotti et al., 2006; Albuquerque et al., 2009). Increasing evidence suggests that α_7 nAChRs play a substantial role in synaptic plasticity as a result of their high Ca²⁺ permeability, modulating the probability of inducing hippocampal LTP due to increased neurotransmitter release (Dajas-Bailador and Wonnacott, 2004). Additionally, a7 nAChR Ca2+ conduction induces intracellular Ca2+-dependent signaling cascades that lead to persisting alterations in synaptic structure and plasticity such as activation of Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII), phosphorylation of the downstream extracellular signal-regulated kinase/mitogen-activated protein kinase (ERK/MAPK) signaling cascade, subsequent prolonged phosphorylation of the transcription factor CREB, and

production of trophic factors like BDNF (Khiroug et al., 2003; Albuquerque et al., 2009). These synaptic modulations mediated by the α_7 nAChR suggest that the receptor is involved in overall cognitive function as well as hippocampal-dependent learning and memory, which is supported in Alzheimer's disease studies (Liu et al., 2001). Further, a consistent function for $\alpha_4\beta_2$ and the $\alpha_3\beta_4$ nAChRs in the hippocampus is currently elusive. For instance, aged, but not young, β_2 knockout mice exhibited impaired performance in the Morris water maze, a deficit that was attributed to hippocampal neurodegeneration rather than the effect of β_2 knockout (Champtiaux and Changeux, 2002). Collectively, these data indicate that nAChRs play an intricate, heterogenous, modulatory role in cognition that likely involves substantial crosstalk within the cholinergic network as well as between glutamatergic and GABAergic signaling.

The counterpart to the nAChR in cholinergic transmission is the mAChR: a seven TM domain-containing receptor that is a member of the metabotropic GPCR superfamily. The mAChR is currently known to be expressed in five subtypes, the M1-M5 mAChR (Wess, 2004). Emerging evidence continues to underscore the intricate machinery that functionally differentiates these receptor subtypes from one another (Maeda et al., 2019). For instance, a report found that the antagonist binding pocket is deep within the TM3-TM7 of the M2 mAChR (Haga et al., 2012) and a recent study outlined structural distinctions between the M1 mAChR and the M2 mAChR (Maeda et al., 2019). The heterotrimeric G-proteins that are coupled to the M1, M3, and M5 mAChRs also functionally distinguish them from the M2 and M4 mAChRs. Specifically, the M1, M3, and M5 mAChRs are coupled to phospholipase C and downstream Ca²⁺-dependent signaling mechanisms via G₀/G₁₁ G proteins whereas the M2 and M4 mAChRs are associated with negatively regulating adenylate cyclase activity and subsequent cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) through the G_i/G_0 pathway (Lanzafame et al., 2003). The M1 mAChR is the most abundantly expressed mAChR in the hippocampus and is predominately found in the soma as well as dendrites of CA1 and CA3 principal cells in addition to dentate granule cells; however, studies indicate that M1 mAChRs are expressed in

interneurons to a substantially lesser extent than principal cells (Buckley et al., 1988; Levey et al., 1995; Volpicelli and Levey, 2004). The M1 mAChR is primarily found in postsynaptic regions of the synapse although some expression has been observed on axonal and terminal regions (Drever et al., 2011). The M3 mAChR subtype is concentrated at significantly lower levels than the M1 mAChR in the hippocampus, resulting in the latter being the predominate driver of G_0/G_{11} -coupled modulatory activity in the temporal lobe structure (Buckley et al., 1988; Levey et al., 1995). Very low quantities of M5 mAChR mRNA have been observed in CA1 pyramidal cells whereas few reports have identified M5 mAChR protein in the hippocampus (Vilaró et al., 1990). Similar to the M1 mAChR, M3 and M5 mAChRs are predominately found on the postsynaptic compartment of pyramidal cells (Drever et al., 2011). Although at a relatively decreased density compared to the M1 mAChR, M2 mAChR expression is abundant in the hippocampus, particularly in GABAergic interneurons (Levey et al., 1995). Evidence suggests that M2 mAChRs are concentrated in pyramidal cells as well (Drever et al., 2011). The M2 mAChR is commonly expressed as a presynaptic autoreceptor at interneuron-pyramidal cell synapses but can also be found on postsynaptic pyramidal cells (Drever et al., 2011). M4 mAChRs are detected at relatively lower densities in the hippocampus compared to M2 mAChRs and are primarily expressed on postsynaptic CA1 and CA3 pyramidal neurons (Levey et al., 1995; Andersen et al., 2007). Activation of M1 mAChRs contributes to hippocampal neuronal excitability via decreased K⁺ conductance and modulation of intracellular Ca²⁺ signaling (Dutar et al., 1995), leading to enhancement of synaptic plasticity through augmentation of NMDA receptor currents and alteration of VGCC currents (Marino et al., 1998; Giessel and Sabatini, 2010). Additionally, hippocampal M1 mAChRs play a substantial role in the induction of unique forms of LTP such as muscarinic LTP (Segal and Auerbach, 1997; Shinoe et al., 2005). These synaptic data coupled with reports of M1 mAChR knockout mice exhibiting no impairments in contextual fear conditioning or Morris water maze task performance yet displaying deficits in a non-matching-to-sample working memory and consolidation task suggest that M1 mAChRs are

involved in intricate learning and memory processes such as hippocampal reactivation (Anagnostaras et al., 2003). Studies have demonstrated that M2 mAChRs found on septohippocampal terminals as well as local hippocampal M2 mAChR autoreceptors shape excitatory and inhibitory hippocampal synaptic transmission via increased K⁺ conductance and decreased Ca²⁺ conductance (Quirion et al., 1995; Kitaichi et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 2002), leading to hyperpolarized membrane potential that decreases the probability of releasing neurotransmitters such as ACh, GABA, and glutamate (Raiteri et al., 1984; Raiteri et al., 1990). Furthermore, knockout of the M2 mAChR resulted in impaired performance in passive avoidance tasks, suggesting that the M2 mAChR regulates synaptic mechanisms that impact hippocampal-dependent learning and memory (Tzavara et al., 2003).

Collectively, the current subsection illustrated the elegant machinery involved in the generation of the action potential, resulting in diverse forms of cellular communication. The subsequent release of chemical messengers facilitates the activation of excitatory, inhibitory, and modulatory receptors in the hippocampus, initiating the stimulation of intracellular signaling cascades that shape alterations in synaptic plasticity as well as crucial cognitive processes such as learning and memory.

1.4 Hippocampal Synaptic Plasticity

<u>1.4.1 Overview</u>

The capacity for synapses to undergo experience or activity-related alterations in efficacy is defined as synaptic plasticity. Alterations in hippocampal synaptic plasticity influence mammalian behavioral responses such as learning and memory; however, shifts in synaptic plasticity are particularly heterogenous, facilitating the capacity of synaptic mechanisms to impact wide-ranging forms of behavior. For instance, variations of short-term plasticity shape the integration of somatosensory stimuli. Additionally, the induction, expression, and maintenance of a form of long-term hippocampal synaptic plasticity that has been established as a synaptic substrate for learning and memory, LTP, results from crosstalk between the

hippocampal formation and neocortical structures, enabling the recollection of memories (Kandel et al., 2014). The current subsection will briefly review different types of short-term and long-term hippocampal synaptic plasticity.

1.4.2 Essential concepts in synaptic plasticity

Modulations in synaptic plasticity are mediated by neural modifications at the cellular level. Importantly, research suggests that changes in synaptic plasticity may be related to alterations in behavior. This hypothesis is particularly pertinent to synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus where increasing evidence indicates that changes in synaptic efficacy in this temporal lobe structure may facilitate or impair learning and memory. Repetitive, contextual, and affective-related properties of a particular learning experience impact the ability for persisting changes to occur in hippocampal synaptic plasticity, changes that are especially influenced by spatiotemporal factors. For instance, a fundamental concept of learning and memory known as Hebbian/associative learning is related to specific hippocampal synaptic activity. Specifically, Hebb (1949) proposed that pairing of repeated and persistent presynaptic stimuli with postsynaptic membrane potential depolarization results in the modulation of synaptic efficacy and the production of experience-dependent learning. Later work validated this proposal and also predicted that spike-timing-dependent plasticity regulated Hebbian learning (Caporale and Dan, 2008). Hippocampal-related behavioral paradigms that utilize Pavlovian classical conditioning provide relatively simple examples of Hebbian learning. For instance, inhibitory avoidance learning results in modulated hippocampal synaptic efficacy after an animal learns to associate a conditioned stimulus (e.g., contextual location) with an aversive, unconditioned stimulus (e.g., footshock; Whitlock et al., 2006). Following repeated pairing of the conditioned and unconditioned stimuli, responses indicative of modulated synaptic efficacy were recorded in the hippocampus. Therefore, this alteration in synaptic efficacy is indicative of Hebbian learning, underscoring the association between hippocampal-dependent behavior with modulations in hippocampal synaptic plasticity. The Schaffer-commissural projection that synapses at

hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells is the canonical Hebbian synapse, particularly due to its role in facilitating LTP; however, there are exceptions to Hebbian plasticity such as heterosynaptic LTP and LTD, mGluR-dependent LTD, and mossy fiber LTP (Andersen et al., 2007).

1.4.3 Short-term plasticity

Hebbian plasticity is just one of many fundamental hippocampal synaptic mechanisms investigated over the past few decades. Presynaptic and postsynaptic alterations in short-term and long-term synaptic plasticity have been intensely studied since the mid-20th century, resulting in a considerable debate over mechanisms that underlie essential synaptic processes involved in learning and memory such as LTP (Nicoll, 2017). For instance, forms of short-term plasticity known as post-tetanic potentiation (PTP), facilitation, and depression have been observed (Fig. 1.5; Regehr, 2012). These forms of short-term plasticity are generally dependent on presynaptic function and last as briefly as ten milliseconds or as long as a few min. PTP is a transient elevation in synaptic strength lasting up to a few min after prolonged presynaptic activation with high-frequency stimulation. Increasing the duration of tetanic stimulation generally induces longer-lasting PTP (Magleby, 1987). While the precise mechanism of PTP is uncertain, it is clear that presynaptic Ca²⁺ plays a significant role in this form of short-term plasticity. Specifically, tetanic stimulation leads to a buildup of presynaptic residual Ca²⁺, which decays with slow and rapid components. Regehr (2012) summarizes two mechanisms of slow residual Ca²⁺ decay that may account for the PTP phenomenon. The first proposal suggests that presynaptic mitochondria are filled with Ca²⁺ immediately following tetanic stimulation, Ca²⁺ that subsequently leaks out to facilitate a prolonged enhancement of presynaptic Ca²⁺ levels. The second hypothesis suggests that rapid removal of Ca²⁺ via the Ca²⁺-ATPase and the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger during and immediately after tetanic stimulation is slowed when presynaptic Na⁺ concentrations approach E_{Na}, resulting in interplay between the Ca²⁺-ATPase and the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger that leads to substantially reduced residual Ca²⁺ decay. Synaptic facilitation is commonly observed in a phenomenon known as paired-pulse facilitation (PPF) that occurs

when the release probability of a particular neurotransmitter at a synapse is low. Specifically, when two sequential stimuli separated by a brief interpulse interval reach the presynaptic bouton, the second postsynaptic response elicited by the paired stimulation is substantially larger than the first response. On the contrary, when the probability of neurotransmitter release at a synapse is high, the second paired-pulse stimulation elicits a postsynaptic response that is significantly reduced compared to the first pulse, producing a phenomenon known as pairedpulse depression (PPD). Responses indicative of short-term plasticity such as PPF are commonly observed at Schaffer Collateral-CA1 pyramidal cell synapses in the str. rad. Interestingly, most synapses in the hippocampus can exhibit PPF and PPD as these responses are fundamentally dependent upon presynaptic activity patterns, basal neurotransmitter release probability, size of the readily releasable pool of synaptic vesicles, and residual Ca²⁺ in the presynaptic bouton. For instance, as the duration of the interpulse interval is modulated, the magnitude of the readily releasable pool of synaptic vesicles and residual Ca²⁺ levels shift, allowing for a myriad of approaches to interrogate hippocampal synapses (Jackman and Regehr, 2017). One of the most prominent hypotheses that aim to explain PPF and PPD suggests that the quantity of residual Ca²⁺ remaining in the presynaptic bouton before the second paired-pulse stimulation determines whether facilitation or depression is observed. Specifically, the residual Ca²⁺ hypothesis proposes that Ca²⁺ can remain in the presynaptic terminal following the first of two paired-pulse stimuli, facilitating an even larger Ca²⁺ signal and greater Ca²+ release during the second stimulation. This is supported by reports indicating that small elevations in presynaptic Ca²⁺ levels enhance synaptic strength (Dodge Jr and Rahamimoff, 1967) whereas the addition of a photolabile Ca²⁺ chelator to whole-cell recordings blocks the facilitation of vesicular release as well as increases in postsynaptic responses (Kamiya and Zucker, 1994).

1.4.3.1 Short-term plasticity in vivo

Current evidence suggests the functional role of short-term plasticity in vivo is complex and not entirely clear; however, some studies illustrate the imperative responsibility this form of synaptic plasticity plays in physiological activity. For instance, Chung et al. (2002) demonstrated that somatosensory cortex neurons responded to initial, but not repetitive, whisker stimuli, a sensory adaption that was mediated by synaptic depression of thalamocortical synapses. Another study suggested that transient, rather than absolute, depression of synaptic activity occurs when excitatory firing frequency is suddenly elevated, allowing for percent shifts in encoding response to sensory input (Abbott et al., 1997). Functional regulation of hippocampal circuit activity via short-term plasticity was also described by Pouille and Scanziani (2004) where prolonged activation of CA3 pyramidal cells resulted in a temporary shift of synaptic inhibition from the soma to dendrites receiving the excessive stimulation. Overall, short-term plasticity plays a significant functional role in spatiotemporal-dependent regulation of synaptic computation as well as circuit-level neuronal signaling and coding (Abbott and Regehr, 2004; Grande and Spain, 2005).

1.4.4 Long-term plasticity

More than 60 years ago researchers observed rudimental indicators of long-term plasticity such as notable potentiation of synaptic activity following high-frequency stimulation (Cragg and Hamlyn, 1955; Kandel and Spencer, 1961; Gloor et al., 1964), leading to Andersen (1960) showing that commissural responses of CA3 and CA1 cells exhibited elevated excitability for up to eight min following brief 10-20 Hz stimulation. Subsequent studies demonstrated that repeated, high-frequency stimulation greater than 20 Hz resulted in significantly longer-lasting enhancement of synaptic efficacy (Lømo, 1966), laying the foundation for experiments that detected LTP as well as the growth of synaptic potentials for hours to weeks after tetanus (Bliss and Lømo, 1970; Bliss and Lømo, 1973). While LTP has been recorded in regions such as the amygdala, cerebellum, and prefrontal cortex (Laroche et

al., 1990; Armano et al., 2000; Sigurdsson et al., 2007), the majority of LTP research has been conducted in the hippocampus. Therefore, this review will focus on hippocampal long-term plasticity with a particular emphasis on NMDA receptor-dependent LTP in the hippocampus proper.

The phases and mechanisms responsible for hippocampal LTP in the CA1 subfield puzzled researchers for decades (Nicoll, 2017). There are currently three recognized phases of hippocampal LTP in the CA1 subfield (Herring and Nicoll, 2016). Phase one contains three subphases where the first subphase, PTP, is mediated via presynaptic activity and endures for up to a few min after high-frequency stimulation. The second subphase of phase one is known as short-term potentiation (STP), lasting up to 30 min post-tetanus. STP transitions to the third subphase, early-LTP (E-LTP), one h post-high frequency stimulation. Phase two is recognized as intermediate form of LTP, consisting of de novo protein synthesis from preexisting mRNA. Phase three results in the transcription of novel mRNA and is defined as late-LTP (L-LTP). LTP may also be classified into three definite phases known as induction, expression, and maintenance, phases that will be explored in particular detail in this subsection.

1.4.4.1 General classifications and properties of long-term plasticity

Notably, NMDA-receptor-dependent LTP exhibits three distinct properties: associativity, cooperativity, and input specificity (Andersen et al., 2007). Specifically, associativity denotes the observation that if individual, weak stimulation of a single pathway is insufficient to induce LTP, concurrent, strong stimulation of another pathway will induce LTP along both tracts. Working in parallel with associativity, the cooperativity property suggests that LTP may be induced at a synapse via weaker stimulation of a myriad of pathways that converge at the aforementioned synapse. Input specificity is regulated by the associativity and cooperativity properties where LTP is propagated only along a pathway that was initially stimulated; however, induction of LTP at an individual synapse may sensitize adjacent synapses to experience induction, a phenomenon known as synaptic tag and capture (Frey and Morris, 1997). The presynaptic and

postsynaptic mechanisms underlying the induction, expression, and maintenance of hippocampal LTP in the CA1 subfield generated decades of consternation, but it is currently recognized that induction requires the transient action of postsynaptic kinases following NMDA receptor-mediated Ca²⁺ conduction, expression involves persistent activation of postsynaptic kinases, and maintenance necessitates sustained protein synthesis (Fig. 1.5; Lüscher and Malenka, 2012). LTP researchers generally agree that AMPA and NMDA receptors play a critical role in the molecular mechanisms responsible for LTP induction at glutamatergic hippocampal synapses. Specifically, sufficient depolarization of presynaptic terminals results in glutamate release, a neurotransmitter that interacts with postsynaptic AMPA receptors to facilitate cation conduction and persistent depolarization of the postsynaptic membrane potential. Acting as a coincidence detector, NMDA receptors bind to glutamate and also sense the sufficient AMPA receptor-mediated depolarization, resulting in the expulsion of an Mg²⁺ block in the ion pore of the former receptor. Removal of the Mg²⁺ block upon sufficient postsynaptic membrane depolarization and binding of the glutamate ligand to the NMDA receptor results in NMDA receptor-mediated influx of Ca²⁺. This influx of Ca²⁺ initiates a litany of intracellular mechanisms that underlie the expression of hippocampal LTP. This is supported by research demonstrating activation of postsynaptic AMPA receptors is insufficient to induce LTP whereas Ca^{2+} conduction via NMDA receptors is sufficient to induce LTP (Malenka et al., 1988); however, the interplay between the AMPA receptor and NMDA receptor underscores the essential nature of the associativity property in LTP. Therefore, transient facilitation of presynaptic glutamate release and elevated postsynaptic intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration are fundamental components of LTP induction (Malenka and Bear, 2004), with the latter being necessary and sufficient for the induction of LTP in CA1 pyramidal cells (Malenka et al., 1988). Interestingly, CA1 pyramidal neurons and many other brain regions exhibit NMDA receptordependent LTP induction (Malenka and Bear, 2004) whereas some synapses such as the CA3 neuron-mossy fiber synapse display NMDA receptor-independent LTP induction (Zalutsky and

Nicoll, 1990; Bortolotto et al., 1999; Schmitz et al., 2001). The latter, NMDA receptorindependent mechanism requires presynaptic and postsynaptic kainate receptor activation for LTP induction, which caused substantial confusion in the field of LTP research decades ago. The present review from herein will provide an overview of many molecular mechanisms that are currently recognized as being responsible for NMDA receptor-dependent LTP induction, expression, and maintenance.

1.4.4.2 NMDA receptor-dependent LTP induction

Beginning from the point at which Ca²⁺ enters the postsynaptic cell via the NMDA receptor, at least one s but no more than 2.5 s of increased intracellular Ca²⁺ levels (Malenka et al., 1992) results in the induction of LTP and physical interaction between Ca²⁺ and calmodulin (Ca²⁺/calmodulin) (Herring and Nicoll, 2016). When calmodulin interacts with Ca²⁺, the Ca²⁺/calmodulin complex mobilizes and physically interacts with a serine/threonine-protein kinase that is responsible for the initiation of kinase-dependent LTP expression, CaMKII. For instance, a high-frequency stimulation-insensitive enhancement of CA1 pyramidal cell excitatory postsynaptic potentials (EPSPs) that resembled the potentiated EPSPs observed after a tetanus protocol was reported following viral transduction of constitutively active CaMKII into hippocampal slices (Pettit et al., 1994) or CaMKII injection into CA1 principal cells (Lledo et al., 1995). Ca²⁺/calmodulin or CaMKII chelator-mediated blockade (Lynch et al., 1983; Malenka et al., 1988; Malenka et al., 1992), as well as CaMKII-specific inhibition (Malinow et al., 1989; Ito et al., 1991; Wang and Kelly, 1995; Otmakhov et al., 1997) or mutation (Silva et al., 1992a; Silva et al., 1992b), also prevented the induction of LTP in addition to hippocampal-dependent learning and memory function. Additionally, CaMKII is involved in synaptic tag and capture following LTP induction, resulting in sensitization of adjacent synapses to undergo LTP induction (Redondo et al., 2010). Overall, these data suggest that Ca²⁺/calmodulin interaction and subsequent CaMKII activation are essential in the induction and expression stages of LTP.

1.4.4.3 NMDA receptor-dependent LTP expression

The initiation of LTP expression is mediated by CaMKII activation (Herring and Nicoll, 2016). Generally, when a sufficiently large influx of Ca²⁺ occurs following NMDAR-mediated postsynaptic membrane depolarization, there is a subsequent, strong Ca²⁺/calmodulin-mediated activation of CaMKII; however, simultaneous, transient Ca²⁺/calmodulin-induced activation of calcineurin also occurs. Activated calcineurin subsequently dephosphorylates postsynaptic membrane AMPA receptors, leading to a reduced influx of cation. As Ca²⁺ is removed from the cytoplasm and Ca²⁺/calmodulin diffuses off of calcineurin and CaMKII, calcineurin-mediated dephosphorylation of AMPA receptors is terminated whereas CaMKII undergoes autophosphorylation. Persistently activated CaMKII then phosphorylates other intracellular proteins to sustain the LTP expression phase. Interestingly, low-level Ca²⁺ influx results in transient activation of both calcineurin and CaMKII, resulting in significantly greater calcineurin activity than CaMKII, resulting in LTD expression. The molecular mechanism of CaMKIImediated autophosphorylation and subsequent protein phosphorylation in LTP expression is as follows. CaMKII is a pinwheel-shaped protein that is composed of 12 subunits, each of which contains an autoinhibitory subdomain and a catalytic subdomain. The autoinhibitory subdomain consists of a Ca²⁺/calmodulin site as well as an autophosphorylation site whereas the catalytic subdomain contains a T-site and an S-site. The Ca²⁺/calmodulin binding site regulates the catalytic subdomain, and when no $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin$ is interacting with the binding site, the autoinhibitory subdomain remains closed. The T-site of the catalytic subdomain keeps the subunit closed by binding to the autoinhibitory subdomain whereas the S-site binds to and phosphorylates substrates whenever the subunit opens. Upon binding of Ca²⁺/calmodulin to its respective binding site, the autoinhibitory subdomain and autophosphorylation site open, allowing for autophosphorylation of Thr286 (Giese et al., 1998) and Thr287 (Miller et al., 1988) on the α and β subunits, respectively. Several S-sites subsequently phosphorylate the autophosphorylation site on neighboring subunits, allowing for successive protein

phosphorylation. Notably, the phosphorylation status of Thr305 and Thr306 facilitates the expression of either LTP or LTD (Pi et al., 2010). Following activation, CaMKII dissociates from F-actin, and microtubule-associated mechanisms result in the translocation of the kinase to the postsynaptic density (PSD; Shen and Meyer, 1999; Lemieux et al., 2012; Lisman et al., 2012). CaMKII mediates numerous activities at the PSD including complex formation with NMDA receptors (Gardoni et al., 1998; Sanhueza et al., 2011; Lisman et al., 2012) and phosphorylation of AMPA receptors (Barria et al., 1997; Mammen et al., 1997). CaMKII binds to the GluN2A and GluN2B NMDA receptor subunits (Bayer et al., 2001; Barria and Malinow, 2005), resulting in the docking of the kinase Thr286 residue into the catalytic subdomain of adjacent subunits and preventing CaMKII dephosphorylation (Bayer et al., 2001; Lisman and Raghavachari, 2015). Notably, CaMKII positions itself within the Ca²⁺ microdomains of the NMDA receptor such that kinase activity is further enhanced as well as strategically located proximal to synaptic AMPA receptors (Merrill et al., 2005). CaMKII subsequently phosphorylates the Ser831 residue at the C-terminal tail of the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit (Barria et al., 1997; Mammen et al., 1997). This phosphorylation results in a variety of changes in physiological properties of the AMPA receptor including elevated opening frequency and unitary conductance (Benke et al., 1998; Kristensen et al., 2011).

Beyond CaMKII, short-term elevations in postsynaptic Ca²⁺ facilitate changes in synaptic plasticity via modulation of AMPA receptors in the synaptic field. For instance, GluR1-containing AMPA receptors are the principal AMPA receptor subtype that undergo fast upregulation during LTP induction before being slowly exchanged for GluR2/3-containing AMPA receptors, where the latter play a larger role as LTP progresses from induction to maintenance via enabling the recycling of synaptic membrane-bound AMPA receptors (Passafaro et al., 2001; Shi et al., 2001). Alterations in the quantity and composition of membrane-bound AMPA receptors are accomplished through lateral diffusion of extrasynaptic AMPA receptors and the insertion of intracellular AMPA receptors into the extrasynaptic membrane (Makino and Malinow, 2009),

resulting in upregulation of AMPA receptor density in the PSD. For instance, a report demonstrated that NMDA receptor-dependent activity induces fast and slow lateral diffusion as well as the incorporation of extrasynaptic AMPA receptors to the synaptic field whereas AMPA receptors already positioned within the synaptic field are immobile (Shi et al., 1999; Lu et al., 2001; Pickard et al., 2001; Borgdorff and Choquet, 2002; Tardin et al., 2003). Several different proteins such as stargazin, protein kinase C (PKC), and CaMKII promote the incorporation of these extrasynaptic AMPA receptors into the synaptic field. Specifically, GluR1-associated stargazin is a transmembrane AMPA receptor-associated protein that is the primary regulator of AMPA receptor membrane trafficking (Chen et al., 2000; Schnell et al., 2002; Tomita et al., 2005a; Sumioka et al., 2010). CaMKII and other kinases like PKC phosphorylate the PDZ binding domain of stargazin (Tomita et al., 2005b), leading to a stargazin-postsynaptic density 95 (PSD-95) interaction that facilitates the incorporation, stabilization, and anchoring of AMPA receptors into the synaptic field (Chen et al., 2000; Chetkovich et al., 2002; Schnell et al., 2002; Bats et al., 2007). PKC-mediated phosphorylation of GluR1 Ser818 and Thr840 residues (Boehm et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2007) also enables incorporation of AMPA receptors into the PSD while subsequent phosphorylation of the AMPA receptor Ser831 residue via PKC and CaMKII shape AMPA receptor conduction properties (Kristensen et al., 2011; Jenkins and Traynelis, 2012). Exocytosis of endosomes filled with AMPA receptors is another effect of transient enhancements in postsynaptic Ca²⁺, resulting in the insertion of intracellular AMPA receptors into the synaptic field (Makino and Malinow, 2009). Specifically, GluR1 phosphorylation via protein kinase A (PKA) (Roche et al., 1996; Esteban et al., 2003; Diering et al., 2014) and CaMKII-mediated phosphorylation of a protein involved in anchoring AMPA receptors to the actin cytoskeleton, synaptic associated protein 97 (SAP97) (Leonard et al., 1998; Mauceri et al., 2004; Nikandrova et al., 2010), promote AMPA receptor containing endosome trafficking to the extrasynaptic membrane. Actin motor protein myosin VI subsequently interacts with SAP97 to facilitate docking of the trafficking AMPA receptors with

the extrasynaptic membrane, culminating in SNARE-mediated fusion at the perisynaptic exocytic domains (Lu et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2002).

1.4.4.4 NMDA receptor-dependent LTP maintenance

The maintenance of LTP occurs during the intermediate LTP (two-three h post-tetanus) and L-LTP (greater than three h post-tetanus) phases and is dependent upon postsynaptic protein synthesis that yields persistent synaptic structural changes (Herring and Nicoll, 2016). This is evidenced by reports demonstrating that the application of protein synthesis inhibitors blocked LTP one h-post tetanus (Frey et al., 1989; Vickers et al., 2005). Additionally, mutation of kinases involved in LTP maintenance-related immediate early gene expression (Bourtchuladze et al., 1994) as well as the blockade of immediate early gene mRNA (Guzowski et al., 2000) yields impaired long-term, but not short-term, hippocampal-dependent learning and memory. A fundamental protein that is involved in the persistence of LTP maintenance is CREB, a transcription factor activated via a litany of converging Ca²⁺-dependent pathways that results in alterations in the density of synapses (Lee and Silva, 2009). One of the most well-established mechanisms that ultimately lead to CREB activation is initiated via NMDA receptor-mediated assembly of Ca²⁺/calmodulin. Specifically, Ca²⁺/calmodulin activates adenylate cyclase to elevate the production of cAMP (Chetkovich and Sweatt, 1993), resulting in stimulation of kinases like PKA (Nguyen and Kandel, 1997). PKA activation then promotes ERK/MAPKinduced phosphorylation of CREB at Ser133, removing steric hindrances that prevent CREBrelated activities while initiating the recruitment of CREB-binding protein (Ofir et al., 1991). Ca²⁺/calmodulin also influences the stimulation of CREB via interactions with other kinases like CaMKII and CaMKIV, where the former may positively or negatively regulate CREB-dependent transcription (Sun et al., 1994). Once phosphorylated, CREB then binds to the cAMP response element, beginning the production of immediate early genes that play a substantial role in LTP maintenance such as BDNF, Arc, and c-fos as well as other transcription factors that facilitate the transcription of synaptic plasticity-related late response genes (Lee and Silva, 2009).

Transcription of these genes generally occurs within the soma for axonal-somatic synapses or locally at the dendritic spine via shuttling of mRNA-containing granules (Hirokawa, 2006; Shepherd and Huganir, 2007). Transcribed mRNA is then translated to protein, allowing for persistent structural changes of hippocampal synapses such as dendritic spine density enhancement as well as synaptogenesis (Herring and Nicoll, 2016).

Activity located within the dendrites also contributes to components of LTP maintenance such as structural alterations of synapses as well as prolonged modulation of AMPA and NMDA receptor density. Persistently activated kinases (Herring and Nicoll, 2016), previously transcribed mRNA (Banko et al., 2004; Kelleher et al., 2004; Klann and Dever, 2004; Sutton and Schuman, 2005), and organelles (Hirokawa and Takemura, 2005; Shepherd and Huganir, 2007; Cui-Wang et al., 2012) required for the production of synaptic plasticity-related proteins are localized to dendritic compartments, contributing to soma-independent structural and receptorrelated modulations occurring throughout LTP maintenance. For instance, PKC and PKA stimulation enable dendritic ERK activity, resulting in phosphorylation of downstream kinases like MAP kinase-interacting serine/threonine-protein kinase 1 (Mnk1; Banko et al., 2004). Studies suggest that Mnk1 facilitates the translation of previously transcribed mRNA that is localized within dendrites such as F-actin, PSD-95, CaMKII, PKC, GluR1, and GluR2, allowing for rapid remodeling of dendritic structural features as well as synthesis and phosphorylation of glutamatergic receptors (Toni et al., 1999; Yuste and Bonhoeffer, 2001; Ju et al., 2004; Shepherd and Huganir, 2007). Additionally, delayed trafficking of NMDA receptors occurs during LTP maintenance (Hirokawa and Takemura, 2005; Lau and Zukin, 2007). Immediately after LTP induction and during E-LTP, substantial upregulation of PSD-associated AMPA receptors ensues, which is reflected by a notable potentiation of the AMPA/NMDA ratio (Watt et al., 2004). At least two h post-tetanus, primarily extrasynaptic GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors that were introduced to the synaptic field in the earlier stages of LTP are replaced by more stable but less conductive GluN2A-containing NMDA receptors, reshifting the AMPA/NMDA receptor ratio

(Barria and Malinow, 2002; Groc et al., 2006). Research suggests that the lengthy GluN2 cytoplasmic tail that contains multiple regulatory binding sites results in this particular subunit being primarily responsible for the trafficking of NMDA receptors during LTP maintenance (Chung et al., 2004). Further, crosstalk between kinases such as CaMKII, PKC, and MAPK (Lan et al., 2001; Kim et al., 2005; Yan et al., 2011), as well as metabotropic receptors like mGluR1/5 (Lan et al., 2001b; Matta et al., 2011), regulate the shuttling of NMDA receptors during this terminal phase of LTP.

Collectively, these studies illuminate some of the intricate mechanisms involved in hippocampal synaptic plasticity (Fig. 1.5). An array of molecular mechanisms underlie modulations in heterogeneous forms of short-term and long-term hippocampal synaptic plasticity, leading to highly adaptive and elegant neuronal activity following unique experiences. Transient and persisting cellular responses to novel experiences influence crosstalk between hippocampal and neocortical structures, resulting in the ability to store and shape memory traces for a lifetime.

1.5 Hippocampal-dependent Learning and Memory

1.5.1 Overview

The profound capacity to learn and remember is arguably one of the fundamental characteristics that distinguish humans from other mammals. Memory may be generally defined as the ability to recall previous experiences to shape responses to current and future tasks. Classifying different forms of learning and memory as neural substrates has been historically challenging. The challenge in the categorization of learning and memory is related to the rare situation of a particular form of learning being related to a straightforward, one-to-one relationship with a specific task. That is, upstream sensory input shapes downstream motor processing during a learning and memory task, suggesting that altered responses as a result of a particular behavioral experience may be related to impairments in hippocampal-related function or in tissues that are responsible for sensorimotor regulation. Over time, a consensus

has formed around definitive types of learning and memory with the broadest classifications being short-term memory, working memory, and long-term memory (Andersen et al., 2007). Distinct phases of learning and memory known as encoding, consolidation, and retrieval were also revealed after decades of investigation (McGaugh, 2000). The discovery of unique forms and phases of learning and memory was facilitated by the establishment of highly sensitive and robust behavioral tasks such as the Morris water maze and radial arm maze. The following subsection will provide a brief overview of forms and phases of hippocampal-dependent learning and memory. Common tasks utilized to investigate hippocampal-dependent learning and memory will also be surveyed.

1.5.2 Short-term memory and working memory

Short-term memory is hippocampal-dependent and unstable, rapidly decaying a few min following the learning and memory experience (Fig 1.6; Cowan, 2008; Aben et al., 2012). Shortterm memory may be defined as the temporary capacity to store limited, but highly accessible, quantities of information. Differential auditory or visual cortices also regulate short-term memory activity depending upon the particular experiential circumstance (D'Esposito and Postle, 2015). Working memory is a distinct form of memory that is commonly, but erroneously, used interchangeably with short-term memory (Aben et al., 2012). A common definition of working memory is the preservation and regulated manipulation of a defined quantity of information before recall (Baddeley, 1992). Some researchers suggest that working memory has supplanted the older term of short-term memory (Gray, 2007) whereas other scholars recognize that working memory is a theory of short-term memory (Nairne and Neath, 2012), or that short-term memory and working memory coexist (Gathercole and Alloway, 2006; Nadel and Hardt, 2011). Working memory was initially defined as memory that is used to plan and carry out behavior such as retaining ideas in an extended oral debate (Miller et al., 1960). The utilization of the phrase "working memory" was enhanced following the seminal model of Baddeley and Hitch (1974), a model that was ultimately developed to suggest a central executive manages multiple

modules to complete complex, working memory-related tasks (Baddeley, 2012). Four distinct components consist of the classic working memory model: a central executive of attentionrelated processes, two domain-specific submissive systems that contain information known as the phonological loop and visuospatial sketch pad, and an episodic buffer. The central executive plays a substantial role in task-specific localization by coordinating the response to sensory stimuli as well as the retrieval of long-term memories throughout a cognitive task. The phonological loop manages auditory input whereas the visuospatial sketch pad responds to visual information. Short-term memory data is subsequently processed or reprocessed by the episodic buffer, transferring the information to the central executive for further management. Accordingly, working memory is currently recognized as a type of memory that is dependent upon coordination between multiple components. Contemporary research suggests the central executive is not a sole entity but stems from crosstalk between a myriad of structures found in the frontal lobe such as the medial (Euston et al., 2012), ventrolateral (Wolf et al., 2006), and dorsolateral (Barbey et al., 2013) prefrontal cortices. Communication between the medial temporal lobe, prefrontal cortex, and parietal cortex also contributes to central executive function throughout working memory tasks (Stern et al., 2001; Collette and Van der Linden, 2002; Axmacher et al., 2007). Research suggests the phonological loop is located at the boundary of the inferior parietal lobe and superior posterior temporal lobe (Salmon et al., 1996; Prabhakaran et al., 2000; Papagno et al., 2017) whereas an increasing working memory load modulates the region of the brain that plays the role of the visuospatial sketchpad (Salmon et al., 1996; Ragland et al., 2002). For instance, working memory tasks with low demand result in activity indicative of the visuospatial sketchpad within the occipital lobe and distinct prefrontal cortex activation whereas working memory tasks with high demand lead to elevated activity in the parietal lobe and different prefrontal cortex regions. Responses indicative of episodic bufferlike activity were observed bilaterally in the frontal and temporal lobes, particularly in the left hippocampus (Rudner et al., 2007).

<u>1.5.3 Long-term memory</u>

Working memory sits at the intersection between short-term memory and long-term memory, where the latter is a stable form of memory that may persist for a few min to a lifetime (Fig. 1.6). Long-term memory may be divided into two broad categories: declarative memory and nondeclarative memory (Andersen et al., 2007). Declarative memory, also known as explicit or conscious memory, is dependent upon the medial temporal lobe and includes semantic memory and episodic memory. Semantic memory relates to the recollection of facts and concepts whereas episodic memory is associated with recalling information linked to experiences and particular events. Nondeclarative memory is also referred to as implicit or subconscious memory and is primarily hippocampal-independent. Forms of nondeclarative memory include procedural memory, priming, simple conditioning, and non-associative learning. Procedural memory is dependent upon basal ganglia or putamen function and is related to learning skills and habits. Priming, a neocortical-dependent form of nondeclarative memory, suggests that previous exposure to a particular stimulus shapes a future response to the same stimulus. Simple conditioning relates to emotional responses or musculoskeletal coordination where the former is dependent upon amygdalar activity whereas the latter relies on cerebellar function. Non-associative learning is a form of learning that does not pair a stimulus and behavior, resulting in this particular form of implicit memory depending on circuits such as the reflex pathway. For example, habituation and sensitization are two forms of non-associative learning. While short-term memory, working memory, and long-term memory depend upon and function via distinct circuitry, each form of memory shapes one another. For instance, reports suggest that a low demand working memory task may require the activity of short-term memory systems such as the prefrontal and parietal cortices (Squire and Wixted, 2011) whereas high demand working memory tasks may increase prefrontal cortex activity while also recruiting circuitry related to long-term memory (Lewis-Peacock and Postle, 2008; Jeneson and Squire, 2012). Interestingly, the episodic buffer may function as a point of cross-talk between short-term

and long-term memory systems with working memory. Additionally, the conversion of short-term memory, working memory, and long-term memory involve complex communication between the medial temporal lobe and prefrontal cortex (Stern et al., 2001; Yoon et al., 2008; Schon et al., 2009; Preston and Eichenbaum, 2013). For instance, elevated working memory load leads to enhanced medial temporal lobe and prefrontal cortex activity, suggesting each region plays a unique role in the transition of one form of memory to another (Yoon et al., 2008).

1.5.3 Overview of the stages of memory formation

The generation of short-term, working, and long-term memories in the context of a neural timeline includes three fundamental stages: encoding, consolidation, and retrieval (McGaugh, 2000). Current evidence suggests the hippocampus plays a role in each of these stages in declarative memory (Tulving, 1983; Squire, 1992), serving as a transient relay station for long-term storage in the prefrontal cortex.

1.5.3.1 Memory encoding

The processing of somatosensory stimuli into a distinct memory trace within a neural network is known as encoding or acquisition (McGaugh, 2000). An abundance of evidence suggests the hippocampus performs an imperative function in encoding contextual-based memories, particularly the dH CA3 subfield (Rolls et al., 1998; Nakazawa et al., 2003; Lee and Kesner, 2004; Daumas et al., 2005). Specifically, Daumas et al. (2005) observed that the dH CA3 subfield was required for the encoding phase of contextual fear conditioning, which is in line with a study by Nakazawa et al. (2003) that indicated dH CA3 NMDA receptors were required for the acquisition of contextual-based learning and memory. The dH CA1 subfield was also reported to play a role in the acquisition of contextual-based learning and memory tasks (Daumas et al., 2005). Other studies demonstrated the CA1 subfield interprets temporal components whereas the CA3 subfield deciphers spatial elements during associative learning tasks (Lee et al., 2005; Hunsaker et al., 2006). An increased delay between trials in a sequential nonspatial learning and memory task also distinctly recruited dH CA1 circuitry, suggesting that

this hippocampal subfield is progressively imperative as temporal demand increases (Farovik et al., 2010). Overall, these studies and others indicate substantial crosstalk between the CA1 and CA3 subfields facilitates the encoding of contextual-based experiences (Daumas et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2005; Hunsaker et al., 2006; Hunsaker et al., 2008; Farovik et al., 2010; Bahar et al., 2011).

1.5.3.2 Memory consolidation

Consolidation may be defined as the transformation of a short-term memory trace to a long-term memory trace (Dudai, 2012). A long-term, enduring memory trace is known as an engram. Consolidation generally occurs at the synaptic-level and the brain system-level, where the former is related to stimuli-mediated activation of signaling cascades that lead to gene synthesis a few h after the novel experience whereas the latter denotes the days to years-long circuit-level process of post-encoding long-term memory restructuring. Notably, intensity of a learning and memory experience impacts synaptic alterations such as synaptic efficacy and membrane excitability, consequently modulating the effectiveness of memory consolidation at the system-level. Therefore, salient learning and memory traces may be consolidated more effectively than those with less trace strength, facilitating recollection of the former more readily than the latter. Memory consolidation is recognized through evaluating the temporal-dependent impact of a lesion or an amnesic agent on the capacity to learn and remember a task (Shema et al., 2007). Many classic experiments using lesions or amnesic agents revealed the crucial, timedependent role the hippocampus plays in memory consolidation. For instance, Zola-Morgan and Squire (1990) observed that monkeys with hippocampal and parahippocampal lesions exhibited comparable performance to nonlesioned monkeys in an object discrimination task learned 12-16 weeks prior to surgery but displayed impaired performance in a new object discrimination task that was first experienced shortly before surgery. Nonprimate investigations utilizing a retrograde amnesia approach also discovered a temporal-dependent role of the hippocampus in memory consolidation (Winocur, 1990; Kim and Fanselow, 1992; Bolhuis et al., 1994;

Anagnostaras et al., 1999; Squire et al., 2001). Further, hippocampal subfields serve a unique function in the synaptic-level and system-level consolidation process. Specifically, studies found that infusion of a CaMKII inhibitor into the dH CA1 subfield prevented LTP induction and memory consolidation immediately after training in hippocampal-dependent task, indicating that the dH is the central hub for initial phases in memory consolidation at the synaptic level (Barros et al., 1999; Malenka and Nicoll, 1999). Further, Daumas et al. (2005) demonstrated the dH CA1 subfield is essential for temporal-dependent contextualization during memory consolidation whereas other researchers observed the dH CA3 subfield facilitates the consolidation of memory from short-term to long-term storage (Stupien et al., 2003; Florian and Roullet, 2004; Gilbert and Kesner, 2006; Gilbert and Brushfield, 2009). Collectively, these experiments have led to the hypothesis that the hippocampal formation is a temporary site for labile memories, undergoing processing prior to stable, long-term storage in the neocortex. This proposition is supported by the robustness of particularly long-term memories even after bilateral medial temporal lobe lobectomy (Scoville and Milner, 1957). Notably, studies described unidirectional, monosynaptic projections from the CA1 subfield as well as the subiculum to the prefrontal cortex (Jay and Witter, 1991; Jay et al., 1992; Parent et al., 2010). During a spatial working memory task, a pathway from the hippocampus to the medial prefrontal cortex displayed activity indicative of coordinated phase-lock theta rhythms (Jones and Wilson, 2005), activity that was progressively enhanced as working memory demand increased (Tamura et al., 2017). These data are in line with an interpretation that suggests long-term memory storage occurs in the prefrontal cortex and crosstalk between this structure and the hippocampus facilitates long-term memory processes such as retrieval.

1.5.3.3 Memory retrieval

The recollection of an engram is defined as retrieval. Evidence indicates that retrieval of particular forms of memory is not dependent upon hippocampal function alone. For instance, animals with dH CA1 and CA3 subfield lesions exhibited no impairments in contextual fear

conditioning retrieval when a recognition memory procedure was employed 24 h after learning (Daumas et al., 2005). A study by Fortin et al. (2002) observed that complete hippocampal lesions impaired the ability to learn sequential events but had no effect on the ability to recognize items occurring in a distinct series. On the other hand, Kim and Fanselow (1992) detected substantial contextual memory deficits when hippocampal lesions were conducted one day after conditioning while Nakazawa et al. (2002) demonstrated that the dH CA3 subfield enabled recollection of pattern completion. The dH CA3 subfield was also shown to be crucial in the retrieval precision of long-term memories (Chadwick et al., 2014). These reports illustrate a complex role of the hippocampus in memory retrieval, an illustration that is supported by highlyspecified activities of neocortical structures in memory retrieval (Squire and Wixted, 2011). For instance, studies revealed that particular neocortical structures were activated during encoding for experiences related to distinct behavioral domains, resulting in each particular neocortical structure storing a unique characteristic of the learning and memory experience (Wheeler et al., 2000; Polyn et al., 2005; Woodruff et al., 2005). Accordingly, lesioning of each particular neocortical structure resulted in impaired recollection of the particular feature of the experience that corresponded to the damaged structure (Squire and Wixted, 2011). Overall, these investigations suggest that while the hippocampus may be an essential structure in memory encoding and consolidation, engrams are primarily stored in the neocortex, which the hippocampus and extrahippocampal structures shape and modulate during memory retrieval. Further, patient H.M. and other clinical studies indicate that extrahippocampal projections provide alternative routes for memory recollection upon removal or severe damage of the hippocampus.

1.5.4 Preclinical paradigms used in investigating learning and memory

Numerous behavioral tasks were developed throughout decades of researching different forms and phases of learning and memory in rodents; however, the present review will highlight two particular paradigms: the Morris water maze (MWM) and radial arm maze (RAM; Fig. 1.7).

1.5.4.1 The Morris water maze

The MWM is a highly robust and reproducible hippocampal-dependent spatial learning and memory task that commonly assesses reference memory (Morris, 1984). Reference memory is a form of long-term memory that employs previously learned information to complete a task. In the case of the MWM, the animal learns and remembers a set of extramaze visual cues to repeatedly navigate the maze (Fig. 1.7.1). Specifically, the animal utilizes the extramaze visual cues to orient themselves and subsequently find a hidden escape platform submerged beneath the surface of an opaque water pool. The animals are particularly motivated to find the escape platform to escape any adverse consequences such as excessive energy expenditure or death. Several common paradigms employed in the MWM include assessment of animal escape latency, performance on a probe trial, and efficiency in reversal training. For instance, escape latency is a measurement of reference memory and is determined by evaluating the time required for animals to find the hidden platform in the pool over a series of training days (Fig. 1.7.1A). After sequential days of the hidden platform being located at the same position in the pool, the platform is removed in a probe trial, and performance is assessed via the amount of time spent in the quadrant where the hidden platform was previously found (Fig. 1.7.1B). The researcher may then measure reversal training by moving the hidden platform to a different location in the pool and determining the time required for animals to relearn the task (Fig. 1.7.1C). Common response variables for the MWM include escape latency, time in the target guadrant, path length to the target guadrant, and platform crossings; however, these responses may be impacted by reduced swim velocity or thigmotaxis (Wolfer et al., 1998), particularly in older animals where a comparable reference memory task that is less stressful like the Barnes maze may be more effective (Barnes, 1979).

1.5.4.2 The radial arm maze

While the MWM is an effective paradigm for assessing hippocampal-dependent spatial reference memory, the RAM developed by Olton and Samuelson (1976) is a more versatile task

for evaluating hippocampal-related learning and memory deficits (Fig. 1.7.2). Similar to the MWM, animals utilize extramaze cues to learn tasks in the RAM, permitting the detection of impairments in different forms of spatial working memory and spatial reference memory. The general protocol of this task begins with an animal being placed in a circular central hub surrounded by inaccessible arms protruding from the hub. After a short habituation period, doors to each arm open and allow the animal to access and explore the maze. At the end of each arm is a trough where the animal may receive a food reward. The animals commonly undergo food restriction and are therefore highly motivated to complete the task in a manner that maximizes food reward yet minimizes energy expenditure. Over a series of days, the animal will use extramaze cues to learn and remember the behavioral tests required of them to obtain their reward. Common eight arm RAM paradigms include RAM foraging tasks and Winshift tasks. The RAM foraging task may be designed as a short-term spatial working memory task or as a reference memory task. In the case of the former, an animal is required to visit all RAM arms (i.e., eight of eight arms) one time and a revisit is defined as an error in the shortterm spatial working memory foraging task (Fig. 1.7.2A). Impaired performance in this shortterm spatial working memory foraging task was observed in pretrained animals that received dH infusion of D-APV, suggesting that acquisition of this task is hippocampal-dependent (Kawabe et al., 1998; Yoshihara and Ichitani, 2004). Interestingly, Potvin et al. (2006) demonstrated that dH lesions, but not vH lesions, resulted in impaired performance in this eight-arm RAM foraging task, suggesting that the RAM may be used to disassociate the role of hippocampal sectors in spatial learning and memory tasks as well as to detect sector-specific impairments. A reference memory version of the foraging task may require an animal to visit the same subset of RAM arms to obtain food reward every trial (i.e., four of eight arms are baited with food reward), and a visit to an unbaited arm is defined as a reference memory error whereas a revisit to a baited or unbaited arm may be defined as an error in short-term working memory (Fig. 1.7.2B). Yamada et al. (2015) demonstrated that acquisition and consolidation of experiences from this task are

hippocampal-dependent as infusion of D-APV into the dH of animals pretrained in this task resulted in impaired subsequent performance compared to animals that did not receive D-APV. The Win-shift task is a test that further highlights the versatility and precision of the RAM paradigm in detecting hippocampal-dependent learning and memory deficits (Fig. 1.7.2C). Specifically, this task consists of two phases where the first study phase allows animal access to only four of eight arms, requiring the animal to visit each arm one time to acquire a food reward. A revisit to an arm in this task is defined as an error in short-term spatial working memory. After completing the study phase in this Win-shift task, the animal is removed from the maze for an interposed delay. Following the interposed delay, the animal completes a test phase where it must visit the four arms that were inaccessible in the study phase, and a visit to an arm from the study phase or a revisit is defined as a long-term spatial working memory error. This Win-shift task necessitates the use of a different search strategy in phase two and requires a greater working memory demand than the foraging task, revealing subtle or profound hippocampal-dependent learning and memory deficits. Intracerebroventricular or dH infusion of D-APV prior to phase one or phase two of the Win-shift task resulted in impaired short-term and long-term spatial working memory, suggesting that acquisition and consolidation of experiences from this task are hippocampal-dependent (Bolhuis and Reid, 1992; Yoshihara and Ichitani, 2004). Interestingly, Floresco et al. (1997) demonstrated that lidocaine injections into the ventral subiculum impaired the performance of animals in the Win-shift task, suggesting that the vH is essential in this particular RAM task. These data are in line with an interpretation suggesting that the increased working memory demand of the Win-shift task requires memory consolidation achieved by a monosynaptic vH-medial prefrontal cortex projection. Indeed, a different study utilizing a hippocampal-dependent task that contained an interposed delay revealed hippocampal-medial prefrontal cortex theta-gamma coupling that was elevated as the duration of the interposed delay was increased (Tamura et al., 2017). O'Neill et al. (2013) also observed medial prefrontal cortex theta oscillations were synchronized with vH, but not dH, activity during

a spatial working memory task that contained an interposed delay, further supporting the necessity of the monosynaptic projection of the vH to the medial prefrontal cortex in tasks like the RAM Win-shift.

Collectively, these studies underscore the elegant crosstalk between hippocampal and neocortical structures in different types and phases of short-term, working, and long-term learning and memory tasks. Additionally, decades of research have led to the development of highly flexible, versatile, and sensitive behavioral paradigms to identify impairments in learning and memory. Furthermore, particular tasks like the RAM exhibit the unique capacity to disassociate the complex role of the dH and the vH in different types and phases of learning and memory. Sensitive tasks such as the RAM may be particularly useful to detect subtle deficits in hippocampal-dependent learning and memory in disease states that present in a heterogenous manner like Gulf War Illness.

1.6 Gulf War Illness Introduction

In response to the Iraqi invasion of Kuwait in August 1990, the United States (U.S.) and a coalition of 38 countries initiated the buildup of military forces in the Persian Gulf, an undertaking known as Operation Desert Shield. Following the buildup of forces, the combat phase of the conflict, Operation Desert Storm, began in January 1990 and ended before March 1991, although some U.S. personnel remained in the Persian Gulf until June. While aerial assaults only lasted for six weeks, ground warfare persisted for four days, and coalition casualties were remarkably low, within six months of the conclusion of Operation Desert Storm a consistent constellation of symptoms known as chronic multisymptom illness began to present in many coalition troops that returned home (Gavaghan, 1994; Robinson, 1995; Pennisi, 1996). This constellation of symptoms is presently known as Gulf War Illness (GWI) and is a persisting condition affecting approximately a third of the 700,000 U.S. military forces deployed in the 1990-1991 Gulf War (RACGWI, 2008; RACGWI, 2014; White et al., 2016). While many symptoms present in GWI, the cardinal symptoms of the disease include cognitive deficits,

fatigue, and chronic musculoskeletal pain (Haley et al., 1997; Fukuda et al., 1998; Steele, 2000). Notably, GWI symptom onset is latent (Li et al., 2011; Fappiano and Baraniuk, 2020) and symptom severity becomes progressively worse over time (Zundel et al., 2019; Porter et al., 2020; Zundel et al., 2020). Although the precise etiology of GWI is unknown, overexposures to neurotoxic pesticides, nerve agent prophylactics, organophosphate (OP) nerve agents, and prolonged wartime stress have been associated with the induction and persistence of GWI (Haley and Kurt, 1997; Cherry et al., 2001; Wolfe et al., 2002; Winkenwerder, 2003; Steele et al., 2012). Gulf War veterans (GWV) experienced substantial chemical exposure. Accordingly, GWI symptom severity is correlated to the degree, duration, and type of GWI-relevant (GWIR) chemical exposures (Wolfe et al., 2002; Steele et al., 2012; Maule et al., 2018). Further, an increasing number of studies report that GWI presents in a sex- (Coughlin, 2016; Coughlin et al., 2017; Brown et al., 2019; Heboyan et al., 2019; Porter et al., 2020; Sullivan et al., 2020) and race-specific (Steele, 2000; Steele et al., 2012; Coughlin and Heboyan, 2018; Porter et al., 2020; Sullivan et al., 2020) manner. There is currently no single case definition of GWI due to the heterogeneity of GWI subpopulations, although particular criteria are preferably used to define GWI in clinical (i.e., Centers for Disease Control criteria) and preclinical (i.e., Kansas criteria) settings. No objective biomarker is presently accepted and employed in clinical GWI diagnosis. Additionally, current treatments for GWI are targeted and symptomatic, underscoring the demand for investigations into safe and efficacious treatments for this progressive condition.

The present review surveys preclinical, GWIR genetic, molecular, synaptic, structural, and behavioral abnormalities related to nervous system function and clinical correlates (Fig. 1.8). A particular emphasis is placed upon hippocampal function and hippocampal-dependent learning and memory within the context of GWI. Preclinical drug candidates for the treatment of GWI neuropathology will also be described. The majority of reports that will be discussed were published after 2010.

1.7 Gulf War Illness in a Preclinical Setting

Recapitulating the dose, duration, and frequency of exposure to GWI causal factors presents a significant challenge in developing a GWI animal model. Therefore, a variety of GWI models have been developed in the mouse (Abdullah et al., 2011; O'Callaghan et al., 2015; Zakirova et al., 2015; Carreras et al., 2018) and the rat (Abdel-Rahman et al., 2002; Parihar et al., 2013; Macht et al., 2018). GWIR chemicals commonly included in these models are pyridostigmine bromide (PB), permethrin (PM), N, N-Diethyl-meta-toluamide (DEET), and a nerve agent surrogate, diisopropylfluorophosphate (DFP; Abdel-Rahman et al., 2002; O'Callaghan et al., 2015; Zakirova et al., 2015). Extensive characterization of genetic, epigenetic, and molecular alterations in the nervous system of these GWI animal models has been conducted. Emerging evidence suggests synaptic and network irregularities in GWI animal models. Further, cellular and structural abnormalities are presented in GWI animal models. Aberrant behavior exhibited in GWI animal models is also consistent with neuropsychological dysfunction described in a clinical setting. The present section will review some of the genetic, epigenetic, molecular, synaptic, cellular, structural, and behavioral anomalies presented in GWI animal models.

1.7.1 Genetic, epigenetic, and molecular alterations

Preclinical GWI investigations have observed wide-ranging alterations in genetic, epigenetic, and molecular signaling in the nervous system. Studies have evaluated genetic and epigenetic abnormalities presented in GWI animal models. Characterization of GWI-related alterations in monoaminergic and cholinergic activity has been described. Neurotransmitterindependent effects of GWIR chemical and stress on molecular activity in the nervous system have also been explored. While many GWI animal models have been developed, we will summarize the genetic and molecular aberrations reported in the central and autonomic nervous systems from five consistently used GWI animal models here.

The acute and persisting impact of genetic and epigenetic alterations have been characterized in GWI animal models (Pierce et al., 2016; Ashbrook et al., 2018). Short-term genetic and epigenetic changes were documented in an animal model by Ashbrook et al. (2018). In this study, the authors observed modulated expression of genes related to oligodendrocyte functionality in the frontal cortex as well as distinct activity of immunological and synaptic-related genes in the frontal cortex and hippocampus. Additionally, histone modification and DNA methylation aberrations in genes related to neuroinflammation were demonstrated. In particular, reduced gene activity and cellular proportions of frontal cortex myelinating oligodendrocytes were found, a result that is in line with a recent preclinical study demonstrating substantial oligodendrocyte pathology in GWI (Belgrad et al., 2019) as well as clinical reports describing impaired white matter myelination in GWI veterans (Heaton et al., 2007; Rayhan et al., 2013; Chao et al., 2015). Altered gene expression related to immune signaling, including a notable modulation of *Tlr2*, likely underlies modulated microglial and astrocyte activity, glial activity that was consistently reported across other GWI animal models. Along with augmented expression of inflammatory genes, the authors also found elevated expression of oxidative stress-related genes, which may provide insight into sickness behavior described in GWI. Further, significant alterations in genes related to ACh were identified, suggesting impaired cholinergic neurotransmission. A recent preprint by a similar corticosterone-DFP exposure paradigm observed a distinct impact of GWIR chemical and stress exposure across 30 different mouse strains at an acute timepoint, suggesting that GWI differentially manifests based on genetic composition (Jones et al., 2020). The authors also demonstrated that GWIR chemical exposure impacted male mice genetic activity significantly more than in females, which is in line with clinical reports of GWI resulting in sex-specific effects (Sullivan et al., 2020). Another shortterm study exposed 30 BXD mice strains as well as parental C57BL/6J and DBA/2J strains to corticosterone-DFP, detecting a litany of differentially expressed genes in the prefrontal cortex which were indicative of dysfunction immune and inflammatory signaling (Xu et al., 2020). For

instance, animals exposed to corticosterone and DFP exhibited significant enrichments in Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) terms such as TNF signaling pathway, Th17 cell differentiation, inflammatory bowel disease, and nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B) signaling pathway compared to animals exposed to DFP alone, responses which were consistent with previous preclinical and clinical GWI studies (Broderick et al., 2011; Seth et al., 2019; Vashishtha et al., 2020). As GWI presents in a mixed manner across genetically heterogeneous clinical populations, the use of a myriad of mouse strains in the aforementioned studies allowed for the assessment of preclinical GWI while considering genetic diversity, revealing substantial transcriptomic variations indicative of genetically distinct alterations in cytokine activity patterns, oligodendrocyte responses, and mitochondrial-related gene expression following corticosterone and DFP exposure. While these studies only evaluated genetic and epigenetic responses at a short-term timepoint (i.e., not translatable to the current age of GWV), the results were consistent with clinical investigations describing changes in peripheral NF-kB-related genes (Broderick et al., 2013), alterations in GWIR biomarkers (Abou-Donia et al., 2017; Abou-Donia et al., 2020; Abou-Donia et al., 2021), shifts in CRP expression (Johnson et al., 2016), aberrant mitochondrial-related function (Chen et al., 2017), and impaired white matter myelination (Heaton et al., 2007; Rayhan et al., 2013; Chao et al., 2015). Persisting genetic and epigenetic changes in a GWI animal model were described in Pierce et al. (2016). Abnormalities in DNA methylation were reported in GWIR chemical and stress-exposed animals where hippocampal 5-methylcytosine levels were upregulated whereas cortical and cerebellar 5hydroxymethylcytosine expression was downregulated. Elevated hippocampal expression of two miRNA, miR-29b-3p and miR-124-3p, were found in GWIR chemical and stress-exposed animals. Human progranulin, a glycoprotein associated with frontotemporal dementia in patients with decreased levels of the protein, is a target of miR-29b (Jiao et al., 2010), suggesting that prolonged enhancement of miR-29b-3p levels may lead to impaired cognition. Collectively, these studies suggest genetic and epigenetic expression are acutely and persistently impacted

following GWIR exposures, a result that is consistent with clinical findings (Baraniuk and Shivapurkar, 2017; Trivedi et al., 2019; Latimer et al., 2020).

Emerging evidence suggests that GWIR exposures alter the short-term and long-term activity of neurotransmitters and proteins that facilitate neurotransmitter synthesis, release, and recycling (Terry Jr et al., 2011; Ojo et al., 2014; Zakirova et al., 2015; Locker et al., 2017; Carpenter et al., 2020). For instance, acute and persisting enhancement of brain ACh levels in GWI animal models were described (Ojo et al., 2014; Zakirova et al., 2015; Locker et al., 2017). Interestingly, synaptophysin, a protein indicative of functional vesicular release from the presynaptic terminal, was reduced in hippocampal pyramidal cells of C57BL/6J mice exposed to chlorpyrifos (CPF), PB, and PER days following exposure (Ojo et al., 2014). Hippocampal synaptophysin levels were also reduced 18 days and five months post-GWIR chemical exposure in a different GWI animal model, suggesting acute and persisting impairment of presynaptic functionality (Zakirova et al., 2015). Additionally, reduced α_7 -nicotinic acetylcholine receptor density in the basal forebrain and decreased choline acetyltransferase activity in the basal forebrain were reported two weeks after repeated, low-level DFP exposure, indicating acute deficits in cholinergic transmission (Terry Jr et al., 2011). A report using a paradigm consisting of individual or combinatorial exposure to CPF, DFP, PB, and DEET identified aberrant signaling of the D1 receptor/cyclic AMP/protein kinase A pathway and dysregulation of Cdk5 activity, responses that are associated with neurodegeneration and dysfunctional neurotransmission (Torres-Altoro et al., 2011). Further, a recent analysis of acute monoaminergic alterations in two different GWI animal models suggests a broad impact of GWIR chemical and stress exposure on neurochemistry (Carpenter et al., 2020). This study observed increased serotonin usage and dopamine dyshomeostasis in an array of limbic structures such as the striatum, amygdala, vH, and dH, brain regions which are implicated in behavior that is persistently abnormal in GWI animal models and veterans (White et al., 2016). Collectively, these studies suggest that GWIR chemical and stress exposure induces acute and

persistent aberrations in neurotransmitter levels and expression of machinery associated with neurotransmitter functionality, effects which may underlie preclinical behavioral aberrations in GWI animal models.

GWIR chemicals have been shown to induce a variety of neurotransmitter-independent effects that are implicated in GWI pathophysiology such as adversely impacting structural proteins related to axoplasmic transport, hindering lipid homeostasis, modulating mitochondria functionality, impeding trophic factor production, and impairing Ca²⁺ homeostasis (Grigoryan et al., 2008; Grigoryan et al., 2009a; Grigoryan et al., 2009b; Jiang et al., 2010; Middlemore-Risher et al., 2010; Terry Jr et al., 2011; Torres-Altoro et al., 2011; Naughton et al., 2018; Phillips and Deshpande, 2018; Phillips et al., 2019; Bose et al., 2020; Naughton et al., 2020; Shi et al., 2020). For instance, OPs like soman, sarin, chlorpyrifos oxon (CPO, the active metabolite of CPF), and DFP covalently bind to tubulin (Grigoryan et al., 2008). DFP and CPO also covalently interact with lysine residues of albumin, keratin, actin, tubulin, and transferrin while other OPs were shown to bind to tyrosine residues of axonal transport-related proteins, suggesting that GWIR chemicals may hinder the function of axoplasmic transport via off-target (i.e., non-serine) interactions with structural proteins (Grigoryan et al., 2009a; Grigoryan et al., 2009b). Notably, a recent study demonstrated that two drugs approved by the FDA for non-OP-related disorders mitigated DFP-induced axoplasmic transport deficits in vitro (Naughton et al., 2020). The same group also found that OPs impact structural protein function in vivo (Jiang et al., 2010; Naughton et al., 2018). Specifically, mice exposed to CPF and CPO displayed significantly smaller and disrupted microtubules in brain tissue compared to unexposed mice (Jiang et al., 2010). A recent report indicated that repeated, low-level DFP exposure impairs the myelination of axons and inhibits axoplasmic transport in rats (Naughton et al., 2018). A different group observed acute hyperphosphorylation of tau protein in the brain of animals that underwent individual or combinatorial exposure to CPF, DFP, PB, and DEET (Torres-Altoro et al., 2011). An investigation by Bose et al. (2020) also detected persisting accumulation of

hyperphosphorylated tau protein in the frontal cortex five months after PB-PM exposure. Impairments in lipid metabolism following GWIR chemical exposure were recently detailed in Shi et al. (2020). Specifically, this report detected acute inhibition of hippocampal AChE and neuropathy target esterase in guinea pigs exposed to low-level sarin for 14 days. Neuropathy target esterase plays a fundamental role in enabling membrane lipid metabolism, and metabolomic data revealed that low-level, repeated sarin exposure led to acute dyshomeostasis of phospholipid and sphingolipid metabolism, responses that are consistent with studies of lipid aberrations in GWI veterans (Abdullah et al., 2012). GWIR chemical-induced mitochondrial dysfunction was also described. For instance, rats in a separate study displayed decreased quantity but increased length of mitochondria as well as reduced axonal movement following exposure to CPF or CPO (Middlemore-Risher et al., 2010).

Further, impaired trophic factor expression may play a role in underlying GWI pathophysiology. Interestingly, following repeated, low-level DFP exposure in vivo, nerve growth factor expression was enhanced whereas tropomyosin receptor kinase A density was reduced in the hippocampus and the basal forebrain 14 days post-DFP exposure, suggesting impaired trophic factor production and function (Terry Jr et al., 2011). Emerging evidence also indicates that brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) secretion was persistently reduced by PB-PM or DFP exposure in the frontal cortex and hippocampus, respectively (Bose et al., 2020; Kimono et al., 2020; Ribeiro et al., 2020). Biomarkers indicative of persistent disruption of Ca²⁺ homeostasis suggest that prolonged dysregulation of Ca²⁺ may play a role in GWI pathophysiology (Abou-Donia et al., 2017; Abou-Donia et al., 2020; Abou-Donia et al., 2021). Aberrant Ca²⁺ levels was observed within hippocampal pyramidal cells found in the CA1 subfield up to six months after DFP exposure in a GWI animal model (Phillips and Deshpande, 2018), an effect that may be attributed to reduced expression of a regulator of ryanodine receptor permeability, calstabin 2 (Phillips et al., 2019). Overall, these studies suggest that

neurotransmitter-independent targets of GWIR chemicals may play a role in persistence of GWIspecific pathology.

1.7.1.1 Findings from a DEET, PB, PM, and restraint stress-based GWI model

One of the first and most studied GWI rat models consisted of exposure to DEET, PB, PM, and restraint stress daily for 28 days (Abdel-Rahman et al., 2002). Early research assessing molecular changes in this GWI animal model observed significant reductions in peripheral BuChE and brain-wide AChE activity as well as alterations in mAChR2 density days after GWIR exposures (Abdel-Rahman et al., 2002; Abdel-Rahman et al., 2004a). These effects were not found in animals that received only GWIR chemicals or underwent restraint stress, suggesting a detrimental synergistic effect between chemical and stress exposure. Moreover, alterations identified in the animals that received both GWIR chemicals and stress were consistent with the capacity for PB and other GWIR chemicals to cross the blood-brain barrier as a result of the stressful conditions within the animal model. Additionally, lipidomic analysis revealed impaired expression of brain lipids related to the transport, uptake, storage, and synthesis of ACh, and activity of brain ACh functional pathways were increased in C57BL/6J mice exposed to DEET, PB, PM, and restraint stress 42 days post-exposure, underscoring the wide-ranging effect of GWIR chemicals and stress on nervous system functionality (Abdullah et al., 2012). A caveat of these reports is that they evaluated molecular changes shortly after exposure to GWIR chemicals and stress. Studies that assessed persisting molecular alterations as a result of GWIR exposures using this model such as Carreras et al. (2018) observed decreased hippocampal GABA, GAD67, and n-acetyl-aspartate levels in male and female rats three months post-exposure. Findings from this study also suggested impaired trophic factor production and function as a result of modulated TrkB expression in the hippocampus of males and females. Additionally, the authors described sex-specific effects of GWIR chemical and stress exposure, effects which are consistent with clinical reports indicating GWI symptomology presents in a sex-specific manner (Coughlin et al., 2017). Another study investigating prolonged
molecular alterations presented in this animal model discovered persistent oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, Nrf2 activation, and neuroinflammation in the hippocampus six months after exposure to GWIR chemicals and stress (Shetty et al., 2017). The authors state that while the observed oxidative stress, mitochondrial abnormalities, and pro-inflammatory cytokines were previously reported, the novel observation of enhanced Nrf2 activation may reflect an innate response aimed at reducing persistent activation of brain microglia, highlighting the neuroinflammatory phenotype of GWI. Using an identical exposure paradigm, the same group revealed elevated pro-inflammatory cytokines (such as IL1- β and TNF- α) and inflammatory mediators (like high mobility group box-1) in the cerebral cortex of rats 10 months (~29 human years) post-GWIR chemical and stress exposure, a time point that is translationally-relevant to the current age of GWI veterans (Sengupta, 2013; Madhu et al., 2019).

1.7.1.2 Findings from a DFP and corticosterone-based GWI models

Numerous studies have evaluated the acute and persisting inflammatory molecular alterations observed in a GWI model recently developed by O'Callaghan et al. (2015) (O'Callaghan et al., 2015; Locker et al., 2017; Craddock et al., 2018; Koo et al., 2018; Miller et al., 2018; Michalovicz et al., 2019; Michalovicz et al., 2020). In this model, C57BL/6J mice are exposed to PB, DEET, DFP, and corticosterone at varying timepoints over two weeks. Animals preexposed to corticosterone exhibited a significantly increased neuroinflammatory response to DFP, a response that contradicts the classical anti-inflammatory effect of glucocorticoids. A variation of this model detected elevated expression of cortical pro-inflammatory cytokines and unique inflammatory-induced alterations in neuroanatomical structures in Sprague Dawley rats shortly after exposure to corticosterone and DFP when compared to animals that were treated with only corticosterone or DFP (Koo et al., 2018). In particular, high-order diffusion MRI revealed distinct hippocampal and hypothalamic diffusivity changes in animals exposed to both corticosterone and DFP, changes that were associated with alterations in pro-inflammatory

cytokine signaling. These data suggest that low-level exposure to a nerve agent during prolonged stress may augment pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in the brain and lead to microstructural alterations in regions like the hippocampus, results which were observed in a clinical study (Chao and Zhang, 2018). Interestingly, the neuroinflammatory phenotype presented in this model was mediated by a noncholinergic mechanism (Locker et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2018; Michalovicz et al., 2020). A caveat of these preclinical studies is that the endpoint for the investigated molecular markers is days to a few weeks post-GWIR chemical and stress exposure, a time point that is not relevant to the current age of GWI veterans. *1.7.1.3 Findings from a PB-PM-based GWI model*

A PB-PM exposure paradigm that recapitulates clinical GWI pathology has been validated across multiple mouse species over the past decade, resulting in the discovery of a plethora of acute and persisting GWI-specific proteomic, lipidomic, neuroinflammatory, trophic factor, and mitochondrial molecular alterations (Abdullah et al., 2011; Abdullah et al., 2013; Abdullah et al., 2016; Emmerich et al., 2017; Zakirova et al., 2017; Joshi et al., 2019; Bose et al., 2020; Kimono et al., 2020). For instance, proteomic analysis of CD1 mice exposed to PB-PM revealed a constellation of altered proteins related to lipid metabolism, endocrine functionality, and immune system regulation five months post-exposure (Abdullah et al., 2011). Using the same model, a follow-up by Abdullah et al. (2013) discovered enhanced phosphatidylcholine and sphingomyelin-related lipid species levels in the brain. Later work by this group observed distinct lipid expression in GWV that was comparable to those found in a rodent PB-PM exposure paradigm (Emmerich et al., 2017), underscoring the translational relevance of the preclinical lipid abnormalities and suggesting that continued investigation of these lipid disruptions is warranted. Additionally, a proteomic study detected persistent immune system dysregulation and mitochondrial dyshomeostasis five months after PB-PM exposure (Zakirova et al., 2017). Expression of autoantibodies indicative of long-term innate and adaptive immune system crosstalk mediated by metabolites of PM was also found in GWI veterans and

PB-PM-exposed mice, a response that may contribute to the persisting neuroinflammatory phenotype presented in GWI (Joshi et al., 2019). A separate group employed an adapted form of the PB-PM exposure paradigm to reveal a widespread impact of GWI-related inflammation (Bose et al., 2020; Kimono et al., 2020). Specifically, this group detected elevations in peripheral, frontal cortex, and hippocampal proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-1β, cytokines that were correlated with other pathological immune markers in the gut microbiome and the enteric nervous system (Bose et al., 2020). A different report found prolonged PB-PMinduced enhancement of frontal cortex IL-18, IL-18, and IL-6 protein levels as well as peripheral IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IL-6 expression were associated with NLRP3 inflammasome activation, detrimental responses that were reversed in NLRP3 knockout mice (Kimono et al., 2020). This investigation also revealed long-term neuroinflammatory-induced radical oxygen species production in the frontal cortex that was correlated with NLRP3 inflammasome activity. Emerging evidence also indicates PB-PM-induced persisting impairments in the production of frontal cortex and hippocampal trophic factors such as BDNF (Bose et al., 2020; Kimono et al., 2020). Further, expression of proteins comprising mitochondrial complex IV and V were reduced in PB-PM exposed animals, results that were indicative of compromised ATP synthase activity and subsequent bioenergetic perturbations. Importantly, a separate proteomic, lipidomic, and metabolomic reported revealed disrupted mitochondrial energetics and aberrant metabolites indicative mitochondrial dysfunctionality 16 months after PB-PM exposure, results that were consistent with clinical findings (Abdullah et al., 2016).

1.7.1.4 Findings from a PB and restraint stress-based GWI model

A recently developed GWI rat model consisting of PB exposure and repeated restraint stress produced molecular evidence of acute and prolonged impairments in glucocorticoid signaling, augmented neuroinflammation, and deficits in cholinergic as well as glutamatergic neurotransmission (Macht et al., 2018; Macht et al., 2019; Macht et al., 2020). Specifically, a persisting enhancement of plasma corticosterone levels was revealed three months after PB

and stress exposure, suggesting that concurrent exposures resulted in prolonged alterations of glucocorticoid activity (Macht et al., 2018). Neuroimmune homeostatic feedback loops were shown to be persistently disrupted by the exposure paradigm as evidenced by reduced plasma IL-4 and TNF- α levels. The authors also observed an initial decrease of plasma AChE activity 10 days after PB and stress exposure compared to vehicle-treated animals; however, AChE activity in PB and stress-exposed animals was enhanced three months post-exposure, indicating a prolonged impact on the cholinergic system. Additionally, this group employed their animal model to evaluate the short-term effects of innate immune and immobilization challenges on contextual and cue-based fear conditioning responses as well as extracellular ACh levels via microdialysis (Macht et al., 2019). PB exposure modulated the physiological response to immunological and stress-based challenges, consequently shaping extracellular ACh expression across multiple brain regions. The simultaneous functional effect of modulated ACh levels was found in impaired contextual and cue-based fear learning. A follow-up study using this animal model demonstrated that brain region-specific extracellular glutamate levels following lipopolysaccharide exposure or immobilization challenge were differentially impacted based on previous exposure to stress (Macht et al., 2020). While the two most recent studies evaluated animal responses at an acute timepoint, these studies suggest that concomitant exposure to PB and stress modulates neurotransmission as a result of complex neuroimmune crosstalk, which may result in persistent aberrations in cognition and behavior. Future studies investigating the prolonged effect of repeated PB and stress exposure on neurotransmission and neuroimmune signaling is warranted.

Collectively, these studies suggest an array of genetic, epigenetic, and molecular abnormalities are presented in the nervous system of GWI animal models. Importantly, many of these reported abnormalities in animal models are consistent with findings from the clinical GWI literature. Continued investigation into genetic, epigenetic, and molecular aberrations described in preclinical GWI models may facilitate the development of objective, GWI-specific biomarkers.

Additionally, genetic, epigenetic, and molecular alterations shown in animal models may be related to GWI-related impairments in synaptic, cellular, structural, and behavioral processes.

1.7.2 Synaptic aberrations

Essential cognitive functions such as hippocampal-dependent learning and memory are, in part, regulated by synaptic plasticity and transmission, making synaptic activity critical for behavioral functionality (Whitlock et al., 2006). Preclinical GWI studies have demonstrated acute and persisting impairments in synaptic plasticity and transmission. Short-term abnormalities in synaptic plasticity and transmission were observed via bath application of GWIR chemicals or in GWI animal models. We will summarize recent preclinical studies evaluating acute and persisting impairments in synaptic plasticity and transmission here.

Acute exposure to GWIR chemicals such as DEET, PB, and OPs have been shown to adversely impact synaptic plasticity and transmission (Friedman et al., 1996; Pavlovsky et al., 2003; Corbel et al., 2009; Nutter et al., 2013; Nutter et al., 2015; Cooper et al., 2016; Flunker et al., 2017; Cooper et al., 2018). For instance, acute DEET exposure increased hippocampal pyramidal cell excitability, an effect attributed to enhanced cholinergic transmission (Corbel et al., 2009). Specifically, acute DEET application to a cockroach neuronal preparation resulted in a biphasic response where the initial amplitude of field excitatory postsynaptic potentials (fEPSPs) was elevated followed by decreased fEPSP amplitude, an effect that was blocked by pretreatment with a nonselective muscarinic receptor antagonist (Corbel et al., 2009). Acute DEET exposure also altered the kinetics of mouse endplate potentials and directly inhibited human and insect AChE/BuChE. Collectively, these data suggest that acute DEET exposure modulates cholinergic signaling, an effect that may have contributed to the initiation of GWI. Additionally, studies found acute PB exposure modulates mammalian glutamatergic transmission (Friedman et al., 1996; Friedman et al., 1998; Pavlovsky et al., 2003). Notably, a dose-dependent enhancement of the hippocampal fEPSP amplitude was observed throughout acute PB exposure, an effect that was reported at GWIR concentrations (Friedman et al., 1996;

Friedman et al., 1998). In a separate study, acute PB exposure increased hippocampal spontaneous excitatory postsynaptic current (sEPSC) frequency, suggesting PB-induced enhancement of glutamatergic transmission is mediated via augmented presynaptic vesicular release (Pavlovsky et al., 2003). A different investigation demonstrated that acute application of CPO, the active metabolite of CPF, to a striatal slice preparation resulted in elevated sEPSC frequency, which is indicative of increased presynaptic glutamate release (Torres-Altoro et al., 2011). Multiple reports indicate that acute bath application of organophosphates like paraoxon, soman, and DFP to hippocampal slices results in reduced glutamatergic transmission (Eterović et al., 2011; Ferchmin et al., 2015; Hoffman et al., 2019). A recent study by Brown et al. (2020) suggests cholinergic and noncholinergic mechanisms underlie modulatory effects of acute DFP exposure on glutamatergic transmission along the dorsoventral axis of the hippocampus slice. Additionally, voltage-gated cation channel kinetics of rat vascular pain receptors were modulated weeks after CPF, PB, PM, and DEET exposure (Nutter et al., 2013; Nutter et al., 2015; Flunker et al., 2017; Cooper et al., 2018). In particular, an animal model consisting of a 60 day exposure period to CPF, PB, and PM revealed impaired dorsal root ganglion nociceptor kinetics of voltage-gated Na⁺ and K⁺ channels expressed in muscle and vascular nociceptors up to 12 weeks post-exposure (Nutter et al., 2013; Nutter et al., 2015). Further, 60-day exposure to CPF, PB, and PM detrimentally impacted muscarinic receptor signaling of muscle nociceptors 12 weeks post-exposure (Cooper et al., 2016). The inclusion of DEET to a four-week CPF, PB, and PM exposure paradigm marginally enhanced vascular nociceptor voltage-gated K⁺ channel conductance impairments 12 weeks post-exposure (Flunker et al., 2017). Nociceptor voltagegated Na⁺ channel and TRPA1 kinetics were also modulated up to 16 weeks after four weeks of exposure to CPF, PB, PM, and DEET (Cooper et al., 2018). Importantly, modulations of channel kinetics described by these studies occurred concomitantly with pain-like behavior that was consistent with clinically relevant GWI-specific pain.

While there are a number of reports characterizing the acute effects of GWIR exposures on synaptic plasticity and transmission, there is a paucity of available information characterizing the persisting impact of GWIR chemical and stress exposure on synaptic plasticity and transmission. Specifically, to the best of our knowledge, only two published reports employed electrophysiology to assess persisting deficits in synaptic plasticity and transmission following GWIR exposures. For instance, Speed et al. (2011) investigated the acute and persisting effects of CPF exposure on mouse synaptic plasticity and transmission and observed a biphasic effect of the OP. Notably, hippocampal basal synaptic transmission was enhanced days after exposure but was reduced three months later, an effect that was a result of a delayed decrease in spontaneous excitatory postsynaptic current frequency that occurred concurrently with reduced dendritic branching. A recent report by Wang et al. (2020) also characterized persisting aberrations in synaptic plasticity and transmission, findings that will be covered in detail in subsection 1.10.1.

Collectively, these studies suggest that GWIR exposures induce acute and persisting impairments in synaptic plasticity and transmission in GWI animal models. It is presently unclear if these impairments are predominately mediated by a presynaptic or postsynaptic mechanism as the aforementioned studies described aberrations on both sides of the synapse. Detriments in cognition reported by GWI veterans are in line with preclinical synaptic plasticity and transmission deficits induced by GWIR chemical and stress exposure in structures related to neuropsychological function such as the hippocampus. Future preclinical GWI investigations evaluating persisting modulations in synaptic plasticity and transmission (i.e., defining a GWI-related presynaptic or postsynaptic pathological mechanism that is conserved across models) as well as network activity (i.e., theta rhythm, gamma rhythm, sharp-wave ripples, etc.) may address a substantial knowledge gap in GWI research that would provide additional context for behavioral deficits presented by GWI animal models as well as GWI veterans.

<u>1.7.3 Cellular and structural pathology</u>

Short-term and prolonged neural pathology has been demonstrated in GWI preclinical studies. Wide-spread neuronal cell death has been described for decades in GWI animal models; however, emerging evidence suggests glial pathology plays a critical role in the underlying pathophysiology of GWI. Persisting neuroanatomical structural degradation and long-term impairments in neurogenesis have also been reported in GWI animal models. GWI-induced pathology in neural cells and anatomical structures likely contributes to synaptic deficits and behavioral aberrations. We will summarize recent preclinical studies evaluating GWI-related acute and persisting cellular as well as structural neuropathology here.

Early reports indicated wide-ranging acute neuropathology induced by GWIR chemicals and stress in rats (Abdel-Rahman et al., 2002; Abdel-Rahman et al., 2004a; Abdel-Rahman et al., 2004b; Ojo et al., 2014). Specifically, a study showed that blood-brain barrier integrity was substantially compromised shortly after combined exposure to DEET, PB, PM, and restraint stress (Abdel-Rahman et al., 2002). Neuronal cell death was found in the cingulate cortex, thalamus, hypothalamus, and dentate gyrus, regions in which blood-brain barrier integrity was also diminished. Abdel-Rahman et al. (2002) also detected dentate gyrus neuron death immediately after GWIR chemical and stress exposure. A later report using a different GWI exposure paradigm also demonstrated reduced blood-brain barrier integrity at a short-term timepoint (Ojo et al., 2014). A separate investigation observed acute hippocampal subfieldspecific neuronal cell death as well as neuron death in the motor cortex and the Purkinje cell layer of the cerebellum shortly after GWIR chemical and stress exposure (Abdel-Rahman et al., 2004a). Individual or combined exposures to GWIR pesticides malathion, DEET, and PM also induced short-term neuron death in the Purkinje cell layer of the cerebellum, brainstem, midbrain, dentate gyrus, CA1, and CA3 hippocampal subfields (Abdel-Rahman et al., 2004b).

A drawback of the aforementioned studies was the use of acute neuropathological endpoints, limiting their relevance to the current clinical condition of GWI veterans. Recent

reports have shown persisting disruptions in blood-brain barrier integrity (Kimono et al., 2020) and neuropathology in regions involved in cognition and motor functions. For instance, Parihar et al. (2013) discovered neuron loss in the hippocampal CA1 subfield, the CA3 subfield, and the dentate gyrus in mice four months after GWIR chemical and stress exposure. Five days of repeated, low-dose DFP exposure in a GWI animal model led to hippocampal damage as characterized by the presence of FJC+ staining in the polymorphic layer and along the hilus/granule cell border of the dentate gyrus three months post-exposure (Phillips and Deshpande, 2016). Additionally, interneuron pathology was observed in a GWI animal model where reduced levels of parvalbumin-expressing interneurons in the dentate gyrus and neuropeptide Y-expressing interneurons in the CA1/CA3 hippocampal subfields were detected three months following GWIR chemical and stress exposure (Megahed et al., 2015). The same study found that the quantity of parvalbumin and neuropeptide Y-expressing interneurons were decreased in the hippocampus overall, an effect that may contribute to hyperexcitability of glutamatergic circuitry and subsequent aberrant behavior (i.e., anxiety). Evidence of disrupted glial functionality in GWI animal models continues to emerge. Specifically, a recent investigation employing in vitro and ex vivo hippocampal slices found disrupted oligodendrocyte development and cholinergic signaling in a DFP and corticosterone exposure paradigm up to three weeks after exposure, indicating a novel role for this glial cell in the pathophysiology of GWI (Belgrad et al., 2019). Persisting activation of glia involved in regulating neuroimmune signaling has also been demonstrated. For instance, while some reports found no changes in GFAP+ immunostaining (O'Callaghan et al., 2015; Carreras et al., 2018), most studies observed astrogliosis up to 22.5 months following GWIR chemical and stress exposure, particularly in the hippocampus (Abdel-Rahman et al., 2002; Abdel-Rahman et al., 2004a; Abdullah et al., 2011; Abdullah et al., 2012; Parihar et al., 2013; Ojo et al., 2014; Zakirova et al., 2015; Abdullah et al., 2016; Zakirova et al., 2016; Zakirova et al., 2017; Madhu et al., 2019). Moreover, studies that evaluated long-term (Parihar et al., 2013; Abdullah et al., 2016; Carreras et al., 2018; Joshi et

al., 2018), but not short-term (Ojo et al., 2014; O'Callaghan et al., 2015), hippocampal Iba1+ levels reported persisting increases in this stain, suggesting prolonged activation of microglia. Elevated activation of microglia was also detected in the cerebral cortex five and 10 months after GWIR chemical and stress exposure (Madhu et al., 2019; Bose et al., 2020; Kimono et al., 2020). Interestingly, one investigation did not find enhanced Iba1+ staining 22.5 months after repeated exposure to PB and PM, a response the authors suggest may be due to confounding effects of age with GWI-related neuropathology (Zakirova et al., 2016). These results are in line with clinical data suggesting that GWI is chronic neuroimmune illness.

Structural changes observed in the brain of GWI animal models are consistent with anomalies presented in GWI veterans. For instance, decreased total hippocampal volume, CA3 subfield volume, and dentate gyrus volume was identified months after GWIR chemical exposure in an animal model (Parihar et al., 2013). Maladaptive structural changes may also be indicative of aberrant hippocampal neurogenesis. Reduced hippocampal neuronal cell proliferation and neurogenesis were detected days to months following GWIR chemical and stress exposure (Abdel-Rahman et al., 2002; Joosen et al., 2009; Parihar et al., 2013; Ojo et al., 2014; Megahed et al., 2015; Kott et al., 2016; Kodali et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2020). Namely, reduced hippocampal neurogenesis was found three days after exposure to CPF alone or combined with PM and PB (Ojo et al., 2014). A single, acute soman exposure decreased hippocampal neurogenesis four weeks after exposure (Joosen et al., 2009). Recent studies using the same exposure paradigm as Abdel-Rahman et al. (2002) observed reduced hippocampal neurogenesis immediately after exposure (Parihar et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2020), three months after exposure (Megahed et al., 2015), and four months after exposure (Parihar et al., 2013; Kodali et al., 2018). Interestingly, a preprint by Liu et al. (2020) demonstrated concomitant minocycline treatment ameliorated reduced hippocampal neurogenesis days after the termination of the GWI exposure paradigm. Furthermore, the introduction of GWI-relevant concentrations of corticosterone in the drinking water of mice over a prolonged period

decreased neurogenesis in the ventral hippocampus but not in the dorsal hippocampus (Kott et al., 2016). Nevertheless, a report described no changes in hippocampal neurogenesis 22.5 months post-PB-PM exposure (Zakirova et al., 2016). The authors suggest that the lack of differences in neurogenesis in these animals may be due to the confounding effects of old age. Collectively, these preclinical studies suggest that acute and persisting neuronal, glial, and neuroanatomical pathology may be a component of GWI. Further, prolonged impairments in neurogenesis may contribute to neuropsychological deficits and neuropathology in GWI veterans.

1.7.4 Behavioral impact

Wide-ranging abnormalities in neuropsychological function among GWI veterans have been described (White et al., 2016). Studies have also found acute and prolonged behavioral anomalies in GWI animal models. Specifically, behavioral deficits in the cognitive domain like learning and memory as well as impairments in the mood domain such as anxiety-like behavior have been consistently reported in preclinical investigations. Additionally, motor dysfunction has been demonstrated in GWI animal models. We will summarize recent preclinical studies evaluating acute and persisting aberrations in neuropsychological function here.

Preclinical studies employing different GWI animal models have consistently demonstrated acute and persisting aberrant behavior in the cognitive domain, particularly in learning and memory function (Prendergast et al., 1997; Abdullah et al., 2011; Terry Jr et al., 2011; Abdullah et al., 2012; Terry Jr et al., 2012; Parihar et al., 2013; Hattiangady et al., 2014; Zakirova et al., 2015; Abdullah et al., 2016; Phillips and Deshpande, 2016; Zakirova et al., 2016; Carreras et al., 2018; Macht et al., 2018; Phillips and Deshpande, 2018; Macht et al., 2019; Madhu et al., 2019; Phillips et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2020). Low-level exposure to DFP resulted in no change in performance in a spatial working memory-dependent Win-shift radial arm maze (RAM) task 50 days post-exposure but induced clear impairments in the reference memorydependent Morris water maze (MWM) 140 days post-exposure (Prendergast et al., 1997; Terry

Jr et al., 2012). These data suggest a delayed, but not immediate, impairment in hippocampaldependent learning and memory after exposure to GWIR chemicals. This is supported by a publication using a PB-PM exposure paradigm that observed persisting, but not acute, impairments in the reference memory-dependent Barnes maze task (Zakirova et al., 2015). Further, using an exposure paradigm of DEET, PB, PM, and restraint stress in rats, Parihar et al. (2013) found reference memory deficits in the MWM three months after exposure. CD1 male mice also exhibited diminished performance in the MWM task nearly four months after exposure to PB-PM (Abdullah et al., 2011). Impairments in performance in the Barnes maze task were detected 16 months after PB-PM exposure in a different study (Abdullah et al., 2016), suggesting that exposure to GWIR chemicals and stress results in delayed impairments in reference memory. Interestingly, a different group using the DEET, PB, PM, and restraint stress GWI paradigm did not detect altered performance in the MWM three months post-GWIR chemical exposure (Carreras et al., 2018). In a PB-PM exposure paradigm in C57BL/6J mouse model, no impairments in MWM performance were identified, a result that may have been confounded by sensorimotor deficits (Abdullah et al., 2012). Additionally, another report found no changes in performance in the water RAM or Barnes maze tasks 13 months and 22.5 months post-GWIR chemical exposure, respectively; however, the authors argue that no differences in performance may be a result of a confounding age effect (Zakirova et al., 2016). Short-term recognition memory impairments in the novel object recognition (NOR) task were observed after repeated exposure to DFP (Terry Jr et al., 2011). A recent preprint described diminished NOR performance in animals days after exposure to DEET, PB, PM, and restraint stress, an effect reversed by concomitant minocycline treatment (Liu et al., 2020). Persisting deficits in the NOR and object location tasks were reported three months after exposure in a rat GWI model that consisted of repeated, low-level DFP (Phillips and Deshpande, 2016; Phillips et al., 2019). A different study by these authors reproduced their findings in the NOR six months post-DFP exposure (Phillips and Deshpande, 2018). Additionally, prolonged recognition

memory impairments in the NOR task and the object location task were also demonstrated three months after DEET, PB, PM, and restraint stress exposure, suggesting GWIR chemical and stress exposure induces persisting deficits in hippocampal-dependent as well as perirhinal cortex-dependent learning and memory (Hattiangady et al., 2014). A recent report evaluated the effects of DEET, PB, PM, and restraint stress exposure on cognition and observed impairments in the NOR and object-in-place associative recognition memory task 10 months post-exposure, suggesting deficits in spatial memory and recognition memory that persist to a transitionally relevant timepoint (i.e., 10 months in rat corresponds to approximately 29 human years) to GWI veterans (Sengupta, 2013; Madhu et al., 2019). Other prolonged learning and memory deficits such as impaired contextual and cue-based fear conditioning following exposure to PB and stress were reported in separate studies (Macht et al., 2018; Macht et al., 2019). Collectively, these preclinical studies are in line with clinical investigations suggesting that persisting deficits in hippocampal-dependent learning and memory is a component of GWI.

Abnormal anxiety levels are another consistently described mood anomaly in GWI veterans. Short-term and long-term aberrant anxiety-like responses have also been found in GWI animal models (Abdullah et al., 2011; Abdullah et al., 2012; Parihar et al., 2013; Hattiangady et al., 2014; Phillips and Deshpande, 2016; Zakirova et al., 2016; Carreras et al., 2018; Phillips et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2020). For instance, enhanced anxiety-like behavior in the open field test (OFT) was observed immediately after using a 28-day GWIR chemical exposure paradigm in C57BL/6J mice, particularly in females (Abdullah et al., 2012). A preprint by Liu et al. (2020) also reported enhanced anxiety-like activity in the OFT days after exposure to a DEET, PB, PM, and restraint stress GWI paradigm, a response that was prevented by concomitant treatment with minocycline. Abdullah et al. (2011) identified increased anxiety-like behavior in the OFT 30 days post-PB-PM exposure in CD1 mice. Using an exposure paradigm consisting of DEET, PB, PM, and restraint stress, a preprint by Liu et al. (2020) observed elevated anxiety-like behavior in the elevated plus-maze (EPM) at a short-term timepoint,

aberrant behavior that was ameliorated via concomitant minocycline treatment. Employing an identical exposure protocol, Parihar et al. (2013) found enhanced anxiety-like behavior in the EPM three months after GWIR chemical exposure. The same group demonstrated no changes in anxiety-related behaviors in the OFT three months post-GWIR chemical exposure in a different report, a response that may be a result of the OFT being less challenging than the EPM (Hattiangady et al., 2014). A different group using the DEET, PB, PM, and stress GWI paradigm also demonstrated enhanced anxiety-related behavior in the EPM three months post-exposure (Carreras et al., 2018). Additionally, increased anxiety in the EPM was identified three months after exposure in a rat GWI model that consisted of repeated, low-level DFP (Phillips and Deshpande, 2016; Phillips et al., 2019). Interestingly, a separate report showed disinhibition of anxiety-like behavior 13 months post-PB-PM exposure but no changes in anxiety or social behavior 22.5 months after exposure, a response the authors argue may be due to confounding effects of age (Zakirova et al., 2016). Collectively, these preclinical studies are in line with clinical investigations of elevated anxiety in GWI veterans.

Motor deficits reported in GWI veterans have been recapitulated in rodents exposed to GWIR chemicals and stress (Prendergast et al., 1997; Abou-Donia et al., 2001; Abdel-Rahman et al., 2004b; Terry Jr et al., 2011; Abdullah et al., 2012; Hattiangady et al., 2014; Ramirez-Sanchez et al., 2020). Sensorimotor deficits were observed in CD1 mice seven days after exposure to DEET, PB, PM, and restraint stress as indicated by impaired performance on the rotarod task (Abdullah et al., 2012). Additionally, animals exposed to DEET, PB, PM, and stress individually or in combination exhibited diminished performance in the inclined plane, forepaw grip, and beam-walk tasks 30 days post-exposure (Abou-Donia et al., 2001; Abdel-Rahman et al., 2004b). Significantly decreased limb strength, as well as time and distance traveled on a treadmill, were reduced three weeks post-DEET, PB, PM, and stress exposure (Ramirez-Sanchez et al., 2020). Low-level exposure to DFP induced impairments in the OFT and the grip strength task immediately and up to 30 days post-exposure in rats (Prendergast et al., 1997;

Terry Jr et al., 2011). On the contrary, another group demonstrated no changes motor-related behaviors in the OFT three months post-GWIR chemical and stress exposure (Hattiangady et al., 2014). These data suggest that short-term, but not long-term, motor deficits are presented in animals following exposure to GWIR chemicals and stress. Future studies investigating persisting motor deficits in GWI animal models via the use of clinically relevant and consistent behavioral tasks such as those outlined by Janulewicz et al. (2017) are warranted.

1.8 Treating Gulf War Illness: Preclinical Studies

1.8.1 Overview of Gulf War Illness treatment

Many clinical and preclinical studies investigating the safety and efficacy of candidates for the treatment of GWI have been completed; however, 30 years after the 1990-1991 Persian Gulf War, GWI treatments are targeted and symptomatic. Additionally, emerging evidence suggests there are inconsistencies and inadequacies in the treatment of GWI veterans (Baldwin et al., 2019). As veterans are aging, their symptom severity is becoming progressively worse (Zundel et al., 2019; Porter et al., 2020; Zundel et al., 2020). Therefore, there is substantial demand for the rapid development of safe and efficacious therapies for extended remission of GWI. This section will focus on recent preclinical investigations of potential therapies for treating the long-term health challenges presented in GWI. Recent reviews have also surveyed the current state of studies evaluating preclinical and clinical therapeutic candidates for the treatment of GWI (Dickey et al., 2020; Nugent et al., 2020).

1.8.2 Gulf War Illness treatment candidates: preclinical studies

Numerous recent studies have investigated the safety and efficacy of novel therapeutics in treating GWI-related symptomology presented in animal models (Joshi et al., 2018; Kodali et al., 2018; Laferriere et al., 2019; Phillips et al., 2019; Joshi et al., 2020; Keledjian et al., 2020; Ribeiro et al., 2020; Shetty et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020; Zhu et al., 2020). These preclinical reports consistently targeted fundamental components of GWI, namely lipid abnormalities, oxidative stress, aberrant neuroimmune signaling, and mitochondrial dysfunctionality.

Therapeutics impacting emerging mechanisms underlying GWI pathophysiology such as epigenetic irregularities, glutamatergic signaling, disrupted Ca²⁺ homeostasis were also evaluated. This subsection will focus on a few recent studies assessing possible therapeutics for treating persistent neurological abnormalities presented in GWI animal models. *1.8.2.1 Preclinical Gulf War Illness treatment candidates: oleoylethanolamide*

The current review has previously established that prolonged lipid dyshomeostasis is accompanied by oxidative stress and a neuroinflammatory phenotype in a 10-day PB-PM exposure paradigm in C57BI/6J mice (Zakirova et al., 2015; Abdullah et al., 2016; Emmerich et al., 2017). Importantly, abnormalities identified in the lipidomic profile of this GWI animal model were consistent with some of the aberrations observed in a clinical setting, particularly omega-3 docosahexaenoic acid, ether-containing phospholipids, and very-long-chain fatty acid (VLCFA) containing sphingomyelin species. Plasma VLCFA and thiobarbituric acid reactive substances were also shown to be significantly increased in GWI veterans compared to healthy GWV, suggesting abnormalities in lipid processing as well as elevated lipid peroxidation, respectively (Joshi et al., 2018). The authors of Joshi et al. (2018) argue GWI may be a result of prolonged impairments in peroxisomal activity as peroxisomes are involved in the β -oxidation of VLCFA as well as the synthesis of omega-3 docosahexaenoic acid and ether-containing phospholipids, processes that enhance oxidative stress and neuroinflammation when dysfunctional. Therefore, oleoylethanolamide (OEA), a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) α agonist, was investigated as a potential treatment for mitigating prolonged lipid dyshomeostasis, reducing inflammatory activity, and ameliorating cognition. Indeed, OEA treatment, beginning five months post-PB-PM exposure, resulted in a reduction of brain VLCFA levels that were comparable to the levels of age-matched vehicle-treated animals. Moreover, expression of thiobarbituric acid reactive substances in OEA-treated animals exposed to PB-PM were not significantly different compared to controls. Abnormal NF-κB and signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) phosphorylation, indicators of inflammation in a litany of CNS disorders, were observed

in PB-PM-exposed animals months after exposure, an effect reversed by OEA treatment. Additionally, persistent activation of astrocytes, as well as activation and proliferation of microglia, were reduced in PB-PM-exposed animals that received OEA treatment. These lipid, neuroinflammatory, and neuropathological changes were all detected 11 months post-PB-PM exposure (i.e., six months of OEA treatment), corresponding to alterations that are clinically relevant to the current age of GWI veterans (e.g., 11 months in mice approximately corresponds to more than 30 human years (Sengupta, 2013)). Six months after PB-PM exposure, reference memory deficits in the Barnes maze were reversed in PB-PM exposed animals that received OEA treatment. The authors also argued that OEA treatment reduced fatigue in PB-PM exposed animals as indicated by PB-PM-vehicle animals exhibiting significantly enhanced immobility time in the FST compared to all other groups 10 months after PB-PM exposure. Abnormal anxiety-like behavior was observed in PB-PM-vehicle animals in the EPM 11 months post-exposure, an effect reversed by OEA treatment. Overall, these data suggest that OEA may be an efficacious therapy for treating persisting lipid dysfunction, attenuating pro-inflammatory activity, and improving cognition in GWI. There are a number of advantages and limitations of this report. For instance, an advantage of this study includes the significant delay prior to animals receiving OEA treatment. This recapitulates the brief exposure period and prolonged delay before GWI veterans receiving GWI-specific therapy. Further, the 11-month endpoint of the study facilitates the construct validity of the model and the predictive validity of the OEA treatment as the age of the animals is comparable to the current age of GWI veterans. Limitations of this study include unexpected anxiolytic activity in the EPM and enhanced immobility time in the FST in vehicle animals that received OEA, responses that warrant further evaluation of the toxicological profile of OEA. Although a biorepository of plasma samples from GWV was consulted in analyzing clinical data, the low number of GWV employed in the study (control veterans: n=10; GWI veterans: n=12) limits the impact of the report. Additionally, the lack of female subjects and animals in this study restricts the scope of the results.

1.8.2.2 Preclinical Gulf War Illness treatment candidates: curcumin and monosodium luminol-GVT

The Shetty group recently published reports evaluating the efficacy of two candidates for treating GWI, treatments that are fundamentally dependent upon restoration of redox homeostasis and mitigating the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in a GWI animal model (Kodali et al., 2018; Shetty et al., 2020). One candidate that was evaluated, curcumin, has a well-established safety profile (Leibowitz and Ormerod, 2018) and was shown to induce prolonged anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, and neuroprotective effects in a GWI animal model (Kodali et al., 2018). The same group also evaluated the efficacy of a different agent, monosodium luminol-GVT (MSL), in the treatment of GWI (Shetty et al., 2020). The authors note that MSL was shown to restore redox homeostasis in animal models of disease states involving prolonged neuroinflammation and oxidative stress, symptoms which are consistent with GWI. Four months after a 28 day exposure to DEET, PB, PM, and restraint stress, rats began MSL treatment for two months to assess the safety and efficacy of the therapeutic in treating GWI-specific neuropsychological impairments, increased oxidative stress, elevated inflammation, augmented neuropathology, and diminished neurogenesis. Three doses (40, 80, or 160 mg/kg) were used to investigate dose-response effects. After two months of MSL treatment (six months post-GWIR chemical and stress exposure), animals that underwent GWIR chemical and stress exposure exhibited impaired performance in the NOR task, pattern separation task, sucrose preference test, and novelty suppressed feeding test, effects that were reversed in animals treated with 160 mg/kg MSL. These findings suggest that MSL ameliorated hippocampal-dependent learning and memory, improved motivation, enhanced sensitivity to rewarding stimuli, and reduced anxiety-like behavior, respectively. Additionally, MSL normalized genes related to combating oxidative stress to levels that were comparable to naïve agematched control animals. Brain and peripheral markers of oxidative stress in GWIR chemical and stress-exposed animals were also reduced to levels comparable to naïve animals following

MSL treatment, suggesting that the therapeutic rebalanced redox homeostasis in a long-term GWI animal model. Peripheral pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (i.e., IL-1a, IL-6, TNF- α) levels were also decreased in GWIR chemical and stress-exposed animals that received MSL treatment, suggesting MSL mitigated pro-inflammatory cytokine expression. Additionally, glial functionality was recovered in MSL-treated rats six months after GWIR chemical and stress exposure. Specifically, a reduction in hippocampal astrocyte hypertrophy and a bias of activated microglia back to a resting state was observed in animals that received MSL treatment. While three weeks of treatment with MSL in GWIR chemical and stress exposed animals did not result in restored hippocampal neurogenesis, eight weeks of MSL treatment recovered the proliferation of putative neural stem cells and rescued hippocampal neurogenesis to levels comparable to naïve control animals. This study suggests that MSL may be an efficacious agent for the treatment of underlying pathophysiology leading to the persistence of GWI. Notably, the authors employed a four-month delay before initiating MSL treatment. Accordingly, this timeline more effectively recapitulates clinical GWI than studies that begin treating animals immediately after GWIR chemical and stress exposure. Moreover, the variety of endpoints (i.e., neuroinflammatory, oxidative stress, histopathological, and behavioral) investigated in this report provides a comprehensive picture of the effects of GWIR chemical and stress exposure as well as MSL treatment in the GWI animal model. A noticeable drawback of this study includes the lack of a dose-response effect mediated by MSL in some experiments. For instance, a biphasic, U-shaped response was observed in MSL-treated rats in the object location test and pattern separation test. The highest dose utilized in this study, 160 mg/kg, most consistently restored measurements to levels comparable to naïve control animals, suggesting this high dose may hold the most promise for the treatment of GWI. Accordingly, toxicological analysis is warranted as some of these responses may be a result of compensatory mechanisms elicited in response to the large dose of MSL.

1.8.2.3 Preclinical Gulf War Illness treatment candidates: LDN/OSU-215111

Clinical (Brandley et al., 2020; Holton et al., 2020a; Holton et al., 2020b; Joyce and Holton, 2020; Kirkland et al., 2020) and preclinical studies (Torres-Altoro et al., 2011; Macht et al., 2019; Macht et al., 2020) suggest that aberrant glutamatergic signaling may be an underlying component of GWI pathophysiology. Positioned at the intersection of neuronal and glial synaptic communication is the tripartite synapse, a term defined as a functional combination of the presynaptic bouton, postsynaptic density, and proximal glial cells that facilitate and regulate the activity of a synapse. The aforementioned reports of atypical glutamatergic transmission and dysfunctional glial signaling in GWI may be indicative of tripartite synapse impairments. Accordingly, a recent report by Wang et al. (2020) targeted preclinical GWI-specific abnormalities in tripartite synapse function via a novel pyridazine derivative, LDN/OSU-215111. LDN/OSU-215111 was previously shown to enhance the function and structure of glutamatergic synapses as well as astrocytic cells at tripartite synapses, a response which was related to elevating the production of proteins in perisynaptic astrocytic processes (PAP) and subsequent enhancement of forms of plasticity related to PAP activity such as LTP (Foster et al., 2018). Wang et al. (2020) assessed the efficacy of LDN/OSU-215111 in treating GWI symptomology following exposure to a modified paradigm developed by Abdel-Rahman et al. (2002). Following six weeks of GWIR chemical and stress exposure, persisting GWI-related pathology was observed in animals including aberrant glutamatergic molecular markers, mood abnormalities, cognitive impairment, elevated fatigue, deficits in synaptic plasticity and transmission, hippocampal neural atrophy, reduced hippocampal neurogenesis, and enhanced hippocampal glial dysfunction, responses that were generally reversed in animals following 10 mg/kg LDN/OSU-215111 (p.o.) treatment. Specifically, hippocampal glutamate levels were elevated in vivo, an effect that was not observed in GWIR chemical and stress-exposed mice that received a LDN/OSU-215111 treatment. Daily treatment

with the pyridazine derivative during and for three months following GWIR chemical and stress exposure prevented the development of anxiety- and depressive-like behavior in males and females as well. Additionally, deficits in the NOR task and Barnes maze were generally prevented by LDN/OSU-215111 treatment three months post-GWIR exposure in males and females. Male, but not female, animals exposed to GWIR chemical and stress exhibited reduced LTP magnitude three months after exposure, a response that was ameliorated by LDN/OSU-215111 treatment. A different subset of animals underwent testing in the aforementioned tasks that assessed anxiety- and depressive-like behavior five months after GWIR chemical and stress exposure followed by four weeks of daily LDN/OSU-215111 treatment. Subsequent retesting in anxiety- and depressive-like behavioral tasks revealed normalization of performance in mood-related tests following four weeks of daily treatment with the pyridazine derivative (six months post-GWIR exposure), suggesting that delayed treatment with the novel therapeutic may ameliorate GWI-related mood dysfunction. A different subset of animals exhibited more profound impairments in recognition and reference memory six months post-GWIR exposure compared to three months post-exposure. These hippocampal-dependent learning and memory impairments were ameliorated in animals that began receiving daily LDN/OSU-215111 treatment for four weeks following a five-month delay after GWIR exposure. Additionally, LTP magnitude was reduced in both male and female animals six months after exposure to GWIR chemicals and stress, a response that was not detected in animals that received four weeks of daily LDN/OSU-215111 treatment. These persisting changes in LTP magnitude were accompanied by prolonged alterations in excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission. Notably, reduced frequency and amplitude of miniature EPSCs and sEPSCs were observed in animals six months post-GWIR exposure, responses that were not observed following LDN/OSU-215111 treatment. Further, miniature IPSC frequency, as well as spontaneous IPSC frequency and amplitude, were reduced in GWIR chemical and stressexposed animals; however, none of these inhibitory responses were ameliorated by treatment

with the pyridazine derivative. These data are in line with GWIR chemical and stress-induced elevations in hippocampal excitatory transmission as a result of augmented extracellular glutamate levels, leading to persistent aberrations in synaptic efficacy. The authors also detected a prolonged reduction in markers of glutamatergic presynaptic function such as synaptophysin and vesicular glutamate transporter 1 as well as decreases in indicators of postsynaptic integrity like PSD-95, responses which are consistent with electrophysiological data suggesting impairments in glutamatergic neurotransmission. Importantly, LDN/OSU-215111 treatment reversed the detrimental impact of GWIR exposure on these glutamatergic presynaptic and postsynaptic molecular markers. Additionally, these data are consistent with impaired interneuron function. Indeed, while the authors did not observe persistently reduced density of hippocampal pyramidal cells, they did detect diminished density of parvalbuminpositive interneurons in the DG as well as CA1 and CA3 subfields six months post-GWIR exposure, decreases that were ameliorated by LDN/OSU-215111 treatment. Moreover, decreased expression of functional proteins found in the presynaptic terminal of GABAergic synapses like vesicular GABA transporter (vGAT) but no detected alterations in functional postsynaptic GABAergic cell indicators such as gephyrin and GABA_A receptor density suggests a complex yet significant impact of GWIR exposure on inhibitory neurotransmission in the hippocampus. Importantly, LDN/OSU-215111 treatment ameliorated the observed reduction in hippocampal vGAT expression. A persistent reduction in hippocampal neurogenesis induced by GWIR exposure was also rebalanced by LDN/OSU-215111 treatment. Overall, these data suggest that GWIR chemical and stress exposure persistently elevate intracellular glutamate levels, leading to impaired neural structure and function that manifests as deficits in neurogenesis, behavior, and synaptic plasticity and transmission. Importantly, targeting the tripartite synapse by employing concomitant or delayed LDN/OSU-215111 treatment augmented the translation of transcripts in the PAP, generally ameliorating GWI-specific aberrations in glutamate homeostasis, neural integrity, neurogenesis, neurotransmission,

synaptic plasticity, mood, and cognition. This study presents several strengths. An advantage of this investigation was the wide-ranging assays employed, including experiments that assessed a myriad of molecular, cellular, and behavioral responses. Notably, this is one of the first published reports to evaluate persisting impairments in synaptic plasticity and transmission in a GWI animal model, which aids in addressing a substantial knowledge gap in GWI research. The authors included male and female animals in this study, bolstering the potential scope and impact of the report as increasing evidence suggests GWI differentially manifests across sexes (Dursa et al., 2019; Sullivan et al., 2020). The authors also evaluated the efficacy of LDN/OSU-215111 at immediate and delayed timepoints, allowing researchers to assess how the therapeutic may ameliorate GWI-specific pathology over time. Nevertheless, there are a number of drawbacks to this report. While the authors employed a well-established GWI exposure paradigm, the present study utilized a novel, more intense, and longer lasting stress protocol, potentially limiting the capacity to compare the present report to other preclinical and clinical literature. Moreover, the authors do not indicate if electrophysiology recordings are conducted in the dH or the vH, and the protocol employed in LTP experiments limits the report. Specifically, a relatively short period (five min) was utilized to establish basal synaptic transmission, contributing to the observed variability in the time course. The authors only recorded the potentiated fEPSP response for 30 min post-TBS, monitoring a response that may be more appropriately defined as STP rather LTP. Accordingly, this substantially hinders the ability of the authors to assess the persisting impact of GWIR chemical and stress exposure on hippocampal synaptic plasticity.

1.8.2.4 Preclinical Gulf War Illness treatment candidates: Intracellular Ca²⁺ modulating agents

Persisting pathology and aberrant behavior presented in a GWI model consisting of repeated, low-level DFP exposure was associated with abnormal intracellular Ca²⁺ signaling (Phillips and Deshpande, 2016; Phillips and Deshpande, 2018; Phillips and Deshpande, 2020). A recent study evaluated if levetiracetam, an FDA-approved antiepileptic drug that induces

pharmacological activity via inhibition of Ca²⁺-induced Ca²⁺ release, can restore Ca²⁺ signaling and associated behavioral function in this GWI animal model (Phillips et al., 2019). After five consecutive days of DFP exposure, rats underwent a three-month waiting period prior to receiving four consecutive days of levetiracetam treatment. The next day, DFP-exposed animals exhibited significantly elevated intracellular Ca²⁺ levels, an effect that was partially prevented by levetiracetam treatment. Additionally, DFP-exposed animals that received levetiracetam treatment did not display deficits in sensitivity to reward in the sucrose preference test like DFPexposed animals did. Anxiety-like behavior and enhanced immobility time in the EPM and FST, respectively, were reversed in DFP-levetiracetam treated animals. Moreover, DFP-exposed animals exhibited impaired recognition memory in the NOR, an impairment that was not observed in DFP-levetiracetam treated rats. Analysis of protein levels involved in the regulation and release of intracellular Ca^{2+} revealed a reduction in calstabin 2 levels in DFP exposed rats, a critical regulatory subunit of the ryanodine receptor 2 (RyR2) complex that selectively binds and stabilizes RyR2 to a closed state. Importantly, RyR2 is implicated in modulating cognitive behavior (Abu-Omar et al., 2018; Kushnir et al., 2018). Accordingly, the authors propose that DFP-induced aberrations in glutamatergic neurotransmission may contribute to excitotoxic activation of NMDA receptors, leading to sustained leakage of Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores such as RyR2 as a result of reduced expression of regulatory proteins like calstabin 2. Therefore, targeting aberrant intracellular Ca²⁺ signaling may hold promise in treating neurological abnormalities and behavioral dysfunction in GWI veterans. Using the same model and timeline, two recent studies by this group followed-up this potential mechanism by evaluating the efficacy of ketamine and its enantiomers (i.p. ROA) as anti-depressants in treating GWI-related molecular and behavioral aberrations three months post-DFP exposure (Ribeiro et al., 2020; Zhu et al., 2020). As doses of ketamine above 10 mg/kg impacted locomotor activity in the OFT, the authors selected a concentration of 10 mg/kg to evaluate the therapeutic effects of this competitive NMDA receptor antagonist. A dose-dependent reduction

in depressive/fatigue-like behavior in the FST was observed up to 24 h post-ketamine treatment in rats that were exposed to DFP three months prior. Additional indicators of depressive/fatiguelike behavior were observed in DFP exposed animals such as decreased sucrose preference consumption as well as anxiety-like behavior in the EPM, responses that were reversed up to 24 h and one h, respectively, after 10 mg/kg ketamine treatment. Interestingly, one enantiomer of ketamine, (R)-ketamine, appeared to be more efficacious in persistently ameliorating GWIR behavioral abnormalities in the FST and EPM than the other. A significant elevation in intracellular Ca²⁺ levels was observed in CA1 hippocampal cells, an effect that was reversed one h but not 24 h post-ketamine treatment. Ketamine treatment also recovered hippocampal BDNF levels 24 h, but not one h, post-ketamine treatment in DFP-exposed animals. Interestingly, a different competitive NMDA receptor antagonist, memantine, reversed persistent elevations in hippocampal CA1 intracellular Ca²⁺ levels one h after treatment but did not impact immobility time in the FST 24 h post-treatment or hippocampal BDNF levels. Administration of a TrkB inhibitor, ANA-12, five min prior to ketamine treatment had no effect on ameliorated immobility time in the FST one h post-ketamine treatment but blocked the previously described reduction in immobility time 24 h post-ketamine treatment. These data suggest that the therapeutic impact of 10 mg/kg ketamine treatment on aberrant GWIR molecular and behavioral responses is initially driven by normalization of intracellular Ca²⁺ levels followed by a persistent TrkB-mediated recovery of BDNF levels. While the authors note that the half-life of ketamine is approximately one h, other studies demonstrated that ketamine metabolites induce sustained therapeutic effects that are independent of the NMDA receptor such as persistent activation of AMPA receptors and modulatory effects on BDNF signaling (i.e., hydroxynorketamine). Further, the (R)-ketamine enantiomer induces unique physiological effects independent of the traditional impact on NMDA receptor conductance, which may underlie the observed elevations in antidepressant-like effects compared to its (S+)-ketamine counterpart in the present reports as well as reduced psychotomimetic effects described in other studies. Nevertheless, these studies

present several shortcomings. For instance, each report is particularly limited by the duration of the investigations. Specifically, the three-month waiting period corresponds to approximately 10 human years, a period that is not translationally relevant to the 30 year period since the 1990-1991 Persian Gulf War (Sengupta, 2013). This limits the construct validity of the model and the predictive validity of levetiracetam and ketamine. The i.p. ROA for levetiracetam and ketamine also hinders the translational relevance of these studies as this is not a practical route for clinical administration of these potential therapeutics. Additionally, the authors of Phillips et al. (2019) propose that the etiological basis of the sustained dysfunction presented in their GWI model is due to intracellular Ca²⁺ dyshomeostasis, resulting from reduced expression of regulatory proteins like calstabin 2. Nevertheless, their study lacks an experimental group assessing the effects of levetiracetam treatment on calstabin 2 expression. Therefore, future studies assessing the efficacy of levetiracetam in restoring calstabin 2 levels may aid in interpreting improvements in persisting GWI-specific behavioral anomalies. Furthermore, the authors of the latter two reports speculate that a substantial component of the persisting therapeutic effects of ketamine is mediated via metabolites of the NMDA receptor antagonist. Accordingly, it may be fruitful for future reports assessing the sustained effects of ketamine in improving GWIR symptomology and underlying molecular aberrations to include a treatment group of a previously demonstrated therapeutic ketamine metabolite such as hydroxynorketamine. Moreover, the authors did not indicate if the dH or the vH were evaluated, hippocampal sectors that are increasingly recognized as functionally distinct structures (Papatheodoropoulos, 2018). Additionally, studies suggest ketamine induces sex-specific therapeutic effects (Freeman et al., 2019). As increasing evidence suggests that GWI presents in a sex-specific manner (Coughlin et al., 2017; Heboyan et al., 2019), subsequent studies evaluating the safety and efficacy of ketamine in treating GWI should include female animals or subjects to maximize the impact and reproducibility of the investigation.

1.8.3 Preclinical Gulf War Illness treatment candidates: summary

Collectively, these studies illustrate an optimistic outlook for the development of a potentially safe and efficacious GWI treatment. For instance, therapeutics investigated by the field of preclinical GWI researchers are converging on translationally relevant mechanisms of clinical GWI, namely lipid abnormalities, oxidative stress, aberrant neuroimmune signaling, mitochondrial dysfunctionality, epigenetic irregularities, glutamatergic signaling, and disrupted Ca²⁺ homeostasis. Nevertheless, the litany of mechanistic options to target a drug candidate around presents an obvious question for researchers developing a safe and efficacious treatment for GWI: Which individual, or group of, therapeutic mechanism(s) should a drug candidate be targeted towards? And how efficacious would this drug candidate be in treating a disease state that presents as heterogeneously as GWI? Challenges related to these questions and others will be addressed in the 6.2 subsection of this document.

1.9 Conclusion

The hippocampus is a bilateral structure located in the medial temporal lobe of mammalian organisms and exhibits a distinct subregion, subfield, and laminar organization that facilitates relatively simple investigation of circuit-level mechanisms compared to other brain regions. Complex cellular characteristics of the hippocampus drive unique forms of synaptic plasticity as well as diverse manifestations of excitatory, inhibitory, and modulatory neurotransmission. These intricate forms of synaptic plasticity and transmission play multifaceted functions in behavioral responses, particularly learning and memory. Emerging evidence indicates that the dorsal and ventral sectors of the hippocampus are functionally distinct structures, resulting in novel research evaluating intrinsic and extrinsic differences between these sectors. The establishment of differential synaptic, cellular, and structural properties within the dH compared to the vH has provided insight into subtle and profound roles these sectors play in behavioral responses.

GWI is a chronic multisymptom illness affecting approximately one-third of 700,000 GWV. In the present review, we have described preclinical GWI studies detailing neurological

aberrations at the genetic, epigenetic, molecular, synaptic, cellular, anatomical, and behavioral levels. Investigations of preclinical drug candidates for the treatment of GWI were also reviewed. Collectively, extensive clinical and preclinical GWI research has been conducted, yet there is still clear demand for enhanced progress in GWI investigations as treatments for the disease state remain targeted and symptomatic.

The degree, duration, and type of GWIR exposures are correlated to the symptom severity of GWI, resulting in a disease state that presents heterogeneously among veterans. Accordingly, the varied severity of GWI symptomology as a result of unique exposure conditions indicates that assessing multiple forms of GWIR exposures (i.e., in vitro vs. in vivo) and presentation of their adverse effects within distinct physiological systems (i.e., ex vivo vs. in vivo) may address knowledge gaps in GWI research. Additionally, emerging evidence suggests that GWI is a progressive disease as indicated by the gradual increase in reported GWI symptom severity and frequency over time. Therefore, assessing experimental endpoints at multiple time points (i.e., acute vs. persisting) in preclinical GWI studies may provide insight into the apparent worsening of the disease. Further, neurological (i.e., cognitive) and immunological (i.e., inflammation) dysfunction has been consistently featured in GWI studies highlighted throughout this review, underscoring the necessity to address aberrations in these physiological domains via a safe and efficacious treatment. The following preclinical studies detailed in this document specifically aimed to address knowledge gaps related to the progressive neuropathological mechanisms initiated by in vitro and in vivo GWIR exposures, particularly along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis. These investigations also aimed to determine the efficacy of an immunotherapeutic, lacto-n-fucopenatose-III, in ameliorating neurological abnormalities in two animal models of GWI when the therapeutic was coadministered with GWIR exposures as well as months after exposures.

References

Abbott L and Regehr WG (2004) Synaptic computation. *Nature* **431**: 796-803.

- Abbott LF, Varela J, Sen K, and Nelson S (1997) Synaptic depression and cortical gain control. Science **275:** 221-224.
- Abdel-Rahman A, Abou-Donia SM, El-Masry EM, Shetty AK, and Abou-Donia MB (2004a) Stress and combined exposure to low doses of pyridostigmine bromide, DEET, and permethrin produce neurochemical and neuropathological alterations in cerebral cortex, hippocampus, and cerebellum. *J Toxicol Environ Health A* **67**: 163-192.
- Abdel-Rahman A, Dechkovskaia AM, Goldstein LB, Bullman SH, Khan W, El-Masry EM, and Abou-Donia MB (2004b) Neurological deficits induced by malathion, DEET, and permethrin, alone or in combination in adult rats. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A* **67:** 331-356.
- Abdel-Rahman A, Shetty AK, and Abou-Donia MB (2002) Disruption of the blood–brain barrier and neuronal cell death in cingulate cortex, dentate gyrus, thalamus, and hypothalamus in a rat model of Gulf-War syndrome. *Neurobiol Dis* **10**: 306-326.
- Abdullah L, Crynen G, Reed J, Bishop A, Phillips J, Ferguson S, Mouzon B, Mullan M, Mathura V, and Mullan M (2011) Proteomic CNS profile of delayed cognitive impairment in mice exposed to Gulf War agents. *Neuromolecular Med* **13**: 275-288.
- Abdullah L, Evans JE, Bishop A, Reed JM, Crynen G, Phillips J, Pelot R, Mullan MA, Ferro A, and Mullan CM (2012) Lipidomic profiling of phosphocholine containing brain lipids in mice with sensorimotor deficits and anxiety-like features after exposure to Gulf War agents. *Neuromolecular Med* **14:** 349-361.
- Abdullah L, Evans JE, Joshi U, Crynen G, Reed J, Mouzon B, Baumann S, Montague H, Zakirova Z, and Emmerich T (2016) Translational potential of long-term decreases in mitochondrial lipids in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *Toxicology* **372**: 22-33.
- Abdullah L, Evans JE, Montague H, Reed JM, Moser A, Crynen G, Gonzalez A, Zakirova Z, Ross I, and Mullan C (2013) Chronic elevation of phosphocholine containing lipids in mice exposed to Gulf War agents pyridostigmine bromide and permethrin. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **40:** 74-84.
- Aben B, Stapert S, and Blokland A (2012) About the distinction between working memory and short-term memory. *Front Psychol* **3**: 301.
- Abou-Donia MB, Conboy LA, Kokkotou E, Jacobson E, Elmasry EM, Elkafrawy P, Neely M, Dale'Bass CR, and Sullivan K (2017) Screening for novel central nervous system biomarkers in veterans with Gulf War Illness. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **61:** 36-46.
- Abou-Donia MB, Goldstein LB, Jones KH, Abdel-Rahman AA, Damodaran TV, Dechkovskaia AM, Bullman SL, Amir BE, and Khan WA (2001) Locomotor and sensorimotor performance deficit in rats following exposure to pyridostigmine bromide, DEET, and permethrin, alone and in combination. *Toxicol Sci* **60**: 305-314.
- Abou-Donia MB, Krengel MH, Lapadula ES, Zundel CG, LeClair J, Massaro J, Quinn E, Conboy LA, Kokkotou E, and Nguyen DD (2021) Sex-Based Differences in Plasma Autoantibodies to Central Nervous System Proteins in Gulf War Veterans versus Healthy and Symptomatic Controls. *Brain Sciences* **11**: 148.
- Abou-Donia MB, Lapadula ES, Krengel MH, Quinn E, LeClair J, Massaro J, Conboy LA, Kokkotou E, Abreu M, and Klimas NG (2020) Using Plasma Autoantibodies of Central Nervous System Proteins to Distinguish Veterans with Gulf War Illness from Healthy and Symptomatic Controls. *Brain Sciences* **10**: 610.
- Abu-Omar N, Das J, Szeto V, and Feng Z-P (2018) Neuronal ryanodine receptors in development and aging. *Mol Neurobiol* **55**: 1183-1192.

- Albuquerque EX, Pereira E, Castro NG, Alkondon M, Reinhardt S, Schröder H, and Maelicke A (1995) Nicotinic receptor function in the mammalian central nervous system. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **757**: 48.
- Albuquerque EX, Pereira EF, Alkondon M, and Rogers SW (2009) Mammalian nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: from structure to function. *Physiol Rev* **89:** 73-120.
- Alkondon M and Albuquerque EX (2004) The nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subtypes and their function in the hippocampus and cerebral cortex. *Prog Brain Res* **145**: 109-120.
- Allen WF (1940) Effect of ablating the frontal lobes, hippocampi, and occipito-parieto-temporal (excepting pyriform areas) lobes on positive and negative olfactory conditioned reflexes. *American Journal of Physiology-Legacy Content* **128**: 754-771.
- Anagnostaras SG, Maren S, and Fanselow MS (1999) Temporally graded retrograde amnesia of contextual fear after hippocampal damage in rats: within-subjects examination. *J Neurosci* **19**: 1106-1114.
- Anagnostaras SG, Murphy GG, Hamilton SE, Mitchell SL, Rahnama NP, Nathanson NM, and Silva AJ (2003) Selective cognitive dysfunction in acetylcholine M 1 muscarinic receptor mutant mice. *Nat Neurosci* **6:** 51-58.
- Andersen P (1960) Interhippocampal impulses: II. Apical dendritic activation of CAI neurons. *Acta Physiol Scand* **48**: 178-208.
- Andersen P, Blackstad T, and Lømo T (1966a) Location and identification of excitatory synapses on hippoeampal pyramidal cells. *Exp Brain Res* **1:** 236-248.
- Andersen P, Eccles J, and Lyning Y (1964a) Pathway of postsynaptic inhibition in the hippocampus. *J Neurophysiol* **27:** 608-619.
- Andersen P, Eccles JC, and Lyning Y (1964b) Location of postsynaptic inhibitory synapses on hippocampal pyramids. *J Neurophysiol* **27**: 592-607.
- Andersen P, Holmqvist B, and Voorhoeve P (1966b) Excitatory synapses on hippocampal apical dendrites activated by entorhinal stimulation. *Acta Physiol Scand* **66:** 461-472.
- Andersen P, Morris R, Amaral D, Bliss T, and O'Keefe J (2007) *The hippocampus book*. Oxford university press.
- Andrade R, Malenka R, and Nicoll R (1986) AG protein couples serotonin and GABAB receptors to the same channels in hippocampus. *Science* **234**: 1261-1265.
- Anwyl R (1991) Modulation of vertebrate neuronal calcium channels by transmitters. *Brain Res Rev* **16:** 265-281.
- Armano S, Rossi P, Taglietti V, and D'Angelo E (2000) Long-term potentiation of intrinsic excitability at the mossy fiber–granule cell synapse of rat cerebellum. *J Neurosci* **20**: 5208-5216.
- Ashbrook DG, Hing B, Michalovicz LT, Kelly KA, Miller JV, de Vega WC, Miller DB, Broderick G, O'Callaghan JP, and McGowan PO (2018) Epigenetic impacts of stress priming of the neuroinflammatory response to sarin surrogate in mice: a model of Gulf War illness. *J Neuroinflammation* **15:** 86.
- Axmacher N, Mormann F, Fernández G, Cohen MX, Elger CE, and Fell J (2007) Sustained neural activity patterns during working memory in the human medial temporal lobe. *J Neurosci* 27: 7807-7816.
- Baddeley A (1992) Working memory. Science 255: 556-559.
- Baddeley A (2012) Working memory: theories, models, and controversies. *Annu Rev Psychol* **63:** 1-29.
- Baddeley AD and Hitch G (1974) Working memory, in *Psychology of learning and motivation* pp 47-89, Elsevier.
- Bahar AS, Shirvalkar PR, and Shapiro ML (2011) Memory-guided learning: CA1 and CA3 neuronal ensembles differentially encode the commonalities and differences between situations. *J Neurosci* **31**: 12270-12281.

- Baldwin N, Rudquist RR, Lava-Parmele S, Trembley JH, Butterick TA, and Bach RR (2019) Improving Health Care for Veterans With Gulf War Illness. *Federal Practitioner* **36:** 212.
- Banker G and Goslin K (1991) Primary dissociated cell cultures of neural tissue. *Culturing nerve cells*: 41-71.
- Banker GA and Cowan WM (1977) Rat hippocampal neurons in dispersed cell culture. *Brain Res* **126:** 397-425.
- Banko JL, Hou L, and Klann E (2004) NMDA receptor activation results in PKA- and ERKdependent Mnk1 activation and increased eIF4E phosphorylation in hippocampal area CA1. *J Neurochem* **91:** 462-470.
- Banks MI, Li T-B, and Pearce RA (1998) The synaptic basis of GABAA, slow. *J Neurosci* **18**: 1305-1317.
- Bannerman D, Rawlins J, McHugh S, Deacon R, Yee B, Bast T, Zhang W-N, Pothuizen H, and Feldon J (2004) Regional dissociations within the hippocampus—memory and anxiety. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* **28**: 273-283.
- Barañano DE, Ferris CD, and Snyder SH (2001) Atypical neural messengers. *Trends Neurosci* **24:** 99-106.
- Baraniuk JN and Shivapurkar N (2017) Exercise–induced changes in cerebrospinal fluid miRNAs in Gulf War Illness, Chronic Fatigue Syndrome and sedentary control subjects. *Sci Rep* **7**: 1-14.
- Barbey AK, Koenigs M, and Grafman J (2013) Dorsolateral prefrontal contributions to human working memory. *Cortex* **49**: 1195-1205.
- Barnard E, Skolnick P, Olsen R, Mohler H, Sieghart W, Biggio G, Braestrup C, Bateson A, and Langer S (1998) Subtypes of gamma-aminobutyric acid A receptors: classification on the basis of subunit structure and receptor function. *Pharmacol Rev* **50**: 291-313.
- Barnes CA (1979) Memory deficits associated with senescence: a neurophysiological and behavioral study in the rat. *J Comp Physiol Psychol* **93:** 74-104.
- Barria A and Malinow R (2002) Subunit-specific NMDA receptor trafficking to synapses. *Neuron* **35:** 345-353.
- Barria A and Malinow R (2005) NMDA receptor subunit composition controls synaptic plasticity by regulating binding to CaMKII. *Neuron* **48**: 289-301.
- Barria A, Muller D, Derkach V, Griffith LC, and Soderling TR (1997) Regulatory phosphorylation of AMPA-type glutamate receptors by CaM-KII during long-term potentiation. *Science* **276**: 2042-2045.
- Barros DM, Izquierdo LA, Sant'Anna MK, Quevedo J, Medina JH, McGaugh JL, and Izquierdo I (1999) Stimulators of the cAMP cascade reverse amnesia induced by intra-amygdala but not intrahippocampal KN-62 administration. *Neurobiol Learn Mem* **71**: 94-103.
- Bartos M, Vida I, Frotscher M, Meyer A, Monyer H, Geiger JR, and Jonas P (2002) Fast synaptic inhibition promotes synchronized gamma oscillations in hippocampal interneuron networks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **99:** 13222-13227.
- Bats C, Groc L, and Choquet D (2007) The interaction between Stargazin and PSD-95 regulates AMPA receptor surface trafficking. *Neuron* **53**: 719-734.
- Bayer K-U, De Koninck P, Leonard AS, Hell JW, and Schulman H (2001) Interaction with the NMDA receptor locks CaMKII in an active conformation. *Nature* **411:** 801-805.
- Bean BP (2007) The action potential in mammalian central neurons. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* **8:** 451-465.
- Bekhterev V (1900) Demonstration eines Gehirns mit Zerstorung der vorderenund inner Theile der Hirnrinde beider Schlafenlappen. *Neurol Cbl* **19**: 990-991.
- Belgrad J, Dutta DJ, Bromley-Coolidge S, Kelly KA, Michalovicz LT, Sullivan KA, O'Callaghan JP, and Fields RD (2019) Oligodendrocyte involvement in Gulf War Illness. *Glia*.

- Benardo LS and Prince DA (1982a) Cholinergic excitation of mammalian hippocampal pyramidal cells. *Brain Res* **249:** 315-331.
- Benardo LS and Prince DA (1982b) Ionic mechanisms of cholinergic excitation in mammalian hippocampal pyramidal cells. *Brain Res* **249**: 333-344.
- Benke TA, Lüthi A, Isaac JT, and Collingridge GL (1998) Modulation of AMPA receptor unitary conductance by synaptic activity. *Nature* **393**: 793-797.
- Bettler B, Kaupmann K, Mosbacher J, and Gassmann M (2004) Molecular structure and physiological functions of GABAB receptors. *Physiol Rev* 84: 835-867.
- Bleakman D and Lodge D (1998) Neuropharmacology of AMPA and kainate receptors. *Neuropharmacology*.
- Bliss T and Lømo T (1970) Plasticity in a monosynaptic cortical pathway. J Physiol 207: 61.
- Bliss T and Lømo T (1973) Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. *The Journal of physiology* **232:** 331-356.
- Bliss T and Richards C (1971) Some experiments with in vitro hippocampal slices. *The Journal* of physiology **214:** 7P.
- Bliss TV and Collingridge GL (1993) A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Nature* **361:** 31.
- Boehm J, Kang M-G, Johnson RC, Esteban J, Huganir RL, and Malinow R (2006) Synaptic incorporation of AMPA receptors during LTP is controlled by a PKC phosphorylation site on GluR1. *Neuron* **51**: 213-225.
- Bolhuis JJ and Reid IC (1992) Effects of intraventricular infusion of the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonist AP5 on spatial memory of rats in a radial arm maze. *Behav Brain Res* **47:** 151-157.
- Bolhuis JJ, Stewart CA, and Forrest EM (1994) Retrograde amnesia and memory reactivation in rats with ibotenate lesions to the hippocampus or subiculum. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology Section B* **47:** 129-150.
- Borgdorff AJ and Choquet D (2002) Regulation of AMPA receptor lateral movements. *Nature* **417:** 649-653.
- Bortolotto ZA, Clarke VR, Delany CM, Parry MC, Smolders I, Vignes M, Ho KH, Miu P, Brinton BT, and Fantaske R (1999) Kainate receptors are involved in synaptic plasticity. *Nature* **402:** 297-301.
- Bose D, Saha P, Mondal A, Fanelli B, Seth RK, Janulewicz P, Sullivan K, Lasley S, Horner R, and Colwell RR (2020) Obesity Worsens Gulf War Illness Symptom Persistence Pathology by Linking Altered Gut Microbiome Species to Long-Term Gastrointestinal, Hepatic, and Neuronal Inflammation in a Mouse Model. *Nutrients* **12**: 2764.
- Bourtchuladze R, Frenguelli B, Blendy J, Cioffi D, Schutz G, and Silva AJ (1994) Deficient longterm memory in mice with a targeted mutation of the cAMP-responsive element-binding protein. *Cell* **79:** 59-68.
- Bowie D and Mayer ML (1995) Inward rectification of both AMPA and kainate subtype glutamate receptors generated by polyamine-mediated ion channel block. *Neuron* **15**: 453-462.
- Bragdon AC, Taylor DM, and Wilson WA (1986) Potassium-induced epileptiform activity in area CA3 varies markedly along the septotemporal axis of the rat hippocampus. *Brain Res* **378:** 169-173.
- Brandley E, Kirkland A, and Holton K (2020) Gulf War Veterans with Psychiatric Symptoms (Anxiety, Depression, and PTSD) Significantly Improve on a Low Glutamate Diet. *Current Developments in Nutrition* **4**: 1192-1192.
- Brazier MA (1970) Regional activities within the human hippocampus and hippocampal gyrus. *Exp Neurol* **26:** 254-268.
- Brodal A (1947) The hypocampus and the sense of smell; a review. *Brain: a journal of neurology*.

- Broderick G, Ben-Hamo R, Vashishtha S, Efroni S, Nathanson L, Barnes Z, Fletcher MA, and Klimas N (2013) Altered immune pathway activity under exercise challenge in Gulf War Illness: an exploratory analysis. *Brain Behav Immun* **28**: 159-169.
- Broderick G, Kreitz A, Fuite J, Fletcher MA, Vernon SD, and Klimas N (2011) A pilot study of immune network remodeling under challenge in Gulf War Illness. *Brain Behav Immun* **25:** 302-313.
- Brown KA, Filipov NM, and Wagner JJ (2020) Dorsoventral-specific effects of a sarin surrogate, diisopropylfluorophosphate, on synaptic transmission in the mouse hippocampus. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*: 10-23.
- Brown MC, Sims KJ, Gifford EJ, Goldstein KM, Johnson MR, Williams CD, and Provenzale D (2019) Gender-based Differences among 1990–1991 Gulf War Era Veterans: Demographics, Lifestyle Behaviors, and Health Conditions. *Womens Health Issues* **29**: S47-S55.
- Brown S and Sharpey-Schafer EA (1888) III. An investigation into the function of the occipital and temporal lobes of the monkey's brain. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London* **43:** 276-276.
- Buckley NJ, Bonner T, and Brann M (1988) Localization of a family of muscarinic receptor mRNAs in rat brain. *J Neurosci* **8:** 4646-4652.
- Burwell RD (2000) The parahippocampal region: corticocortical connectivity. *Annals-New York Academy of Sciences* **911:** 25-42.
- Caporale N and Dan Y (2008) Spike timing–dependent plasticity: a Hebbian learning rule. *Annu Rev Neurosci* **31:** 25-46.
- Carpenter J, Gordon H, Ludwig H, Wagner J, Harn D, Norberg T, and Filipov N (2020) Neurochemical and neuroinflammatory perturbations in two Gulf War Illness models: Modulation by the immunotherapeutic LNFPIII. *Neurotoxicology* **77**: 40-50.
- Carreras I, Aytan N, Mellott T, Choi J-K, Lehar M, Crabtree L, Leite-Morris K, Jenkins BG, Blusztajn JK, and Dedeoglu A (2018) Anxiety, neuroinflammation, cholinergic and GABAergic abnormalities are early markers of Gulf War illness in a mouse model of the disease. *Brain Res* **1681:** 34-43.
- Chadwick MJ, Bonnici HM, and Maguire EA (2014) CA3 size predicts the precision of memory recall. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **111:** 10720-10725.
- Champtiaux N and Changeux J (2002) Knock-out and knock-in mice to investigate the role of nicotinic receptors in the central nervous system. *Current Drug Targets-CNS & Neurological Disorders* **1:** 319-330.
- Chang Y, Wang R, Barot S, and Weiss DS (1996) Stoichiometry of a recombinant GABAA receptor. *J Neurosci* **16**: 5415-5424.
- Chao LL and Zhang Y (2018) Effects of low-level sarin and cyclosarin exposure on hippocampal microstructure in Gulf War Veterans. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **68:** 36-46.
- Chao LL, Zhang Y, and Buckley S (2015) Effects of low-level sarin and cyclosarin exposure on white matter integrity in Gulf War Veterans. *Neurotoxicology* **48**: 239-248.
- Chatterton JE, Awobuluyi M, Premkumar LS, Takahashi H, Talantova M, Shin Y, Cui J, Tu S, Sevarino KA, and Nakanishi N (2002) Excitatory glycine receptors containing the NR3 family of NMDA receptor subunits. *Nature* **415**: 793-798.
- Chebib M and Johnston GA (1999) The 'ABC'of GABA receptors: a brief review. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* **26:** 937-940.
- Chen L, Chetkovich DM, Petralia RS, Sweeney NT, Kawasaki Y, Wenthold RJ, Bredt DS, and Nicoll RA (2000) Stargazin regulates synaptic targeting of AMPA receptors by two distinct mechanisms. *Nature* **408**: 936-943.
- Chen Y, Meyer JN, Hill HZ, Lange G, Condon MR, Klein JC, Ndirangu D, and Falvo MJ (2017) Role of mitochondrial DNA damage and dysfunction in veterans with Gulf War Illness. *PLoS One* **12**.

- Cherry N, Creed F, Silman A, Dunn G, Baxter D, Smedley J, Taylor S, and MacFarlane GJ (2001) Health and exposures of United Kingdom Gulf war veterans. Part II: The relation of health to exposure. *Occup Environ Med* **58**: 299-306.
- Chetkovich DM, Chen L, Stocker TJ, Nicoll RA, and Bredt DS (2002) Phosphorylation of the postsynaptic density-95 (PSD-95)/discs large/zona occludens-1 binding site of stargazin regulates binding to PSD-95 and synaptic targeting of AMPA receptors. *J Neurosci* **22**: 5791-5796.
- Chetkovich DM and Sweatt JD (1993) nMDA receptor activation increases cyclic AMP in area CA1 of the hippocampus via calcium/calmodulin stimulation of adenylyl cyclase. *J Neurochem* **61:** 1933-1942.
- Chung HJ, Huang YH, Lau LF, and Huganir RL (2004) Regulation of the NMDA receptor complex and trafficking by activity-dependent phosphorylation of the NR2B subunit PDZ ligand. *J Neurosci* **24**: 10248-10259.
- Chung S, Li X, and Nelson SB (2002) Short-term depression at thalamocortical synapses contributes to rapid adaptation of cortical sensory responses in vivo. *Neuron* **34**: 437-446.
- Clark RE and Squire LR (2013) Similarity in form and function of the hippocampus in rodents, monkeys, and humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **110**: 10365-10370.
- Cohen NJ and Squire LR (1980) Preserved learning and retention of pattern-analyzing skill in amnesia: Dissociation of knowing how and knowing that. *Science* **210**: 207-210.
- Collette F and Van der Linden M (2002) Brain imaging of the central executive component of working memory. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* **26:** 105-125.
- Colquhoun D, Jonas P, and Sakmann B (1992) Action of brief pulses of glutamate on AMPA/kainate receptors in patches from different neurones of rat hippocampal slices. *The Journal of physiology* **458**: 261-287.
- Cooper B, Flunker L, Johnson R, and Nutter T (2018) Behavioral, cellular and molecular maladaptations covary with exposure to pyridostigmine bromide in a rat model of Gulf War illness pain. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **352**: 119-131.
- Cooper B, Johnson R, and Nutter T (2016) Exposure to Gulf War Illness chemicals induces functional muscarinic receptor maladaptations in muscle nociceptors. *Neurotoxicology* **54:** 99-110.
- Corbel V, Stankiewicz M, Pennetier C, Fournier D, Stojan J, Girard E, Dimitrov M, Molgó J, Hougard J-M, and Lapied B (2009) Evidence for inhibition of cholinesterases in insect and mammalian nervous systems by the insect repellent deet. *BMC Biol* **7**: 47.
- Coughlin SS (2016) Need for studies of the health of Gulf War women veterans. *Mil Med* **181**: 198-198.
- Coughlin SS and Heboyan V (2018) On the Need for Epidemiologic Studies of Gulf War Illness among African-American Veterans.
- Coughlin SS, Krengel M, Sullivan K, Pierce PF, Heboyan V, and Wilson LCC (2017) A review of epidemiologic studies of the health of Gulf War women veterans. *J Environ Health Sci* **3**.
- Cowan N (2008) What are the differences between long-term, short-term, and working memory? *Prog Brain Res* **169:** 323-338.
- Craddock TJ, Michalovicz LT, Kelly KA, Rice Jr MA, Miller DB, Klimas NG, Morris M, O'Callaghan JP, and Broderick G (2018) A logic model of neuronal-glial interaction suggests altered homeostatic regulation in the perpetuation of neuroinflammation. *Front Cell Neurosci* **12:** 336.
- Cragg B and Hamlyn L (1955) Action potentials of the pyramidal neurones in the hippocampus of the rabbit. *The Journal of physiology* **129:** 608.

- Cui-Wang T, Hanus C, Cui T, Helton T, Bourne J, Watson D, Harris KM, and Ehlers MD (2012) Local zones of endoplasmic reticulum complexity confine cargo in neuronal dendrites. *Cell* **148:** 309-321.
- Curtis D, Felix D, and McLellan H (1970) GABA and hippocampal inhibition. *Br J Pharmacol* **40**: 881-883.
- D'Esposito M and Postle BR (2015) The cognitive neuroscience of working memory. *Annu Rev Psychol* **66**.
- Dajas-Bailador F and Wonnacott S (2004) Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and the regulation of neuronal signalling. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* **25:** 317-324.
- Daumas S, Halley H, Francés B, and Lassalle J-M (2005) Encoding, consolidation, and retrieval of contextual memory: differential involvement of dorsal CA3 and CA1 hippocampal subregions. *Learn Mem* **12**: 375-382.
- Derchansky M, Rokni D, Rick JT, Wennberg R, Bardakjian BL, Zhang L, Yarom Y, and Carlen PL (2006) Bidirectional multisite seizure propagation in the intact isolated hippocampus: the multifocality of the seizure "focus". *Neurobiol Dis* **23:** 312-328.
- Dickey B, Madhu LN, and Shetty AK (2020) Gulf War Illness: Mechanisms Underlying Brain Dysfunction and Promising Therapeutic Strategies. *Pharmacol Ther*: 107716.
- Diering GH, Gustina AS, and Huganir RL (2014) PKA-GluA1 coupling via AKAP5 controls AMPA receptor phosphorylation and cell-surface targeting during bidirectional homeostatic plasticity. *Neuron* **84:** 790-805.
- Dingledine R, Borges K, Bowie D, and Traynelis SF (1999) The glutamate receptor ion channels. *Pharmacol Rev* **51:** 7-62.
- Dodge Jr F and Rahamimoff R (1967) Co-operative action of calcium ions in transmitter release at the neuromuscular junction. *The Journal of physiology* **193**: 419-432.
- Donevan SD and Rogawski MA (1995) Intracellular polyamines mediate inward rectification of Ca (2+)-permeable alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **92:** 9298-9302.
- Douglas RJ and Isaacson RL (1964) Hippocampal lesions and activity. Psychon Sci 1: 187-188.
- Drever BD, Riedel G, and Platt B (2011) The cholinergic system and hippocampal plasticity. Behav Brain Res 221: 505-514.
- Dudai Y (2012) The restless engram: consolidations never end. *Annu Rev Neurosci* **35**: 227-247.
- Dursa EK, Barth SK, Porter BW, and Schneiderman AI (2019) Health Status of Female and Male Gulf War and Gulf Era Veterans: A Population-Based Study. *Womens Health Issues* **29:** S39-S46.
- Dutar P, Bassant M-H, Senut M-C, and Lamour Y (1995) The septohippocampal pathway: structure and function of a central cholinergic system. *Physiol Rev* **75**: 393-427.
- Emmerich T, Zakirova Z, Klimas N, Sullivan K, Shetty AK, Evans JE, Ait-Ghezala G, Laco GS, Hattiangady B, and Shetty GA (2017) Phospholipid profiling of plasma from GW veterans and rodent models to identify potential biomarkers of Gulf War Illness. *PLoS One* **12**.
- Emptage N, Bliss TV, and Fine A (1999) Single synaptic events evoke NMDA receptormediated release of calcium from internal stores in hippocampal dendritic spines. *Neuron* **22:** 115-124.
- Esteban JA, Shi SH, Wilson C, Nuriya M, Huganir RL, and Malinow R (2003) PKA phosphorylation of AMPA receptor subunits controls synaptic trafficking underlying plasticity. *Nat Neurosci* **6:** 136-143.
- Eterović VA, Pérez D, Martins AH, Cuadrado BL, Carrasco M, and Ferchmin P (2011) A cembranoid protects acute hippocampal slices against paraoxon neurotoxicity. *Toxicol In Vitro* **25:** 1468-1474.

Euston DR, Gruber AJ, and McNaughton BL (2012) The role of medial prefrontal cortex in memory and decision making. *Neuron* **76**: 1057-1070.

- Fabian-Fine R, Skehel P, Errington ML, Davies HA, Sher E, Stewart MG, and Fine A (2001) Ultrastructural distribution of the α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit in rat hippocampus. *J Neurosci* **21**: 7993-8003.
- Fanselow MS and Dong H-W (2010) Are the dorsal and ventral hippocampus functionally distinct structures? *Neuron* **65:** 7-19.
- Fappiano CM and Baraniuk JN (2020) Gulf War Illness Symptom Severity and Onset: A Cross-Sectional Survey. *Mil Med.*
- Farovik A, Dupont LM, and Eichenbaum H (2010) Distinct roles for dorsal CA3 and CA1 in memory for sequential nonspatial events. *Learn Mem* **17**: 12-17.
- Farrar SJ, Whiting PJ, Bonnert TP, and McKernan RM (1999) Stoichiometry of a ligand-gated ion channel determined by fluorescence energy transfer. *J Biol Chem* **274**: 10100-10104.
- Ferchmin P, Pérez D, Cuadrado BL, Carrasco M, Martins AH, and Eterović VA (2015) Neuroprotection against diisopropylfluorophosphate in acute hippocampal slices. *Neurochem Res* **40:** 2143-2151.
- Ferrier D (1876) The functions of the brain (Smith, Elder). *Co, London*.
- Floresco SB, Seamans JK, and Phillips AG (1997) Selective roles for hippocampal, prefrontal cortical, and ventral striatal circuits in radial-arm maze tasks with or without a delay. *J Neurosci* **17**: 1880-1890.
- Florian C and Roullet P (2004) Hippocampal CA3-region is crucial for acquisition and memory consolidation in Morris water maze task in mice. *Behav Brain Res* **154:** 365-374.
- Flunker L, Nutter T, Johnson R, and Cooper B (2017) DEET potentiates the development and persistence of anticholinesterase dependent chronic pain signs in a rat model of Gulf War Illness pain. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **316**: 48-62.
- Forrest D, Yuzaki M, Soares HD, Ng L, Luk DC, Sheng M, Stewart CL, Morgan JI, Connor JA, and Curran T (1994) Targeted disruption of NMDA receptor 1 gene abolishes NMDA response and results in neonatal death. *Neuron* **13**: 325-338.
- Fortin NJ, Agster KL, and Eichenbaum HB (2002) Critical role of the hippocampus in memory for sequences of events. *Nat Neurosci* **5**: 458-462.
- Foster JB, Zhao F, Wang X, Xu Z, Lin K, Askwith CC, Hodgetts KJ, and Lin C-IG (2018) Pyridazine-derivatives enhance structural and functional plasticity of tripartite synapse via activation of local translation in astrocytic processes. *Neuroscience* **388**: 224-238.
- Freeman MP, Papakostas GI, Hoeppner B, Mazzone E, Judge H, Cusin C, Mathew S, Sanacora G, Iosifescu D, and DeBattista C (2019) Sex differences in response to ketamine as a rapidly acting intervention for treatment resistant depression. *J Psychiatr Res* **110**: 166-171.
- Frey U, Krug M, Brödemann R, Reymann K, and Matthies H (1989) Long-term potentiation induced in dendrites separated from rat's CA1 pyramidal somata does not establish a late phase. *Neurosci Lett* **97:** 135-139.
- Frey U and Morris RG (1997) Synaptic tagging and long-term potentiation. *Nature* **385:** 533-536.
- Friedman A, Kaufer D, Pavlovsky L, and Soreq H (1998) Cholinergic excitation induces activitydependent electrophysiological and transcriptional responses in hippocampal slices. *J Physiol Paris* **92:** 329-335.
- Friedman A, Kaufer D, Shemer J, Hendler I, Soreq H, and Tur-Kaspa I (1996) Pyridostigmine brain penetration under stress enhances neuronal excitability and induces early immediate transcriptional response. *Nat Med* **2:** 1382.
Fukuda K, Nisenbaum R, Stewart G, Thompson WW, Robin L, Washko RM, Noah DL, Barrett DH, Randall B, and Herwaldt BL (1998) Chronic multisymptom illness affecting Air Force veterans of the Gulf War. *JAMA* **280**: 981-988.

- Fyhn M, Molden S, Witter MP, Moser EI, and Moser M-B (2004) Spatial representation in the entorhinal cortex. *Science* **305**: 1258-1264.
- Gähwiler B (1981) Organotypic monolayer cultures of nervous tissue. *J Neurosci Methods* **4**: 329-342.
- Gähwiler B (1988) Organotypic cultures of neural tissue. *Trends Neurosci* **11**: 484-489.
- Gähwiler B and Brown D (1985) Functional innervation of cultured hippocampal neurones by cholinergic afferents from co-cultured septal explants. *Nature* **313**: 577-579.
- Gardoni F, Caputi A, Cimino M, Pastorino L, Cattabeni F, and Di Luca M (1998) Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II is associated with NR2A/B subunits of NMDA receptor in postsynaptic densities. *J Neurochem* **71**: 1733-1741.
- Gassmann M, Shaban H, Vigot R, Sansig G, Haller C, Barbieri S, Humeau Y, Schuler V, Müller M, and Kinzel B (2004) Redistribution of GABAB (1) protein and atypical GABAB responses in GABAB (2)-deficient mice. *J Neurosci* **24:** 6086-6097.
- Gathercole SE and Alloway TP (2006) Practitioner review: Short-term and working memory impairments in neurodevelopmental disorders: Diagnosis and remedial support. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* **47:** 4-15.
- Gavaghan H (1994) NIH panel rejects Persian Gulf syndrome. Nature 369: 8-8.
- Geiger JR, Melcher T, Koh D-S, Sakmann B, Seeburg PH, Jonas P, and Monyer H (1995) Relative abundance of subunit mRNAs determines gating and Ca2+ permeability of AMPA receptors in principal neurons and interneurons in rat CNS. *Neuron* **15:** 193-204.
- Giese KP, Fedorov NB, Filipkowski RK, and Silva AJ (1998) Autophosphorylation at Thr286 of the α calcium-calmodulin kinase II in LTP and learning. *Science* **279:** 870-873.
- Giessel AJ and Sabatini BL (2010) M1 muscarinic receptors boost synaptic potentials and calcium influx in dendritic spines by inhibiting postsynaptic SK channels. *Neuron* **68**: 936-947.
- Gilbert M, Racine RJ, and Smith GK (1985) Epileptiform burst responses in ventral vs dorsal hippocampal slices. *Brain Res* **361**: 389-391.
- Gilbert PE and Brushfield AM (2009) The role of the CA3 hippocampal subregion in spatial memory: a process oriented behavioral assessment. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* **33**: 774-781.
- Gilbert PE and Kesner RP (2006) The role of the dorsal CA3 hippocampal subregion in spatial working memory and pattern separation. *Behav Brain Res* **169**: 142-149.
- Gloor P, Vera C, and Sperti L (1964) Electrophysiological studies of hippocampal neurons III. Responses of hippocampal neurons to repetitive perforant path volleys. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol* **17:** 353-370.
- Gotti C, Zoli M, and Clementi F (2006) Brain nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: native subtypes and their relevance. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* **27**: 482-491.
- Goutagny R, Jackson J, and Williams S (2009) Self-generated theta oscillations in the hippocampus. *Nat Neurosci* **12:** 1491-1493.
- Grande LA and Spain WJ (2005) Synaptic depression as a timing device. *Physiology* **20**: 201-210.
- Gray P (2007) Memory and consciousness. Psychology: 303-339.
- Grigoryan G, Ardi Z, Albrecht A, Richter-Levin G, and Segal M (2015) Juvenile stress alters LTP in ventral hippocampal slices: involvement of noradrenergic mechanisms. *Behav Brain Res* **278**: 559-562.
- Grigoryan G, Korkotian E, and Segal M (2012) Selective facilitation of LTP in the ventral hippocampus by calcium stores. *Hippocampus* **22**: 1635-1644.

- Grigoryan H, Li B, Anderson EK, Xue W, Nachon F, Lockridge O, and Schopfer LM (2009a) Covalent binding of the organophosphorus agent FP-biotin to tyrosine in eight proteins that have no active site serine. *Chem Biol Interact* **180**: 492-498.
- Grigoryan H, Li B, Xue W, Grigoryan M, Schopfer LM, and Lockridge O (2009b) Mass spectral characterization of organophosphate-labeled lysine in peptides. *Anal Biochem* **394:** 92-100.
- Grigoryan H, Schopfer LM, Thompson CM, Terry AV, Masson P, and Lockridge O (2008) Mass spectrometry identifies covalent binding of soman, sarin, chlorpyrifos oxon, diisopropyl fluorophosphate, and FP-biotin to tyrosines on tubulin: a potential mechanism of long term toxicity by organophosphorus agents. *Chem Biol Interact* **175**: 180-186.
- Groc L, Heine M, Cousins SL, Stephenson FA, Lounis B, Cognet L, and Choquet D (2006) NMDA receptor surface mobility depends on NR2A-2B subunits. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**: 18769-18774.
- Groenewegen HJ, Wright CI, and Beijer AV (1996) The nucleus accumbens: gateway for limbic structures to reach the motor system?, in *Prog Brain Res* pp 485-511, Elsevier.
- Gulyás AI, Megias M, Emri Z, and Freund TF (1999) Total number and ratio of excitatory and inhibitory synapses converging onto single interneurons of different types in the CA1 area of the rat hippocampus. *J Neurosci* **19**: 10082-10097.
- Guzowski JF, Lyford GL, Stevenson GD, Houston FP, McGaugh JL, Worley PF, and Barnes CA (2000) Inhibition of activity-dependent arc protein expression in the rat hippocampus impairs the maintenance of long-term potentiation and the consolidation of long-term memory. *J Neurosci* **20**: 3993-4001.
- Haga K, Kruse AC, Asada H, Yurugi-Kobayashi T, Shiroishi M, Zhang C, Weis WI, Okada T, Kobilka BK, and Haga T (2012) Structure of the human M2 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor bound to an antagonist. *Nature* **482**: 547-551.
- Haley RW and Kurt TL (1997) Self-reported exposure to neurotoxic chemical combinations in the Gulf War: a cross-sectional epidemiologic study. *JAMA* **277**: 231-237.
- Haley RW, Kurt TL, and Hom J (1997) Is there a Gulf war syndrome?: searching for syndromes by factor analysis of symptoms. *JAMA* **277**: 215-222.
- Hasselmo ME (2006) The role of acetylcholine in learning and memory. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* **16**: 710-715.
- Hattiangady B, Mishra V, Kodali M, Shuai B, Rao X, and Shetty AK (2014) Object location and object recognition memory impairments, motivation deficits and depression in a model of Gulf War illness. *Front Behav Neurosci* **8**: 78.
- Häussler U, Bielefeld L, Froriep UP, Wolfart J, and Haas CA (2012) Septotemporal position in the hippocampal formation determines epileptic and neurogenic activity in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Cereb Cortex* **22**: 26-36.
- Heaton KJ, Palumbo CL, Proctor SP, Killiany RJ, Yurgelun-Todd DA, and White RF (2007) Quantitative magnetic resonance brain imaging in US army veterans of the 1991 Gulf War potentially exposed to sarin and cyclosarin. *Neurotoxicology* **28:** 761-769.
- Hebb DO (1949) The organization of behavior: a neuropsychological theory. J. Wiley; Chapman & Hall.
- Heboyan V, Krengel MH, Sullivan K, Iobst S, Klimas N, Wilson C, and Coughlin SS (2019) Sex Differences in Gulf War Illness: A Reanalysis of Data From the CDC Air Force Study Using CDC and Modified Kansas Case Definitions. *J Occup Environ Med* **61**: 610-616.
- Herring BE and Nicoll RA (2016) Long-term potentiation: from CaMKII to AMPA receptor trafficking. *Annu Rev Physiol* **78:** 351-365.
- Hinman JR, Penley SC, Long LL, Escabí MA, and Chrobak JJ (2011) Septotemporal variation in dynamics of theta: speed and habituation. *J Neurophysiol* **105**: 2675-2686.
- Hirokawa N (2006) mRNA transport in dendrites: RNA granules, motors, and tracks. *J Neurosci* **26:** 7139-7142.

- Hirokawa N and Takemura R (2005) Molecular motors and mechanisms of directional transport in neurons. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **6:** 201-214.
- Hoffman KM, Eisen MR, Chandler JK, Nelson MR, Johnson EA, and McNutt PM (2019) Retrograde activation of CB1R by muscarinic receptors protects against central organophosphorus toxicity. *Neuropharmacology* **155**: 113-120.
- Hogg R and Bertrand D (2003) Regulating the regulators: the role of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in human epilepsy. *Drug news & perspectives* **16**: 261.
- Hollmann M and Heinemann S (1994) Cloned glutamate receptors. Annu Rev Neurosci 17: 31-108.
- Hollmann M, O'Shea-Greenfield A, Rogers SW, and Heinemann S (1989) Cloning by functional expression of a member of the glutamate receptor family. *Nature* **342**: 643-648.
- Holton K, Kirkland A, Brandley E, VanMeter J, and Baraniuk J (2020a) The Low Glutamate Diet Significantly Improves Pain and Other Symptoms in Veterans with Gulf War Illness. *Current Developments in Nutrition* **4:** 1211-1211.
- Holton KF, Kirkland AE, Baron M, Ramachandra SS, Langan MT, Brandley ET, and Baraniuk JN (2020b) The Low Glutamate Diet Effectively Improves Pain and Other Symptoms of Gulf War Illness. *Nutrients* **12:** 2593.
- Huang L and Winzer-Serhan U (2006) Chronic neonatal nicotine upregulates heteromeric nicotinic acetylcholine receptor binding without change in subunit mRNA expression. *Brain Res* **1113:** 94-109.
- Hunsaker MR, Lee B, and Kesner RP (2008) Evaluating the temporal context of episodic memory: the role of CA3 and CA1. *Behav Brain Res* **188**: 310-315.
- Hunsaker MR, Thorup JA, Welch T, and Kesner RP (2006) The role of CA3 and CA1 in the acquisition of an object-trace-place paired-associate task. *Behav Neurosci* **120**: 1252.
- Isaacson J, Solis J, and Nicoll R (1993) Local and diffuse synaptic actions of GABA in the hippocampus. *Neuron* **10**: 165-175.
- Ito I, Futai K, Katagiri H, Watanabe M, Sakimura K, Mishina M, and Sugiyama H (1997) Synapse-selective impairment of NMDA receptor functions in mice lacking NMDA receptor epsilon 1 or epsilon 2 subunit. *The Journal of Physiology* **500**: 401-408.
- Jackman SL and Regehr WG (2017) The mechanisms and functions of synaptic facilitation. *Neuron* **94:** 447-464.
- Jahr CE (1992) High probability opening of NMDA receptor channels by L-glutamate. *Science* **255**: 470-472.
- Janulewicz PA, Krengel MH, Maule A, White RF, Cirillo J, Sisson E, Heeren T, and Sullivan K (2017) Neuropsychological characteristics of Gulf War illness: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One* **12**.
- Jay TM, Thierry AM, Wiklund L, and Glowinski J (1992) Excitatory amino acid pathway from the hippocampus to the prefrontal cortex. Contribution of AMPA receptors in hippocampo-prefrontal cortex transmission. *Eur J Neurosci* **4**: 1285-1295.
- Jay TM and Witter MP (1991) Distribution of hippocampal CA1 and subicular efferents in the prefrontal cortex of the rat studied by means of anterograde transport of Phaseolus vulgaris-leucoagglutinin. *J Comp Neurol* **313**: 574-586.
- Jeneson A and Squire LR (2012) Working memory, long-term memory, and medial temporal lobe function. *Learn Mem* **19:** 15-25.
- Jenkins MA and Traynelis SF (2012) PKC phosphorylates GluA1-Ser831 to enhance AMPA receptor conductance. *Channels (Austin)* **6:** 60-64.
- Jensen V, Kaiser KM, Borchardt T, Adelmann G, Rozov A, Burnashev N, Brix C, Frotscher M, Andersen P, and Hvalby Ø (2003) A juvenile form of postsynaptic hippocampal longterm potentiation in mice deficient for the AMPA receptor subunit GluR-A. *The Journal of physiology* **553:** 843-856.

- Jiang W, Duysen EG, Hansen H, Shlyakhtenko L, Schopfer LM, and Lockridge O (2010) Mice treated with chlorpyrifos or chlorpyrifos oxon have organophosphorylated tubulin in the brain and disrupted microtubule structures, suggesting a role for tubulin in neurotoxicity associated with exposure to organophosphorus agents. *Toxicol Sci* **115**: 183-193.
- Jiao J, Herl LD, Farese Jr RV, and Gao F-B (2010) MicroRNA-29b regulates the expression level of human progranulin, a secreted glycoprotein implicated in frontotemporal dementia. *PLoS One* **5**.
- Johnson GJ, Slater BC, Leis LA, Rector TS, and Bach RR (2016) Blood biomarkers of chronic inflammation in Gulf War illness. *PLoS One* **11**.
- Johnson J and Ascher P (1987) Glycine potentiates the NMDA response in cultured mouse brain neurons. *Nature* **325**: 529-531.
- Jonas P, Major G, and Sakmann B (1993) Quantal components of unitary EPSCs at the mossy fibre synapse on CA3 pyramidal cells of rat hippocampus. *The Journal of physiology* **472:** 615-663.
- Jones BC, Miller DB, Lu L, Zhao W, Ashbrook DG, Xu F, Mulligan MK, Williams RW, Zhuang D, and Torres-Rojas C (2020) Modeling the Genetic Basis of Individual Differences in Susceptibility to Gulf War Illness. *Brain Sciences* **10**: 143.
- Jones MW and Wilson MA (2005) Theta rhythms coordinate hippocampal–prefrontal interactions in a spatial memory task. *PLoS Biol* **3**: e402.
- Joosen MJ, Jousma E, van den Boom TM, Kuijpers WC, Smit AB, Lucassen PJ, and van Helden HP (2009) Long-term cognitive deficits accompanied by reduced neurogenesis after soman poisoning. *Neurotoxicology* **30:** 72-80.
- Joshi U, Evans JE, Joseph R, Emmerich T, Saltiel N, Lungmus C, Oberlin S, Langlois H, Ojo J, and Mouzon B (2018) Oleoylethanolamide treatment reduces neurobehavioral deficits and brain pathology in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *Sci Rep* **8:** 12921.
- Joshi U, Evans JE, Pearson A, Saltiel N, Cseresznye A, Darcey T, Ojo J, Keegan AP, Oberlin S, and Mouzon B (2020) Targeting sirtuin activity with nicotinamide riboside reduces neuroinflammation in a GWI mouse model. *Neurotoxicology*.
- Joshi U, Pearson A, Evans JE, Langlois H, Saltiel N, Ojo J, Klimas N, Sullivan K, Keegan AP, and Oberlin S (2019) A permethrin metabolite is associated with adaptive immune responses in Gulf War Illness. *Brain Behav Immun*.
- Joyce MR and Holton KF (2020) Neurotoxicity in Gulf War Illness and the Potential Role of Glutamate. *Neurotoxicology*.
- Ju W, Morishita W, Tsui J, Gaietta G, Deerinck TJ, Adams SR, Garner CC, Tsien RY, Ellisman MH, and Malenka RC (2004) Activity-dependent regulation of dendritic synthesis and trafficking of AMPA receptors. *Nat Neurosci* **7**: 244-253.
- Jung MW, Wiener SI, and McNaughton BL (1994) Comparison of spatial firing characteristics of units in dorsal and ventral hippocampus of the rat. *J Neurosci* **14:** 7347-7356.
- Jung R and Kornmüller AE (1938) Eine methodik der ableitung iokalisierter potentialschwankungen aus subcorticalen hirngebieten. *Arch Psychiatr Nervenkr* **109:** 1-30.
- Kaada B, Rasmussen EW, and Kveim O (1961) Effects of hippocampal lesions on maze learning and retention in rats. *Exp Neurol* **3:** 333-355.
- Kahn I and Shohamy D (2013) Intrinsic connectivity between the hippocampus, nucleus accumbens, and ventral tegmental area in humans. *Hippocampus* **23**: 187-192.
- Kamboj SK, Swanson GT, and Cull-Candy SG (1995) Intracellular spermine confers rectification on rat calcium-permeable AMPA and kainate receptors. *The Journal of physiology* **486**: 297-303.
- Kamiya H and Zucker RS (1994) Residual Ca 2+ and short-term synaptic plasticity. *Nature* **371**: 603-606.

Kandel E and Spencer W (1961) Excitation and inhibition of single pyramidal cells during hippocampal seizure. *Exp Neurol* **4:** 162-179.

- Kandel E, Spencer W, and Brinley Jr F (1961) Electrophysiology of hippocampal neurons: I. Sequential invasion and synaptic organization. *J Neurophysiol* **24**: 225-242.
- Kandel ER, Dudai Y, and Mayford MR (2014) The molecular and systems biology of memory. *Cell* **157:** 163-186.

Kawabe K, Ichitani Y, and Iwasaki T (1998) Effects of intrahippocampal AP5 treatment on radial-arm maze performance in rats. *Brain Res* **781**: 300-306.

- Kawakami R, Shinohara Y, Kato Y, Sugiyama H, Shigemoto R, and Ito I (2003) Asymmetrical allocation of NMDA receptor ε2 subunits in hippocampal circuitry. *Science* **300**: 990-994.
- Keinanen K, Wisden W, Sommer B, Werner P, Herb A, Verdoorn TA, Sakmann B, and Seeburg PH (1990) A family of AMPA-selective glutamate receptors. *Science* **249**: 556-560.
- Keledjian K, Tsymbalyuk O, Semick S, Moyer M, Negoita S, Kim K, Ivanova S, Gerzanich V, and Simard JM (2020) The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARγ) agonist, rosiglitazone, ameliorates neurofunctional and neuroinflammatory abnormalities in a rat model of Gulf War Illness. *PLoS One* **15**: e0242427.
- Kelleher RJ, 3rd, Govindarajan A, Jung HY, Kang H, and Tonegawa S (2004) Translational control by MAPK signaling in long-term synaptic plasticity and memory. *Cell* **116:** 467-479.
- Kenney JW, Raybuck JD, and Gould TJ (2012) Nicotinic receptors in the dorsal and ventral hippocampus differentially modulate contextual fear conditioning. *Hippocampus* **22**: 1681-1690.
- Khiroug L, Giniatullin R, Klein RC, Fayuk D, and Yakel JL (2003) Functional mapping and Ca2+ regulation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor channels in rat hippocampal CA1 neurons. *J Neurosci* 23: 9024-9031.
- Kim JJ and Fanselow MS (1992) Modality-specific retrograde amnesia of fear. *Science* **256**: 675-677.
- Kim MJ, Dunah AW, Wang YT, and Sheng M (2005) Differential roles of NR2A- and NR2Bcontaining NMDA receptors in Ras-ERK signaling and AMPA receptor trafficking. *Neuron* **46**: 745-760.
- Kimble DP (1963) The effects of bilateral hippocampal lesions in rats. *J Comp Physiol Psychol* **56:** 273.
- Kimble DP (1968) Hippocampus and internal inhibition. *Psychol Bull* **70**: 285.
- Kimono D, Bose D, Seth RK, Mondal A, Saha P, Janulewicz P, Sullivan K, Lasley S, Horner R, and Klimas N (2020) Host Akkermansia muciniphila Abundance Correlates With Gulf War Illness Symptom Persistence via NLRP3-Mediated Neuroinflammation and Decreased Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor. *Neurosci Insights* 15: 2633105520942480.
- Kirkland A, Brandley E, and Holton K (2020) A Low Glutamate Diet Improves Cognitive Functioning in Veterans with Gulf War Illness. *Current Developments in Nutrition* **4**: 1217-1217.
- Kishi T, Tsumori T, Ono K, Yokota S, Ishino H, and Yasui Y (2000) Topographical organization of projections from the subiculum to the hypothalamus in the rat. *J Comp Neurol* **419**: 205-222.
- Kitaichi K, Hori T, Srivastava LK, and Quirion R (1999) Antisense oligodeoxynucleotides against the muscarinic m2, but not m4, receptor supports its role as autoreceptors in the rat hippocampus. *Molecular brain research* **67**: 98-106.
- Klann E and Dever TE (2004) Biochemical mechanisms for translational regulation in synaptic plasticity. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **5:** 931-942.
- Kleckner NW and Dingledine R (1988) Requirement for glycine in activation of NMDA-receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes. *Science* **241**: 835-837.

- Kodali M, Hattiangady B, Shetty G, Bates A, Shuai B, and Shetty A (2018) Curcumin treatment leads to better cognitive and mood function in a model of Gulf War Illness with enhanced neurogenesis, and alleviation of inflammation and mitochondrial dysfunction in the hippocampus. *Brain Behav Immun* **69**: 499-514.
- Koh DS, Burnashev N, and Jonas P (1995) Block of native Ca (2+)-permeable AMPA receptors in rat brain by intracellular polyamines generates double rectification. *The Journal of physiology* **486:** 305-312.
- Koo B-B, Michalovicz LT, Calderazzo S, Kelly KA, Sullivan K, Killiany RJ, and O'Callaghan JP (2018) Corticosterone potentiates DFP-induced neuroinflammation and affects highorder diffusion imaging in a rat model of Gulf War Illness. *Brain Behav Immun* **67:** 42-46.
- Korsakoff S (1889) Etude médico-psychologique sur une forme des maladies de la mémoire. *Revue Philosophique* 28: e530.
- Kott J, Mooney-Leber S, Shoubah F, and Brummelte S (2016) Effectiveness of different corticosterone administration methods to elevate corticosterone serum levels, induce depressive-like behavior, and affect neurogenesis levels in female rats. *Neuroscience* **312:** 201-214.
- Kouvaros S and Papatheodoropoulos C (2016a) Major dorsoventral differences in the modulation of the local CA1 hippocampal network by NMDA, mGlu5, adenosine A2A and cannabinoid CB1 receptors. *Neuroscience* **317**: 47-64.
- Kouvaros S and Papatheodoropoulos C (2016b) Theta burst stimulation-induced LTP: Differences and similarities between the dorsal and ventral CA1 hippocampal synapses. *Hippocampus* **26:** 1542-1559.
- Kouvaros S and Papatheodoropoulos C (2017) Prominent differences in sharp waves, ripples and complex spike bursts between the dorsal and the ventral rat hippocampus. *Neuroscience* **352:** 131-143.
- Kramis R, Vanderwolf CH, and Bland BH (1975) Two types of hippocampal rhythmical slow activity in both the rabbit and the rat: relations to behavior and effects of atropine, diethyl ether, urethane, and pentobarbital. *Exp Neurol* **49:** 58-85.
- Kristensen AS, Jenkins MA, Banke TG, Schousboe A, Makino Y, Johnson RC, Huganir R, and Traynelis SF (2011) Mechanism of Ca 2+/calmodulin-dependent kinase II regulation of AMPA receptor gating. *Nat Neurosci* **14**: 727-735.
- Kulik Á, Vida I, Luján R, Haas CA, López-Bendito G, Shigemoto R, and Frotscher M (2003) Subcellular localization of metabotropic GABAB receptor subunits GABAB1a/b and GABAB2 in the rat hippocampus. *J Neurosci* **23**: 11026-11035.
- Kullmann DM, Ruiz A, Rusakov DM, Scott R, Semyanov A, and Walker MC (2005) Presynaptic, extrasynaptic and axonal GABAA receptors in the CNS: where and why? *Prog Biophys Mol Biol* **87:** 33-46.
- Kushnir A, Wajsberg B, and Marks AR (2018) Ryanodine receptor dysfunction in human disorders. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research* **1865**: 1687-1697.
- Kveim O, Setekleiv J, and Kaada B (1964) Differential effects of hippocampal lesions on maze and passive avoidance learning in rats. *Exp Neurol* **9**: 59-72.
- Laferriere NR, Kurata WE, Grayson III CT, Stecklow KM, and Pierce LM (2019) Inhibition of microRNA-124-3p as a novel therapeutic strategy for the treatment of Gulf War Illness: Evaluation in a rat model. *Neurotoxicology* **71**: 16-30.
- Lan JY, Skeberdis VA, Jover T, Grooms SY, Lin Y, Araneda RC, Zheng X, Bennett MV, and Zukin RS (2001) Protein kinase C modulates NMDA receptor trafficking and gating. *Nat Neurosci* **4:** 382-390.
- Lanzafame A, Christopoulos A, and Mitchelson F (2003) Cellular signaling mechanisms for muscarinic acetylcholine receptors. *Receptors Channels* **9:** 241-260.

- Laroche S, Jay TM, and Thierry A-M (1990) Long-term potentiation in the prefrontal cortex following stimulation of the hippocampal CA1/subicular region. *Neurosci Lett* **114:** 184-190.
- Latimer JJ, Alhamed A, Sveiven S, Almutairy A, Klimas NG, Abreu M, Sullivan K, and Grant SG (2020) Preliminary Evidence for a Hormetic Effect on DNA Nucleotide Excision Repair in Veterans with Gulf War Illness. *Mil Med* **185**: e47-e52.
- Lau CG and Zukin RS (2007) NMDA receptor trafficking in synaptic plasticity and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **8:** 413-426.
- Laube B, Hirai H, Sturgess M, Betz H, and Kuhse J (1997) Molecular determinants of agonist discrimination by NMDA receptor subunits: analysis of the glutamate binding site on the NR2B subunit. *Neuron* **18:** 493-503.
- Laurie DJ and Seeburg PH (1994) Regional and developmental heterogeneity in splicing of the rat brain NMDAR1 mRNA. *J Neurosci* **14:** 3180-3194.
- Lee HK, Takamiya K, Kameyama K, He K, Yu S, Rossetti L, Wilen D, and Huganir RL (2007) Identification and characterization of a novel phosphorylation site on the GluR1 subunit of AMPA receptors. *Mol Cell Neurosci* **36**: 86-94.
- Lee I, Jerman TS, and Kesner RP (2005) Disruption of delayed memory for a sequence of spatial locations following CA1-or CA3-lesions of the dorsal hippocampus. *Neurobiol Learn Mem* **84:** 138-147.
- Lee I and Kesner RP (2004) Encoding versus retrieval of spatial memory: double dissociation between the dentate gyrus and the perforant path inputs into CA3 in the dorsal hippocampus. *Hippocampus* **14:** 66-76.
- Lee YS and Silva AJ (2009) The molecular and cellular biology of enhanced cognition. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **10:** 126-140.
- Leibowitz JA and Ormerod BK (2018) The potential of treating Gulf War Illness with curcumin. Brain Behav Immun **70:** 3-4.
- Lemieux M, Labrecque S, Tardif C, Labrie-Dion É, LeBel É, and De Koninck P (2012) Translocation of CaMKII to dendritic microtubules supports the plasticity of local synapses. *J Cell Biol* **198**: 1055-1073.
- Leonard AS, Davare MA, Horne MC, Garner CC, and Hell JW (1998) SAP97 is associated with the alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid receptor GluR1 subunit. *J Biol Chem* **273:** 19518-19524.
- Levey A, Edmunds S, Koliatsos V, Wiley R, and Heilman C (1995) Expression of m1-m4 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor proteins in rat hippocampus and regulation by cholinergic innervation. *J Neurosci* **15:** 4077-4092.
- Lewis-Peacock JA and Postle BR (2008) Temporary activation of long-term memory supports working memory. *J Neurosci* **28**: 8765-8771.
- Li B, Mahan CM, Kang HK, Eisen SA, and Engel CC (2011) Longitudinal health study of US 1991 Gulf War veterans: changes in health status at 10-year follow-up. *Am J Epidemiol* **174:** 761-768.
- Li C-L and McIlwain H (1957) Maintenance of resting membrane potentials in slices of mammalian cerebral cortex and other tissues in vitro. *The Journal of physiology* **139**: 178-190.
- Lisman J and Raghavachari S (2015) Biochemical principles underlying the stable maintenance of LTP by the CaMKII/NMDAR complex. *Brain Res* **1621**: 51-61.
- Lisman J, Yasuda R, and Raghavachari S (2012) Mechanisms of CaMKII action in long-term potentiation. *Nature reviews neuroscience* **13:** 169-182.
- Lisman JE and Grace AA (2005) The hippocampal-VTA loop: controlling the entry of information into long-term memory. *Neuron* **46:** 703-713.

- Liu L, Wang E-Q, Du C, Chen H-S, and Lv Y (2020) Minocycline Alleviate A Rat Model Of Gulf War Illness Via Altering Gut Microbiome, Attenuating Neuroinflammation And Enhancing Hippocampal Neurogenesis.
- Liu Q-s, Kawai H, and Berg DK (2001) β-Amyloid peptide blocks the response of α7-containing nicotinic receptors on hippocampal neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **98:** 4734-4739.
- Lledo P-M, Hjelmstad GO, Mukherji S, Soderling TR, Malenka RC, and Nicoll RA (1995) Calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II and long-term potentiation enhance synaptic transmission by the same mechanism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **92:** 11175-11179.
- Locker AR, Michalovicz LT, Kelly KA, Miller JV, Miller DB, and O'Callaghan JP (2017) Corticosterone primes the neuroinflammatory response to Gulf War Illness-relevant organophosphates independently of acetylcholinesterase inhibition. *J Neurochem* **142**: 444-455.
- Lømo T (1966) Frequency potentiation of excitatory synaptic activity in dentate area of hippocampal formation, in *Acta Physiol Scand* pp 128-&, BLACKWELL SCIENCE LTD PO BOX 88, OSNEY MEAD, OXFORD OX2 0NE, OXON, ENGLAND.
- Long LL, Bunce JG, and Chrobak JJ (2015) Theta variation and spatiotemporal scaling along the septotemporal axis of the hippocampus. *Front Syst Neurosci* **9**: 37.
- Lu W-Y, Man H-Y, Ju W, Trimble WS, MacDonald JF, and Wang YT (2001) Activation of synaptic NMDA receptors induces membrane insertion of new AMPA receptors and LTP in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* **29**: 243-254.
- Lubenov EV and Siapas AG (2009) Hippocampal theta oscillations are travelling waves. *Nature* **459:** 534-539.
- Luo AH, Tahsili-Fahadan P, Wise RA, Lupica CR, and Aston-Jones G (2011) Linking context with reward: a functional circuit from hippocampal CA3 to ventral tegmental area. *Science* **333**: 353-357.
- Lüscher C and Malenka RC (2012) NMDA receptor-dependent long-term potentiation and longterm depression (LTP/LTD). *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* **4:** a005710.
- Lynch G, Larson J, Kelso S, Barrionuevo G, and Schottler F (1983) Intracellular injections of EGTA block induction of hippocampal long-term potentiation. *Nature* **305**: 719-721.
- Maccaferri G, David J, Roberts B, Szucs P, Cottingham CA, and Somogyi P (2000) Cell surface domain specific postsynaptic currents evoked by identified GABAergic neurones in rat hippocampus in vitro. *The Journal of physiology* **524**: 91-116.
- MacDermott AB, Role LW, and Siegelbaum SA (1999) Presynaptic ionotropic receptors and the control of transmitter release. *Annu Rev Neurosci* **22**: 443-485.
- Macht V, Woodruff J, Burzynski H, Grillo C, Reagan L, and Fadel J (2020) Interactions between pyridostigmine bromide and stress on glutamatergic neurochemistry: Insights from a rat model of Gulf War Illness. *Neurobiology of Stress* **12**: 100210.
- Macht V, Woodruff J, Grillo C, Wood C, Wilson M, and Reagan L (2018) Pathophysiology in a model of Gulf War Illness: Contributions of pyridostigmine bromide and stress. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* **96:** 195-202.
- Macht V, Woodruff J, Maissy E, Grillo C, Wilson M, Fadel J, and Reagan L (2019) Pyridostigmine bromide and stress interact to impact immune function, cholinergic neurochemistry and behavior in a rat model of Gulf War Illness. *Brain Behav Immun*.
- Madhu LN, Attaluri S, Kodali M, Shuai B, Upadhya R, Gitai D, and Shetty AK (2019) Neuroinflammation in Gulf War Illness is Linked with HMGB1 and Complement Activation, which can be Discerned from Brain-Derived Extracellular Vesicles in the Blood. *Brain Behav Immun*.
- Madison D, Lancaster B, and Nicoll R (1987) Voltage clamp analysis of cholinergic action in the hippocampus. *J Neurosci* **7**: 733-741.

Maeda S, Qu Q, Robertson MJ, Skiniotis G, and Kobilka BK (2019) Structures of the M1 and M2 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor/G-protein complexes. *Science* **364**: 552-557.

- Magee JC and Cook EP (2000) Somatic EPSP amplitude is independent of synapse location in hippocampal pyramidal neurons. *Nat Neurosci* **3**: 895-903.
- Maggio N and Segal M (2007a) Striking variations in corticosteroid modulation of long-term potentiation along the septotemporal axis of the hippocampus. *J Neurosci* **27**: 5757-5765.
- Maggio N and Segal M (2007b) Unique regulation of long term potentiation in the rat ventral hippocampus. *Hippocampus* **17:** 10-25.
- Maggio N and Segal M (2009) Differential modulation of long-term depression by acute stress in the rat dorsal and ventral hippocampus. *J Neurosci* **29**: 8633-8638.
- Maggio N and Segal M (2010) Corticosteroid regulation of synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus. *ScientificWorldJournal* **10:** 462-469.

Maggio N and Segal M (2011) Persistent changes in ability to express long-term potentiation/depression in the rat hippocampus after juvenile/adult stress. *Biol Psychiatry* **69:** 748-753.

- Maggio N and Segal M (2012) Steroid modulation of hippocampal plasticity: switching between cognitive and emotional memories. *Front Cell Neurosci* **6**: 12.
- Magleby KL (1987) Short-term changes in synaptic efficacy. Synaptic function 257: 21-56.
- Makino H and Malinow R (2009) AMPA receptor incorporation into synapses during LTP: the role of lateral movement and exocytosis. *Neuron* **64**: 381-390.
- Malenka RC and Bear MF (2004) LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. Neuron 44: 5-21.
- Malenka RC, Kauer JA, Zucker RS, and Nicoll RA (1988) Postsynaptic calcium is sufficient for potentiation of hippocampal synaptic transmission. *Science* **242**: 81-84.
- Malenka RC, Lancaster B, and Zucker RS (1992) Temporal limits on the rise in postsynaptic calcium required for the induction of long-term potentiation. *Neuron* **9:** 121-128.
- Malenka RC and Nicoll RA (1999) Long-term potentiation--a decade of progress? *Science* **285**: 1870-1874.
- Mammen AL, Kameyama K, Roche KW, and Huganir RL (1997) Phosphorylation of the αamino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole4-propionic acid receptor GluR1 subunit by calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II. *J Biol Chem* **272**: 32528-32533.
- Marino MJ, Rouse ST, Levey AI, Potter LT, and Conn PJ (1998) Activation of the genetically defined m1 muscarinic receptor potentiates N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor currents in hippocampal pyramidal cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **95**: 11465-11470.
- Matthews DA, Cotman C, and Lynch G (1976) An electron microscopic study of lesion-induced synaptogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the adult rat. I. Magnitude and time course of degeneration. *Brain Res* **115**: 1-21.
- Mauceri D, Cattabeni F, Di Luca M, and Gardoni F (2004) Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II phosphorylation drives synapse-associated protein 97 into spines. *J Biol Chem* **279**: 23813-23821.
- Maule AL, Janulewicz PA, Sullivan KA, Krengel MH, Yee MK, McClean M, and White RF (2018) Meta-analysis of self-reported health symptoms in 1990–1991 Gulf War and Gulf Warera veterans. *BMJ open* **8:** e016086.
- McBain C and Mayer M (1994) N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor structure and function. *Physiol Rev* **74**: 723-760.
- McGaugh JL (2000) Memory--a century of consolidation. Science 287: 248-251.
- Megahed T, Hattiangady B, Shuai B, and Shetty AK (2015) Parvalbumin and neuropeptide Y expressing hippocampal GABA-ergic inhibitory interneuron numbers decline in a model of Gulf War illness. *Front Cell Neurosci* **8:** 447.

Megias M, Emri Z, Freund T, and Gulyas A (2001) Total number and distribution of inhibitory and excitatory synapses on hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells. *Neuroscience* **102**: 527-540.

Mehta AK and Ticku MK (1999) An update on GABAA receptors. Brain Res Rev 29: 196-217.

- Merrill MA, Chen Y, Strack S, and Hell JW (2005) Activity-driven postsynaptic translocation of CaMKII. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* **26:** 645-653.
- Michalovicz LT, Kelly KA, Sullivan K, and O'Callaghan JP (2020) Acetylcholinesterase inhibitor exposures as an initiating factor in the development of Gulf War Illness, a chronic neuroimmune disorder in deployed veterans. *Neuropharmacology*: 108073.
- Michalovicz LT, Locker AR, Kelly KA, Miller JV, Barnes Z, Fletcher MA, Miller DB, Klimas NG, Morris M, and Lasley SM (2019) Corticosterone and pyridostigmine/DEET exposure attenuate peripheral cytokine expression: Supporting a dominant role for neuroinflammation in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *Neurotoxicology* **70**: 26-32.
- Middlemore-Risher M-L, Buccafusco J, and Terry Jr A (2010) Repeated exposures to low-level chlorpyrifos results in impairments in sustained attention and increased impulsivity in rats. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **32:** 415-424.
- Mikroulis AV and Psarropoulou C (2012) Endogenous ACh effects on NMDA-induced interictallike discharges along the septotemporal hippocampal axis of adult rats and their modulation by an early life generalized seizure. *Epilepsia* **53**: 879-887.
- Miller GA, Galanter E, and Pribram KH (1960) Plans and the structure of behavior.
- Miller JV, LeBouf RF, Kelly KA, Michalovicz LT, Ranpara A, Locker AR, Miller DB, and O'Callaghan JP (2018) The neuroinflammatory phenotype in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness is unrelated to brain regional levels of acetylcholine as measured by quantitative HILIC-UPLC-MS/MS. *Toxicol Sci* **165**: 302-313.
- Miller SG, Patton BL, and Kennedy MB (1988) Sequences of autophosphorylation sites in neuronal type II CaM kinase that control Ca2+-independent activity. *Neuron* **1:** 593-604.
- Mintz IM and Bean BP (1993) GABAB receptor inhibition of P-type Ca2+ channels in central neurons. *Neuron* **10:** 889-898.
- Misgeld U, Bijak M, and Jarolimek W (1995) A physiological role for GABAB receptors and the effects of baclofen in the mammalian central nervous system. *Prog Neurobiol* **46**: 423-462.
- Mishkin M and Delacour J (1975) An analysis of short-term visual memory in the monkey. *J Exp Psychol Anim Behav Process* **1:** 326.
- Mody I (2001) Distinguishing between GABAA receptors responsible for tonic and phasic conductances. *Neurochem Res* **26**: 907-913.
- Monyer H, Burnashev N, Laurie DJ, Sakmann B, and Seeburg PH (1994) Developmental and regional expression in the rat brain and functional properties of four NMDA receptors. *Neuron* **12**: 529-540.
- Morris R (1984) Developments of a water-maze procedure for studying spatial learning in the rat. *J Neurosci Methods* **11**: 47-60.
- Mosbacher J, Schöpfer R, Monyer H, Burnashev N, Seeburg PH, and Ruppersberg JP (1994) A molecular determinant for submillisecond desensitization in glutamate receptors. *Science* **266**: 1059-1062.
- Moser M-B, Moser EI, Forrest E, Andersen P, and Morris R (1995) Spatial learning with a minislab in the dorsal hippocampus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **92:** 9697-9701.
- Naber P and Witter M (1998) Subicular efferents are organized mostly as parallel projections: a double-labeling, retrograde-tracing study in the rat. *J Comp Neurol* **393**: 284-297.
- Nadel L and Hardt O (2011) Update on memory systems and processes. Neuropsychopharmacology **36**: 251-273.

- Nairne JS and Neath I (2012) Sensory and working memory. *Handbook of Psychology, Second Edition* **4**.
- Nakanishi S, Nakajima Y, Masu M, Ueda Y, Nakahara K, Watanabe D, Yamaguchi S, Kawabata S, and Okada M (1998) Glutamate receptors: brain function and signal transduction. *Brain Res Rev* **26**: 230-235.
- Nakazawa K, Quirk MC, Chitwood RA, Watanabe M, Yeckel MF, Sun LD, Kato A, Carr CA, Johnston D, and Wilson MA (2002) Requirement for hippocampal CA3 NMDA receptors in associative memory recall. *Science* **297**: 211-218.
- Nakazawa K, Sun LD, Quirk MC, Rondi-Reig L, Wilson MA, and Tonegawa S (2003) Hippocampal CA3 NMDA receptors are crucial for memory acquisition of one-time experience. *Neuron* **38:** 305-315.
- Naughton SX, Beck WD, Wei Z, Wu G, and Terry Jr AV (2020) Multifunctional compounds lithium chloride and methylene Blue attenuate the negative effects of diisopropylfluorophosphate on axonal transport in rat cortical neurons. *Toxicology* **431**: 152379.
- Naughton SX, Hernandez CM, Beck WD, Poddar I, Yanasak N, Lin P-C, and Terry Jr AV (2018) Repeated exposures to diisopropylfluorophosphate result in structural disruptions of myelinated axons and persistent impairments of axonal transport in the brains of rats. *Toxicology* **406:** 92-103.
- Nehring RB, Horikawa HP, El Far O, Kneussel M, Brandstätter JH, Stamm S, Wischmeyer E, Betz H, and Karschin A (2000) The metabotropic GABAB receptor directly interacts with the activating transcription factor 4. *J Biol Chem* **275**: 35185-35191.
- Neves G, Cooke SF, and Bliss TV (2008) Synaptic plasticity, memory and the hippocampus: a neural network approach to causality. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* **9**: 65-75.
- Nguyen PV and Kandel ER (1997) Brief theta-burst stimulation induces a transcriptiondependent late phase of LTP requiring cAMP in area CA1 of the mouse hippocampus. *Learn Mem* **4:** 230-243.
- Nicoll RA (2017) A brief history of long-term potentiation. Neuron 93: 281-290.
- Nikandrova YA, Jiao Y, Baucum AJ, Tavalin SJ, and Colbran RJ (2010) Ca2+/calmodulindependent protein kinase II binds to and phosphorylates a specific SAP97 splice variant to disrupt association with AKAP79/150 and modulate alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid-type glutamate receptor (AMPAR) activity. *J Biol Chem* **285**: 923-934.
- Nugent SM, Freeman M, Ayers CK, Winchell KA, Press AM, O'Neil ME, Paynter R, and Kansagara D (2020) A Systematic Review of Therapeutic Interventions and Management Strategies for Gulf War Illness. *Mil Med*.
- Nutter T, Jiang N, and Cooper BY (2013) Persistent Na+ and K+ channel dysfunctions after chronic exposure to insecticides and pyridostigmine bromide. *Neurotoxicology* **39**: 72-83.
- Nutter T, Johnson R, and Cooper B (2015) A delayed chronic pain like condition with decreased Kv channel activity in a rat model of Gulf War Illness pain syndrome. *Neurotoxicology* **51:** 67-79.
- O'Callaghan JP, Kelly KA, Locker AR, Miller DB, and Lasley SM (2015) Corticosterone primes the neuroinflammatory response to DFP in mice: potential animal model of Gulf War Illness. *J Neurochem* **133**: 708-721.
- O'Keefe J and Dostrovsky J (1971) The hippocampus as a spatial map: preliminary evidence from unit activity in the freely-moving rat. *Brain Res*.
- O'Neill P-K, Gordon JA, and Sigurdsson T (2013) Theta oscillations in the medial prefrontal cortex are modulated by spatial working memory and synchronize with the hippocampus through its ventral subregion. *J Neurosci* **33**: 14211-14224.

- Ofir R, Dwarki VJ, Rashid D, and Verma IM (1991) CREB represses transcription of fos promoter: role of phosphorylation. *Gene Expr* **1**: 55-60.
- Ojo JO, Abdullah L, Evans J, Reed JM, Montague H, Mullan MJ, and Crawford FC (2014) Exposure to an organophosphate pesticide, individually or in combination with other G ulf W ar agents, impairs synaptic integrity and neuronal differentiation, and is accompanied by subtle microvascular injury in a mouse model of G ulf W ar agent exposure. *Neuropathology* **34:** 109-127.
- Olton DS, Collison C, and Werz MA (1977) Spatial memory and radial arm maze performance of rats. *Learn Motiv* 8: 289-314.
- Olton DS and Samuelson RJ (1976) Remembrance of places passed: spatial memory in rats. *J Exp Psychol Anim Behav Process* **2**: 97.
- Ozawa S, Kamiya H, and Tsuzuki K (1998) Glutamate receptors in the mammalian central nervous system. *Prog Neurobiol* **54**: 581-618.
- Pagano A, Rovelli G, Mosbacher J, Lohmann T, Duthey B, Stauffer D, Ristig D, Schuler V, Meigel I, and Lampert C (2001) C-terminal interaction is essential for surface trafficking but not for heteromeric assembly of GABAB receptors. *J Neurosci* **21**: 1189-1202.
- Pandis C, Sotiriou E, Kouvaras E, Asprodini E, Papatheodoropoulos C, and Angelatou F (2006) Differential expression of NMDA and AMPA receptor subunits in rat dorsal and ventral hippocampus. *Neuroscience* **140**: 163-175.
- Papagno C, Comi A, Riva M, Bizzi A, Vernice M, Casarotti A, Fava E, and Bello L (2017) Mapping the brain network of the phonological loop. *Hum Brain Mapp* **38:** 3011-3024.
- Papatheodoropoulos C (2015a) Higher intrinsic network excitability in ventral compared with the dorsal hippocampus is controlled less effectively by GABAB receptors. *BMC Neurosci* **16:** 75.
- Papatheodoropoulos C (2015b) Striking differences in synaptic facilitation along the dorsoventral axis of the hippocampus. *Neuroscience* **301:** 454-470.
- Papatheodoropoulos C (2018) Electrophysiological evidence for long-axis intrinsic diversification of the hippocampus. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)* **23:** 109-145.
- Papatheodoropoulos C, Asprodini E, Nikita I, Koutsona C, and Kostopoulos G (2002) Weaker synaptic inhibition in CA1 region of ventral compared to dorsal rat hippocampal slices. *Brain Res* **948**: 117-121.
- Papatheodoropoulos C and Kostopoulos G (2000a) Decreased ability of rat temporal hippocampal CA1 region to produce long-term potentiation. *Neurosci Lett* **279:** 177-180.
- Papatheodoropoulos C and Kostopoulos G (2000b) Dorsal-ventral differentiation of short-term synaptic plasticity in rat CA1 hippocampal region. *Neurosci Lett* **286:** 57-60.
- Papez JW (1937) A proposed mechanism of emotion. Arch Neurol Psychiatry 38: 725-743.
- Papp E, Leinekugel X, Henze D, Lee J, and Buzsaki G (2001) The apical shaft of CA1 pyramidal cells is under GABAergic interneuronal control. *Neuroscience* **102**: 715-721.
- Parent MA, Wang L, Su J, Netoff T, and Yuan L-L (2010) Identification of the hippocampal input to medial prefrontal cortex in vitro. *Cereb Cortex* **20**: 393-403.
- Parihar VK, Hattiangady B, Shuai B, and Shetty AK (2013) Mood and memory deficits in a model of Gulf War illness are linked with reduced neurogenesis, partial neuron loss, and mild inflammation in the hippocampus. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **38**: 2348.
- Passafaro M, Piëch V, and Sheng M (2001) Subunit-specific temporal and spatial patterns of AMPA receptor exocytosis in hippocampal neurons. *Nat Neurosci* **4**: 917-926.
- Patel J, Schomburg EW, Berényi A, Fujisawa S, and Buzsáki G (2013) Local generation and propagation of ripples along the septotemporal axis of the hippocampus. *J Neurosci* **33**: 17029-17041.
- Patneau DK and Mayer ML (1990) Structure-activity relationships for amino acid transmitter candidates acting at N-methyl-D-aspartate and quisqualate receptors. *J Neurosci* **10**: 2385-2399.

Pavlovsky L, Browne RO, and Friedman A (2003) Pyridostigmine enhances glutamatergic transmission in hippocampal CA1 neurons. *Exp Neurol* **179:** 181-187.

Penfield W and Erickson TC (1941) Epilepsy and cerebral localization.

- Pennisi E (1996) Chemicals behind Gulf War syndrome?, in, American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- Petrides T, Georgopoulos P, Kostopoulos G, and Papatheodoropoulos C (2007) The GABA A receptor-mediated recurrent inhibition in ventral compared with dorsal CA1 hippocampal region is weaker, decays faster and lasts less. *Exp Brain Res* **177**: 370-383.
- Pettit D, Perlman S, and Malinow R (1994) Potentiated transmission and prevention of further LTP by increased CaMKII activity in postsynaptic hippocampal slice neurons. *Science* **266:** 1881-1885.
- Phillips KF and Deshpande LS (2016) Repeated low-dose organophosphate DFP exposure leads to the development of depression and cognitive impairment in a rat model of Gulf War Illness. *Neurotoxicology* **52:** 127-133.
- Phillips KF and Deshpande LS (2018) Chronic Neurological Morbidities and Elevated Hippocampal Calcium Levels in a DFP-Based Rat Model of Gulf War Illness. *Mil Med* **183:** 552-555.
- Phillips KF and Deshpande LS (2020) Calcium Hypothesis of Gulf War Illness: Role of Calcium Ions in Neurological Morbidities in a DFP-Based Rat Model for Gulf War Illness. *Neurosci Insights* **15:** 2633105520979841.
- Phillips KF, Santos E, Blair RE, and Deshpande LS (2019) Targeting intracellular calcium stores alleviates neurological morbidities in a DFP-based rat model of Gulf War Illness. *Toxicol Sci.*
- Pi HJ, Otmakhov N, Lemelin D, De Koninck P, and Lisman J (2010) Autonomous CaMKII can promote either long-term potentiation or long-term depression, depending on the state of T305/T306 phosphorylation. *J Neurosci* **30**: 8704-8709.
- Pickard L, Noël J, Duckworth JK, Fitzjohn SM, Henley JM, Collingridge GL, and Molnar E (2001) Transient synaptic activation of NMDA receptors leads to the insertion of native AMPA receptors at hippocampal neuronal plasma membranes. *Neuropharmacology* **41**: 700-713.
- Pierce LM, Kurata WE, Matsumoto KW, Clark ME, and Farmer DM (2016) Long-term epigenetic alterations in a rat model of Gulf War Illness. *Neurotoxicology* **55**: 20-32.
- Pofantis H and Papatheodoropoulos C (2014) The α5GABAA receptor modulates the induction of long-term potentiation at ventral but not dorsal CA1 hippocampal synapses. *Synapse* **68:** 394-401.
- Polyn SM, Natu VS, Cohen JD, and Norman KA (2005) Category-specific cortical activity precedes retrieval during memory search. *Science* **310**: 1963-1966.
- Poncer J, McKinney R, Gahwiler B, and Thompson S (2000) Differential control of GABA release at synapses from distinct interneurons in rat hippocampus. *The Journal of Physiology* **528**: 123-130.
- Poppenk J, Evensmoen HR, Moscovitch M, and Nadel L (2013) Long-axis specialization of the human hippocampus. *Trends Cogn Sci* **17**: 230-240.
- Porter B, Long K, Rull RP, Dursa EK, and Team MCS (2020) Prevalence of Chronic Multisymptom Illness/Gulf War Illness Over Time Among Millennium Cohort Participants, 2001 to 2016. *J Occup Environ Med* **62:** 4-10.
- Potvin O, Allen K, Thibaudeau G, Doré FY, and Goulet S (2006) Performance on spatial working memory tasks after dorsal or ventral hippocampal lesions and adjacent damage to the subiculum. *Behav Neurosci* **120**: 413.
- Pouille F and Scanziani M (2004) Routing of spike series by dynamic circuits in the hippocampus. *Nature* **429:** 717-723.

Prabhakaran V, Narayanan K, Zhao Z, and Gabrieli J (2000) Integration of diverse information in working memory within the frontal lobe. *Nat Neurosci* **3:** 85-90.

Prendergast MA, Terry Jr AV, and Buccafusco JJ (1997) Chronic, low-level exposure to disopropylfluorophosphate causes protracted impairment of spatial navigation learning. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **129:** 183-191.

Preston AR and Eichenbaum H (2013) Interplay of hippocampus and prefrontal cortex in memory. *Curr Biol* **23:** R764-R773.

Quirion R, Wilson A, Rowe W, Aubert I, Richard J, Doods H, Parent A, White N, and Meaney M (1995) Facilitation of acetylcholine release and cognitive performance by an M (2)muscarinic receptor antagonist in aged memory-impaired. *J Neurosci* **15**: 1455-1462.

- RACGWI (2008) Gulf War illness and the health of Gulf War veterans: Scientific findings and recommendations. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- RACGWI (2014) Gulf War illness and the health of Gulf War veterans: Research update and recommendations, 2009-2013. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- Ragland JD, Turetsky BI, Gur RC, Gunning-Dixon F, Turner T, Schroeder L, Chan R, and Gur RE (2002) Working memory for complex figures: an fMRI comparison of letter and fractal n-back tasks. *Neuropsychology* **16:** 370.
- Raisman G (1969) Neuronal plasticity in the septal nuclei of the adult rat. Brain Res 14: 25-48.
- Raiteri M, Leardi R, and Marchi M (1984) Heterogeneity of presynaptic muscarinic receptors regulating neurotransmitter release in the rat brain. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **228**: 209-214.
- Raiteri M, Marchi M, and Paudice P (1990) Presynaptic Muscarinic Receptors in the Central Nervous System a. Ann N Y Acad Sci 604: 113-129.
- Ramakrishnan NA, Drescher MJ, and Drescher DG (2012) The SNARE complex in neuronal and sensory cells. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience* **50**: 58-69.
- Ramirez-Sanchez I, Navarrete-Yañez V, Garate-Carrillo A, Loredo M, Lira-Romero E, Estrada-Mena J, Campeau A, Gonzalez D, Carrillo-Terrazas M, and Moreno-Ulloa A (2020) Development of muscle atrophy and loss of function in a Gulf-War illness model: underlying mechanisms. *Sci Rep* **10:** 1-14.
- Rayhan RU, Stevens BW, Timbol CR, Adewuyi O, Walitt B, VanMeter JW, and Baraniuk JN (2013) Increased brain white matter axial diffusivity associated with fatigue, pain and hyperalgesia in Gulf War illness. *PLoS One* **8**.
- Redondo RL, Okuno H, Spooner PA, Frenguelli BG, Bito H, and Morris RG (2010) Synaptic tagging and capture: differential role of distinct calcium/calmodulin kinases in protein synthesis-dependent long-term potentiation. *J Neurosci* **30**: 4981-4989.
- Regehr WG (2012) Short-term presynaptic plasticity. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 4: a005702.
- Ribeiro AC, Zhu J, Kronfol MM, Jahr FM, Younis RM, Hawkins E, McClay JL, and Deshpande LS (2020) Molecular mechanisms for the antidepressant-like effects of a low-dose ketamine treatment in a DFP-based rat model for Gulf War Illness. *Neurotoxicology*.
- Risold P and Swanson L (1996) Structural evidence for functional domains in the rat hippocampus. *Science* **272**: 1484-1486.
- Risold P, Thompson R, and Swanson L (1997) The structural organization of connections between hypothalamus and cerebral cortex. *Brain Res Rev* 24: 197-254.
- Roberts AC, Tomic DL, Parkinson CH, Roeling TA, Cutter DJ, Robbins TW, and Everitt BJ (2007) Forebrain connectivity of the prefrontal cortex in the marmoset monkey (Callithrix jacchus): An anterograde and retrograde tract-tracing study. *J Comp Neurol* **502**: 86-112.
- Robertson DA, Beattie JE, Reid IC, and Balfour DJ (2005) Regulation of corticosteroid receptors in the rat brain: the role of serotonin and stress. *Eur J Neurosci* **21**: 1511-1520.
- Robinson A (1995) Veterans worry that unexplained medical problems a legacy of service during Gulf War. *CMAJ* **152:** 944.

- Roche KW, O'Brien RJ, Mammen AL, Bernhardt J, and Huganir RL (1996) Characterization of multiple phosphorylation sites on the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit. *Neuron* **16:** 1179-1188.
- Rolls ET, Treves A, and Rolls ET (1998) *Neural networks and brain function*. Oxford university press Oxford.
- Rose M (1935) Cytoarchitektonik und Myeloarchitektonik der Großhirnrinde. Handbuch der Neurologie 1: 588-778.
- Rosenmund C, Feltz A, and Westbrook G (1995) Synaptic NMDA receptor channels have a low open probability. *J Neurosci* **15:** 2788-2795.
- Royer S, Sirota A, Patel J, and Buzsáki G (2010) Distinct representations and theta dynamics in dorsal and ventral hippocampus. *J Neurosci* **30**: 1777-1787.
- Rudner M, Fransson P, Ingvar M, Nyberg L, and Rönnberg J (2007) Neural representation of binding lexical signs and words in the episodic buffer of working memory. *Neuropsychologia* **45**: 2258-2276.
- Ruiz AJG, Zambelli M, La Porta C, Ladinsky H, and Consolo S (1993) Differences between rat dorsal and ventral hippocampus in muscarinic receptor agonist binding and interaction with phospholipase C. *Eur J Pharmacol* **244**: 125-131.
- Salmon E, Van der Linden M, Collette F, Delfiore G, Maquet P, Degueldre C, Luxen A, and Franck G (1996) Regional brain activity during working memory tasks. *Brain* **119**: 1617-1625.
- Sanhueza M, Fernandez-Villalobos G, Stein IS, Kasumova G, Zhang P, Bayer KU, Otmakhov N, Hell JW, and Lisman J (2011) Role of the CaMKII/NMDA receptor complex in the maintenance of synaptic strength. *J Neurosci* **31**: 9170-9178.
- Schell MJ, Molliver ME, and Snyder SH (1995) D-serine, an endogenous synaptic modulator: localization to astrocytes and glutamate-stimulated release. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **92:** 3948-3952.
- Schmitz D, Mellor J, and Nicoll RA (2001) Presynaptic kainate receptor mediation of frequency facilitation at hippocampal mossy fiber synapses. *Science* **291**: 1972-1976.
- Schnell E, Sizemore M, Karimzadegan S, Chen L, Bredt DS, and Nicoll RA (2002) Direct interactions between PSD-95 and stargazin control synaptic AMPA receptor number. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **99:** 13902-13907.
- Schon K, Quiroz YT, Hasselmo ME, and Stern CE (2009) Greater working memory load results in greater medial temporal activity at retrieval. *Cereb Cortex* **19**: 2561-2571.
- Scoville WB and Milner B (1957) Loss of recent memory after bilateral hippocampal lesions. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry **20:** 11.
- Segal M and Auerbach J (1997) Muscarinic receptors involved in hippocampal plasticity. *Life Sci* **60:** 1085-1091.
- Sengupta P (2013) The laboratory rat: relating its age with human's. Int J Prev Med 4: 624.
- Seth RK, Maqsood R, Mondal A, Bose D, Kimono D, Holland LA, Janulewicz Lloyd P, Klimas N, Horner RD, and Sullivan K (2019) Gut DNA Virome Diversity and Its Association with Host Bacteria Regulate Inflammatory Phenotype and Neuronal Immunotoxicity in Experimental Gulf War Illness. *Viruses* **11**: 968.
- Shema R, Sacktor TC, and Dudai Y (2007) Rapid erasure of long-term memory associations in the cortex by an inhibitor of PKMζ. *Science* **317**: 951-953.
- Shen K and Meyer T (1999) Dynamic control of CaMKII translocation and localization in hippocampal neurons by NMDA receptor stimulation. *Science* **284:** 162-167.
- Shepherd JD and Huganir RL (2007) The cell biology of synaptic plasticity: AMPA receptor trafficking. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 23: 613-643.
- Shetty AK, Attaluri S, Kodali M, Shuai B, Shetty GA, Upadhya D, Hattiangady B, Madhu LN, Upadhya R, and Bates A (2020) Monosodium luminol reinstates redox homeostasis,

improves cognition, mood and neurogenesis, and alleviates neuro-and systemic inflammation in a model of Gulf War Illness. *Redox Biol* **28**: 101389.

- Shetty GA, Hattiangady B, Upadhya D, Bates A, Attaluri S, Shuai B, Kodali M, and Shetty AK (2017) Chronic oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, Nrf2 activation and inflammation in the hippocampus accompany heightened systemic inflammation and oxidative stress in an animal model of gulf war illness. *Front Mol Neurosci* **10**: 182.
- Shi M, Deng S, Cui Y, Chen X, Shi T, Song L, Zhang R, Zhang Y, Xu J, and Shi J (2020) Repeated low-dose exposures to sarin disrupted the homeostasis of phospholipid and sphingolipid metabolism in guinea pig hippocampus. *Toxicol Lett*.
- Shi S-H, Hayashi Y, Petralia RS, Zaman SH, Wenthold RJ, Svoboda K, and Malinow R (1999) Rapid spine delivery and redistribution of AMPA receptors after synaptic NMDA receptor activation. *Science* **284:** 1811-1816.
- Shi S, Hayashi Y, Esteban JA, and Malinow R (2001) Subunit-specific rules governing AMPA receptor trafficking to synapses in hippocampal pyramidal neurons. *Cell* **105**: 331-343.
- Shinoe T, Matsui M, Taketo MM, and Manabe T (2005) Modulation of synaptic plasticity by physiological activation of M1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptors in the mouse hippocampus. *J Neurosci* **25**: 11194-11200.
- Siegel A and Tassoni J (1971) Differential efferent projections from the ventral and dorsal hippocampus of the cat. *Brain Behav Evol* **4:** 185-200.
- Sigurdsson T, Doyère V, Cain CK, and LeDoux JE (2007) Long-term potentiation in the amygdala: a cellular mechanism of fear learning and memory. *Neuropharmacology* **52**: 215-227.
- Skrede KK and Westgaard RH (1971) The transverse hippocampal slice: a well-defined cortical structure maintained in vitro. *Brain Res.*
- Sotiriou E, Papatheodoropoulos C, and Angelatou F (2005) Differential expression of gammaaminobutyric acid--a receptor subunits in rat dorsal and ventral hippocampus. *J Neurosci Res* 82: 690-700.
- Speed HE, Blaiss CA, Kim A, Haws ME, Melvin NR, Jennings M, Eisch AJ, and Powell CM (2011) Delayed reduction of hippocampal synaptic transmission and spines following exposure to repeated subclinical doses of organophosphorus pesticide in adult mice. *Toxicol Sci* **125**: 196-208.
- Sperk G, Schwarzer C, Tsunashima K, Fuchs K, and Sieghart W (1997) GABAA receptor subunits in the rat hippocampus I: immunocytochemical distribution of 13 subunits. *Neuroscience* **80:** 987-1000.
- Squire LR (1992) Memory and the hippocampus: a synthesis from findings with rats, monkeys, and humans. *Psychol Rev* **99:** 195.
- Squire LR, Clark RE, and Knowlton BJ (2001) Retrograde amnesia. *Hippocampus* 11: 50-55.
- Squire LR and Wixted JT (2011) The cognitive neuroscience of human memory since HM. *Annu Rev Neurosci* **34:** 259-288.
- Steele L (2000) Prevalence and patterns of Gulf War illness in Kansas veterans: association of symptoms with characteristics of person, place, and time of military service. *Am J Epidemiol* **152:** 992-1002.
- Steele L, Sastre A, Gerkovich MM, and Cook MR (2012) Complex factors in the etiology of Gulf War illness: wartime exposures and risk factors in veteran subgroups. *Environ Health Perspect* **120:** 112-118.
- Stern CE, Sherman SJ, Kirchhoff BA, and Hasselmo ME (2001) Medial temporal and prefrontal contributions to working memory tasks with novel and familiar stimuli. *Hippocampus* **11**: 337-346.
- Stewart M and Fox SE (1990) Do septal neurons pace the hippocampal theta rhythm? *Trends Neurosci* **13:** 163-169.

- Stupien G, Florian C, and Roullet P (2003) Involvement of the hippocampal CA3-region in acquisition and in memory consolidation of spatial but not in object information in mice. *Neurobiol Learn Mem* **80:** 32-41.
- Südhof TC (2013) Neurotransmitter release: the last millisecond in the life of a synaptic vesicle. *Neuron* **80:** 675-690.
- Sullivan K, Krengel M, Heboyan V, Schildroth S, Wilson CC, Iobst S, Klimas N, and Coughlin SS (2020) Prevalence and Patterns of Symptoms Among Female Veterans of the 1991 Gulf War Era: 25 Years Later. *J Womens Health*.
- Sumioka A, Yan D, and Tomita S (2010) TARP phosphorylation regulates synaptic AMPA receptors through lipid bilayers. *Neuron* **66**: 755-767.
- Sun P, Enslen H, Myung PS, and Maurer RA (1994) Differential activation of CREB by Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases type II and type IV involves phosphorylation of a site that negatively regulates activity. *Genes Dev* **8**: 2527-2539.
- Sutton MA and Schuman EM (2005) Local translational control in dendrites and its role in longterm synaptic plasticity. *J Neurobiol* **64:** 116-131.
- Swanson GT, Kamboj SK, and Cull-Candy SG (1997) Single-channel properties of recombinant AMPA receptors depend on RNA editing, splice variation, and subunit composition. *J Neurosci* **17:** 58-69.
- Swanson L and Cowan W (1977) An autoradiographic study of the organization of the efferet connections of the hippocampal formation in the rat. *J Comp Neurol* **172**: 49-84.
- Tamura M, Spellman TJ, Rosen AM, Gogos JA, and Gordon JA (2017) Hippocampal-prefrontal theta-gamma coupling during performance of a spatial working memory task. *Nat Commun* 8: 2182.
- Tardin C, Cognet L, Bats C, Lounis B, and Choquet D (2003) Direct imaging of lateral movements of AMPA receptors inside synapses. *The EMBO journal* **22**: 4656-4665.
- Terry Jr A, Beck W, Warner S, Vandenhuerk L, and Callahan PM (2012) Chronic impairments in spatial learning and memory in rats previously exposed to chlorpyrfos or diisopropylfluorophosphate. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **34:** 1-8.
- Terry Jr AV, Buccafusco JJ, Gearhart DA, Beck WD, Middlemore-Risher M-L, Truan JN, Schwarz GM, Xu M, Bartlett MG, and Kutiyanawala A (2011) Repeated, intermittent exposures to diisopropylfluorophosphate in rats: protracted effects on cholinergic markers, nerve growth factor-related proteins, and cognitive function. *Neuroscience* **176**: 237-253.
- Thiagarajan TC, Lindskog M, Malgaroli A, and Tsien RW (2007) LTP and adaptation to inactivity: overlapping mechanisms and implications for metaplasticity. *Neuropharmacology* **52:** 156-175.
- Tomita S, Adesnik H, Sekiguchi M, Zhang W, Wada K, Howe JR, Nicoll RA, and Bredt DS (2005a) Stargazin modulates AMPA receptor gating and trafficking by distinct domains. *Nature* **435**: 1052-1058.
- Tomita S, Stein V, Stocker TJ, Nicoll RA, and Bredt DS (2005b) Bidirectional synaptic plasticity regulated by phosphorylation of stargazin-like TARPs. *Neuron* **45**: 269-277.
- Toni N, Buchs PA, Nikonenko I, Bron CR, and Muller D (1999) LTP promotes formation of multiple spine synapses between a single axon terminal and a dendrite. *Nature* **402**: 421-425.
- Torres-Altoro MI, Mathur BN, Drerup JM, Thomas R, Lovinger DM, O'Callaghan JP, and Bibb JA (2011) Organophosphates dysregulate dopamine signaling, glutamatergic neurotransmission, and induce neuronal injury markers in striatum. *J Neurochem* **119**: 303-313.
- Traub RD, Jefferys JG, and Miles R (1993) Analysis of the propagation of disinhibition-induced after-discharges along the guinea-pig hippocampal slice in vitro. *J Physiol* **472**: 267-287.

Trivedi MS, Abreu MM, Sarria L, Rose N, Ahmed N, Beljanski V, Fletcher MA, Klimas NG, and Nathanson L (2019) Alterations in DNA Methylation Status Associated with Gulf War Illness. *DNA Cell Biol* **38**: 561-571.

Tulving E (1972) Episodic and semantic memory. *Organization of memory* **1:** 381-403.

Tulving E (1983) Elements of episodic memory.

- Tzavara E, Bymaster F, Felder C, Wade M, Gomeza J, Wess J, McKinzie D, and Nomikos G (2003) Dysregulated hippocampal acetylcholine neurotransmission and impaired cognition in M2, M4 and M2/M4 muscarinic receptor knockout mice. *Mol Psychiatry* **8**: 673-679.
- Vanderwolf CH (1969) Hippocampal electrical activity and voluntary movement in the rat. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol* **26:** 407-418.
- Vashishtha S, Broderick G, Craddock TJ, Barnes ZM, Collado F, Balbin EG, Fletcher MA, and Klimas NG (2020) Leveraging Prior Knowledge to Recover Characteristic Immune Regulatory Motifs in Gulf War Illness. *Front Physiol* **11**: 358.
- Vertes RP and Kocsis B (1997) Brainstem-diencephalo-septohippocampal systems controlling the theta rhythm of the hippocampus. *Neuroscience* **81:** 893-926.
- Vickers CA, Dickson KS, and Wyllie DJ (2005) Induction and maintenance of late-phase longterm potentiation in isolated dendrites of rat hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurones. J Physiol **568**: 803-813.
- Vida I, Bartos M, and Jonas P (2006) Shunting inhibition improves robustness of gamma oscillations in hippocampal interneuron networks by homogenizing firing rates. *Neuron* **49:** 107-117.
- Vilaró MT, Palacios J, and Mengod G (1990) Localization of m5 muscarinic receptor mRNA in rat brain examined by in situ hybridization histochemistry. *Neurosci Lett* **114:** 154-159.
- Volpicelli LA and Levey AI (2004) Muscarinic acetylcholine receptor subtypes in cerebral cortex and hippocampus. *Prog Brain Res* **145:** 59-66.
- Wang X, Xu Z, Zhao F, Lin KJ, Foster JB, Xiao T, Kung N, Askwith CC, Bruno JP, and Valentini V (2020) Restoring tripartite glutamatergic synapses: A potential therapy for mood and cognitive deficits in Gulf War illness. *Neurobiology of Stress*: 100240.
- Watkins J and Evans R (1981) Excitatory amino acid transmitters. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **21:** 165-204.
- Watt AJ, Sjöström PJ, Häusser M, Nelson SB, and Turrigiano GG (2004) A proportional but slower NMDA potentiation follows AMPA potentiation in LTP. *Nat Neurosci* **7**: 518-524.
- Wenthold RJ, Petralia RS, and Niedzielski A (1996) Evidence for multiple AMPA receptor complexes in hippocampal CA1/CA2 neurons. *J Neurosci* **16**: 1982-1989.
- Wernicke C (1881) Lehrbuch der gehirnkrankheiten für aerzte und studirende. Fischer.
- Wess J (2004) Muscarinic acetylcholine receptor knockout mice: novel phenotypes and clinical implications. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **44**: 423-450.
- Wheeler ME, Petersen SE, and Buckner RL (2000) Memory's echo: vivid remembering reactivates sensory-specific cortex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **97**: 11125-11129.
- White JH, McIllhinney RJ, Wise A, Ciruela F, Chan W-Y, Emson PC, Billinton A, and Marshall FH (2000) The GABAB receptor interacts directly with the related transcription factors CREB2 and ATFx. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **97:** 13967-13972.
- White RF, Steele L, O'Callaghan JP, Sullivan K, Binns JH, Golomb BA, Bloom FE, Bunker JA, Crawford F, and Graves JC (2016) Recent research on Gulf War illness and other health problems in veterans of the 1991 Gulf War: Effects of toxicant exposures during deployment. *Cortex* **74**: 449-475.
- Whiting PJ, Bonnert TP, McKernan RM, Farrar S, Bourdelles BL, Heavens RP, Smith DW, Hewson L, Rigby MR, and Sirinathsinghji DJ (1999) Molecular and functional diversity of the expanding GABA-A receptor gene family. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **868**: 645-653.

- Whitlock JR, Heynen AJ, Shuler MG, and Bear MF (2006) Learning induces long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Science* **313**: 1093-1097.
- Wigström H and Gustafsson B (1986) Postsynaptic control of hippocampal long-term potentiation. *J Physiol (Paris)* **81:** 228-236.
- Winkenwerder W (2003) Environmental exposure report: pesticides final report. Department of Defense, Washington, D.C.
- Winocur G (1990) Anterograde and retrograde amnesia in rats with dorsal hippocampal or dorsomedial thalamic lesions. *Behav Brain Res* **38**: 145-154.
- Winograd T (1975) Frame representations and the declarative/procedural controversy, in *Representation and understanding* pp 185-210, Elsevier.
- Wolf RC, Vasic N, and Walter H (2006) Differential activation of ventrolateral prefrontal cortex during working memory retrieval. *Neuropsychologia* **44**: 2558-2563.
- Wolfe J, Proctor SP, Erickson DJ, and Hu H (2002) Risk factors for multisymptom illness in US Army veterans of the Gulf War. *J Occup Environ Med* **44**: 271-281.
- Wolfer DP, Stagljar-Bozicevic M, Errington ML, and Lipp H-P (1998) Spatial memory and learning in transgenic mice: fact or artifact? *Physiology* **13:** 118-123.
- Wonnacott S (1997) Presynaptic nicotinic ACh receptors. Trends Neurosci 20: 92-98.
- Woodruff CC, Johnson JD, Uncapher MR, and Rugg MD (2005) Content-specificity of the neural correlates of recollection. *Neuropsychologia* **43**: 1022-1032.
- Wu H, Nash JE, Zamorano P, and Garner CC (2002) Interaction of SAP97 with minus-enddirected actin motor myosin VI. Implications for AMPA receptor trafficking. J Biol Chem 277: 30928-30934.
- Xu F, Ashbrook DG, Gao J, Starlard-Davenport A, Zhao W, Miller DB, O'Callaghan JP, Williams RW, Jones BC, and Lu L (2020) Genome-wide Transcriptome Architecture in a Mouse Model of Gulf War Illness. *Brain Behav Immun*.
- Yamada K, Shimizu M, Kawabe K, and Ichitani Y (2015) Hippocampal AP5 treatment impairs both spatial working and reference memory in radial maze performance in rats. *Eur J Pharmacol* **758:** 137-141.
- Yan JZ, Xu Z, Ren SQ, Hu B, Yao W, Wang SH, Liu SY, and Lu W (2011) Protein kinase C promotes N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor trafficking by indirectly triggering calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) autophosphorylation. J Biol Chem 286: 25187-25200.
- Yoon T, Okada J, Jung MW, and Kim JJ (2008) Prefrontal cortex and hippocampus subserve different components of working memory in rats. *Learn Mem* **15**: 97-105.
- Yoshihara T and Ichitani Y (2004) Hippocampal N-methyl-D-aspartatereceptor-mediated encoding and retrieval processes in spatial working memory: delay-interposed radial maze performance in rats. *Neuroscience* **129:** 1-10.
- Yuste R and Bonhoeffer T (2001) Morphological changes in dendritic spines associated with long-term synaptic plasticity. *Annu Rev Neurosci* **24:** 1071-1089.
- Zakirova Z, Crynen G, Hassan S, Abdullah L, Horne L, Mathura V, Crawford F, and Ait-Ghezala G (2016) A chronic longitudinal characterization of neurobehavioral and neuropathological cognitive impairment in a mouse model of Gulf War agent exposure. *Front Integr Neurosci* **9**: 71.
- Zakirova Z, Reed J, Crynen G, Horne L, Hassan S, Mathura V, Mullan M, Crawford F, and Ait-Ghezala G (2017) Complementary proteomic approaches reveal mitochondrial dysfunction, immune and inflammatory dysregulation in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *Proteomics Clin Appl* **11**: 1600190.
- Zakirova Z, Tweed M, Crynen G, Reed J, Abdullah L, Nissanka N, Mullan M, Mullan MJ, Mathura V, and Crawford F (2015) Gulf War agent exposure causes impairment of longterm memory formation and neuropathological changes in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *PLoS One* **10**: e0119579.

- Zalutsky RA and Nicoll RA (1990) Comparison of two forms of long-term potentiation in single hippocampal neurons. *Science* **248**: 1619-1624.
- Zhang W, Basile AS, Gomeza J, Volpicelli LA, Levey AI, and Wess J (2002) Characterization of central inhibitory muscarinic autoreceptors by the use of muscarinic acetylcholine receptor knock-out mice. *J Neurosci* **22**: 1709-1717.
- Zhu J, Hawkins E, Phillips K, and Deshpande LS (2020) Assessment of Ketamine and Its Enantiomers in an Organophosphate-Based Rat Model for Features of Gulf War Illness. Int J Environ Res Public Health **17:** 4710.
- Zimmer J and Gähwiler B (1984) Cellular and connective organization of slice cultures of the rat hippocampus and fascia dentata. *J Comp Neurol* **228**: 432-446.
- Zola-Morgan SM and Squire LR (1990) The primate hippocampal formation: evidence for a time-limited role in memory storage. *Science* **250**: 288-290.
- Zoli M, Léna C, Picciotto MR, and Changeux J-P (1998) Identification of four classes of brain nicotinic receptors using β2 mutant mice. *J Neurosci* **18**: 4461-4472.
- Zundel CG, Heeren T, Grasso CM, Spiro III A, Proctor SP, Sullivan K, and Krengel M (2020) Changes in Health Status in the Ft. Devens Gulf War Veterans Cohort: 1997-2017. *Neurosci Insights* **15:** 1-7.
- Zundel CG, Krengel MH, Heeren T, Yee MK, Grasso CM, Janulewicz Lloyd PA, Coughlin SS, and Sullivan K (2019) Rates of Chronic Medical Conditions in 1991 Gulf War Veterans Compared to the General Population. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* **16:** 949.

<u>Figures</u>



Figure 1.1. Neuroanatomical location of the hippocampal formation (green) in human (upper) and rodent (lower) brain.



Figure 1.2. Hippocampal laminar cytoarchitecture with perforant and alvear pathways. 1, 2, and 3 denote the three major synapses along the perforant (trisynaptic) pathway. Abbreviations: CA1, cornu ammonis 1; CA2, cornu ammonis 2; CA3, cornu ammonis 3; DG, dentate gyrus; FX, fornix; H, hilus; MF, mossy fiber; PP, perforant pathway; SC, Schaffer collateral; SG, stratum granulosum; SL, stratum lucidum; SLM, stratum lacunosum-moleculare; SM, stratum moleculare; SO, stratum oriens; SP, stratum pyramidale; SR, stratum radiatum; SUB, subiculum.



Figure 1.3. Afferent and efferent projections in the dorsal hippocampus (dH) and the ventral hippocampus (vH). Modified from Fanselow and Dong. *Neuron* 2010. Abbreviations: *dH, dorsal hippocampus panel*: ACA, anterior cingulated area; ATN, anterior thalamic complex; CA1, dorsal domain of cornu ammonis 1; CA3, dorsal domain of cornu ammonis 3; CP, caudoputamen; DG, dorsal domain of the dentate gyrus; EC, the caudolateral band of the entorhinal cortex; GP, globus pallidus; LM, lateral mammilary nucleus; LSc, the caudal part of the lateral septal nucleus; LSr.m.d, rostromediodorsal part of the lateral septal nucleus; MM, medial mammilary nucleus; MSC, medial septal complex; NAc, nucleus accumbens; PRE, presubiculum; POST, postsubiculum; RSC, retrosplenial cortex; SNr, reticular part of the substantial nigra; SUB, dorsal subiculum; SUM, supramammillary nucleus; VTA, ventral tegmental area. *vH, ventral hippocampus panel*: AMY, cortical-like amygdalar areas (nuclei); BST, bed nuclei of the stria terminalis; CA1, ventral domain of cornu ammonis 1; CEA, central amygdalar nucleus; LSr, we rostral and ventral parts of the lateral septal nucleus; MEA,

medial amygdalar nucleus; MPF, medial prefrontal cortex; NAc, nucleus accumbens; SUB, the ventral subiculum.



Figure 1.4. Differential functionality along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis. Modified from Papatheodoropoulos. *Front Biosci* 2018. Abbreviations: AMPA, α-Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid; GABA, γ-aminobutyric acid; LTP, long-term potentiation; NMDA, N-methyl-D-aspartate; PPF, paired-pulse facilitation; SWR, sharp-wave ripple.



Figure 1.5. Cellular mechanisms of short-term and long-term plasticity in the

hippocampus. Abbreviations: AC, adenylate cyclase; AMPA, α-Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid; AP, action potential; BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; Ca²⁺, calcium ion; CaMKII, calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II; CaMKIV, calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II; cAMP, cyclic adenosine monophosphate; CRE, cyclic adenosine monophosphate response element; E LTP, early-long-term potentiation; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; GluR1, ionotropic glutamate receptor 1 subunit; GluR2, ionotropic glutamate receptor 2 subunit; L-LTP, late long-term potentiation; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; Mnk1, mitogen-activated protein kinase – interacting kinase 1; NMDA, N-methyl-D-aspartate; P-CREB-1/2, phospho-cyclic adenosine monophosphate-response element binding protein; PKA, protein kinase A; PKC, protein kinase C; PPD, paired-pulse depression; PPF, paired-pulse facilitation; PTP, post-tetanic potentiation; PSD-95, postsynaptic density protein 95; TrkB, tropomyosin receptor kinase B.



Figure 1.6. General forms of learning and memory. Modified from García-Lázaro et al.

Neurol India 2012.



Figure 1.7. Common tasks employed in the Morris water maze (panel 1) and the eight-arm radial arm maze (panel 2).



Figure 1.8. Current hypothesis of the initiation and progression of GWI pathophysiology.

Abbreviations: ROS, radical oxygen species.

Table 1.1. Differential expression of receptors along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis.

Abbreviations: AMPA, α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid; NMDA, N-Methyl-D-aspartate; mGluR, metabotropic glutamate receptor; GABA, γ-aminobutyric acid; CB, cannabinoid; mAChR, muscarinic acetylcholine receptor; nAChR, nicotinic acetylcholine receptor; RyR, ryanodine receptor; GR, glucocorticoid receptor; MR, mineralocorticoid receptor. See subsection 1.2.6 for references.

Receptor	Expression in the dH	Expression in the vH
AMPA	Greater than in the vH	
NMDA	Greater than in the vH	
Class I mGluR	Greater than in the vH	
$\alpha_1 GABA_A$	Greater than in the vH	
$\alpha_{2/5} GABA_A$		Greater than in the dH
GABA _B	Greater than in the vH	
CB ₁	Greater than in the vH	
mAChR	Slightly greater than in the vH	
nAChR		Slightly greater than in the dH
RyR1		Greater than in the dH
GR	Greater than in the vH	
MR		Greater than in the dH

CHAPTER 2

DORSOVENTRAL-SPECIFIC EFFECTS OF NERVE AGENT SURROGATE DIISOPROPYLFLUOROPHOSPHATE ON SYNAPTIC TRANSMISSION IN THE MOUSE HIPPOCAMPUS¹

¹ Brown KA, Filipov NM, Wagner JJ. *Dorsoventral-Specific Effects of Nerve Agent Surrogate Diisopropylfluorophosphate on Synaptic Transmission in the Mouse Hippocampus.* Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. 2020 Apr; 373 (1) 10-23. Reprinted here with permission of publisher.

Abstract

Although there has been an increasing appreciation for functional differences between the dorsal (dH) and ventral (vH) hippocampal sectors, there is a lack of information characterizing the cholinergic and noncholinergic mechanisms of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors on synaptic transmission along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis. Diisopropylfluorophosphate (DFP) is an organophosphate (OP) that is commonly employed as a nerve agent surrogate in vitro as well as in rodent models of disease states, such as Gulf War Illness. The present study investigated the cholinergic and noncholinergic mechanisms responsible for the effects of acute DFP exposure on dH and vH synaptic transmission in a hippocampal slice preparation. A paired-pulse extracellular recording protocol was used to monitor the population spike (PS) amplitude as well as the PS paired-pulse ratio (PS-PPR) in the CA1 subfield of the dH and the vH. We observed that DFP-induced PS1 inhibition was produced by a cholinergic mechanism in the dH, whereas a noncholinergic mechanism was indispensable in mediating the inhibitory effect of DFP on the PS1 in the vH. PS-PPR in both dH and vH sectors was increased by acute DFP exposure, an effect that was blocked by an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist but not by cholinergic antagonists. Clinical reports have indicated dorsoventral-specific hippocampal abnormalities in cases of OP intoxications. Therefore, the observed dorsoventral-specific noncholinergic mechanisms underlying the effects of DFP on hippocampal synaptic transmission may have important implications for the treatment of OP overexposures.

2.1 Introduction

The hippocampus is a bilateral structure located in the medial temporal lobe of mammalian organisms and plays a fundamental role in learning and memory. Over the past decade, there has been increasing appreciation for differential functionality between the posterior (dorsal,[dH]) and anterior (ventral,[vH]) hippocampal sectors (Bannerman et al., 2004; Fanselow and Dong, 2010). For instance, the dH is associated with spatial memory whereas the vH is linked to emotional and stress-related responses (Bannerman et al., 2004). In both sectors, hippocampal-dependent behavior is regulated by synaptic plasticity and transmission (Whitlock et al., 2006). Hippocampal synaptic transmission is driven by excitatory neurotransmitters like glutamate and shaped by inhibitory neurotransmitters such as yaminobutyric acid (GABA, Watkins and Evans, 1981). Another neurotransmitter, acetylcholine (ACh), modulates hippocampal pyramidal cell activity (Benardo and Prince, 1982a; Benardo and Prince, 1982b; Madison et al., 1987), consequently influencing hippocampal memory functions (Hasselmo, 2006). For instance, cholinergic projections from the medial septum and diagonal band to the hippocampal formation are involved in controlling hippocampal theta rhythms (Stewart and Fox, 1990; Vertes and Kocsis, 1997; Hasselmo, 2006). While there is some evidence for differential cholinergic projection (Milner et al., 1983; Amaral and Kurz, 1985) and receptor density (Ruiz et al., 1993; Jung et al., 1994; Huang and Winzer-Serhan, 2006; Kenney et al., 2012) in the dH compared to the vH, there is a paucity of reports investigating the distinct role of ACh in synaptic transmission along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis.

Organophosphates (OPs) are potent neurotoxicants that are frequently employed in agricultural and military settings (Naughton and Terry Jr, 2018). OPs phosphorylate the serine hydroxyl group in the catalytic triad of acetylcholinesterase (AChE), irreversibly inhibiting the enzyme (Abou-Donia, 2003). Subsequent enhancement of synaptic ACh levels leads to cholinergic modulation of hippocampal glutamatergic transmission via activation of metabotropic muscarinic (mAChR) and ionotropic nicotinic (nAChR) ACh receptors. If not aggressively

treated, acute OP-induced cholinergic hyperactivity precipitates the presentation of cholinergic crisis followed by glutamatergic-mediated persistence of seizures and ultimately death (Abou-Donia et al., 2016).

Exposure to OPs also induces persisting toxicity via multiple noncholinergic mechanisms, i.e., by affecting oxidant formation, mitochondrial energetics, axoplasmic transport, immune system functionality, and brain endocannabinoid homeostasis (Casida and Quistad, 2004; Pope et al., 2005; Mense et al., 2006; Nallapaneni et al., 2006; Kaur et al., 2007; Grigoryan et al., 2008; Nallapaneni et al., 2008; Grigoryan et al., 2009; Jiang et al., 2010; Middlemore-Risher et al., 2010; Wright et al., 2010; Rohlman et al., 2011; Banks and Lein, 2012; O'Callaghan et al., 2015; Locker et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2018; Naughton et al., 2018; Naughton and Terry Jr, 2018; Michalovicz et al., 2019). Nevertheless, it is unknown if such noncholinergic effects differentially impact synaptic transmission along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis.

Low-level exposure to OPs in a variety of settings has been consistently associated with learning and memory impairments in humans. Repeated subacute OP insecticide exposure in agricultural settings has been linked with impairments in short-term memory (Kaplan et al., 1993; Eaton et al., 2008; Rohlman et al., 2011; Ross et al., 2013). Aerotoxic syndrome, an occupational disease linked to exposure to OPs circulating in unfiltered aircraft cabin air, is associated with cognitive deficits (Michaelis et al., 2017). Additionally, civilians exposed to OP nerve agents in the Tokyo metro terror attacks (Hood, 2001; Nishiwaki et al., 2001; Miyaki et al., 2005) and in Kurdistan during the Iran-Iraq war (Talabani et al., 2018) present persisting neurological impairments, including cognitive deficits. Moreover, U.S. veterans of the 1990-1991 Persian Gulf War exhibit dose-dependent associations between OP exposure and impaired performance on neurobehavioral tasks (Proctor et al., 2006), as well as decreased white matter volume (Heaton et al., 2007). Notably, the performance of veterans with Gulf War Illness (GWI)

and predicted sarin exposure in a learning and memory task is negatively correlated with estimated exposure levels (Chao et al., 2017).

The prototypical alkylphosphate OP diisopropylfluorophosphate (DFP) was developed for the study of chemical weapons (Saunders, 1957). DFP is structurally homologous, but significantly less volatile, than nerve agents like sarin, making DFP useful for investigating the mechanisms of sarin and other highly toxic OPs. Accordingly, DFP is one of the most widely studied OP alkylphosphates in the laboratory (Prendergast et al., 1997; Prendergast et al., 1998; Pope et al., 2005; Grigoryan et al., 2008; Nallapaneni et al., 2008; Wright et al., 2010; Terry Jr et al., 2011; Terry Jr et al., 2012; Ferchmin et al., 2015; Naughton et al., 2018; Naughton and Terry Jr, 2018). Moreover, DFP is currently employed as an initiator of status epilepticus in seizure models (Deshpande et al., 2010; Todorovic et al., 2012; Pouliot et al., 2016) and a nerve agent surrogate in models of Gulf War Illness (O'Callaghan et al., 2015; Phillips et al., 2019). Nonetheless, there is a lack of information characterizing the cholinergic and noncholinergic mechanisms of OPs like DFP on hippocampal synaptic transmission. While there is evidence of OPs inducing dorsoventral-specific pathology in the hippocampus (Apland et al., 2010), there are no reports in the literature investigating dorsoventral-specific effects of AChE inhibitors on hippocampal synaptic transmission. It is also unknown if dorsoventralspecific effects of AChE inhibitors are dependent upon cholinergic and noncholinergic mechanisms resulting from the functional division of the two hippocampal sectors. Therefore, using a hippocampal slice preparation, the aim of the present work was to investigate the cholinergic and noncholinergic mechanisms that mediate the effects of DFP exposure on synaptic transmission in the dH and the vH.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Animal Maintenance

Male C57BL/6J (Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) mice, aged 7-13 weeks, were housed in groups of 5. Animals were acclimated to their home cages for at least 1 week after

arrival and were maintained on a 12 h light/dark cycle (lights on from 0700-1900 h). Food and water were provided *ad libitum*. All experiments were performed in compliance with the University of Georgia Animal Care and Use Committee guidelines.

2.2.2 Slice Preparation and Electrophysiology

Hippocampal slice preparation and electrophysiology experiments were conducted as previously described (Keralapurath et al., 2017; Preston et al., 2019). Briefly, mice were sacrificed following deep anesthetization with 2-bromo-2-chloro-1,1,1-trifluoroethane (halothane). Brains were removed and quickly submerged in oxygenated (95% O2 / 5% CO2), ice-cold dissection artificial cerebrospinal fluid (dACSF; 120mM NaCl, 3mM KCl, 4mM MgCl2, 1mM NaH2PO4, 26mM NaHCO3, and 10mM glucose). A mid-sagittal cut was made, and half of the brain was mounted on its caudal pole and sectioned along the horizontal plane with a vibratome to obtain 400 µm slices containing the dH. The other half of the brain was mounted on its rostral pole and sectioned along the horizontal plane with a vibratome to acquire 400 µm slices containing the vH. The dH and vH were subdissected free from the rest of the slice and the CA3 subfield was removed. These slices were then quickly placed in a submersion-type chamber and perfused with oxygenated (95% O2 / 5% CO2) ACSF (120mM NaCl, 3mM KCI,1.5mM MgCl2, 1mM NaH2PO4, 2.5mM CaCl2, 26mM NaHCO3, and 10mM glucose). Slices were continuously perfused with ACSF (1 mL/min) during a 45 min recovery period at room temperature followed by a 45 min recovery period at the recording temperature of 30 °C. Schaffer collateral fibers were stimulated by placing a bipolar electrode (Kopf Instruments, Tujunga, CA) in the stratum radiatum of the CA1 subfield whereas a 1.0 M Ω tungsten recording microelectrode (World Precision Instruments, Sarasota, FL) was inserted in the stratum pyramidale of CA1. During recording experiments, a stimulus pulse was applied once every minute to elicit responses from Schaffer collateral-CA1 synapses.

A graphical representation of the protocol is shown in Fig.2.1A. A stimulus- response curve (I/O curve) was acquired at the beginning of each experiment by incrementally delivering

single 20 µA stimulus pulses ranging from 40-200 µA in intensity and measuring the population spike (PS1) response (mV) from PS trough to PS peak. The stimulus intensity was adjusted to elicit stable baseline responses of 75% of the maximal PS1 amplitude. Baseline paired-pulse ratio (PS-PPR) was then monitored each minute for 30 min via paired-pulse stimulation with an interpulse interval of 10 ms. Baseline responses were recorded for 40 min during antagonist wash-in experiments. Antagonists were present for the entire duration of the experiment following 20 min of antagonist-free baseline recording. After establishing the baseline response, DFP was washed-in to the bath for 30 min and an I/O curve was immediately recorded at the end of the wash-in period. Slice PS-PPR was monitored for the following 1 h. A final I/O curve was measured to determine the persisting effects of DFP exposure on basal synaptic transmission.

2.2.3 Determination of AChE Activity

Briefly, each assay was completed using 400 μ m individual dH or vH slices superfused with 1 mL/min ACSF ± DFP for 4.75 h ± 15 min at 37 °C. Slices were immediately stored at - 80°C following completion of electrophysiology experiments. On the day of the assay, slices were kept frozen on dry ice until homogenized with Branson Sonifier 250 (Branson Ultrasonics, Danbury, CT) in ice-cold 0.05 M Tris-HCI (pH 7.4) buffer. Sixty slices (30 from the dH and 30 from the vH) were randomly selected for homogenization. Six slices from each sector (dH or vH) and treatment level (0, 3, 10, 30, and 100 μ M DFP) were prepared for the activity assay. AChE activity of each slice homogenate was measured in triplicate wells (3 replicates/slice homogenate).

AChE activity was measured spectrophotometrically using a modification (Chambers et al., 1988; Chambers and Chambers, 1989) of Ellman et al. (1961) with acetylthiocholine as the substrate and 5,5'-dithio-bis(nitrobenzoic acid) as the chromogen. The method from Chambers et al. (1988) was scaled to a microplate format. Following 20 min incubation of each slice homogenate with the reaction mixture described in Chambers et al. (1988), absorbance was

measured via BioTek Epoch[™] Microplate spectrophotometer at 412 nM. An AChE standard curve was included alongside the samples at the following concentrations: 0, 1, 3, 10, 30, 100, 300, 1000 mU/mL (diluted in 0.05 M Tris-HCI [pH 7.4] buffer; AChE source: *Electrophorus electricus* [Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO]). Physostigmine hemisulfate (10 µM) was incubated with a subset of control samples to serve as the positive control. AChE enzyme activity was normalized on a per mg of tissue protein basis. Protein content in the homogenized samples was quantified via the Bradford protein assay method (Bradford, 1976) in a 96-well plate using Bradford reagent from Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA). Bovine serum albumin (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA) was used as the standard for the protein guantification assay.

2.2.4 Drugs

AFDX-116, atropine sulfate, acetylthiocholine iodide, acetylcholinesterase, 5,5'-dithiobis(nitrobenzoic acid), and diisopropylfluorophosphate (Purity: 99%, Lot: MKCD1107) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Dantrolene-sodium, D-(-)-2-Amino-5phosphonopentanoic acid (D-APV), mecamylamine HCl, physostigmine hemisulfate were purchased from Tocris Bioscience (Minneapolis, MN). Pirenzepine was purchased from Alfa Aesar (Tewksbury, MA). 2.5 mM AFDX-116 and 20 mM dantrolene stock solutions were prepared in DMSO. 0.1% DMSO vehicle control experiments were conducted to confirm that DMSO did not induce a significant effect on population spike responses.

2.2.5 Data Analysis

Electrophysiology data was digitized at 10kHz, low-pass filtered at 1kHz, and analyzed with pCLAMP 10.2 software (Axon Instruments, Sunnyvale, CA). Synaptic responses of the first PS (PS1) were normalized to 1 using the average PS1 amplitude of the last 5 min of baseline. Thirty min DFP wash-in and 60 min DFP wash-out PS1 values were calculated using the average PS1 amplitude values 26-30 min after beginning DFP wash in and 56-60 min into DFP wash-out, respectively. The effect of an antagonist on the PS1 was evaluated by comparing the average PS1 amplitude of the last 5 min prior to antagonist wash-in (16-20 min) compared to
the average PS1 amplitude of the last 5 min prior to DFP wash-in (36-40 min). PS-PPR values were obtained by pairing a conditioning stimulus, which evoked PS1, with a second stimulus, evoking PS2, and calculating the percent change of PS2 with respect to PS1 (PS-PPR = PS2/PS1). Reported n-values (x(y)) indicate the number of slices (x) and the number of mice (y) assessed. All statistical analysis and graphic production were completed using R version 3.3.2 (The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria). Statistical analysis was completed by using the aov() function for analysis of variance (ANOVA) and the t.test function for the Student's *t*-test. Graphic production was completed via R package "ggplot2". DFP dose-response curve (DRC) statistical analysis was conducted via one-way repeated measures ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test. The Student's *t*-test (one-tailed) was utilized for all other pairwise comparisons of data. An α level of 0.05 was used as the criterion for statistical significance. All data are presented as mean ± SEM.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Population spike inhibition and concurrent population spike paired-pulse facilitation were observed in dorsal and ventral hippocampal slices following DFP wash-in.

A significant main effect of DFP exposure on the PS₁ amplitude was observed in the dH (F4,39=38.2, p < 0.001) and the vH (F4,38=46.6, p < 0.001; Fig. 2.1B,2.1C, respectively). A Dunnett's multiple comparison test revealed significant inhibition of the PS₁ amplitude in dH (p < 0.05) and vH (p < 0.001) slices exposed to 30 μ M DFP compared to unexposed slices. Additionally, Dunnett's test revealed that 100 μ M DFP wash-in induced significant PS1 inhibition in dH (p < 0.001) and vH slices (p < 0.001) compared to unexposed slices. Interestingly, marginal, nonsignificant recovery of the PS1 amplitude was observed in both dH and vH slices treated with 100 μ M DFP. DH and vH slices that were not exposed to DFP displayed no significant change in PS1 amplitude approximately 2 h after establishing baseline. A one-way ANOVA (DFP treatment as a factor) revealed a significant main effect of DFP on AChE activity, indicating that dH and vH slices exposed to DFP exhibited a significant reduction in AChE

activity (F4,55=15.2, p<0.001; IC50 = 2.70 μ M; Fig. 2.1D,2.1E). DH and vH slices were combined in AChE activity assay analyses as a two-way ANOVA (sector and DFP treatment as factors) revealed no significant main effect of hippocampal sector on AChE activity (F1,50=0.0220,p=0.88). Based on these results, 30 μ M DFP was utilized as the DFP concentration for all remaining experiments throughout this study.

2.3.2 Nonselective nAChR antagonism enhances DFP-mediated population spike inhibition in the dorsal and the ventral hippocampus.

The nonselective, noncompetitive nAChR antagonist mecamylamine (MEC) was employed to investigate the role of the nAChR in DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition. Pretreatment with 30 μ M MEC significantly enhanced DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in the dH (t(17)=2.00, p=0.031) and the vH (t(15)=1.86, p=0.042) compared to 30 μ M DFP alone (Fig. 2.2A,2.2B, respectively). Furthermore, significantly enhanced PS1 inhibition in the dH (t(17)=2.77, p=0.0066) and the vH (t(15)=4.26, p<0.001) was observed following 60 min DFP wash-out. The magnitude of PS1 inhibition in dH slices treated with DFP and MEC was significantly less than the inhibition observed in the vH after 30 min DFP wash-in (t(18)=2.74, p=0.0068) and 60 min DFP wash-out (t(18)=2.82, p=0.0057). MEC alone did not induce a significant effect on PS1 amplitude in the dH or the vH.

2.3.3 Nonselective mAChR blockade prevents DFP-mediated population spike inhibition in the dorsal hippocampus but not in the ventral hippocampus.

The nonselective mAChR antagonist atropine (ATR) was selected to investigate the role of the mAChR in DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition. Preexposure to 3 μ M ATR prevented DFPmediated PS1 inhibition the dH (t(13)=3.32, p=0.0027; Fig. 2.2C). Interestingly, PS1 in the dH was enhanced following 60 min DFP wash-out (t(13)=4.11, p<0.001). Conversely, ATR pretreatment prevented DFP-induced PS1 inhibition in the vH after 30 min application of DFP (t(15)=2.20, p=0.022), but this effect did not persist following 60 min DFP wash-out (t(15)=0.0941, p=0.46; Fig. 2.2D). The magnitude of PS1 inhibition between dH and vH slices treated with DFP and ATR was significantly different after 30 min DFP wash-in (t(14)=3.41, p=0.0021) and 60 min DFP wash-out (t(14)=2.64, p=0.0097). ATR alone did not induce a significant effect on PS1 amplitude in the dH or the vH.

2.3.4 Selective M2R, but not M1R, mAChR blockade prevents DFP-mediated population spike inhibition in the dorsal hippocampus but not in the ventral hippocampus.

Pretreatment of slices with 100 nM of the M1 mAChR (M1R) selective antagonist pirenzepine (PZP) did not prevent DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in either the dH (t(12)=0.645, p=0.27) or the vH (t(13)=0.126, p=0.45; Fig. 2.2E,2.2F, respectively). Pretreatment with 300 nM AFDX-116, a selective M2 mAChR (M2R) antagonist, prevented DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in the dH (t(17)=2.01, p=0.030; Fig. 2.2G). Strikingly, PS1 in the dH quantitively resembled the enhancement observed in ATR experiments following 60 min DFP wash-out (t(17)=3.08, p=0.0034). Conversely, AFDX-116 pretreatment had no significant effect on DFP-induced PS1 inhibition in the vH after 30 min application of DFP (t(14)=1.02, p=0.16) nor after 60 min DFP wash-out (t(14)=0.277, p=0.39; Fig. 2.2H). The magnitude of PS1 inhibition in dH and vH slices treated with DFP and AFDX-116 was significantly different following 30 min DFP wash-in (t(17)=2.27, p=0.018) and 60 min DFP wash-out (t(17)=3.02, p=0.0039). Neither PZP nor AFDX-116 alone induced a significant effect on PS1 amplitude in the dH or the vH.

population spike inhibition in the dorsal hippocampus but not in the ventral hippocampus.

Coapplication of 3 μ M ATR and 30 μ M MEC to dH slices prior to wash-in of DFP prevented the DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition after 30 min of DFP application (t(12)=2.18, p=0.025) and 60 min of DFP wash-out (t(12)=2.16, p=0.026; Fig. 2.3A). The DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition was significantly prevented in the vH following 30 min DFP application (t(13))=2.09, p=0.028), but the effect of cholinergic antagonist pretreatment did not persist following a 60 min DFP wash-out period (t(13)=0.649, p=0.26; Fig. 2.3B). The dorsoventral-specific effect of DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition observed in previous cholinergic antagonist experiments was also

observed in ATR and MEC co-application experiments, where dH PS1 was significantly greater than vH PS1 following 30 min DFP wash-in (t(11)=1.80, p=0.049) and 60 min DFP wash-out (t(11)=2.96, p=0.0065) of DFP. Coapplication of ATR and MEC did not induce a significant effect on PS1 amplitude in the dH or the vH.

2.3.6 M2R, NMDAR, and nonselective nAChR blockade prevents DFP-mediated population spike inhibition in the dorsal and the ventral hippocampus.

Coapplication of 300 nM AFDX-116, 25 μ M D-APV (an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor [NMDAR] competitive antagonist), and 30 μ M MEC prior to wash-in of DFP resulted in no observable effect of DFP on the PS1 in the dH (t(14)=1.89, p=0.040) or the vH (t(15))=2.86, p=0.0059; Fig. 2.3C,2.3D, respectively). Prevention of DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition persisted in the dH (t(14)=4.42, p<0.001) and the vH (t(15)=2.12, p=0.026) following 60 min of DFP wash-out. The dorsoventral-specific effect of DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition that was present in cholinergic antagonist pretreatment experiments was not observed in this triple antagonist wash-in experiment following 30 min DFP wash-in (t(15)=0.808, p=0.22) and 60 min DFP wash-out (t(15)=0.124, p=0.45). Coapplication of AFDX-116, D-APV, and MEC did not induce a significant effect on PS1 amplitude in the dH or the vH. These data and those previously shown suggest that DFP-induced PS1 inhibition is mediated by the M2R in the dH whereas the effect of DFP is mediated by both cholinergic receptors and the NMDAR in the vH.

2.3.7 NMDAR antagonism prevents DFP-mediated population spike inhibition in the dorsal and the ventral hippocampus.

Pretreatment of dH slices with 25 μ M D-APV did not significantly prevent DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition following 30 min DFP wash-in (t(15)=1.33, p=0.10); however, a significant reduction in PS1 inhibition was observed following 60 min DFP wash-out (t(15)=3.12, p=0.0035; Fig. 2.3E). D-APV pretreatment of vH slices did not significantly prevent DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition compared to slices that received DFP alone following 30 min DFP wash-in (t(12)=1.24, p=0.12) or 60 min DFP wash-out (t(12)=1.05, p=0.15; Fig. 2.3F); however,

vH slices pretreated with D-APV did not display significantly different PS1 amplitude compared to control vH slices at the 30 min DFP wash-in (t(15)=1.69, p=0.56) or the 60 min DFP wash-out timepoint (t(15)=0.421, p=0.34). Interestingly, the magnitude of DFP-induced PS1 inhibition was not significantly different in the dH compared to the vH following 30 min DFP wash-in (t(13)=1.56, p=0.072) and 60 min DFP wash-out (t(13)=0.692, p=0.25) when D-APV was present in the bath. Prior to DFP application D-APV alone did not induce a significant effect on PS1 amplitude in the dH or the vH (Supplemental Figure 2.2A, Supplemental Figure 2.2B, respectively).

2.3.8 RyR antagonism enhances DFP-mediated population spike inhibition in the dorsal and the ventral hippocampus.

As the NMDAR is involved in hippocampal Ca2+-induced Ca2+ release, we investigated the role of intracellular Ca2+ ([Ca2+]i) stores in DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition by blocking ryanodine receptors (RyRs). Pretreatment with 20 μ M dantrolene (DAN) significantly enhanced DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in the dH (t(14)=4.88, p<0.001) and the vH (t(12)=2.44, p=0.016) compared to 30 μ M DFP alone (Fig. 2.3G,2.3H, respectively). Furthermore, inhibition of the PS₁ in the dH (t(14)=8.11, p<0.001) and the vH (t(12)=4.33, p<0.001) was significantly enhanced following 60 min DFP wash-out. There was no significant difference in PS₁ inhibition in dH and vH slices pretreated with DAN after 30 min DFP wash-in (t(12)=1.07, p=0.15) and 60 min DFP wash-out (t(12)=0.117, p=0.45). DAN alone did not induce a significant effect on PS1 amplitude in the dH or the vH.

2.3.9 Population spike paired-pulse facilitation observed in dorsal and ventral hippocampus slices exposed to DFP is mediated by a noncholinergic mechanism.

The PS-PPR recorded from control dH and vH slices initially exhibit PS-paired-pulse inhibition (PS-PPI, ratio <1.0), an indicator of functional recurrent inhibition in the CA1 subfield (Supplemental Figure 2.1A, Supplemental Figure 2.1B). Following 30 μ M DFP treatment, PSpaired-pulse facilitation (PS-PPF, ratio >1.0) in the dH (t(7)=3.00, p=0.010) and the vH (t(7)=3.29, p=0.0067) was observed (Fig.2.4A,2.4B). Persisting PS-PPF was observed in the dH (t(7)=4.26, p=0.0019) and the vH (t(7)=3.20, p=0.0075) following DFP wash-out. DH (t(6)=0.380, p=0.36) and vH (t(10)=1.34, p=0.11) slices that were not exposed to DFP displayed no significant change in PS-PPR approximately 2 h after establishing baseline (data not shown). Pretreatment of dH slices with the nAChR antagonist MEC resulted in significantly enhanced PS-PPR compared to slices that received DFP alone (t(17)=1.84 p=0.040; Fig. 2.4A). Likewise, pretreatment of vH slices with MEC resulted in significantly enhanced PS-PPR compared to slices that received DFP alone (t(15)=2.60 p=0.010; Fig. 2.4B). DH slices pretreated with the mAChR antagonist ATR did not exhibit significantly different PS-PPR (t(13)=0.958, p=0.18) from slices that received only DFP (Fig. 2.4C). Moreover, we did not observe a significant difference in PS-PPR in vH slices pretreated with ATR compared to those that received DFP alone (t(15)=1.38, p=0.09; Fig. 2.4D). Preexposure of dH slices to the M1R selective antagonist PZP did not prevent the significant increase of PS-PPR observed following DFP wash-in (t(12)=0.0937, p=0.46; Fig. 2.4E). Likewise, preexposure of vH slices to PZP did not prevent the significant increase of PS-PPR after DFP wash-in (t(13)=0.0622, p=0.48; Fig. 2.4F). However, dH slices that received preexposure to the M2R selective antagonist AFDX-116 exhibited significantly reduced PS-PPR compared to slices that received DFP alone (t(17)=1.89, p=0.038; Fig. 2.4G) whereas pretreatment of vH slices with AFDX-116 had no effect on PS-PPR following DFP wash-in (t(14)=0.372, p=0.36; Fig. 2.4H). Coexposure of dH (t(12)=0.488, p=0.32) and vH (t(13)=1.12, p=0.14) slices to ATR and MEC did not result in a significant reduction in the PS-PPR that was observed following DFP wash-in (Fig. 2.5A, 2.5B, respectively). Together, these data suggest that cholinergic receptors do not mediate the PS-PPF that is observed following exposure of dH and vH slices to 30 µM DFP.

2.3.10 NMDAR blockade prevents population spike paired-pulse facilitation that is observed in dorsal and ventral hippocampus slices exposed to DFP.

Interestingly, PS-PPI was preserved in both dH (t(14)=1.82, p=0.045) and vH (t(15)=2.24, p=0.020) slices treated with AFDX-116, MEC, and the NMDAR antagonist D-APV prior to DFP exposure (Fig. 2.5C, 2.5D, respectively). PS-PPI persisted in dH (t(14)=2.98, p=0.0049) and vH (t(15)=2.21, p=0.021) slices preexposed to the three antagonists after 60 min DFP wash-out. No significant difference in PS-PPR was observed between dH and vH slices that received triple antagonist pretreatment. Additionally, 20 min exposure to only D-APV resulted in a significant reduction in PS-PPR in dH (t(8)=2.17, p=0.031) and vH (t(5)=2.19, p=0.040) slices (Supplemental Figure 2C, Supplemental Figure 2D, respectively). D-APV pretreatment alone preserved PS-PPI in the dH (t(15)=3.24, p=0.0028) and the vH (t(12)=2.28, p=0.021) following DFP wash-in (Fig. 2.5E, 2.5F, respectively). When D-APV was the only antagonist present in the bath, PS-PPI persisted in the dH and vH following 60 min DFP washout (t(15)=3.59, p=0.0013; t(12)=2.68, p=0.010; respectively). No significant difference in PS-PPR was observed between dH and vH slices pretreated with D-APV following DFP wash-in (t(13)=0.436, p=0.33) and 60 min DFP wash-out (t(13)=0.720, p=0.24). Additionally, pretreatment with the RyR antagonist DAN resulted in a significant enhancement of PS-PPF observed in the dH (t(14)=3.22, p=0.0031) and the vH (t(12)=2.42, p=0.016) following DFP exposure (Fig. 2.5G, 2.5H, respectively). Collectively, these data suggest that the NMDAR plays an indispensable role in mediating the PS-PPF that is observed in dH and vH slices exposed to 30 µM DFP.

2.4 Discussion

The data in the present report demonstrate that DFP-induced PS1 inhibition in the dH and vH CA1 subfield is mediated by cholinergic receptors and NMDARs. Increased PS-PPR observed in dH and vH slices exposed to DFP is prevented by an NMDAR antagonist. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report characterizing both cholinergic and noncholinergic

effects of OP exposure on dH and vH synaptic transmission in a hippocampal slice preparation. Additionally, our findings of a DFP-NMDAR interaction affecting synaptic transmission are novel. Our results provide insight into the circuit-level role of the NMDAR in maintaining functional recurrent inhibition (RI) in the dH and the vH following exposure to an OP. The observed dorsoventral-specific effects may provide insight into OP-induced deficits in cognition and mood. A circuitry schematic containing the minimal components needed to explain the proposed dorsoventral-specific effects is presented in Fig. 2.6.

DFP has previously been employed to investigate the acute effects of an OP on the PS1, a response variable which can be directly correlated to the number of functional pyramidal cells in the stratum pyramidale of CA1 (Williamson and Sarvey, 1985; Jones et al., 1990; Ferchmin et al., 2015). Our results are consistent with these prior reports indicating acute DFP exposure inhibits CA1 glutamatergic transmission and that a substantial component of this inhibition is mediated via cholinergic receptors. More specifically, following irreversible inhibition of AChE, enhanced synaptic ACh leads to hyperactivation of mAChRs, a well-established mechanism of OP-induced neurotoxicity (Abou-Donia et al., 2016). Previous studies have shown that mAChR blockade via ATR pretreatment partially prevents DFP-induced PS1 inhibition (Ferchmin et al., 2015). The present study showed that ATR pretreatment not only prevented DFP-mediated inhibition of the dH PS1 amplitude, but the amplitude was in fact significantly enhanced by DFP application. Similarly, dH slices pretreated with AFDX-116 quantitatively resembled ATR experiments, suggesting that DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition is due to activation of M2Rs located in dH CA1. These receptors may be located at the Schaffer Collateral-CA1 synapse and somata of pyramidal cells (Vilaró et al., 1992; Auerbach and Segal, 1996; Seeger and Alzheimer, 2001; Seeger et al., 2004), where activation of these M2Rs enhances K+ conductance, hyperpolarizing principal cells and decreasing excitatory glutamatergic transmission (Drever et al., 2011). In support of these findings, prior evidence indicates OPs preferentially act as indirect agonists via M2Rs (Liu et al., 2002).

ACh-mediated activation of nAChRs on pyramidal cells enhances cation conduction, facilitating principal cell depolarization (Albuquerque et al., 2009). Interestingly, nAChR blockade enhanced DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in both the dH and the vH. Prior evidence indicates that acute OP exposure accelerates the rate of nAChR desensitization (Tattersall, 1990), an effect that may contribute to the enhanced PS1 inhibition observed in the present study. Specifically, this enhanced inhibition may be a result of reducing the excitatory tone of α 7-like nAChRs located on stratum pyramidale principal cells (Castro and Albuquerque, 1993; Mike et al., 2000). Additionally, reducing the activity of CA1 interneuron-selective interneurons following the blockade of α 4 β 2-like nAChRs would also decrease pyramidal cell excitability, reducing the PS1 amplitude (Bell et al., 2015).

Direct interactions of OPs with cholinergic receptors are well-established (Pope, 1999; Pope et al., 2005). A number of reports have indicated that OPs and other AChE inhibitors directly compete at the agonist site of M2Rs (Bakry et al., 1988; Silveira et al., 1990; Fitzgerald and Costa, 1992; Ward et al., 1993; Ward and Mundy, 1996; Rocha et al., 1999; Santos et al., 2003) or directly phosphorylate (Bomser and Casida, 2001) M2Rs. Moreover, OPs have been shown to preferentially interact with M2/M4 mAChRs and activate their Gα/i-coupled pathways (Ward et al., 1993; Ward and Mundy, 1996). We postulate that AChE-independent mechanisms may underlie some of the results observed in the present study. In particular, no increase in AChE inhibition was observed at DFP concentrations greater than 10 μM yet progressively greater inhibition of the PS1 was observed at higher concentrations. Furthermore, we observed a noteworthy recovery of the PS1 amplitude in dose-response experiments utilizing 100 μM DFP. We attribute this recovery to wash-out of DFP following direct interaction with nAChRs on pyramidal cells. This interpretation is supported by previous reports of DFP directly inducing nAChR desensitization at concentrations near 100 μM (Albuquerque et al., 1984; Bakry et al., 1988; Eldefrawi et al., 1988).

A number of noncholinergic mechanisms mediating OP effects have been characterized. DFP and other OPs covalently interact with lysine and tyrosine residues of structural proteins such as tubulin, actin, and kinesin, resulting in axonal transport deficits (Grigoryan et al., 2008; Grigoryan et al., 2009; Jiang et al., 2010). A recent report demonstrated that subacute DFP exposure leads to structural disruptions of myelinated axons, a putative result of axonal transport deficits (Naughton et al., 2018). AChE-independent decreases in mitochondrial number and energetics following OP exposure have been described (Kaur et al., 2007; Middlemore-Risher et al., 2010). Moreover, a series of reports have emphasized the role of the NMDAR in initiating Ca2+-induced Ca2+ release mechanisms after OP exposure (Deshpande et al., 2010; Phillips et al., 2019). Interestingly, DFP has been shown to directly interact with the glutamate binding pocket of the NMDAR, irreversibly inhibiting the receptor (Johnson and Michaelis, 1992). In the present report, we observed a partial reduction of DFP-mediated pyramidal cell inhibition in dH and vH slices pretreated with an NMDAR competitive antagonist. Experiments in which slices were preexposed to AFDX-116, D-APV, and MEC completely prevented DFP-mediated pyramidal cell inhibition. There is evidence that bath application of an NMDAR antagonist disinhibits glutamatergic transmission (Čapek and Esplin, 1991; Grunze et al., 1996), which may contribute to preventing the DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition. Blockade of RyRs, receptors involved in Ca2+-induced Ca2+ release, enhanced DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in the dH and the vH, an effect that may involve decreased pyramidal cell excitability due to disruption of [Ca2+]i homeostasis. There is also evidence suggesting OPs directly interact with receptors involved in Ca2+-induced Ca2+ release (Sun et al., 2000), an interaction that may further contribute to the disruption of [Ca2+]i homeostasis. Noncholinergic mechanisms unexplored in the present study, such as endocannabinoid signaling, promote OPinduced modulations in the hippocampus (Nallapaneni et al., 2006; Nallapaneni et al., 2008; Wright et al., 2010; Hoffman et al., 2019). Future studies investigating such noncholinergic

mechanisms may be fruitful, particularly because there is a paucity of reports characterizing the effects of OPs on cannabinoid signaling along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis.

Recurrent inhibition modulates principal cell excitability and network functionality by ensuring a sufficient GABAergic inhibitory tone is present in the CA1 subfield (Andersen et al., 1963; Papatheodoropoulos and Kostopoulos, 1998). When using the double orthodromic stimulation protocol to monitor RI in the CA1 subfield of healthy hippocampal tissue (Michelson and Lothman, 1989; Sloviter, 1991), a paired-pulse interpulse interval of 10 ms results in fastacting, ionotropic GABAAR-mediated PS paired-pulse-inhibition (PS-PPI, PS2/PS1 < 1) (Papatheodoropoulos et al., 2002; Petrides et al., 2007). It has been noted that a linear increase in PPR is observed as GABAA-R-mediated inhibition decreases (da Silva et al., 1995). Therefore, we monitored the PS-PPR as a measurement of functional synaptic inhibition in CA1, where it would be expected that a decrease in RI would result in an increase in PS-PPR. This was observed in dH and vH slices treated with 30 µM DFP, where an initial PS-PPI response was shifted to PS-PPF. Interestingly, individual or coapplication of mAChR and nAChR antagonists had no significant effect on the PS-PPF that was observed following DFP application. Nonetheless, we observed a marginal preservation of PS-PPI when slices were pretreated with AFDX-116. A previous report demonstrated that activation of mAChRs reduced the frequency of tetrodotoxin-insensitive miniature inhibitory postsynaptic currents (mIPSCs) as well as monosynaptically evoked IPSCs, resulting in weakened RI (Behrends and Ten Bruggencate, 1993). M2Rs are frequently expressed on parvalbumin-positive (PV(+)) interneurons and blocking these receptors increases GABA release from perisomatic PV(+) cells (Hajos et al., 1997; Fukudome et al., 2004; Szabó et al., 2010) as illustrated in Fig. 2.6, a result consistent with our AFDX-116 experiments.

Strikingly, NMDAR antagonist pretreatment alone or combined with cholinergic antagonists preserved PS-PPI following DFP treatment. Previous reports have shown that GABAergic input onto CA1 principal neurons is modulated by NMDAR-dependent transmission,

where bath application of D-APV reduces CA1 pyramidal cell RI postsynaptic potential by more than 30% (Grunze et al., 1996). The unique subunit composition and receptor density of NMDAR-expressing interneurons facilitate enhanced sensitivity to D-APV compared to NMDARexpressing principal cells (Monyer et al., 1994; Martina et al., 2003; Nyiri et al., 2003; Avignone et al., 2005; Martina et al., 2013). Therefore, we postulate that the preservation of PS-PPI in D-APV pretreatment experiments is a result of the modulatory role of NMDAR-expressing interneurons. Specifically, blockade of the NMDAR results in disinhibition of pyramidal cells, thereby promoting excitation of perisomatic interneurons mediating RI and preserving PS-PPI. We also observed a significant reduction of dH and vH PS-PPR during D-APV application, which is consistent with our NMDAR-mediated disinhibition hypothesis. As this is the first report of the NMDAR modulating the PS-PPR in the presence of an AChE inhibitor, further investigation into this mechanism is warranted.

The long-range *in vivo* projections comprising the septohippocampal system are complex (Teles-Grilo Ruivo and Mellor, 2013), making the hippocampal slice preparation a sufficient but limited model for investigating cholinergic and noncholinergic mechanisms that mediate the effects of OPs on synaptic transmission along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis. At the behavioral level, the dH is associated with spatial memory whereas the vH facilitates emotional-related responses (Floresco et al., 1997; Moser and Moser, 1998; Bannerman et al., 2004; Pothuizen et al., 2004; Tamura et al., 2017). Receptor densities differ between the dH and vH sectors, resulting in intrinsic synaptic distinctions (Pandis et al., 2006; Petrides et al., 2007; Segal et al., 2010; Papatheodoropoulos, 2018). In the context of hippocampal cholinergic transmission, differential cholinergic projection (Milner et al., 1983; Amaral and Kurz, 1985) and receptor densities (Ruiz et al., 1993; Jung et al., 1994; Huang and Winzer-Serhan, 2006; Kenney et al., 2012) are found along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis. In light of these previous reports, accounting for dorsoventral-specific effects of OP exposure may be critical in interpreting the impact of exposure to these agents. For instance, we observed a reduction of

DFP-mediated pyramidal cell inhibition in dH and vH slices pretreated with an NMDAR antagonist, an effect that was statistically significant in the dH but not in the vH. These statistical differences may be attributed to significantly greater expression of GluN2A and GluN2B subunits in the dH CA1 compared to the vH CA1 (Pandis et al., 2006). This may be particularly relevant to OP exposure in a low-level exposure setting like the 1990-1991 Gulf War, where OP nerve agent exposure has been associated with a dose-dependent impairment of cognition and structural hippocampal abnormalities (Heaton et al., 2007; Chao et al., 2017). Additionally, cognitive impairments following low-level exposure to OP pesticides in agricultural settings have been reported (Rohlman et al., 2011). Given the present evidence for NMDAR involvement of DFP-mediated effects on synaptic transmission, our findings underscore the value of future investigations of therapeutic agents that target noncholinergic mechanisms in cases of low-level OP exposures that lead to persisting cognitive impairments.

Acknowledgments:

This research was supported by the Department of Defense Congressionally Directed Medical Research Programs [W81XWH-16-1-0586] to NMF. KAB received support from the Interdisciplinary Toxicology Program at the University of Georgia. We thank Caroline Grant for the anatomical illustration of the hippocampus in Fig. 2.6.

References

- Abou-Donia MB (2003) Organophosphorus ester-induced chronic neurotoxicity. *Arch Environ* Occup Health **58:** 484-497.
- Abou-Donia MB, Siracuse B, Gupta N, and Sobel Sokol A (2016) Sarin (GB, O-isopropyl methylphosphonofluoridate) neurotoxicity: critical review. *Crit Rev Toxicol* **46:** 845-875.
- Albuquerque E, Akaike A, Shaw K-P, and Rickett D (1984) The interaction of anticholinesterase agents with the acetylcholine receptor–ionic channel complex. *Toxicol Sci* **4**: 27-33.
- Albuquerque EX, Pereira EF, Alkondon M, and Rogers SW (2009) Mammalian nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: from structure to function. *Physiol Rev* 89: 73-120.
- Amaral DG and Kurz J (1985) An analysis of the origins of the cholinergic and noncholinergic septal projections to the hippocampal formation of the rat. J Comp Neurol **240**: 37-59.
- Andersen P, Eccles J, and Løyning Y (1963) Hippocampus of the Brain: Recurrent Inhibition in the Hippocampus with Identification of the Inhibitory Cell and its Synapses. *Nature* **198**: 540.
- Apland JP, Figueiredo TH, Qashu F, Aroniadou-Anderjaska V, Souza AP, and Braga MF (2010) Higher susceptibility of the ventral versus the dorsal hippocampus and the posteroventral versus anterodorsal amygdala to soman-induced neuropathology. *Neurotoxicology* **31:** 485-492.
- Auerbach JM and Segal M (1996) Muscarinic receptors mediating depression and long-term potentiation in rat hippocampus. *J Physiol* **492**: 479-493.
- Avignone E, Frenguelli B, and Irving A (2005) Differential responses to NMDA receptor activation in rat hippocampal interneurons and pyramidal cells may underlie enhanced pyramidal cell vulnerability. *Eur J Neurosci* **22:** 3077-3090.
- Bakry NM, El-Rashidy AH, Eldefrawi AT, and Eldefrawi ME (1988) Direct actions of organophosphate anticholinesterases on nicotinic and muscarinic acetylcholine receptors. *J Biochem Toxicol* **3**: 235-259.
- Banks CN and Lein PJ (2012) A review of experimental evidence linking neurotoxic organophosphorus compounds and inflammation. *Neurotoxicology* **33:** 575-584.
- Bannerman D, Rawlins J, McHugh S, Deacon R, Yee B, Bast T, Zhang W-N, Pothuizen H, and Feldon J (2004) Regional dissociations within the hippocampus—memory and anxiety. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 28: 273-283.
- Behrends J and Ten Bruggencate G (1993) Cholinergic modulation of synaptic inhibition in the guinea pig hippocampus in vitro: excitation of GABAergic interneurons and inhibition of GABA-release. *J Neurophysiol* **69:** 626-629.
- Bell LA, Bell KA, and McQuiston AR (2015) Acetylcholine release in mouse hippocampal CA1 preferentially activates inhibitory-selective interneurons via α4β2* nicotinic receptor activation. *Front Cell Neurosci* **9:** 115.
- Benardo LS and Prince DA (1982a) Cholinergic excitation of mammalian hippocampal pyramidal cells. *Brain Res* **249**: 315-331.
- Benardo LS and Prince DA (1982b) Ionic mechanisms of cholinergic excitation in mammalian hippocampal pyramidal cells. *Brain Res* **249**: 333-344.
- Bomser JA and Casida JE (2001) Diethylphosphorylation of rat cardiac M2 muscarinic receptor by chlorpyrifos oxon in vitro. *Toxicol Lett* **119:** 21-26.
- Bradford MM (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Anal Biochem* **72**: 248-254.
- Čapek R and Esplin B (1991) Attenuation of hippocampal inhibition by a NMDA (N-methyl-D-aspartate) receptor antagonist. *Neurosci Lett* **129**: 145-148.
- Casida JE and Quistad GB (2004) Organophosphate toxicology: safety aspects of nonacetylcholinesterase secondary targets. *Chem Res Toxicol* **17:** 983-998.

- Castro NG and Albuquerque EX (1993) Brief-lifetime, fast-inactivating ion channels account for the α-bungarotoxin-sensitive nicotinic response in hippocampal neurons. *Neurosci Lett* **164:** 137-140.
- Chambers J, Wiygul S, Harkness J, and Chambers H (1988) Effects of acute paraoxon and atropine exposures on retention of shuttle avoidance-behavior in rats. *Neurosci Res Commun* **3:** 85-92.
- Chambers JE and Chambers HW (1989) Short-term effects of paraoxon and atropine on schedule-controlled behavior in rats. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **11**: 427-432.
- Chao LL, Raymond MR, Leo CK, and Abadjian LR (2017) Evidence of Hippocampal Structural Alterations in Gulf War Veterans With Predicted Exposure to the Khamisiyah Plume. J Occup Environ Med **59**: 923-929.
- da Silva FL, Kamphuis W, Titulaer M, Vreugdenhil M, and Wadman W (1995) An experimental model of progressive epilepsy: the development of kindling of the hippocampus of the rat. *Ital J Neurol Sci* **16:** 45-57.
- Deshpande LS, Carter DS, Blair RE, and DeLorenzo RJ (2010) Development of a prolonged calcium plateau in hippocampal neurons in rats surviving status epilepticus induced by the organophosphate diisopropylfluorophosphate. *Toxicol Sci* **116**: 623-631.
- Drever BD, Riedel G, and Platt B (2011) The cholinergic system and hippocampal plasticity. Behav Brain Res 221: 505-514.
- Eaton DL, Daroff RB, Autrup H, Bridges J, Buffler P, Costa LG, Coyle J, McKhann G, Mobley WC, and Nadel L (2008) Review of the toxicology of chlorpyrifos with an emphasis on human exposure and neurodevelopment. *Crit Rev Toxicol* **38**: 1-125.
- Eldefrawi ME, Schweizer G, Bakry NM, and Valdes JJ (1988) Desensitization of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor by diisopropylfluorophosphate. *J Biochem Toxicol* **3:** 21-32.
- Ellman GL, Courtney KD, Andres Jr V, and Featherstone RM (1961) A new and rapid colorimetric determination of acetylcholinesterase activity. *Biochem Pharmacol* **7:** 88-95.
- Fanselow MS and Dong H-W (2010) Are the dorsal and ventral hippocampus functionally distinct structures? *Neuron* **65**: 7-19.
- Ferchmin P, Pérez D, Cuadrado BL, Carrasco M, Martins AH, and Eterović VA (2015) Neuroprotection against diisopropylfluorophosphate in acute hippocampal slices. *Neurochem Res* **40:** 2143-2151.
- Fitzgerald BB and Costa LG (1992) Modulation of M1 and M2 muscarinic receptor subtypes following repeated organophosphate exposure in rats. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **117:** 122-125.
- Floresco SB, Seamans JK, and Phillips AG (1997) Selective roles for hippocampal, prefrontal cortical, and ventral striatal circuits in radial-arm maze tasks with or without a delay. *J Neurosci* **17**: 1880-1890.
- Fukudome Y, Ohno-Shosaku T, Matsui M, Omori Y, Fukaya M, Tsubokawa H, Taketo MM, Watanabe M, Manabe T, and Kano M (2004) Two distinct classes of muscarinic action on hippocampal inhibitory synapses: M2-mediated direct suppression and M1/M3mediated indirect suppression through endocannabinoid signalling. *Eur J Neurosci* 19: 2682-2692.
- Grigoryan H, Li B, Anderson EK, Xue W, Nachon F, Lockridge O, and Schopfer LM (2009) Covalent binding of the organophosphorus agent FP-biotin to tyrosine in eight proteins that have no active site serine. *Chem Biol Interact* **180**: 492-498.
- Grigoryan H, Schopfer LM, Thompson CM, Terry AV, Masson P, and Lockridge O (2008) Mass spectrometry identifies covalent binding of soman, sarin, chlorpyrifos oxon, diisopropyl fluorophosphate, and FP-biotin to tyrosines on tubulin: a potential mechanism of long term toxicity by organophosphorus agents. *Chem Biol Interact* **175**: 180-186.

- Grunze HC, Rainnie DG, Hasselmo ME, Barkai E, Hearn EF, McCarley RW, and Greene RW (1996) NMDA-dependent modulation of CA1 local circuit inhibition. *J Neurosci* **16**: 2034-2043.
- Hajos N, Papp EC, Acsady L, Levey A, and Freund T (1997) Distinct interneuron types express m2 muscarinic receptor immunoreactivity on their dendrites or axon terminals in the hippocampus. *Neuroscience* **82:** 355-376.
- Hasselmo ME (2006) The role of acetylcholine in learning and memory. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* **16**: 710-715.
- Heaton KJ, Palumbo CL, Proctor SP, Killiany RJ, Yurgelun-Todd DA, and White RF (2007) Quantitative magnetic resonance brain imaging in US army veterans of the 1991 Gulf War potentially exposed to sarin and cyclosarin. *Neurotoxicology* **28**: 761-769.
- Hoffman KM, Eisen MR, Chandler JK, Nelson MR, Johnson EA, and McNutt PM (2019) Retrograde activation of CB1R by muscarinic receptors protects against central organophosphorus toxicity. *Neuropharmacology* **155**: 113-120.
- Hood E (2001) The Tokyo Attacks in Retrospect Sarin Leads to Memory Loss. *Environ Health Perspect* **109:** A542-A542.
- Huang L and Winzer-Serhan U (2006) Chronic neonatal nicotine upregulates heteromeric nicotinic acetylcholine receptor binding without change in subunit mRNA expression. *Brain Res* **1113:** 94-109.
- Jiang W, Duysen EG, Hansen H, Shlyakhtenko L, Schopfer LM, and Lockridge O (2010) Mice treated with chlorpyrifos or chlorpyrifos oxon have organophosphorylated tubulin in the brain and disrupted microtubule structures, suggesting a role for tubulin in neurotoxicity associated with exposure to organophosphorus agents. *Toxicol Sci* **115**: 183-193.
- Johnson PS and Michaelis EK (1992) Characterization of organophosphate interactions at Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptors in brain synaptic membranes. *Mol Pharmacol* **41**: 750-756.
- Jones LS, Lapadula DM, Lewis DV, and Abou-Donia MB (1990) Effects of diisopropyl phosphorofluoridate (DFP) on CA3 and CA1 responses in rat hippocampus. *Mol Chem Neuropathol* **13:** 1-16.
- Jung MW, Wiener SI, and McNaughton BL (1994) Comparison of spatial firing characteristics of units in dorsal and ventral hippocampus of the rat. *J Neurosci* **14:** 7347-7356.
- Kaplan JG, Kessler J, Rosenberg N, Pack D, and Schaumburg H (1993) Sensory neuropathy associated with Dursban (chlorpyrifos) exposure. *Neurology* **43**: 2193-2193.
- Kaur P, Radotra B, Minz RW, and Gill K (2007) Impaired mitochondrial energy metabolism and neuronal apoptotic cell death after chronic dichlorvos (OP) exposure in rat brain. *Neurotoxicology* 28: 1208-1219.
- Kenney JW, Raybuck JD, and Gould TJ (2012) Nicotinic receptors in the dorsal and ventral hippocampus differentially modulate contextual fear conditioning. *Hippocampus* **22**: 1681-1690.
- Keralapurath MM, Briggs SB, and Wagner JJ (2017) Cocaine self-administration induces changes in synaptic transmission and plasticity in ventral hippocampus. *Addict Biol* **22**: 446-456.
- Liu J, Chakraborti T, and Pope C (2002) In vitro effects of organophosphorus anticholinesterases on muscarinic receptor-mediated inhibition of acetylcholine release in rat striatum. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **178**: 102-108.
- Locker AR, Michalovicz LT, Kelly KA, Miller JV, Miller DB, and O'Callaghan JP (2017) Corticosterone primes the neuroinflammatory response to Gulf War Illness-relevant organophosphates independently of acetylcholinesterase inhibition. *J Neurochem* **142**: 444-455.
- Madison D, Lancaster B, and Nicoll R (1987) Voltage clamp analysis of cholinergic action in the hippocampus. *J Neurosci* **7**: 733-741.

- Martina M, Comas T, and Mealing GA (2013) Selective pharmacological modulation of pyramidal neurons and interneurons in the CA1 region of the rat hippocampus. *Front Pharmacol* **4:** 24.
- Martina M, Krasteniakov NV, and Bergeron R (2003) D-Serine differently modulates NMDA receptor function in rat CA1 hippocampal pyramidal cells and interneurons. *J Physiol* **548:** 411-423.
- Mense SM, Sengupta A, Lan C, Zhou M, Bentsman G, Volsky DJ, Whyatt RM, Perera FP, and Zhang L (2006) The common insecticides cyfluthrin and chlorpyrifos alter the expression of a subset of genes with diverse functions in primary human astrocytes. *Toxicol Sci* **93**: 125-135.
- Michaelis S, Burdon J, Howard CV, and WHO (2017) Aerotoxic syndrome: A new occupational disease? *Public Health Panor* **3:** 198-211.
- Michalovicz LT, Locker AR, Kelly KA, Miller JV, Barnes Z, Fletcher MA, Miller DB, Klimas NG, Morris M, and Lasley SM (2019) Corticosterone and pyridostigmine/DEET exposure attenuate peripheral cytokine expression: Supporting a dominant role for neuroinflammation in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *Neurotoxicology* **70**: 26-32.
- Michelson HB and Lothman EW (1989) An in vivo electrophysiological study of the ontogeny of excitatory and inhibitory processes in the rat hippocampus. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* **47**: 113-122.
- Middlemore-Risher M-L, Buccafusco J, and Terry Jr A (2010) Repeated exposures to low-level chlorpyrifos results in impairments in sustained attention and increased impulsivity in rats. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **32:** 415-424.
- Mike A, Castro NG, and Albuquerque EX (2000) Choline and acetylcholine have similar kinetic properties of activation and desensitization on the α7 nicotinic receptors in rat hippocampal neurons. *Brain Res* **882:** 155-168.
- Miller JV, LeBouf RF, Kelly KA, Michalovicz LT, Ranpara A, Locker AR, Miller DB, and O'Callaghan JP (2018) The neuroinflammatory phenotype in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness is unrelated to brain regional levels of acetylcholine as measured by quantitative HILIC-UPLC-MS/MS. *Toxicol Sci* **165**: 302-313.
- Milner T, Loy R, and Amaral DG (1983) An anatomical study of the development of the septohippocampal projection in the rat. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* **8**: 343-371.
- Miyaki K, Nishiwaki Y, Maekawa K, Ogawa Y, Asukai N, Yoshimura K, Etoh N, Matsumoto Y, Kikuchi Y, and Kumagai N (2005) Effects of sarin on the nervous system of subway workers seven years after the Tokyo subway sarin attack. *J Occup Health* **47:** 299-304.
- Monyer H, Burnashev N, Laurie DJ, Sakmann B, and Seeburg PH (1994) Developmental and regional expression in the rat brain and functional properties of four NMDA receptors. *Neuron* **12:** 529-540.
- Moser MB and Moser EI (1998) Functional differentiation in the hippocampus. *Hippocampus* 8: 608-619.
- Nallapaneni A, Liu J, Karanth S, and Pope C (2006) Modulation of paraoxon toxicity by the cannabinoid receptor agonist WIN 55,212-2. *Toxicology* **227:** 173-183.
- Nallapaneni A, Liu J, Karanth S, and Pope C (2008) Pharmacological enhancement of endocannabinoid signaling reduces the cholinergic toxicity of diisopropylfluorophosphate. *Neurotoxicology* **29:** 1037-1043.
- Naughton SX, Hernandez CM, Beck WD, Poddar I, Yanasak N, Lin P-C, and Terry Jr AV (2018) Repeated exposures to disopropylfluorophosphate result in structural disruptions of myelinated axons and persistent impairments of axonal transport in the brains of rats. *Toxicology* **406:** 92-103.
- Naughton SX and Terry Jr AV (2018) Neurotoxicity in acute and repeated organophosphate exposure. *Toxicology* **408**: 101-112.

- Nishiwaki Y, Maekawa K, Ogawa Y, Asukai N, Minami M, Omae K, and Group SHES (2001) Effects of sarin on the nervous system in rescue team staff members and police officers 3 years after the Tokyo subway sarin attack. *Environ Health Perspect* **109**: 1169-1173.
- Nyiri G, Stephenson F, Freund T, and Somogyi P (2003) Large variability in synaptic N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor density on interneurons and a comparison with pyramidal-cell spines in the rat hippocampus. *Neuroscience* **119**: 347-363.
- O'Callaghan JP, Kelly KA, Locker AR, Miller DB, and Lasley SM (2015) Corticosterone primes the neuroinflammatory response to DFP in mice: potential animal model of Gulf War Illness. *J Neurochem* **133**: 708-721.
- Pandis C, Sotiriou E, Kouvaras E, Asprodini E, Papatheodoropoulos C, and Angelatou F (2006) Differential expression of NMDA and AMPA receptor subunits in rat dorsal and ventral hippocampus. *Neuroscience* **140**: 163-175.
- Papatheodoropoulos C (2018) Electrophysiological evidence for long-axis intrinsic diversification of the hippocampus. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)* **23:** 109-145.
- Papatheodoropoulos C, Asprodini E, Nikita I, Koutsona C, and Kostopoulos G (2002) Weaker synaptic inhibition in CA1 region of ventral compared to dorsal rat hippocampal slices. *Brain Res* **948**: 117-121.
- Papatheodoropoulos C and Kostopoulos G (1998) Development of a transient increase in recurrent inhibition and paired-pulse facilitation in hippocampal CA1 region. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* **108:** 273-285.
- Petrides T, Georgopoulos P, Kostopoulos G, and Papatheodoropoulos C (2007) The GABA A receptor-mediated recurrent inhibition in ventral compared with dorsal CA1 hippocampal region is weaker, decays faster and lasts less. *Exp Brain Res* **177**: 370-383.
- Phillips KF, Santos E, Blair RE, and Deshpande LS (2019) Targeting intracellular calcium stores alleviates neurological morbidities in a DFP-based rat model of Gulf War Illness. *Toxicol Sci.*
- Pope C, Karanth S, and Liu J (2005) Pharmacology and toxicology of cholinesterase inhibitors: uses and misuses of a common mechanism of action. *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol* **19**: 433-446.
- Pope CN (1999) Organophosphorus pesticides: do they all have the same mechanism of toxicity? *J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev* **2:** 161-181.
- Pothuizen HH, Zhang WN, Jongen-Rêlo AL, Feldon J, and Yee BK (2004) Dissociation of function between the dorsal and the ventral hippocampus in spatial learning abilities of the rat: a within-subject, within-task comparison of reference and working spatial memory. *Eur J Neurosci* **19:** 705-712.
- Pouliot W, Bealer S, Roach B, and Dudek F (2016) A rodent model of human organophosphate exposure producing status epilepticus and neuropathology. *Neurotoxicology* **56:** 196-203.
- Prendergast MA, Terry Jr AV, and Buccafusco JJ (1997) Chronic, low-level exposure to disopropylfluorophosphate causes protracted impairment of spatial navigation learning. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **129:** 183-191.
- Prendergast MA, Terry JR AV, and Buccafusco JJ (1998) Effects of chronic, low-level organophosphate exposure on delayed recall, discrimination, and spatial learning in monkeys and rats. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **20**: 115-122.
- Preston CJ, Brown KA, and Wagner JJ (2019) Cocaine conditioning induces persisting changes in ventral hippocampus synaptic transmission, long-term potentiation, and radial arm maze performance in the mouse. *Neuropharmacology* **150**: 27-37.
- Proctor SP, Heaton KJ, Heeren T, and White RF (2006) Effects of sarin and cyclosarin exposure during the 1991 Gulf War on neurobehavioral functioning in US army veterans. *Neurotoxicology* **27:** 931-939.

- Rocha ES, Santos MD, Chebabo SR, Aracava Y, and Albuquerque EX (1999) Low concentrations of the organophosphate VX affect spontaneous and evoked transmitter release from hippocampal neurons: toxicological relevance of cholinesterase-independent actions. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **159**: 31-40.
- Rohlman DS, Anger WK, and Lein PJ (2011) Correlating neurobehavioral performance with biomarkers of organophosphorous pesticide exposure. *Neurotoxicology* **32**: 268-276.
- Ross SM, McManus I, Harrison V, and Mason O (2013) Neurobehavioral problems following low-level exposure to organophosphate pesticides: a systematic and meta-analytic review. *Crit Rev Toxicol* **43**: 21-44.
- Ruiz AJG, Zambelli M, La Porta C, Ladinsky H, and Consolo S (1993) Differences between rat dorsal and ventral hippocampus in muscarinic receptor agonist binding and interaction with phospholipase C. *Eur J Pharmacol* **244**: 125-131.
- Santos MD, Pereira EF, Aracava Y, Castro NG, Fawcett WP, Randall WR, and Albuquerque EX (2003) Low concentrations of pyridostigmine prevent soman-induced inhibition of GABAergic transmission in the central nervous system: involvement of muscarinic receptors. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **304**: 254-265.

Saunders BC (1957) Some aspects of the chemistry and toxic action of organic compounds containing phosphorus and fluorine pp 42. Cambridge: University Press, London.

- Seeger T and Alzheimer C (2001) Muscarinic activation of inwardly rectifying K+ conductance reduces EPSPs in rat hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells. *J Physiol* **535**: 383-396.
- Seeger T, Fedorova I, Zheng F, Miyakawa T, Koustova E, Gomeza J, Basile AS, Alzheimer C, and Wess J (2004) M2 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor knock-out mice show deficits in behavioral flexibility, working memory, and hippocampal plasticity. *J Neurosci* **24:** 10117-10127.
- Segal M, Richter-Levin G, and Maggio N (2010) Stress-induced dynamic routing of hippocampal connectivity: A hypothesis. *Hippocampus* **20**: 1332-1338.
- Silveira CL, Eldefrawi AT, and Eldefrawi ME (1990) Putative M2 muscarinic receptors of rat heart have high affinity for organophosphorus anticholinesterases. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **103:** 474-481.
- Sloviter RS (1991) Feedforward and feedback inhibition of hippocampal principal cell activity evoked by perforant path stimulation: GABA-mediated mechanisms that regulate excitability in vivo. *Hippocampus* **1**: 31-40.
- Stewart M and Fox SE (1990) Do septal neurons pace the hippocampal theta rhythm? *Trends Neurosci* **13**: 163-169.
- Sun X, Liu X-B, Martinez JR, and Zhang GH (2000) Effects of low concentrations of paraoxon on Ca2+ mobilization in a human parotid salivary cell-line HSY. *Arch Oral Biol* **45**: 621-638.
- Szabó GG, Holderith N, Gulyás AI, Freund TF, and Hájos N (2010) Distinct synaptic properties of perisomatic inhibitory cell types and their different modulation by cholinergic receptor activation in the CA3 region of the mouse hippocampus. *Eur J Neurosci* **31**: 2234-2246.
- Talabani J, Ali A, Kadir A, Rashid R, Samin F, Greenwood D, and Hay A (2018) Long-term health effects of chemical warfare agents on children following a single heavy exposure. *Hum Exp Toxicol* **37:** 836-847.
- Tamura M, Spellman TJ, Rosen AM, Gogos JA, and Gordon JA (2017) Hippocampal-prefrontal theta-gamma coupling during performance of a spatial working memory task. *Nat Commun* **8:** 2182.
- Tattersall JE (1990) Effects of organophosphorus anticholinesterases on nicotinic receptor ion channels at adult mouse muscle endplates. *Br J Pharmacol* **101:** 349-357.
- Teles-Grilo Ruivo L and Mellor J (2013) Cholinergic modulation of hippocampal network function. *Front Synaptic Neurosci* **5:** 2.

- Terry Jr A, Beck W, Warner S, Vandenhuerk L, and Callahan PM (2012) Chronic impairments in spatial learning and memory in rats previously exposed to chlorpyrfos or diisopropylfluorophosphate. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **34:** 1-8.
- Terry Jr AV, Buccafusco JJ, Gearhart DA, Beck WD, Middlemore-Risher M-L, Truan JN, Schwarz GM, Xu M, Bartlett MG, and Kutiyanawala A (2011) Repeated, intermittent exposures to diisopropylfluorophosphate in rats: protracted effects on cholinergic markers, nerve growth factor-related proteins, and cognitive function. *Neuroscience* **176**: 237-253.
- Todorovic MS, Cowan ML, Balint CA, Sun C, and Kapur J (2012) Characterization of status epilepticus induced by two organophosphates in rats. *Epilepsy Res* **101**: 268-276.
- Vertes RP and Kocsis B (1997) Brainstem-diencephalo-septohippocampal systems controlling the theta rhythm of the hippocampus. *Neuroscience* **81**: 893-926.
- Vilaró MT, Wiederhold KH, Palacios JM, and Mengod G (1992) Muscarinic M2-selective ligands also recognize M4 receptors in the rat brain: Evidence from combined in situ hybridization and receptor autoradiography. *Synapse* **11**: 171-183.
- Ward T, Ferris D, Tilson H, and Mundy W (1993) Correlation of the anticholinesterase activity of a series of organophosphates with their ability to compete with agonist binding to muscarinic receptors. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **122**: 300-307.
- Ward TR and Mundy WR (1996) Organophosphorus compounds preferentially affect second messenger systems coupled to M2/M4 receptors in rat frontal cortex. *Brain Res Bull* **39**: 49-55.
- Watkins J and Evans R (1981) Excitatory amino acid transmitters. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **21:** 165-204.
- Whitlock JR, Heynen AJ, Shuler MG, and Bear MF (2006) Learning induces long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Science* **313**: 1093-1097.
- Williamson A and Sarvey J (1985) Effects of cholinesterase inhibitors on evoked responses in field CA1 of the rat hippocampus. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **235**: 448-455.
- Wright LK, Liu J, Nallapaneni A, and Pope CN (2010) Behavioral sequelae following acute disopropylfluorophosphate intoxication in rats: comparative effects of atropine and cannabinomimetics. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **32:** 329-335.

Figures



Figure 2.1. The effect of diisopropylfluorophosphate (DFP) wash-in on the population spike (PS1) and AChE activity in the dorsal (dH) and the ventral (vH) hippocampus. A. Timeline of DFP wash-in experiments. **B and C.** Results of dose-response curve experiments investigating the effect of DFP on the PS1 in the dH (**B**) and the vH (**C**). Slices were exposed to DFP as indicated by the arrow at 30 min. Reported n-values (x(y)) indicate the number of slices (x) and the number of mice (y) assessed. Representative traces of the baseline PS1 (gray) and the PS1 following 60 min 30 μ M DFP wash-out (black) are shown. **D and E.** Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity in dH and vH slices exposed to DFP for 30 min and

washed with ACSF for 80 min (IC50 = 2.70 μ M). Each data point represents the average AChE activity from 12 slices (collected from the dH and the vH). Data are expressed as mean ± S.E.M. I/O curve = input- output curve.



Figure 2.2. Cholinergic antagonist pretreatment prevents DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in the dH, but not in the vH. A and B. The effect of 30 μ M mecamylamine (MEC) pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in the dH (A) and the vH (B). C and D. The effect of 3 μ M atropine (ATR) pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in the dH (C) and the vH (D). E and F. The effect of 100 nM pirenzepine (PZP) pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in the dH (E) and the vH (F). G and H. The effect of 300 nM AFDX-116 pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in the dH (E) and the vH (F). G and H. The effect of 300 nM AFDX-116 pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in the dH (G) and the vH (H). In antagonist experiments, slices were pretreated with antagonist(s) following 20 min of baseline recording. Baseline was then monitored for an additional 20 min (40 min total baseline). Slices that did not receive antagonist pretreatment (\Box) and slices that received antagonist pretreatment (\blacksquare) were exposed to DFP as indicated by the arrow at 40 min. Representative traces are shown for antagonist experiments in which the baseline PS1 (gray) and the PS1 following 60 min DFP wash-out (black) are shown. Reported n-values (x(y)) indicate the number of slices (x) and the number of mice (y) assessed. Data are expressed as mean ± S.E.M.



Figure 2.3. Either cholinergic or NMDAR blockade is sufficient in preventing DFPmediated PS1 inhibition in the dH but vH NMDAR blockade is indispensable. A and B. The effect of 3 μ M atropine (ATR) and 30 μ M mecamylamine (MEC) pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP- mediated PS1 inhibition in the dH (A) and the vH (B). C and D. The effect of 300 nM AFDX-116, 30 μ M MEC, and 25 μ M D-APV pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in the dH (C) and the vH (D). E and F. The effect of 25 μ M D-APV pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in the dH (E) and the vH (F). G and H. The effect of 20 μ M dantrolene (DAN) pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP-mediated PS1 inhibition in the dH (G) and the vH (H). Slices that did not receive antagonist pretreatment (\Box) and slices that received antagonist pretreatment (\bullet) were exposed to DFP as indicated by the arrow at 40 min. Representative traces are shown for antagonist experiments in which the baseline PS1 (gray) and the PS1 following 60 min DFP wash-out (black) are shown. Reported n-values (x(y)) indicate the number of slices (x) and the number of mice (y) assessed. Data are expressed as mean \pm S.E.M.



Figure 2.4. Cholinergic antagonist pretreatment does not preserve population spike paired- pulse inhibition (PS-PPI) in neither dH nor vH slices exposed to DFP. A and B. The effect of 30 μ M mecamylamine (MEC) pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP-mediated population spike paired- pulse ratio (PS-PPR) modulation in the dH (A) and the vH (B). C and D. The effect of 3 μ M atropine (ATR) pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP-mediated PS-PPR modulation in the dH (C) and the vH (D). E and F. The effect of 100 nM pirenzepine (PZP) pretreatment on 30 μ M DFPmediated PS-PPR modulation in the dH (E) and the vH (F). G and H. The effect of 300 nM AFDX-116 pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP-mediated PS-PPR modulation in the dH (G) and the vH (H). Slices that did not receive antagonist pretreatment (\Box) and slices that received antagonist pretreatment (\blacksquare) were exposed to DFP as indicated by the arrow at 40 min. Representative traces are shown for antagonist experiments in which the baseline PS-PPR (gray) and the PS-PPR following 60 min DFP wash-out (black) are shown. Reported n-values (x(y)) indicate the number of slices (x) and the number of mice (y) assessed. PS-PPR < 1.0 = paired-pulse inhibition (PS-PPI); PS-PPR > 1.0 = paired-pulse facilitation (PS- PPF). Data are expressed as mean ± S.E.M.



Figure 2.5. NMDAR antagonist pretreatment preserves PS-PPI in dH and vH slices exposed to DFP. A and B. The effect of 3 μ M atropine (ATR) and 30 μ M mecamylamine (MEC) pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP-mediated population spike paired-pulse ratio (PS-PPR) modulation in the dH (A) and the vH (B). C and D. The effect of 300 nM AFDX-116, 30 μ M MEC, and 25 μ M D-APV pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP-mediated PS-PPR modulation in the dH (C) and the vH (D). E and F. The effect of 25 μ M D-APV pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP-mediated PS-PPR modulation in the dH (E) and the vH (F). G and H. The effect of 20 μ M dantrolene (DAN) pretreatment on 30 μ M DFP-mediated PS-PPR modulation in the dH (G) and the vH (H). Slices that did not receive antagonist pretreatment (\Box) and slices that received antagonist pretreatment (\bullet) were exposed to DFP as indicated by the arrow at 40 min. Representative traces are shown for antagonist experiments in which the baseline PS-PPR (gray) and the PS-PPR following 60 min DFP wash-out (black) are shown. Reported n-values (x(y)) indicate the number of slices (x) and the number of mice (y) assessed. PS-PPR < 1.0 = paired-pulse inhibition (PS-PPI); PS-PPR > 1.0 = paired-pulse facilitation (PS- PPF). Data are expressed as mean \pm S.E.M.



Figure 2.6. Proposed schematic illustrating the effects of DFP on dorsal (dH) and ventral (vH) hippocampal neurocircuitry in relation to the mAChR, the nAChR, and the NMDAR. DFP induces irreversible AChE inhibition, leading to M2R-mediated PS1 inhibition in the dH (1,3; gray). DFP induces PS1 inhibition through an M2R, nAChR, and NMDAR-dependent mechanism in the vH (1, 3, 4; black). Following DFP exposure, PS PPI shifts to PS PPF in the dH and the vH. PS-PPI can be partially preserved by M₂R blockade in the dH (2) or completely preserved by NMDAR blockade in the dH or the vH (4). SO = stratum oriens, SP = stratum pyramidale, SR = stratum radiatum.



Supplemental Figure 2.1. The effect of DFP wash-in on the population spike paired-pulse ratio (PS-PPR) in the dH and the vH. A and B. Results of dose-response curve experiments investigating the effect of DFP on the PS-PPR in the dH (A) and the vH (B). Slices were exposed to DFP as indicated by the arrow at 30 min. Reported n-values (x(y)) indicate the number of slices (x) and the number of mice (y) assessed. Representative traces of the baseline PS-PPR (gray) and the PS-PPR following 60 min 30 µM DFP wash-out (black) are shown. Data are expressed as mean ± S.E.M.



Supplemental Figure 2.2. The effect of D-APV on the population spike (PS₁) and the population spike paired-pulse ratio (PS-PPR) in the dorsal hippocampus (dH) and the ventral hippocampus (vH). A and B. The effect of 25 μ M D-APV on PS₁ amplitude in the dH (A) and the vH (B). C and D. The effect of 25 μ M D-APV on PS PPR in the dH (C) and the vH (D). Slices were exposed to D-APV as indicated by the arrow at 20 min. Representative traces of the baseline PS-PPR (gray) and the PS-PPR following 20 min D-APV wash-in (black) are shown. Reported n-values (x(y)) indicate the number of slices (x) and the number of mice (y) assessed. PS-PPR < 1.0 = paired-pulse inhibition (PS-PPI); PS-PPR > 1.0 = paired-pulse facilitation (PS-PPF). * denotes p < 0.05. Data are expressed as mean ± S.E.M.

CHAPTER 3

LACTO-N-FUCOPENTAOSE-III (LNFPIII) AMELIORATES ACUTE ABERRATIONS IN HIPPOCAMPAL SYNAPTIC PLASTICITY AND TRANSMISSION IN A GULF WAR ILLNESS ANIMAL MODEL²

² Brown KA, Preston CJ, Carpenter JM, Ludwig HD, Norberg T, Harn DA, Filipov NM, Wagner JJ. *Lacto-N-fucopentaose-III (LNFPIII) ameliorates acute aberrations in hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission in a Gulf War Illness animal model.* Submitted to Brain Research.

Abstract

Approximately one-third of Persian Gulf War veterans are afflicted by Gulf War Illness (GWI), a chronic multisymptom condition that fundamentally presents with cognitive deficits (i.e., learning and memory impairments) and neuroimmune dysfunction (i.e., inflammation). Factors associated with GWI include overexposures to neurotoxic pesticides and nerve agent prophylactics such as permethrin (PM) and pyridostigmine bromide (PB), respectively. GWIrelated neurological impairments associated with PB-PM overexposures have been recapitulated in animal models; however, there is a paucity of studies assessing PB-PM-related aberrations in hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission that may underlie behavioral impairments. Importantly, FDA-approved neuroactive treatments are currently unavailable for GWI. In the present study, we assessed the efficacy of an immunomodulatory therapeutic, lacto-N-fucopentaose-III (LNFPIII), on ameliorating acute effects of in vivo PB-PM exposure on synaptic plasticity and transmission as well as trophic factor/cytokine expression along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis. PB-PM exposure resulted in hippocampal synaptic transmission deficits 48 h post-exposure, a response that was ameliorated by LNFPIII coadministration, particularly in the dorsal hippocampus (dH). LNFPIII coadministration also enhanced synaptic transmission in the dH and the ventral hippocampus (vH). Notably, LNFPIII coadministration elevated long-term potentiation in the dH. Further, PB-PM exposure did not alter key inflammatory cytokine expression in the vH whereas LNFPIII coadministration enhanced brainderived neurotrophic factor expression in PB-PM-exposed animals. Collectively, these findings demonstrate that PB-PM exposure impaired hippocampal synaptic responses 48 h postexposure, impairments that differentially manifested along the dorsoventral axis. Importantly, LNFPIII ameliorated GWI-related electrophysiological deficits, a beneficial effect indicating the potential efficacy of LNFPIII for treating GWI.

3.1 Introduction

Gulf War Illness (GWI) is a chronic multisymptom condition that affects approximately a third of the 700,000 United States military forces that served in the 1990-1991 Persian Gulf War (White et al., 2016). Clinical symptoms of GWI include fatigue, cognitive deficits, and musculoskeletal pain, symptoms that progressively worsen over time and are likely related to neuroimmune dysfunction (Coughlin, 2017; Zundel et al., 2020). While the exact etiology of GWI is unknown, persistent wartime stress and excessive exposures to neurotoxic pesticides like permethrin (PM) and nerve agent prophylactics such as pyridostigmine bromide (PB) have been implicated in the pathogenesis of GWI (White et al., 2016). Currently, only symptomatic and targeted treatments of GWI are available with no approved neuroactive therapeutics.

Preclinical studies have characterized acute and persisting pyridostigmine bromidepermethrin (PB-PM)-induced neurological aberrations at the molecular, cellular, and behavioral levels in an established GWI model (Zakirova et al., 2015; Joshi et al., 2018; Carpenter et al., 2020). These neurological aberrations specifically include dysregulation of cytokine expression and signaling, undesirable activation of glial cells (i.e., astrocytes and microglia), and cognitive deficits (Zakirova et al., 2015; White et al., 2016; Joshi et al., 2018; Carpenter et al., 2020). Notably, learning and memory impairments in GWI veterans (Jeffrey et al., 2019) have been recapitulated in animals exposed to PB-PM (White et al., 2016), impairments that may be related to neuroimmune dysfunction (Trageser et al., 2020). Specifically, dorsal hippocampal (dH)-dependent learning and memory deficits (Zakirova et al., 2015; Joshi et al., 2018), as well as ventral hippocampal (vH)-related behavioral aberrations (i.e. abnormal anxiety-like behavior; Joshi et al., 2018) after PB-PM exposure were reported. As increasing evidence suggests the dH and the vH are functionally distinct structures (Papatheodoropoulos, 2018), monitoring dorsoventral-specific effects of PB-PM exposure on hippocampal-dependent behavioral abnormalities may be crucial for interpreting abnormalities in synaptic plasticity and transmission along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis. However, reports evaluating the impact
of PB-PM exposure on synaptic plasticity and transmission are unavailable. There is an additional paucity of investigations assessing the benefits of any therapeutic on GWI-related electrophysiological impairments. Given the emerging evidence of the substantial role neuroimmune dysfunction plays in GWI symptomology (O'Callaghan et al., 2016; Coughlin, 2017; Georgopoulos et al., 2017; Michalovicz et al., 2020), testing an immunotherapeutic for ameliorating PB-PM-induced abnormalities in hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission would address a substantial knowledge gap in the field of GWI research.

Recent reviews highlight the potential efficacy of a number of GWI therapeutics (Reviewed in: Dickey et al., 2020; Nugent et al., 2020), yet targeted and symptomatic treatments are available. Neuroimmune dysfunction is increasingly associated with the underlying pathobiology of GWI (Coughlin, 2017; Georgopoulos et al., 2017; Trageser et al., 2020). A particular approach that holds potential for extended remission of GWI is rebalancing inflammatory cytokines (Craddock et al., 2015); however, investigations utilizing immunotherapeutics to target GWI-induced immune system dysregulation are limited. The neoglycoconjugate lacto-N-fucopentaose-III (LNFPIII) was previously shown by our group to be a safe and efficacious agent for restoring central and peripheral immune function in disease states (Bhargava et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2012; Tundup et al., 2015). LNFPIII induces therapeutic effects by rebalancing the anti-inflammatory:inflammatory cytokine population as well as direct stimulation of kinases involved in trophic factor production such as the mitogenactivated protein kinase ERK-1/2 (Tundup et al., 2015). Importantly, recent work by our group demonstrated that LNFPIII coadministration ameliorated short-term neuroinflammatory and neurochemical-related aberrations in multiple GWI models (Carpenter et al., 2020) and it rebalanced persisting pathology such as gastrointestinal dysbiosis and inflammation when treatment was initiated months after GWI-related exposures (Mote et al., 2020). However, LNFPIII's efficacy in ameliorating hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission in a model of GWI is unknown. Accordingly, the present study investigated the efficacy of LNFPIII in

ameliorating short-term PB-PM-induced deficits in dH and vH synaptic plasticity and transmission. We hypothesized that synaptic responses in the dH and the vH would be impaired 48 h post-PB-PM exposure and that LNFPIII coadministration would ameliorate synaptic activity in these sectors while also enhancing trophic factor production.

3.2 Methods

<u>3.2.1 Materials</u>

Animals were exposed to pyridostigmine bromide (PB; \geq 98% purity; Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and permethrin (PM; 29.5% cis/69.5% trans isomer; 99% purity; Chem Service Inc., West Chester, PA). Production of the LNFPIII dextran conjugate was described in Tundup et al. (2015). Unless specifically indicated, all other chemicals and reagents used in this study were acquired from Sigma Aldrich or Fisher Scientific (Hampton, NH).

3.2.2 Animals

Eight to nine-week-old male C57BL/6J mice (Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbor, ME) were housed in groups of four in an environmentally controlled room (22-24°C), were maintained on a 12 h light/dark cycle (0700-1900 lights on) and received food and water access *ad libitum*. Animals underwent one week of acclimation and were then handled daily for one week before the start of the study. All procedures were in accordance with the latest National Institutes of Health guidelines and were approved in advance by the University of Georgia Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

3.2.3 GWI Model

Mice (n=23; weight: 24.4±0.19 g [mean±SEM]) were randomly divided via random number generator into GWI (PB-PM) and vehicle (DMSO) treatment groups as follows: Vehicle-Vehicle (DMSO-Dextran), Vehicle-LNFPIII (DMSO-LNFPIII), PB-PM-Vehicle (PB-PM-Dextran), and PB-PM-LNFPIII. The body weight of randomized treatment groups did not significantly differ from one another. Mice then received 10 days of concurrent PB-PM exposure and LNFPIII treatment as described in Fig. 3.1A and Carpenter et al. (2020). Briefly, mice received daily

treatment for 10 days with a combination of PB and PM (0.7 and 200 mg/kg, respectively, intraperitoneal [i.p.]) or DMSO vehicle (i.p.), immediately followed by an injection of LNFPIII or dextran vehicle (both 35 µg/mouse, subcutaneous) diluted in sterile saline. Body weights were monitored daily during PB-PM exposure until study completion. Forty-eight h after the last exposure, vH tissue was collected for qPCR analysis, and electrophysiology experiments were conducted on dH and vH tissues. Researchers were blinded to treatment groups throughout qPCR analysis, electrophysiology experiments, and subsequent data analysis.

3.2.4 Quantitative PCR (qPCR) Analysis

qPCR was completed on vH tissue for key inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, IL-1β, and TNF α) and growth factors (brain-derived neurotrophic factor, nerve growth factor, and ciliary neurotrophic factor) as described in Carpenter et al. (2020) with additional details provided in Table 3.1. Briefly, total RNA from a single vH brain punch (1.5 mm diameter, 500 µm thick section) was isolated by an E.Z.N.A total RNA isolation kit (Omega Bio-Tek, Norcross, GA) according to the manufacturer's directions. RNA was quantified with a Take3 micro-volume plate and Epoch microplate spectrophotometer (BioTek, Winooski, VT). Seventy-five ng RNA/sample was used to synthesize cDNA with a Maxima first-strand cDNA synthesis kit for RT-qPCR (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA) and a Peltier thermal cycler (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA; 10 min at 25 °C, 15 min at 50 °C, 5 min at 85 °C). Using 1 or 2 ng of cDNA per sample, expression of various inflammatory genes and the growth factors (Table 3.1) were determined by a qPCR with mouse-specific primers (RealTimePrimers, Elkins Park, PA) and Maxima SYBR Green/lowRox qPCR Master Mix (2x) (Thermo Scientific). Amplifications were performed on Mx3005 P qPCR machine (Stratagene, San Diego, CA) and treatment differences were calculated as a fold change by the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with 18S as the house keeping gene, as described previously (Lin et al., 2013; Krishna et al., 2016).

3.2.5 Slice Preparation and Electrophysiology

Brain dissection and hippocampal slice recovery were completed as described in Brown et al. (2020). Briefly, mice were sacrificed following deep anesthetization with 2-bromo-2-chloro-1,1,1-trifluoroethane (halothane). Brains were removed and guickly submerged in oxygenated (95% O₂ / 5% CO₂), ice-cold dissection artificial cerebrospinal fluid (dACSF; 120mM NaCl, 3mM KCI, 4mM MgCl₂, 1mM NaH₂PO₄, 26mM NaHCO₃, and 10mM glucose). A mid-sagittal cut was made, and half of the brain was mounted on its caudal pole and sectioned along the horizontal plane with a vibratome to obtain 400 µm slices containing the dorsal hippocampus. The other half of the brain was mounted on its rostral pole and sectioned along the horizontal plane with a vibratome to obtain 400 µm slices containing the ventral hippocampus. The dorsal hippocampus and ventral hippocampus were subdissected free from the rest of the slice and the CA3 subfield was removed. These slices were then quickly placed in a submersion-type chamber and perfused with oxygenated (95% O₂ / 5% CO₂) ACSF (120mM NaCl, 3mM KCl, 1.5mM MgCl₂, 1mM NaH₂PO₄, 2.5mM CaCl₂, 26mM NaHCO₃, and 10mM glucose). Slices were continuously perfused with ACSF (one mL/min) during a 45 min recovery period at room temperature followed by a 45 min recovery period at the recording temperature of 30 °C. Schaffer collateral fibers were stimulated in the stratum radiatum of the CA1 subfield via a bipolar stimulating electrode (Kopf Instruments, Tujunga, CA) whereas recording was conducted via a 1.0 M Ω tungsten microelectrode (World Precision Instruments, Sarasota, FL). A stimulus pulse was applied once every min to elicit field excitatory postsynaptic potentials (fEPSPs) at Schaffer collateral-CA1 synapses.

An input-output curve (I/O curve) was generated at the beginning of each experiment by incrementally introducing individual 15 μ A stimulus pulses from 45-180 μ A in intensity. The fEPSP slope (mV/ms) was monitored in a one ms interval immediately following the fiber volley. The stimulus intensity was modified to elicit 35% of the maximal fEPSP slope and paired-pulse fEPSPs (50 ms interpulse interval) were recorded each minute for five min after recording the

I/O curve. A stimulus pulse was then applied every min for 30 min to assess the baseline fEPSP response. After establishing the baseline fEPSP response, a high-frequency stimulation (HFS) protocol (three x 100 Hz/one-sec train at 20-sec intervals) was utilized to induce long-term potentiation (LTP) and fEPSP responses were monitored for the subsequent 60 min. fEPSP responses were normalized to the average fEPSP slope value recorded during 26-30 min of baseline recording. LTP magnitude was calculated by averaging the normalized fEPSP slope values from 56-60 min post-HFS.

3.2.6 Statistical Analysis

Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was utilized to assess the effects of factor A (PB-PM) and factor B (LNFPIII) on electrophysiology response variables. Pairwise comparisons were conducted by Student-Newman-Keuls *post hoc* test or planned pairwise comparisons (Student's t-test, as appropriate) in the case of a significant main or interaction effect. qPCR statistical analysis was conducted as described in section 3.2.4. Statistical analysis was completed using R version 4.0.2 (The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) and figures were generated using GraphPad Prism 5 (San Diego, CA).

3.3 Results

<u>3.3.1 LNFPIII coadministration ameliorated PB-PM-induced impairments in hippocampal basal</u> synaptic transmission, particularly in the dorsal hippocampus

A significant reduction by PB-PM was detected in dH basal synaptic transmission at stimulus intensities of 120,135,150,165, and 180 μ A when compared to vehicle-vehicle mice (p's ≤ 0.05; Fig. 3.1B).). LNFPIII administration resulted in enhanced dH basal synaptic transmission compared to non-LNFPIII-treated groups at stimulation intensities of 150,165, and 180 μ A (main effect: p's ≤ 0.05) as well as 135 μ A (main effect: p ≤ 0.1). Notably, LNFPIII treatment ameliorated the PB-PM reduction of dH basal synaptic transmission by elevating activity in PB-PM-LNFPIII mice at stimulus intensities of 45,135,150,165, and 180 μ A (p's ≤ 0.05). In the vH, a two-way ANOVA revealed an effect of PB-PM exposure on basal synaptic

transmission at stimulation intensities of 105,150,165, and 180 μ A (main effect: p ≤ 0.05) as well as 45,90,120, and 135 μ A (main effect: p's ≤ 0.1; Fig. 3.1C). This effect was driven mostly by a large, stimulus intensity-independent increase in basal synaptic activity in vehicle mice treated with LNFPIII, decreasing vH basal synaptic activity. LNFPIII treatment elevated vH basal synaptic transmission at stimulus intensities of 90 μ A (p < 0.05) as well as 105 and 120 μ A (p's ≤ 0.1) in vehicle-LNFPIII mice compared to vehicle-vehicle mice.

3.3.2 LNFPIII coadministered to PB-PM-exposed animals enhanced dorsal hippocampal longterm potentiation

A two-way ANOVA revealed a PB-PM x LNFPIII interaction effect (p = 0.05) on dH longterm potentiation (LTP) magnitude after PB-PM exposure; concurrent PB-PM exposure and LNFPIII treatment led to an increase in dH LTP magnitude compared to the PB-PM-vehicle group (p \leq 0.05, preplanned Student's *t*-test; Fig. 3.2A-2C). No significant main effects of PB-PM exposure or LNFPIII treatment were observed on dH paired-pulse facilitation (PPF) magnitude (Fig. 3.2D). There were no significant main effects of PB-PM or LNFPIII on LTP magnitude in the ventral hippocampus (vH) post-PB-PM exposure (Fig. 3.3A-3C). Additionally, there were no significant main effects of PB-PM exposure or LNFPIII treatment on vH PPF magnitude (Fig. 3.3D).

<u>3.3.3 The effect of PB-PM exposure ± LNFPIII coadministration on the expression of key</u> inflammatory cytokines and trophic factors in the ventral hippocampus

There were no significant effects of PB-PM exposure or LNFPIII treatment on the expression of vH inflammatory markers IL-6, IL-1 β , or TNF- α 48 h post-exposure (Table 3.1). Further, no significant effects of PB-PM exposure or LNFPIII treatment on vH trophic factors were detected; however, LNFPIII treatment numerically enhanced brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). The trend was most pronounced in the PB-PM-LNFPIII group (p < 0.08).

3.4 Discussion

Presentation of pathology related to neuroimmune dysfunction has been consistently reported in the PB-PM GWI animal model (Zakirova et al., 2015; Joshi et al., 2018), which is in line with clinical reports indicating GWI is a neuroimmune disease (Coughlin, 2017). Elimination of PB and PM occurs rapidly (Aguilonius et al., 1980; Anadon et al., 1991) and results in direct PB-PM-induced enhancement of hippocampal pro-inflammatory expression six h (Carpenter et al., 2020) but not 48 h post-exposure as shown here, a response that yields indirect, persisting, GWI-specific neuroinflammation (O'Callaghan et al., 2016). To the best of our knowledge, this transient enhancement in hippocampal inflammatory cytokine expression following GWI-related exposures has been described in a different GWI model (O'Callaghan et al., 2015; Michalovicz et al., 2019), but not after PB-PM exposure, a finding that addresses a knowledge gap related to the temporal progression of GWI-related neuroinflammation in this model. Additionally, acute enhancement of inflammatory cytokine secretion leads to aberrant activation of microglia and astrocytes, which, while transient, has lasting effects on glial homeostasis, bringing forth impaired hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission in a temporal-specific manner along the dorsoventral axis (Prieto and Cotman, 2017; Onufriev et al., 2018). Irregular microglia stimulation facilitates an immune system response that produces undesirable activation of astrocytes (Ramesh et al., 2013), enabling secretion of inflammatory cytokines that impair hippocampal synaptic transmission (Prieto and Cotman, 2017). Furthermore, enhanced expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines reduces the secretion of critical trophic factors involved in hippocampal synaptic transmission such as BDNF (Kang and Schuman, 1995; Barrientos et al., 2004). Increased activation of hippocampal microglia following PB-PM exposure has been described (Abdullah et al., 2016; Joshi et al., 2018). Reports using the PB-PM GWI model also observed astrocyte activation, particularly in the hippocampus (Abdullah et al., 2011; Zakirova et al., 2015; Joshi et al., 2018). Additionally, elevated central and peripheral

pro-inflammatory cytokine expression were found both 6 h and months after PB-PM exposure (Joshi et al., 2018; Carpenter et al., 2020; Mote et al., 2020).

In the present study, we observed reduced dH and vH basal synaptic transmission 48 h post-PB-PM exposure, an effect that was quantitatively greater in the dH compared to the vH. This observation is consistent with the aforementioned investigations describing a PB-PMinduced neuroinflammatory phenotype that consequently leads to detrimental microglia and astrocyte activation, driving impairments in hippocampal synaptic transmission. Moreover, we assessed hippocampal LTP, a well-established synaptic substrate for learning and memory (Whitlock et al., 2006), to determine if PB-PM exposure adversely impacted hippocampal synaptic plasticity. Interestingly, we did not observe PB-PM-induced impairments in dH or vH LTP magnitude. An investigation by Onufriev et al. (2018) detected rapid production of proinflammatory cytokines as well as time-matched impairments in dH synaptic plasticity but a slower response in the vH following acute proinflammatory stress, results that are in-line with the current findings of a more substantial PB-PM-induced effect on dH synaptic measurements shortly after exposure yet not on vH synaptic responses. These sector-specific effects may be of particular interest as a GWI-relevant chemical was recently shown to induce differential acute effects on synaptic transmission along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis (Brown et al., 2020). Further, while there is a lack of information regarding PB-PM-induced modulations in hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission, studies assessing the PB-PM GWI animal model have found modulations in hippocampal presynaptic protein levels. For instance, a reduction in hippocampal synaptophysin (SYP) levels, a marker for presynaptic vesicles, was reported from two-three weeks and up to five months following PB-PM exposure (Zakirova et al., 2015); however, SYP knockout mice do not exhibit changes in PPF magnitude, a measurement indicative of presynaptic-mediated alterations in synaptic plasticity (Janz et al., 1999). Moreover, SYP knockout did not impact hippocampal LTP magnitude in this study. These results are consistent with our findings in the dH and the vH, where we did not observe

PB-PM-induced variations of PPF or LTP magnitude. Coupled with the acute PB-PM-mediated impairment of dH and vH synaptic transmission, the lack of abnormalities in PPF magnitude between treatment groups is consistent with an interpretation indicating a decrease in the density of synapses in the CA1 subfield. This interpretation is in line with preclinical studies that observed reduced hippocampal CA1 apical dendritic spine density (Speed et al., 2011) and hippocampal neurogenesis (Parihar et al., 2013; Shetty et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020) in GWI animal models that included PB and PM in the exposure protocol as well as exposure to another GWI-relevant pesticide.

We previously demonstrated that LNFPIII rebalanced central and peripheral immune function in immunological disease states such as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (Zhu et al., 2012) as well as GWI (Carpenter et al., 2020; Mote et al., 2020). LNFPIII induces anti-inflammatory chemokine and cytokine production via the CD14/TLR-MAPK (ERK) axis (Tundup et al., 2015). ERK is a kinase critical for the production of trophic factors, such as BDNF (Alonso et al., 2004). ERK-1/2 phosphorylation is also essential for the expression of late-LTP (English and Sweatt, 1997), a form of LTP that is dependent upon *de novo* protein synthesis and trophic factor production (Bekinschtein et al., 2007). Notably, studies investigating GWI animal models found decreased cortical (Kimono et al., 2020) and hippocampal BDNF levels (Ribeiro et al., 2020) as well as reduced tropomyosin receptor kinase B density in the hippocampus (Carreras et al., 2018), a receptor fundamentally involved in facilitating the actions of BDNF (Minichiello, 2009), indicating GWI-related chemical exposures may impact secretion of the trophic factor in addition to its signaling activity. In the present study, LNFPIII treatment recovered dH basal synaptic transmission in PB-PM treated animals, an effect that may be attributed to either LNFPIII-mediated rebalancing of anti-inflammatory cytokine production (Carpenter et al., 2020; Mote et al., 2020) or LNFPIII-mediated effects on ERK (Tundup et al., 2015). Further, the trend in the vH of an LNFPIII-induced enhancement of BDNF secretion may be particularly pertinent to the observed recovery of dH basal synaptic transmission as

downstream effectors like BDNF have been shown to increase hippocampal basal synaptic activity (Kang and Schuman, 1995). LNFPIII only enhanced vH basal synaptic transmission in vehicle animals, a response that may be attributed to the observed trending LNFPIII effect on BDNF secretion or differential baseline activity of immune mediators such as microglia and astrocytes along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis (Ogata and Kosaka, 2002; Jinno et al., 2007). Notably, we did not observe an enhancement of dH LTP magnitude in vehicle-LNFPIII-treated animals, indicating that underlying non-measurable effects of PB-PM are needed for LNFPIII to exhibit this result.

Acknowledgments:

This research was supported by the Department of Defense (CDMRP grant number W81XWH-16-1-0586) to NMF. KAB and CJP received support from the Interdisciplinary Toxicology Program at the University of Georgia. We thank Caroline Grant for the anatomical illustration of the hippocampus in Fig. 3.1.

References

- Abdullah L, Crynen G, Reed J, Bishop A, Phillips J, Ferguson S, Mouzon B, Mullan M, Mathura V, and Mullan M (2011) Proteomic CNS profile of delayed cognitive impairment in mice exposed to Gulf War agents. *Neuromolecular Med* **13**: 275-288.
- Abdullah L, Evans JE, Joshi U, Crynen G, Reed J, Mouzon B, Baumann S, Montague H, Zakirova Z, and Emmerich T (2016) Translational potential of long-term decreases in mitochondrial lipids in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *Toxicology* **372**: 22-33.
- Alonso M, Medina JH, and Pozzo-Miller L (2004) ERK1/2 activation is necessary for BDNF to increase dendritic spine density in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons. *Learn Mem* **11**: 172-178.
- Anadon A, Martinez-Larranaga M, Diaz M, and Bringas P (1991) Toxicokinetics of permethrin in the rat. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **110:** 1-8.
- Aquilonius S-M, Eckernäs S-Å, Hartvig P, Lindström B, and Osterman P (1980) Pharmacokinetics and oral bioavailability of pyridostigmine in man. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* **18:** 423-428.
- Barrientos RM, Sprunger DB, Campeau S, Watkins LR, Rudy JW, and Maier SF (2004) BDNF mRNA expression in rat hippocampus following contextual learning is blocked by intrahippocampal IL-1β administration. *J Neuroimmunol* **155**: 119-126.
- Bekinschtein P, Cammarota M, Igaz LM, Bevilaqua LR, Izquierdo I, and Medina JH (2007) Persistence of long-term memory storage requires a late protein synthesis-and BDNFdependent phase in the hippocampus. *Neuron* **53**: 261-277.
- Bhargava P, Li C, Stanya KJ, Jacobi D, Dai L, Liu S, Gangl MR, Harn DA, and Lee C-H (2012) Immunomodulatory glycan LNFPIII alleviates hepatosteatosis and insulin resistance through direct and indirect control of metabolic pathways. *Nat Med* **18**: 1665.
- Brown KA, Filipov NM, and Wagner JJ (2020) Dorsoventral-specific effects of a sarin surrogate, diisopropylfluorophosphate, on synaptic transmission in the mouse hippocampus. J Pharmacol Exp Ther: 10-23.
- Carpenter J, Gordon H, Ludwig H, Wagner J, Harn D, Norberg T, and Filipov N (2020) Neurochemical and neuroinflammatory perturbations in two Gulf War Illness models: Modulation by the immunotherapeutic LNFPIII. *Neurotoxicology* **77:** 40-50.
- Carreras I, Aytan N, Mellott T, Choi J-K, Lehar M, Crabtree L, Leite-Morris K, Jenkins BG, Blusztajn JK, and Dedeoglu A (2018) Anxiety, neuroinflammation, cholinergic and GABAergic abnormalities are early markers of Gulf War illness in a mouse model of the disease. *Brain Res* **1681**: 34-43.
- Coughlin SS (2017) A neuroimmune model of Gulf War Illness. J Environ Health Sci 3.
- Craddock TJ, Del Rosario RR, Rice M, Zysman JP, Fletcher MA, Klimas NG, and Broderick G (2015) Achieving remission in Gulf War Illness: a simulation-based approach to treatment design. *PLoS One* **10**: e0132774.
- Dickey B, Madhu LN, and Shetty AK (2020) Gulf War Illness: Mechanisms Underlying Brain Dysfunction and Promising Therapeutic Strategies. *Pharmacol Ther*: 107716.
- English JD and Sweatt JD (1997) A requirement for the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in hippocampal long term potentiation. *J Biol Chem* **272**: 19103-19106.
- Georgopoulos AP, James LM, Carpenter AF, Engdahl BE, Leuthold AC, and Lewis SM (2017) Gulf War illness (GWI) as a neuroimmune disease. *Exp Brain Res* **235**: 3217-3225.
- Janz R, Südhof TC, Hammer RE, Unni V, Siegelbaum SA, and Bolshakov VY (1999) Essential roles in synaptic plasticity for synaptogyrin I and synaptophysin I. *Neuron* **24:** 687-700.
- Jeffrey MG, Krengel M, Kibler J, Zundel C, Klimas NG, Sullivan K, and Craddock TJ (2019) Neuropsychological Findings in Gulf War Illness: A Review. *Front Psychol* **10:** 2088.

- Jinno S, Fleischer F, Eckel S, Schmidt V, and Kosaka T (2007) Spatial arrangement of microglia in the mouse hippocampus: a stereological study in comparison with astrocytes. *Glia* **55**: 1334-1347.
- Joshi U, Evans JE, Joseph R, Emmerich T, Saltiel N, Lungmus C, Oberlin S, Langlois H, Ojo J, and Mouzon B (2018) Oleoylethanolamide treatment reduces neurobehavioral deficits and brain pathology in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *Sci Rep* **8:** 12921.
- Kang H and Schuman EM (1995) Long-lasting neurotrophin-induced enhancement of synaptic transmission in the adult hippocampus. *Science* **267**: 1658-1662.
- Kimono D, Bose D, Seth RK, Mondal A, Saha P, Janulewicz P, Sullivan K, Lasley S, Horner R, and Klimas N (2020) Host Akkermansia muciniphila Abundance Correlates With Gulf War Illness Symptom Persistence via NLRP3-Mediated Neuroinflammation and Decreased Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor. *Neurosci Insights* 15: 2633105520942480.
- Krishna S, Lin Z, Claire B, Wagner JJ, Harn DH, Pepples LM, Djani DM, Weber MT, Srivastava L, and Filipov NM (2016) Time-dependent behavioral, neurochemical, and metabolic dysregulation in female C57BL/6 mice caused by chronic high-fat diet intake. *Physiol Behav* **157**: 196-208.
- Lin Z, Dodd CA, and Filipov NM (2013) Short-term atrazine exposure causes behavioral deficits and disrupts monoaminergic systems in male C57BL/6 mice. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **39**: 26-35.
- Michalovicz LT, Kelly KA, Sullivan K, and O'Callaghan JP (2020) Acetylcholinesterase inhibitor exposures as an initiating factor in the development of Gulf War Illness, a chronic neuroimmune disorder in deployed veterans. *Neuropharmacology*: 108073.
- Michalovicz LT, Locker AR, Kelly KA, Miller JV, Barnes Z, Fletcher MA, Miller DB, Klimas NG, Morris M, and Lasley SM (2019) Corticosterone and pyridostigmine/DEET exposure attenuate peripheral cytokine expression: Supporting a dominant role for neuroinflammation in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *Neurotoxicology* **70**: 26-32.
- Minichiello L (2009) TrkB signalling pathways in LTP and learning. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* **10:** 850.
- Mote RS, Carpenter JM, Dockman RL, Steinberger AJ, Suen G, Norberg T, Harn DA, Wagner JJ, and Filipov NM (2020) Assessing the Beneficial Effects of the Immunomodulatory Glycan LNFPIII on Gut Microbiota and Health in a Mouse Model of Gulf War Illness. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* **17:** 7081.
- Nugent SM, Freeman M, Ayers CK, Winchell KA, Press AM, O'Neil ME, Paynter R, and Kansagara D (2020) A Systematic Review of Therapeutic Interventions and Management Strategies for Gulf War Illness. *Mil Med*.
- O'Callaghan JP, Kelly KA, Locker AR, Miller DB, and Lasley SM (2015) Corticosterone primes the neuroinflammatory response to DFP in mice: potential animal model of Gulf War Illness. J Neurochem **133**: 708-721.
- O'Callaghan JP, Michalovicz LT, and Kelly KA (2016) Supporting a neuroimmune basis of Gulf war illness. *EBioMedicine* **13:** 5-6.
- Ogata K and Kosaka T (2002) Structural and quantitative analysis of astrocytes in the mouse hippocampus. *Neuroscience* **113**: 221-233.
- Onufriev M, Uzakov SS, Freiman S, Stepanichev MY, Moiseeva YV, Lazareva N, Markevich V, and Gulyaeva N (2018) The Dorsal and Ventral Hippocampus Have Different Reactivities to Proinflammatory Stress: Corticosterone Levels, Cytokine Expression, and Synaptic Plasticity. *Neurosci Behav Physiol* **48**: 1024-1031.
- Papatheodoropoulos C (2018) Electrophysiological evidence for long-axis intrinsic diversification of the hippocampus. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)* **23:** 109-145.

- Parihar VK, Hattiangady B, Shuai B, and Shetty AK (2013) Mood and memory deficits in a model of Gulf War illness are linked with reduced neurogenesis, partial neuron loss, and mild inflammation in the hippocampus. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **38**: 2348.
- Prieto GA and Cotman CW (2017) Cytokines and cytokine networks target neurons to modulate long-term potentiation. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* **34**: 27-33.
- Ramesh G, MacLean AG, and Philipp MT (2013) Cytokines and chemokines at the crossroads of neuroinflammation, neurodegeneration, and neuropathic pain. *Mediators Inflamm* **2013**.
- Ribeiro AC, Zhu J, Kronfol MM, Jahr FM, Younis RM, Hawkins E, McClay JL, and Deshpande LS (2020) Molecular mechanisms for the antidepressant-like effects of a low-dose ketamine treatment in a DFP-based rat model for Gulf War Illness. *Neurotoxicology*.
- Shetty AK, Attaluri S, Kodali M, Shuai B, Shetty GA, Upadhya D, Hattiangady B, Madhu LN, Upadhya R, and Bates A (2020) Monosodium luminol reinstates redox homeostasis, improves cognition, mood and neurogenesis, and alleviates neuro-and systemic inflammation in a model of Gulf War Illness. *Redox Biol* **28**: 101389.
- Speed HE, Blaiss CA, Kim A, Haws ME, Melvin NR, Jennings M, Eisch AJ, and Powell CM (2011) Delayed reduction of hippocampal synaptic transmission and spines following exposure to repeated subclinical doses of organophosphorus pesticide in adult mice. *Toxicol Sci* **125**: 196-208.
- Trageser KJ, Sebastian-Valverde M, Naughton SX, and Pasinetti GM (2020) The Innate Immune System and Inflammatory Priming: Potential Mechanistic Factors in Mood Disorders and Gulf War Illness. *Front Psychiatry* **11**.
- Tundup S, Srivastava L, Norberg T, Watford W, and Harn D (2015) A Neoglycoconjugate Containing the Human Milk Sugar LNFPIII Drives Anti-Inflammatory Activation of Antigen Presenting Cells in a CD14 Dependent Pathway. *PLoS One* **10**: e0137495.
- Wang X, Xu Z, Zhao F, Lin KJ, Foster JB, Xiao T, Kung N, Askwith CC, Bruno JP, and Valentini V (2020) Restoring tripartite glutamatergic synapses: A potential therapy for mood and cognitive deficits in Gulf War illness. *Neurobiology of Stress*: 100240.
- White RF, Steele L, O'Callaghan JP, Sullivan K, Binns JH, Golomb BA, Bloom FE, Bunker JA, Crawford F, and Graves JC (2016) Recent research on Gulf War illness and other health problems in veterans of the 1991 Gulf War: Effects of toxicant exposures during deployment. *Cortex* **74**: 449-475.
- Whitlock JR, Heynen AJ, Shuler MG, and Bear MF (2006) Learning induces long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Science* **313**: 1093-1097.
- Zakirova Z, Tweed M, Crynen G, Reed J, Abdullah L, Nissanka N, Mullan M, Mullan MJ, Mathura V, and Crawford F (2015) Gulf War agent exposure causes impairment of longterm memory formation and neuropathological changes in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *PLoS One* **10**: e0119579.
- Zhu B, Trikudanathan S, Zozulya AL, Sandoval-Garcia C, Kennedy JK, Atochina O, Norberg T, Castagner B, Seeberger P, and Fabry Z (2012) Immune modulation by Lacto-Nfucopentaose III in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Clin Immunol* **142**: 351-361.
- Zundel CG, Heeren T, Grasso CM, Spiro III A, Proctor SP, Sullivan K, and Krengel M (2020) Changes in Health Status in the Ft. Devens Gulf War Veterans Cohort: 1997-2017. *Neurosci Insights* **15:** 1-7.

Figures and tables



Figure 3.1. Experimental design of pyridostigmine bromide-permethrin (PB-PM) exposure ± LNFPIII coadministration and their effect on dorsal (dH) and ventral (vH) hippocampal synaptic transmission 48 h post-exposure. A. Animals were randomly divided into GWI (pyridostigmine bromide-permethrin; PB-PM) and vehicle (DMSO) treatment groups. Mice then received 10 days of daily exposure with a combination of PB and PM (0.7 and 200 mg/kg, respectively; i.p.) or DMSO (i.p.). Animals were also randomly selected to receive 10 days of concurrent daily treatment with either lacto-N-fucopentaose-III (LNFPIII) or dextran vehicle (both

35 μg/mouse; S.C., diluted in sterile saline). Electrophysiology experiments were conducted 48 h following the last exposure. The cylinder found in the hippocampal slice represents a stimulating electrode along the Schaffer collateral-CA1 pathway found in the stratum radiatum whereas the triangle represents a recording electrode in the CA1 stratum radiatum. **B.** Stimulusresponse relationship of the average fEPSP slopes elicited by increasing stimulus intensities from vehicle-vehicle (\circ ; n=9(3)), vehicle-LNFPIII (•; n=9(4)), PB-PM-vehicle (\Box ; n=7(4)), and PB-PM-LNFPIII (•; n=6(3)) treatment groups recorded from the dH 48 h after PB-PM exposure. **C.** Stimulus-response relationship of the average fEPSP slopes elicited by increasing stimulus intensities from vehicle-vehicle (\circ ; n=5(4)), vehicle-LNFPIII (•; n=7(4)), PB-PM-vehicle (\Box ; n=8(4)), and PB-PM-LNFPIII (•; n=12(3)) treatment groups recorded from the vH 48 h after PB-PM exposure. Insets show representative traces composed of average sweeps from 135 μA stimulation intensity. * denotes main effect of PB-PM (p < 0.05) whereas # denotes main effect of LNFPIII (p <0.05). ^a compares vehicle-vehicle and PB-PM-vehicle; ^b compares PB-PM-vehicle and PB-PM-LNFPIII groups. ^a, ^b, ^c indicates p < 0.05. ^d indicates p < 0.1. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM.



Figure 3.2. The effect of pyridostigmine bromide-permethrin (PB-PM) exposure \pm LNFPIII coadministration on measurements of dorsal hippocampal (dH) synaptic plasticity 48 h post-PB-PM exposure. A and B. Summary plots of normalized fEPSP values recorded from the dH of vehicle-treated (A) or PB-PM exposed (B) animals 48 h post-PB-PM exposure. (A) compares vehicle-vehicle (\circ) and vehicle-LNFPIII (\bullet) treated mice whereas (B) compares PB-PM-vehicle (\Box) and PB-PM-LNFPIII (\bullet) treated mice. Insets show summary traces composed of average sweeps from 5 min pre-tetanus (grey) and 56–60 min post-tetanus (black). **C.** Summary quantification of dH LTP magnitude recorded 48 h after PB-PM exposure from vehicle-vehicle (1.62 ± 0.11, n=9(3)), vehicle-LNFPIII (1.55 ± 0.07, n=9(4)), PB-PM-vehicle (1.52 ± 0.08, n=7(4)), and PB-PM-LNFPIII (1.83 ± 0.10, n=6(3)) treated animals. **D.** The paired-pulse ratio for vehicle-vehicle (1.51 ± 0.05), vehicle-LNFPIII (1.50 ± 0.07), PB-PM-vehicle (1.40 ± 0.08), and PB-PM-LNFPIII (1.59 ± 0.11) treatment groups recorded from the dH 48 h after PB- PM exposure (interpulse interval = 50 ms). ^b compares PB-PM-vehicle and PB-PM-LNFPIII (p < 0.05 via preplanned Student's *t*-test). Data are expressed as mean ± SEM.



Figure 3.3. The effect of PB-PM exposure \pm LNFPIII coadministration on measurements of ventral hippocampal (vH) synaptic plasticity 48 h post-PB-PM exposure. A and B. Summary plots of normalized fEPSP values recorded from the vH of vehicle-treated (A) or PB-PM exposed (B) animals 48 h post-PB-PM exposure. (A) compares vehicle-vehicle (\circ) and vehicle-LNFPIII (\bullet) treated mice whereas (B) compares PB-PM-vehicle (\Box) and PB-PM-LNFPIII (\bullet) treated mice. Insets show traces composed of average sweeps from 5 min pre-tetanus (grey) and 56–60 min post-tetanus (black). C. Summary quantification of vH LTP magnitude recorded 48 h after PB-PM exposure from vehicle-vehicle (1.61 \pm 0.04, n=5(4)), vehicle-LNFPIII (1.71 \pm 0.12, n=7(4)), PB-PM-vehicle (1.70 \pm 0.10, n=8(4)), and PB-PM-LNFPIII (1.64 \pm 0.06, n=12(3)) treated animals. D. The paired-pulse ratio for vehicle-vehicle (1.37 \pm 0.04), vehicle-LNFPIII (1.38 \pm 0.07), PB-PM-vehicle (1.39 \pm 0.06), and PB-PM-LNFPIII (1.25 \pm 0.06) treatment groups recorded from the vH 48 h after PB-PM exposure (interpulse interval = 50 ms). Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM.

Table 3.1. The effect of PB-PM exposure \pm LNFPIII coadministration (10 d) on the expression of key inflammatory cytokines and growth factors in the ventral hippocampus (vH) measured by qPCR 48 h post-PB-PM exposure. vH samples from a separate cohort of mice (n=5, 6, 6, 4, for the, respectively, Vehicle-Vehicle, Vehicle-LNFPIII, PB-PM-Vehicle, PB-PM-LNFPIII groups) treated identically to the cohort used for electrophysiology were used for RNA isolation and subsequent qPCR analyses. Data were analyzed by the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct} method with 18S as the housekeeping gene and are expressed as a mean fold change from the Vehicle-Vehicle control \pm SEM. P-values reflect the comparison for each respective group compared to the Vehicle-Vehicle control. Gene abbreviations: IL-6, Interleukin 6; IL-1 β , Interleukin 1 beta; TNF α , Tumor necrosis factor alpha; BDNF, Brain-derived neurotrophic factor; NGF, Nerve growth factor; CNTF, Ciliary neurotrophic factor.

Gene	Treatment	p- value	Treatment	p- value	Treatment	p- value
	Vehicle-		PB-PM-		PB-PM-	
	LNFPIII		Vehicle		LNFPIII	
IL-6	0.93 ± 0.089	0.886	0.87 ± 0.083	0.624	0.89 ± 0.085	0.779
IL-1β	1.05 ± 0.402	0.941	0.89 ± 0.343	0.874	0.94 ± 0.362	0.94
TNFα	0.62 ± 0.209	0.249	0.72 ± 0.241	0.421	0.77 ± 0.259	0.494
BDNF	1.66 ± 0.415	0.227	1.37 ± 0.344	0.416	2.5 ± 0.625	0.076
NGF	0.95 ± 0.126	0.855	0.97 ± 0.129	0.902	1.14 ± 0.152	0.687
CNTF	0.80 ± 0.092	0.379	1.01 ± 0.117	0.963	1.16 ± 0.134	0.716

CHAPTER 4

DELAYED TREATMENT WITH THE IMMUNOTHERAPEUTIC LNFPIII AMELIORATES MULTIPLE NEUROLOGICAL DEFICITS IN A MOUSE MODEL OF GULF WAR ILLNESS³

³ Brown KA*, Carpenter JM*, Diaz AN, Dockman RL, Preston CJ, Benbow RA, Harn DA, Norberg T, Wagner JJ, Filipov NM. *Delayed treatment with the immunotherapeutic LNFPIII ameliorates multiple neurological deficits in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness.* Submitted to Neurotoxicology and Teratology.

^{*} Authors contributed equally.

Abstract

Thought to stem mostly from deployment-related chemical overexposures, residual effects of the 1990-1991 Gulf War (GW) still plaque veterans nearly 30 years later as Gulf War Illness (GWI), a disease with multiple neurological symptoms with likely immunological underpinnings. Currently, GWI remains untreatable, and the long-term neurological disease manifestation is not fully characterized. The present study sought to expand and evaluate the long-term implications of prior GW chemicals exposure on neurological function 6-8 months post-GWI-like symptomatology induction. Additionally, the beneficial effects of delayed treatment with the glycan immunotherapeutic lacto-N-fucopentaose III (LNFPIII) were evaluated. Male C57BL/6J mice underwent a 10-day combinational exposure to the nerve agent prophylactic pyridostigmine bromide (PB) and the insecticide permethrin (PM) (0.7 and 200 mg/kg, respectively). Beginning four months after the GW chemicals exposure, a subset of the mice were treated twice a week until study completion with LNFPIII. Evaluation of cognition/memory, motor function, and mood was performed beginning 1 month after LNFPIII treatment initiation. Prior exposure to PB/PM produced multiple locomotor, neuromuscular, and sensorimotor deficits across several motor tests. Subtle anxiety-like behavior was also present in PB/PM mice in mood tests. Further, PB/PM exposed mice learned at a slower rate, mostly during early phases of the learning and memory tests employed. LNFPIII treatment restored or improved many of these maladaptive behaviors particularly in motor and cognition/memory domains. Electrophysiology data collected 8 months post PB/PM exposure revealed modest aberrations in basal synaptic transmission and long-term potentiation in the dorsal or ventral hippocampus that were improved by LNFPIII treatment. Immunohistochemical analysis (tyrosine hydroxylase; TH) did not detect major PB/PM effects along the nigrostriatal pathway, but LNFPIII increased striatal TH. Additionally, GFAP+ astrocytes and IBA-1+ microglia were increased in PB/PM mice, an effect reduced by LNFPIII. Collectively, long-term neurobehavioral and neurobiological dysfunction associated with prior PB/PM exposure was characterized;

delayed LNFPIII treatment provided many behavioral and biological protective effects in the context of GWI, highlighting its potential as a GWI therapeutic.

4.1 Introduction

Documented associations of wartime related chemical exposures with delayed adverse health outcomes in veterans exist for several conflicts. One notable example is the Vietnam War where increased incidence of certain cancers, reproductive abnormalities, and neurological problems in the years following the war have been attributed, in part, to extensive exposures to pesticides, such as components and contaminants of the herbicidal mixture Agent Orange (NASEM et al., 2018; Stellman and Stellman, 2018). More recent war-related exposures that have impacted veterans' health negatively occurred during the 1990-1991 Gulf War (GW). Nearly 30 years have passed since this war and approximately 30% of GW veterans suffer from Gulf War Illness (GWI), a complex, multi-symptomatic chronic disease (White et al., 2016; DDGWIRP, 2018). The symptoms, including neurological, immunological, and gastrointestinal ailments, appeared shortly after veterans returned from deployment and progressively worsened over time (White et al., 2016; DDGWIRP, 2018; Zundel et al., 2019; Porter et al., 2020). Precise etiology and pathophysiology of this disease are still being investigated, but combinational and frequent exposures to pesticides (eg. Permethrin: PM, chlorpyrifos), insect repellants (N-Diethyl-3-methylbenzamide [DEET]), a nerve agent prophylactic (pyridostigmine bromide: PB), and, in some cases, chemical nerve agents (sarin and cyclosarin) are implicated and have been investigated in laboratory models of GWI (Sullivan et al., 2003; White et al., 2016).

The symptomatology experienced by GWI veterans encapsulates a number of neurological complaints including cognitive and memory dysfunction, motor impairments, and affect alterations such as anxiety and depression (White et al., 2016). Multiple reports highlight impairments in cognition, memory, and reaction speed, with the latter suggesting sensorimotor deficits (Anger et al., 1999; Proctor et al., 2006; Toomey et al., 2009; Hubbard et al., 2014; White et al., 2016; Sullivan et al., 2018). Many of these deficits have been recapitulated in GWI-centered laboratory studies. For instance, varying GW chemical exposure combinations lead to

impairments in spatial working and reference memory, decreases in motor function, and increases in affect measures, i.e., anxiety, in rodents (Abou-Donia et al., 2002; Abou-Donia et al., 2004; Abdullah et al., 2011; Torres-Altoro et al., 2011; Abdullah et al., 2013; Parihar et al., 2013; Hattiangady et al., 2014; Ojo et al., 2014; Joshi et al., 2018; Macht et al., 2019; Joshi et al., 2020).

Several pathogenic factors within GWI, including central nervous system structural changes, neurotransmitter dyshomeostasis, and immune system disruption, are associated with and/or could be responsible for these behavioral deficits. Specifically, brain structural abnormalities, such as reduced hippocampal volume and increased diffusivity in white matter connections, are featured prominently in GWI (Heaton et al., 2007; Chao et al., 2010; Chao et al., 2011; Rayhan et al., 2013; Chao et al., 2015; White et al., 2016). Neurotransmitter alterations such as changes in GABAergic activity in areas maintaining cognition (Megahed et al., 2014; Carreras et al., 2018) and monoaminergic disbalance in areas that regulate motor function, memory, and affect (Megahed et al., 2014; Carreras et al., 2018; Carpenter et al., 2020) have also been demonstrated in GWI models. Recently, a consensus for immune disruption emerged as a common denominator for GWI pathogenesis (O'Callaghan et al., 2015; Michalovicz et al., 2020). This persistent neuroimmune dysfunction manifests as increased systemic inflammation and notable glial activation in the brain of GWI veterans compared to matched controls (Broderick et al., 2013; Parkitny et al., 2015; Broderick et al., 2018; Alshelh et al., 2020). Further, inflammation, especially neuroinflammation, is consistent among several GWI laboratory studies; widespread brain increases in gliosis and inflammatory markers, particularly in the hippocampus, are common findings (Parihar et al., 2013; Megahed et al., 2014; O'Callaghan et al., 2015; Zakirova et al., 2015; Zakirova et al., 2016; Carreras et al., 2018; Miller et al., 2018; Macht et al., 2019; Madhu et al., 2019; Carpenter et al., 2020). In some GWI studies where neuroinflammation was demonstrated, the authors also reported cognitive

and affect deficits (Parihar et al., 2013; Zakirova et al., 2015; Zakirova et al., 2016; Carreras et al., 2018; Joshi et al., 2018).

Because the precise etiology of GWI is still unknown, laboratory models have utilized several combinations of GW-relevant chemicals. It has been reported that veterans with GWI were exposed to higher rates of the nerve agent prophylactic, PB, and pesticides; thus, it is critical to use models incorporating such components (Steele et al., 2012; White et al., 2016). One established GWI model that includes short-term exposure to PB and the insecticide PM (Zakirova et al., 2015) has been used by our group to study the acute and chronic effects of these GWI chemicals (Carpenter et al., 2020; Mote et al., 2020). This model produced behavioral changes consistent with GWI clinical symptomology including anxiety, psychomotor, and cognitive problems, months after exposure termination (Abdullah et al., 2011; Zakirova et al., 2015; Zakirova et al., 2016; Joshi et al., 2018; Joshi et al., 2020). Further, this GWI chemical exposure paradigm leads to increases in hippocampal neuroinflammation, manifested with increased inflammatory cytokines as well as glial activation in the hippocampus and the cortex (Zakirova et al., 2015; Zakirova et al., 2016; Carpenter et al., 2020). However, the magnitude of short-term neuroinflammation following PB/PM exposure is reduced when compared to the acute effects of a model that incorporates a nerve agent surrogate and corticosterone-induced stress (O'Callaghan et al., 2015), suggesting the PB/PM model may exhibit effective construct and etiological validity for milder versions of GWI (Carpenter et al., 2020). Utilizing distinct animal models to recapitulate more or less severe forms of GWI may be particularly relevant to clinical GWI as this disease state has been shown to present in a heterogeneous manner depending on the duration, frequency, and intensity of chemical exposure (Steele et al., 2012). Moreover, the multiple neurobehavioral and neuropathological alterations observed in the PB/PM model overlap with clinical presentation of GWI (Zakirova et al., 2015; Zakirova et al., 2016; Joshi et al., 2018; Joshi et al., 2020), which makes the model suitable for an in-depth

investigation of GWI pathobiology and for evaluating the safety and efficacy of novel GWI treatments.

Efficacious treatment options for GWI are limited, in part due to the heterogeneous presentation of disease symptomology (DDGWIRP, 2018). Nevertheless, therapeutic interventions have been explored and have provided some symptom benefits (Donta et al., 2004; Baraniuk et al., 2013; Golomb et al., 2014; Golier et al., 2016; DDGWIRP, 2018; Helmer et al., 2020; Holton et al., 2020). Because of the underlying immune dysfunction in GWI, immunomodulatory therapies may be an advantageous treatment option. Lacto-N-fucopentaose III (LNFPIII) is an immunomodulatory glycan found in human milk that, to date, has had no documented adverse effects (Atochina et al., 2008; Bhargava et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2012; Srivastava et al., 2014; Tundup et al., 2015; Carpenter et al., 2020). When conjugated to a dextran carrier, LNFPIII activates CD14/TLR-4 signaling for extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)-dependent production of anti-inflammatory mediators to skew the inflammatory balance of the innate immune system in an anti-inflammatory direction, including in pathological disease states such as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and diet-induced obesity (Atochina et al., 2008; Bhargava et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2012; Srivastava et al., 2014; Tundup et al., 2015). In fact, in an earlier study where we evaluated LNFPIII treatment effects during GWI chemical exposure, LNFPIII was beneficial in preventing acute monoaminergic disbalance in multiple brain regions and reducing inflammation within the hippocampus (Carpenter et al., 2020). Further, laboratory GWI studies found decreases in cortical (Kimono et al., 2020) and hippocampal (Ribeiro et al., 2020) brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) levels and density of the tropomyosin receptor kinase B (TrkB) in the hippocampus (Carreras et al., 2018), a receptor fundamentally involved in facilitating the actions of BDNF (Minichiello, 2009). Given that LNFPIII enhances phosphorylation of ERK-1/2 (Tundup et al., 2015), and ERK-1/2 is critical for the production of trophic factors such as BDNF (Alonso et al., 2004), suggesting that LNFPIII may be a promising GWI neurotherapeutic.

Our earlier study utilizing this established PB/PM exposure paradigm indicated acute neuroinflammation and monoaminergic disbalance in multiple cognition- and motor-regulating brain regions were ameliorated by LNFPIII treatment (Carpenter et al., 2020). However, while this therapeutic induced beneficial effects when given in conjunction with GWI chemical exposure, it is unknown whether it will be beneficial when given long after the termination of GWI exposure, i.e., restorative effects. Additionally, the long-term impact of PB/PM exposure on motor and sensorimotor function, as well as electrophysiological aberrations that may shape cognitive deficits associated with this model are yet to be characterized. Thus, the present study sought to expand and evaluate the long-term implications of prior PB/PM exposure on neurobehavioral and neurobiological function 6-8 months post-GWI symptomatology induction. Further, we characterized the neuroinflammatory profile of this model by evaluating glial markers. Finally, we examined whether delayed treatment with the immunotherapeutic LNFPIII was beneficial.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Materials

Pyridostigmine bromide (PB; \geq 98% purity; Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and permethrin (PM; 29.5% cis/69.5% trans isomer; 99% purity; Chem Service Inc., West Chester, PA) were used for animal treatments in this study. Lacto-N-fucopentaose III (LNFPIII) dextran conjugate was produced as previously described (Tundup et al., 2015). All additional chemicals and reagents, unless otherwise noted, were of analytical or higher grade and were obtained from Sigma Aldrich or Fisher Scientific (Hampton, NH).

4.2.2 Animals

Male C57BL/6J mice (8-9 weeks old; Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbor, ME) were housed 4 per cage in an environmentally controlled room (22-24° C) and maintained on a 12 h light/dark cycle (0700-1900 lights on) for one week of acclimation and throughout the study. Mice were handled daily for one week prior to the start of the study to minimize experimenter-

induced stress. Food and water were available *ad libitum*. All procedures were approved in advance by the University of Georgia Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and were in accordance with the latest National Institutes of Health guidelines.

4.2.3 GWI Model

Following (Zakirova et al., 2015), mice (N=61) weighing 24.4 ± 0.19 g (mean ± SEM) were randomly divided into GWI (PB/PM) and vehicle (DMSO) treatment groups and treated daily for 10 days with a combination of PB and PM (0.7 and 200 mg/kg, respectively) or DMSO vehicle IP. Four months after the initial GWI-chemicals exposure, mice within each of the two original treatments were randomly subdivided into an LNFPIII or a vehicle group and were treated twice a week until study completion with LNFPIII or dextran vehicle (both 35 µg/mouse; SC) diluted in sterile saline as in (Carpenter et al., 2020). Thus, from this point onward there were 4 treatment groups: Vehicle-Vehicle (DMSO-Dextran, n=14), Vehicle-LNFPIII (DMSO-LNFPIII, n=15), PB/PM-Vehicle (PB/PM-Dextran, n=16), and PB/PM-LNFPIII (n=16). Body weights were measured daily during GWI chemicals exposure and biweekly after the last GWI exposure until study completion. During the radial arm maze (RAM), in which mice underwent food restriction, weight measurements were taken daily for monitoring as described under the RAM testing protocol. Refer to Figure 4.1A for a detailed experimental timeline.

4.2.4 Behavioral Tests

One month after LNFPIII treatment inception, a battery of behavioral tests for assessment of cognition/memory, mood, and motor function were performed as described below. All behavioral testing, scoring, and analysis were done in a treatment-blind manner. Refer to Figure 4.1B for a detailed behavioral timeline.

4.2.4.1 Nest Building

Nest building was assessed prior to the Sucrose Preference test to measure cognitive and motor functions; it has been shown that severe hippocampal damage leads to deficits in nest building (Deacon, 2012). Marked striatal damage also leads to these deficits, likely through

a substantial impairment in forelimb and orofacial dexterity (Hofele et al., 2001). Mice were individually housed with a fresh paper nestlet (Bed-r'Nest, The Anderson's Inc., Maumee, OH); pictures of the nests were taken from above at different time points (30 min, 60 min, 90 min, 120 min, 180 min, 240 min, 300 min, 360 min, and 24 h) after nestlet placement and scored based on a 4-point scale (1 = untouched, 4 = nest completed) as in (Deacon, 2012).

4.2.4.2 Sucrose Preference (SP)

The SP test, used to measure anhedonia in mice (two-bottle choice paradigm) (Eagle et al., 2016), was performed during behavioral days 1-8. Briefly, individually housed mice were given access to two bottles filled with tap water for 4 days to establish a baseline and then given access to one bottle of tap water and one bottle of 1.5% sucrose water for 4 additional days. Solution intake was measured daily by weighing bottles, and bottle position was switched after each measurement to prevent side preference. Sucrose preference (%) was determined using the following equation [(total sucrose intake / (sucrose + water intake)) x 100].

4.2.4.3 Elevated Zero Maze (EZM)

The EZM is a test frequently used to assess anxiety-like behaviors in mice but can also be expanded to assess certain motor function-related parameters (Braun et al., 2011; Conrad et al., 2011). On day 12, an EZM apparatus (Stoelting Co., Wood Dale, IL) was used under dim illumination (8W red bulb). Lighting conditions, measured with an URCERI light meter, were 30-40 lux and 10-15 lux in the open and closed quadrants, respectively. Starting at a central, open quadrant position facing a closed quadrant, mice were allowed to freely explore the maze for 5 min. All behaviors were tracked and scored using ANY-Maze software (Stoelting). Mice were considered to be in a quadrant when 70% of their body was in the area. Scored parameters of interest included time spent in the open and closed areas, number of entries into the open and closed areas, and the latency to enter the closed area at the start of the test.

4.2.4.4 Marble Burying (MB)

Following a 3 h resting period post EZM, anxiety-like behaviors were assessed using the MB test as previously described (Krishna et al., 2016) with slight modifications. Briefly, clean testing cages were filled with 5 cm of corn cob bedding (Bed-o'Cobs ¼ inch, The Anderson's Inc., Maumee, OH), and mice were individually placed in these cages for 10 min (habituation phase). After a 1 h resting period, mice were returned to the leveled testing cages with 20 marbles (diameter 10 mm, Panacea Products Corp., Columbus, OH) aligned 4 x 5 in the cage for 20 min (testing phase). A baseline and post-test picture were captured, and the number of marbles buried (>70%) was counted for statistical analysis as in (Krishna et al., 2016).

4.2.4.5 Open field (OF)

Locomotor activity was assessed in an OF test as previously described (Krishna et al., 2016) on behavior day 14. Briefly, mice were individually placed into an open field arena (25 cm x 25 cm x 40 cm; Coulbourn Instruments, Whitehall, PA) and allowed to freely explore for 30 min. The distance traveled, time spent in the center and periphery, and the number of rearings was tracked and scored with the Limelight software (Actimetrics, Wilmette, IL) for both the total 30 min and 5 min intervals.

4.2.4.6 Pole Test (PT)

Following a 5 min resting period after the OF, a PT for motor coordination was used as described (Krishna et al., 2016). Mice were placed upright on a vertical pole (1 x 55 cm; d x h) and the times to turn and complete the test by reaching the bottom (total time) of the pole were recorded. Each mouse underwent 4 trials (5 min inter-trial interval) with the last 3 used for statistical analysis.

4.2.4.7 Grip Strength (GS)

After a resting period following the PT, forelimb GS (in newtons, N) was measured using a gauge attached to a mouse-specific wire grid (Bioseb, France) as previously described (Krishna et al., 2016). Mice were gently placed on the grid and the grip strength was assessed

over 4 trials (1-min inter-trial interval). Body-weight-normalized average and max grip strengths were used for statistical analysis.

4.2.4.8 Novel Object Recognition (NOR)

The NOR test was performed on day 15 as previously described (Krishna et al., 2016). Briefly, the OF on the previous day was used as a habituation phase for the NOR. During the identical phase of the NOR, mice were placed in the open field with two identical objects and allowed to freely explore them for 5 min. Mice were then returned to their home cage for 1 h. During the novel phase, one identical object was replaced with a novel object. Mice were placed in the open field and allowed to explore the novel and identical objects. The number of approaches and time spent at the novel object were scored for the first 20 s of the novel phase with Limelight software (Actimetrics). The novel preference index (NPI) was calculated as described in (Lin et al., 2013).

4.2.4.9 Gait Test

Following a 3 h resting period after the NOR, motor function was evaluated using the gait test as described in (Mulherkar et al., 2013) and (Wang et al., 2017) with slight modifications. Briefly, a runway (82 cm long, 5.5 cm wide with 8 cm high walls) lined with paper was used; an empty cage with home cage bedding was placed at the end of the runway during testing for escape. Prior to testing, the front and hind paws of the mice were painted with non-toxic red and black ink, respectively (Office Depot, item: #839-994 and #839-967). Two trials were conducted (5 min apart), a pre-trial and the actual trial that was used for subsequent statistical analyses. Between each trial, the runway was cleaned with 70% EtOH and replaced with a new paper strip. Gait stride length, base width, inter/intra-step distance, stride variability, total steps, and velocity were determined from (Mulherkar et al., 2013) and (Wang et al., 2017). *4.2.4.10 Sticker Removal (SR)*

The SR test was used to determine sensorimotor function (Fleming et al., 2013) on behavioral day 17. Food was removed from the rodents' home cage and ³/₄ of the bedding was

transferred to a clean holding cage where the mice acclimated for 1 h. During the testing phase, a small circular sticker (Avery ¼" round label 5793, Office Depot item: # 113019) was applied using forceps to the nose of the mouse, and the mouse was placed into the home cage. This test was performed over three 90 s trials with a 5 min inter-trial rest. Parameters used for statistical analysis included the average and fastest times for contact and removal of the sticker (Fleming et al., 2013).

4.2.4.11 Swim Test (ST)

Following a 3 h rest after the SR, depressive-like behaviors were assessed using the ST as previously described (Krishna et al., 2016). Briefly, mice were placed in a large beaker filled with 3 L of water ($29 \pm 2 \,^{\circ}$ C) for 15 min. After each test, the beaker was sanitized thoroughly. Total climbing counts and time spent climbing, mobile, and immobile were scored using Limelight software (Actimetrics). Additionally, the time to the first immobile bout was measured using ANY-Maze (Stoelting).

4.2.4.12 Barnes Maze (BM)

The BM test was used to assess spatial learning and memory on behavioral testing days 19-24 (Sunyer et al., 2007). Using a 20-hole circular maze (Stoelting) in which one is equipped with an escape box (target hole; TH). The maze is brightly illuminated to promote anxiogenic escape motivation (~1000 lux measured by URCERI light meter). During the acquisition phase (days 1-4), mice were trained to learn and escape into the TH over four 3-min trials, and after trial completion, mice remained or were manually placed into the TH for 1 min. For the probe trial, the escape box was removed, and mice explored the maze for 90 s. Between mice, the maze was rotated and sanitized to remove any residual olfactory cues. The latency, distance, and number of errors to reach the TH were tracked and scored automatically using ANY-Maze software (Stoelting).

4.2.4.1 Radial Arm Maze (RAM)

An 8-arm RAM (Med Associates, St. Albans, VT) was used to assess learning and memory function (Babb and Crystal, 2006; Preston et al., 2019) in animals 7 months post-PB/PM exposure (refer to Figure 4.1). The maze has a food trough at the end of each arm with a photosensor activated dispenser (20 mg sucrose pellet). External visual cues were located around the room to facilitate spatial navigation. MED-PC 4.0 (Med Associates) was used to control and record photosensor, food, and door signals from an adjacent room. Prior to RAM testing, mice were single housed and underwent a 14-day food restriction protocol until they reached 85% of their free-fed body weight; this was used to motivate learning of the RAM apparatus. During the last 3 days of the food restriction period, mice were behaviorally acclimated to the RAM, and the apparatus was cleaned as in (Preston et al., 2019).

Spatial short-term working memory was assessed by an 8-arm RAM foraging task over 10 consecutive days. Following a 20 min room acclimation period, each mouse was placed in the central RAM hub for 1 min before all 8 doors to each arm opened and allowed free access to all arms. In the foraging task, each arm is "baited" so that one food reward was dispensed upon the first head poke into the food trough of each arm. An error in spatial short-term working memory was defined as an animal revisiting a trough after the initial visit, and the total number of errors for each animal was recorded. Animal performance was assessed by the average total number of errors of the first three days of testing, the last three days of testing, and comparing the two.

Spatial long-term working memory was evaluated over 10 consecutive days using a modified delayed spatial Win-Shift task after the last day of the foraging task (Furgerson et al., 2014; Clark et al., 2015). This test incorporates a 2-phase (the study phase and the test phase) procedure with an interposed delay. During the study phase, 4 arms were randomly opened, allowing the animal to receive a reward from 4 baited arms. Following the completion of the study phase, the animal was returned to the home cage for a 4 min retention interval, and the

maze was cleaned. Then, the animal was returned to the central hub for 1 min (total retention interval of 5 min) before the initiation of the test phase in which all 8 doors were opened, allowing free access to all arms. However, only the 4 arms that were unopened in the study phase dispensed food reward. An error in spatial long-term working memory was defined as a visit to an arm that was baited in the study phase and the total number of errors was recorded. Animal performance was determined by assessing the mean errors from the first three days of testing, the last three days of testing, and comparing the two as in (Clark et al., 2015).

4.2.5 Slice Preparation and Electrophysiology

Two weeks after completion of the RAM, brains from the mice slated for electrophysiological assessment were removed following deep anesthetization with halothane (Sigma) and were submerged in oxygenated (95% O₂ / 5% CO₂), ice-cold dissection artificial cerebrospinal fluid (dACSF; 120mM NaCl, 3mM KCl, 4mM MgCl₂, 1mM NaH₂PO₄, 26mM NaHCO₃, and 10mM glucose). A mid-sagittal cut was made, and half of the brain was mounted on its dorsal pole and sectioned along the horizontal plane with a vibratome to obtain 400 µm sections containing the vH. The other half was mounted on its caudal pole and sectioned along the horizontal plane with a vibratome to obtain 400 µm sections containing the dH. The vH and dH were subdissected from the rest of the slice and the CA3 region was removed. Slices were then transferred to a submersion-type chamber and perfused with oxygenated ($95\% O_2 / 5\%$ CO₂) ACSF (120mM NaCl, 3mM KCl, 1.5mM MgCl₂, 1mM NaH₂PO₄, 2.5mM CaCl₂, 26mM NaHCO₃, and 10mM glucose) and allowed to recover for 45 min at room temperature followed by 45 min at the recording temperature of 30 °C. Next, a bipolar stimulating electrode (Kopf Instruments, Tujunga, CA) and a 1.0 M Ω tungsten recording microelectrode (World Precision Instruments, Sarasota, FL) were placed in the stratum radiatum of CA1. A stimulus pulse was applied once every min consisting of a single square wave of 270 µs duration to elicit field excitatory postsynaptic potentials (fEPSPs) at Schaffer collateral-CA1 synapses.

A stimulus-response curve was acquired at the beginning of each experiment by incrementally delivering single 15 µA stimulus pulses ranging from 45-180 µA in intensity and measuring fEPSP slope (mV/ms) in a 1 ms interval immediately following the fiber volley. The stimulus intensity was adjusted to elicit stable baseline responses of approximately 35% of the maximal fEPSP slope. Paired-pulse responses were monitored each min for 5 min via paired-pulse stimulation with an interpulse interval of 50 ms. Baseline responses were recorded each min for 30 min prior to a high-frequency stimulation (HFS) protocol (3 x 100 Hz/1 s train at 20 s intervals) to induce long-term potentiation. fEPSP responses were monitored for the subsequent 60 min following HFS. fEPSP responses were normalized to baseline using the average value of the five responses immediately prior to HFS. LTP magnitude was determined via averaging the normalized fEPSP slope values at 56–60 min post-HFS. Electrophysiology data was digitized at 10kHz, low-pass filtered at 1kHz, and analyzed with pCLAMP 10.2 software (Axon Instruments, Sunnyvale, CA).

4.2.6 Tissue Collection

Following euthanasia, blood was collected in Na citrate (0.109M) containing tubes (BD, San Jose, CA) for plasma harvesting. Immediately afterward, organs (brain, inguinal lymph nodes, spleen, thymus, liver, and kidney) were weighed and frozen on dry ice. All tissues were stored at -80° C until analysis. For the brain only, a sagittal cut was made, and one half was quickly frozen on dry ice while the other half was immersion fixed as in (Krishna et al., 2016).

<u>4.2.7 Immunohistochemistry</u>

Fixed brains were coronally sectioned into 40 µm thick sections that were placed in phosphate buffer at 4°C until staining. Free-floating sections containing the striatum (STR) were labeled with anti-tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) for assessment of dopaminergic neurons/ terminal health as done previously (Filipov et al., 2009; Krishna et al., 2014). Briefly, for both bright field and immunofluorescence, endogenous peroxidase activity was quenched with 0.3% hydrogen peroxide (30%) and 0.3% normal goat serum in 1x TBS for 5 min and blocked in 3% normal
goat serum for 30 min at room temperature (RT). Following blocking, sections for bright field were immunostained with anti-TH primary antibody (1:2000; Millipore AB152) for 48 h at 4°C. Following primary antibody incubation, sections were thoroughly washed and incubated with the appropriate biotinylated secondary antibody (1:200; Vector Laboratories) for 30 min at RT, followed by a 30 min incubation with a Vector ABC reagent standard detection kit (Vector Labs, Burlingame, CA). TH was visualized by development in 3,3' diaminobenzidine (DAB) for approximately 3 min, followed by incubation in cresyl violet (CV) for 3 min to stain all neurons. For immunofluorescent sections, sections were incubated with a primary antibody cocktail (1:1000 rabbit anti-IBA-1 microglia marker, Wako Chemicals, Richmond, VA; and 1:3000 chicken anti-GFAP astrocyte marker, Aves Labs, Davis, CA) diluted in 0.1% TritonX-100 in PBS for 48 h at 4°C. Following primary antibody incubation, sections were thoroughly washed and incubated with the appropriate secondary fluorescent antibodies (GFAP: 1:1000 goat anti-rabbit 594, Abcam; and IBA-1: 1:1000 goat anti-chicken 488, Abcam) for 2 h at RT in the dark, followed by incubation with a nuclear stain for 5 min (Hoechst 33258, Invitrogen). Following the final washes, sections were mounted to slides, fixed with an ethanol gradient followed by xylene clearing, and coverslipped with VectaMount (Vector Labs).

Images were taken on a Zeiss Axioscope A1 and analysis of TH intensity, GFAP+ or IBA-1+ cells and signal intensity was done using ImageJ software. Regions of interest (ROIs) in the STR included the dorsolateral and ventromedial STR and were captured at 5x (n = 5 animals per group/3 sections per animal). The hilus region of the hippocampus was captured at 40x (11-19 images per treatment group). At the higher magnification (40x) GFAP+/Hoescht+ and IBA-1+/Hoescht+ cells were counted in the hilus region of the hippocampus using the Cell counter plugin of ImageJ.

4.2.8 Statistical Analysis

A two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to determine main effects of treatments or treatment interactions. If an ANOVA was significant ($p \le 0.05$), treatment means

were separated by Student-Newman-Keuls (SNK) *post hoc* test or planned pairwise comparisons (Student's t-test, as appropriate). All data, except electrophysiology and the RAM, were analyzed using SigmaPlot 12.5 (San Jose, CA), and all graphs were generated using GraphPad Prism 5 (San Diego, CA). Statistical analyses for electrophysiology and RAM data were analyzed using R version 3.3.2 (R Development Core Team, 2016, https://www.rproject.org/) and was completed via aov() function for analysis of variance (ANOVA) and the t.test function for the Student's *t*-test and paired *t*-test.

4.3 Results

4.4.1 Body Weights

Body weights of the vehicle and PB/PM groups were not different at the start of the GWI treatment (24.45 \pm 0.29 g vs. 24.33 \pm 0.26 g, p > 0.75) or subsequent bi-weekly weigh-ins (p's \geq 0.29) up to 4.5 months after the initial PB/PM exposure (Fig. 4.1C). At 5 months, the vehicle and PB/PM groups were randomly subdivided into an LNFPIII or a vehicle group for a total of 4 groups. There were no significant treatment differences for months 5-9, but at sacrifice (9 months), there was a trend (p \leq 0.08) for increased body weight in the PB/PM-treated mice (Fig. 4.1C).

4.3.2 Motor effects after prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment

4.3.2.1 Pole Test (PT)

PT performance was unaffected by either PB/PM or LNFPIII. The means and fastest times to turn ($p \ge 0.18$) and complete the test ($p \ge 0.18$) were not different among treatments (data not shown).

4.3.2.2 Grip Strength (GS)

Weight-normalized GS, an indicator of neuromuscular function, tended to be decreased by prior PB/PM exposure (average GS p = 0.08; max GS p = 0.09; Fig. 4.2A). LNFPIII treatment did not affect the performance of mice in this test significantly; that is, the immunotherapeutic only numerically increased GS, regardless of PB/PM treatment (Fig. 4.2A).

4.3.2.3 Sticker Removal (SR)

Both fastest contact (numerically) and fastest removal ($p \le 0.05$; Fig. 4.2B) times were increased in PB/PM-treated mice. LNFPIII treatment eliminated these increased latencies for removal or contact with the sticker. In the case of the fastest removal, where the PB/PM effect was significant, the beneficial effect of LNFPIII was also significant ($p \le 0.01$; Fig. 4.2B).

4.3.2.4 Open Field (OF)

Locomotor activity was significantly affected by prior PB/PM exposure regardless of LNFPIII as evident by decreases in the distance traveled ($p \le 0.01$; Fig. 4.2C), line crossings ($p \le 0.01$; data not shown), and vertical activity ($p \le 0.05$; Fig. 4.2C) during the first 5 min in the exploratory phase of the test. These locomotor effects did not persist, although there was a similar non-significant decrease in the distance traveled for the overall 30 min (data not shown). As expected, all mice habituated to the arena as all groups traveled less distance (Fig. 4.2D) and made fewer line crossings over time (data not shown) (p's ≤ 0.001).

4.3.2.5 Gait Test

Prior PB/PM exposure caused few specific alterations in gait. PB/PM mice took significantly more steps ($p \le 0.05$; Fig. 4.2E) and exhibited a numerical increase in hindlimb base width (data not shown). The step deficit caused by prior PB/PM treatment was not apparent in mice treated with LNFPIII (Fig. 4.2E). Additionally, LNFPIII treatment had beneficial effects on gait irrespective of PB/PM; it increased the stride length ($p \le 0.01$; Fig. 4.2F) and forepaw interstep distance (p = 0.08; data not shown) while decreasing stride length variability ($p \le 0.05$; Fig. 4.2G) and paw overlap (right paw, $p \le 0.05$; data not shown). Average speed, cadence, or time to finish were unaffected (data not shown).

4.3.2.6 Elevated Zero Maze (EZM)

Motor function with the EZM was evaluated by timing the closed-arm entry. There were no significant differences, but PB/PM treated mice were numerically slower to enter the closed

arm after initial placement on the maze (p = 0.12; Fig 4.2H). LNFPIII shortened the latencies to enter the closed arm (p > 0.35).

4.3.3 Long term mood effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment

4.3.3.1 Marble Burying (MB) Test

The average number of buried marbles (\geq 70%) during the test, irrespective of treatment, was 9 (45%). Mice's performance in this test was unaffected statistically by PB/PM exposure, LNFPIII, or their interaction. There was, however, a trend (p = 0.09; Fig. 4.3A) for prior PB/PM treatment to decrease the number of buried marbles, likely due to a neuromuscular deficit rather than an anxiolytic effect.

4.3.3.2 Elevated Zero Maze (EZM)

A trending treatment interaction (PB/PM x LNFPIII, p = 0.055; Fig. 4.3B) was present for open entries, in which PB/PM mice made fewer entries into the open arm than control (p = 0.07), a trend that was abrogated with delayed LNFPIII treatment. A similar trend was observed when times in open vs closed-arm were analyzed, i.e., PB/PM mice spent less and more time on the open and closed arms, respectively, and LNFPIII prevented this anxiety-like trend (p = 0.10).

4.3.3.3 Open Field (OF)

PB/PM treated mice exhibited more anxiety-like behavior in the OF; they spent less and more time in the center and periphery of the OF arena, respectively (p's \leq 0.05; Fig. 4.3C). These anxiety-like deficits caused by PB/PM exposure were not seen in mice treated with LNFPIII (Fig. 4.3C).

4.3.3.4 Swim Test (ST)

Climbing attempts and times spent mobile vs. immobile were not affected by PB/PM and/or LNFPIII during the 1st 5 min of the test or for the total 15 min test duration (immobile time: $p \ge 0.12$; Fig. 4.3D), albeit the climbing was numerically decreased by PB/PM treatment (data not shown). When the latency to the first bout of immobility was analyzed, there was a trend (p = 0.06) for a potentially anxiety-driven increase in the latency in the PB/PM treated mice, a trend that was mitigated in the mice that were also treated with LNFPIII (Fig. 4.3E).

4.3.3.5 Sucrose Preference (SP)

All groups exhibited strong sucrose preference ($p \le 0.001$; data not shown) and there were no significant main treatment differences (%: $p \ge 0.16$; Fig 4.3F). Interestingly, there was a significant treatment interaction (PB/PM x LNFPIII, $p \le 0.05$) for total sucrose consumed in which LNFPIII increased sucrose consumption within PB/PM groups, suggesting LNFPIII may be beneficial in increasing sensitivity to rewarding stimuli in animals previously exposed to GWI chemicals.

4.3.4 Cognition and memory effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment

4.3.4.1 Nest Building

Nest building was not affected by either treatment as all groups built full nests over the course of 24 h (time effect, $p \le 0.001$; Fig. 4.4A). Moreover, at each time point, there were no differences between PB/PM or LNFPIII treatments, suggesting prior PB/PM exposure did not cause severe hippocampal and/or striatal deficits that are associated with decreased performance in this test.

4.3.4.2 Barnes Maze (BM) Test

Significant main effects of day for responses variables such as path length, latency to the target hole, and errors demonstrated that all animals learned the target hole (TH) location as they took less time, made fewer errors, and traveled less distance over the 4 days of maze training (p's \leq 0.001; errors, Fig. 4.4B). However, prior PB/PM treatment led to acquisition phase deficits. Specifically, PB/PM mice were slower to learn and remember the TH location as evident on the last day of training (day 4), where PB/PM treated groups, irrespective of LNFPIII treatment, exhibited significant increases in path length (p \leq 0.01; data not shown), latency to TH (p \leq 0.01; data not shown), and errors (p \leq 0.001; Fig. 4.4B). Mice's performance in the probe trial was unaffected (e.g., probe trial errors; p \geq 0.85; data not shown).

4.3.4.3 Novel Object Recognition (NOR)

Short-term object recognition memory assessed with the NOR was impaired by PB/PM. Prior PB/PM exposure led to significant decreases in the novelty preference index (NPI)($p \le 0.05$; Fig. 4.4C), as well as novel object approaches and time spent at the novel object (p's ≤ 0.05 ; data not shown). LNFPIII treatment did not modulate these effects in a significant manner. 4.3.4.4 Radial Arm Maze (RAM)

Following 10 consecutive days of training in a dH-dependent 8-arm radial arm maze (RAM) uninterrupted foraging task (Potvin et al., 2006), all mice significantly improved their performance over time ($p \le 0.001$; Fig. 4.4D). These data suggest that PB/PM exposure did not significantly impair dH-dependent short-term spatial working memory. Interestingly, LNFPIII treated mice initially (days 1-3) made significantly fewer errors (LNFPIII main effect $p \le 0.01$; Fig. 4.4D), suggesting that LNFPIII improves early performance in this task irrespective of PB/PM treatment.

Similar to the foraging task, following 10 consecutive days of training in a vH-dependent modified Win-shift task to assess long-term spatial working memory (Floresco et al., 1997; O'Neill et al., 2013; Clark et al., 2015; Tamura et al., 2017), a significant main effect of training (Days 1-3 vs Days 8-10; $p \le 0.05$), but not treatment, on performance over time was present (Fig. 4.4E). This main training effect was not due to a group-specific error reduction. Rather, it was due to a significantly worse (more errors) performance of PB/PM mice compared to control mice on days 1-3 ($p \le 0.05$; Fig. 4.4E), an effect not seen in PB/PM mice that were also treated with LNFPIII.

<u>4.3.5 Dorsal and ventral hippocampal electrophysiology 8 months post PB/PM exposure and 4</u> months post-LNFPIII treatment initiation

At 8 months post-PB/PM exposure and roughly 4 months after LNFPIII treatment initiation, no significant main effect of PB/PM exposure on dH LTP magnitude was observed. However, a significant main effect of LNFPIII treatment resulted in increased dH LTP magnitude

(p ≤ 0.01), leading to enhanced dH LTP magnitude in LNFPIII treated mice compared to their vehicle counterparts (p's ≤ 0.05; Fig. 4.5A). A significant treatment interaction effect (PB/PM x LNFPIII; p ≤ 0.05) on basal synaptic transmission resulted in reduced dH basal synaptic activity at 90, 105, 135, 150, 165, and 180 μ A stimulus intensities in PB/PM exposed animals (p's ≤ 0.05); this was not seen in animals also treated with LNFPIII (Fig. 4.5B). Further, dH paired-pulse facilitation (PPF) was not impacted by either treatment (Supplemental Fig. 4.1A).

In the vH, LTP magnitude was unaffected by PB/PM; however, LNFPIII enhanced vH LTP magnitude (PB/PM-LNFPIII vs PB/PM-vehicle mice; p < 0.05; Fig. 4.5C). A significant PB/PM treatment x stimulus intensity interaction effect resulted in a reduction of vH basal synaptic transmission in PB/PM exposed animals ($p \le 0.001$). Specifically, there was a significant reduction in vH basal synaptic transmission at stimulus intensities of 90, 120, 135, and 150 µA (p's ≤ 0.05) and a trending reduction at 105 and 165 µA (p = 0.053 and p = 0.054, respectively) in PB/PM mice compared to control mice (Fig. 4.5D). Further, LNFPIII treatment significantly recovered vH basal synaptic transmission at 75, 90, and 105 µA (p's ≤ 0.05) and numerically at 120, 150, and 165 µA stimulus intensities (p's ≤ 0.10) in PB/PM exposed mice (Fig. 4.5D). No significant treatment effects were observed on vH PPF 8 months after PB/PM exposure (Supplemental Fig. 4.1B).

<u>4.3.6 Tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) immunoreactivity in the dorsolateral and ventromedial striatum</u> <u>9 months post PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment</u>

In the dorsolateral striatum (DL STR), there were no significant main treatment effects for TH immunoreactivity. However, LNFPIII increased TH optical density in the vehicle-LNFPIII mice ($p \le 0.05$; Fig. 4.6A). A similar effect was also apparent in the ventromedial (VM) STR, in which there were no significant main effects of either treatment on TH levels, but there was a trend for TH increase in the vehicle-LNFPIII group (p = 0.06; Fig. 4.6B). See Figure 4.6C for representative images.

<u>4.3.7 GFAP and IBA-1 immunoreactivity in the hilus region of the hippocampus 9 months post</u> PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment

Analysis of astrocytes (GFAP+/Hoescht+) in the hilus region of the hippocampus revealed a trending interaction (PB/PM x LNFPIII; p = 0.06); pairwise-comparisons between the vehicle-vehicle and PB/PM-vehicle groups revealed increased GFAP by PB/PM (p \leq 0.05; Fig. 4.7A). This PB/PM increase in GFAP was eliminated by LNFPIII (p \leq 0.05; Fig. 4.7A). Similar analysis of microglia (IBA-1+/Hoescht+) in the hilus revealed a significant interaction (PB/PM x LNFPIII; p \leq 0.05) in which LNFPIII reduced the abundance of IBA-1 immunoreactivity within PB/PM-treated mice (p \leq 0.05; Fig. 4.7B). See Figure 4.7C for representative GFAP/IBA-1 staining.

4.4 Discussion

Multiple preclinical studies have characterized acute and persisting neurological aberrations in PB/PM-based GWI models (Abdullah et al., 2011; Abdullah et al., 2013; Zakirova et al., 2015; Zakirova et al., 2016; Zakirova et al., 2017; Joshi et al., 2018; Joshi et al., 2019; Joshi et al., 2020), but some knowledge gaps remain. The present study sought to extensively evaluate the long-term implications of prior GWI chemical (PB/PM) exposure on neurobehavioral and neurobiological function 6-8 months post GWI-related symptomology induction. Additionally, treatment with an immunomodulatory agent, LNFPIII, was initiated several months post PB/PM exposure to assess its beneficial effects in the context of GWI. As expected, prior PB/PMtreatment led to multiple behavioral deficits in motor, mood, and cognitive/memory functions that, at this stage, were mild to moderate in nature. LNFPIII treatment, initiated months after PB/PM exposure, improved multiple outcomes. The PB/PM-related deficits and benefits of LNFPIII were further examined through ex-vivo electrophysiology recordings for hippocampal function and post-mortem immunohistochemical analysis of dopamine homeostasis and glial status in the brain. Overall, delayed LNFPIII treatment ameliorated numerous PB/PM-elicited maladaptive changes in neurobehavioral and neurobiological function months after the initial exposure period (refer to radar plot summary, Fig. 4.8).

To identify potential mechanisms influencing the observed motor and mood behavioral deficits, striatal tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), the rate-limiting enzyme for dopamine (DA) synthesis, was evaluated immunohistochemically. In an earlier study, we examined the effects of PB/PM on DA 6 h post-exposure found that PB/PM increased DA turnover (utilization) in the striatum (STR) (Carpenter et al., 2020); however, whether these effects persist long term remained undetermined. Historically, neuropathological alterations along the nigrostriatal pathway, comprised of DA projections from the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNpc) to the STR (medial, dorsolateral), are associated with motor impairments (dyskinesia, rigidity, and posture instability) seen in neurodegenerative disorders, such as Parkinson's Disease (PD) (Kalia and Lang, 2015). Additionally, disruption in the mesolimbic pathway, consisting of DA projections from the ventral tegmental area (VTA) to the ventromedial (VM) STR, can lead to affect disorders such as anhedonia, anxiety, and depression, also observed in some patients with PD (Cooney and Stacy, 2016). Current data indicate that 9 months post PB/PM exposure, nigral VTA DA neuron terminals are not affected significantly. Given that DA neurons, especially nigrostriatal ones, decline with neuronal aging and GWI veterans experience accelerated aging (Zundel et al., 2019), it will be prudent to evaluate this axis 10-14 months post-exposure. Interestingly, LNFPIII treatment, independent of PB/PM exposure, increased the levels of DA terminal field (TH) intensity in both the dorsolateral (DL) and VM STR, suggesting that LNFPIII may be beneficial in the absence of GWI exposures. LNFPIII treatment may also be beneficial later in the progression of the disease, e.g. in the aged veterans with GWI.

In this study, several parameters of motor function were impacted by PB/PM GWI treatment. Neuromuscular function (grip strength) was moderately decreased by prior PB/PM exposure. These results are consistent with an earlier study demonstrating a short-term decrease in grip strength post-PB/PM exposure, where PM was applied topically and the PB/PM

ratio/duration of exposure differed from the present study (Abou-Donia et al., 2004). Of note, sensorimotor function was impaired as PB/PM mice performed worse than controls in the sticker removal (SR) task, and this deficit was eliminated by LNFPIII. This new information is in line with reports of GWI veterans exhibiting sensorimotor problems (Axelrod and Milner, 1997; Proctor et al., 2006; Toomey et al., 2009), and suggests that LNFPIII might ameliorate this aberration. Additionally, PB/PM exposure decreased marble-burying activity, an effect normally interpreted as an inhibition of anxiety-like behavior. However, considering the neuromuscular and sensorimotor deficits observed, the decreased burying might be indicative of a motor impairment. Impaired locomotor performance was present in the EZM, as PB/PM mice entered the closed arms more slowly than controls post placement on the maze; this abnormal effect was ameliorated numerically by LNFPIII. Open Field locomotor deficits presented as decreases in distance traveled and rearing during the exploratory phase of the test. These results align with a similar study in which 1 month post-GW chemicals exposure, there was a decrease in total distance traveled in PB/PM mice (Abdullah et al., 2011). Together, the present study and (Abdullah et al., 2011), suggest that motor deficits, especially in exploratory behavior, manifest early and likely persist post-PB/PM exposure. Further, these deficits in locomotor function may be propagated by PB/PM gait deficiencies as PB/PM mice took significantly more steps and exhibited increased hindlimb base width in the gait test. No fat distribution differences existed among groups (data not shown), suggesting that PB/PM mice exhibited a wider stance for postural stability. This interpretation is in line with a previous report demonstrating that PB/PM treatment-induced subtle, ataxic-like effects (Abdullah et al., 2011). Taken together with previous motor data, gait deficiencies observed in this study suggest that PB/PM mice have a compromised ability and/or compensate more to achieve normal locomotor function from controls. LNFPIII prevented the increased step number, stride length, and it also reduced stride length variability, suggesting this immunotherapeutic has gait and postural effects that may not only be beneficial in the context of GWI, but overall as well.

Altered mood has been consistently reported in veterans with GWI (Sullivan et al., 2003; Janulewicz et al., 2017) and experimental GWI models (Abdullah et al., 2013; Parihar et al., 2013; Zakirova et al., 2016; Carreras et al., 2018; Joshi et al., 2018; Phillips et al., 2019). Here, months after PB/PM exposure, mood impairments were predominantly anxiety-like. In the EZM, subtle, anxiety-like behaviors were identified by numerical decreases in open arm entries and time spent in open arms for PB/PM mice with the former response variable approaching significance. PB/PM-associated anxiety-like behavior also manifested as significant decreases and increases in time spent in the center and periphery in the OF, respectively; LNFPIII prevented these anxiety-like effects. Differences in depressive-like behaviors were not observed among groups for behavioral despair (ST) or anhedonia (SP). Although climbing attempts, an escape behavior in the ST, were numerically decreased in PB/PM mice, this aligned more so with the observed motor impairments than mood dysfunction. Interestingly, PB/PM mice were mobile for a longer duration prior to the first bout of immobility, suggesting this effect may also be anxiety-related. It has been suggested that certain forms of anxiety (i.e., hyperactive and panic states) may precede depression; thus, it is possible that this increased latency to behavioral despair is due to the initial anxiogenic effect of the ST (Paul, 1988; Boyer, 2000; Merikangas et al., 2003; Polani, 2004). Of note, this effect was not observed with LNFPIII, further suggesting that this novel treatment ameliorates GWI-related affect dysfunction. Mood alterations in experimental GWI models vary and depend on the animal's age and GW chemicals used to recapitulate the disease (Abdullah et al., 2011; Zakirova et al., 2016; Carreras et al., 2018; Joshi et al., 2018). For example, studies investigating behaviors at early time points post-GW chemicals/manipulations (e.g. DEET, diisopropylfluorophosphate, and stress) indicated increases in both anxiety- and depressive-like behaviors (Parihar et al., 2013; Carreras et al., 2018; Phillips et al., 2019). However, studies utilizing the PB/PM paradigm only detected anxiety-like behaviors shortly after exposure (Abdullah et al., 2012). Interestingly, longterm studies did not observe persistent anxiety-like behavior in PB/PM treated mice on the

Elevated Plus Maze and OF, but did observe depressive-like behavior in the ST 10 and 13 months post-exposure (Zakirova et al., 2016; Joshi et al., 2018). The present findings observed anxiety-like, but not depressive-like, behavior 6-7 months post PB/PM exposure, providing insight into the progression of mood alterations of animals tested 6-7 months post-PB/PM exposure. Our findings shed additional light into a possible shift from anxiety to depression in the context of GWI and other conditions over time (Paul, 1988; Merikangas et al., 2003).

Consistent with clinical complaints of GWI veterans (White et al., 2016), previous animal studies have observed several learning and memory deficits months after PB/PM exposure that are generally attributed to pathological changes in the hippocampus (Abdullah et al., 2011; Zakirova et al., 2015; Zakirova et al., 2016; Joshi et al., 2018). The dorsal (dH) and the ventral (vH) hippocampus are increasingly appreciated as functionally distinct structures where the dH primarily serves as a center for learning and memory whereas the vH is fundamentally involved in regulating stress/emotional responses (Fanselow and Dong, 2010; Papatheodoropoulos, 2018). In the present study, profound PB/PM-induced impairments were not observed in dHand vH- specific learning and memory tasks such as the Radial Arm Maze (RAM), Barnes Maze (BM), and nesting behavior tests. However, short-term, dH- and perirhinal cortex-specific recognition memory was impaired in the Novel Object Recognition (NOR) task by prior PB/PM exposure. Further, although PB/PM exposed mice improved their performance in the BM, they did so at a significantly slower rate than controls in the training phase; LNFPIII did not improve these measures. This finding is consistent with a previous study examining performance in the BM 15 months post PB/PM exposure (Zakirova et al., 2016). Similar studies assessing the impact of PB/PM exposure on BM performance did not observe this effect at 5- or 22-months post-exposure, highlighting a potential transient, adverse neurological effect on reference memory at 8-15 months after PB/PM exposure (Zakirova et al., 2015; Zakirova et al., 2016), but this needs further investigation. Likewise, all groups improved their performance in the dHdependent short-term spatial working memory RAM foraging task. Of note, LNFPIII groups

performed significantly better early in this test. No observable deficits in the vH-dependent longterm spatial working memory RAM Win-shift task were noted by the end of training in the paradigm. However, similar to the training phase of the BM, PB/PM mice performed significantly worse early-on, an effect that was not observed in PB/PM mice that received LNFPIII treatment. Overall, these data suggest modest aberrant and ameliorative effects of PB/PM exposure and LNFPIII treatment, respectively, on dH and vH-dependent behavioral function. Identifying hippocampal dorsoventral-specific effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment on synaptic plasticity and transmission may be critical for interpreting the subtle hippocampal-dependent behavioral abnormalities/ameliorations presented here.

Previous studies indicate PB/PM exposure can lead to a neuroinflammatory phenotype that manifests with prolonged aberrations in glial function and sustained inflammation (Abdullah et al., 2011; Zakirova et al., 2016; Joshi et al., 2018; Joshi et al., 2019; Carpenter et al., 2020). Under conditions of neuroinflammation, enhanced inflammatory cytokine production leads to aberrant activation of glial cells and subsequent impairment of hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission, resulting in deficits in learning and memory (Maher et al., 2006; Kelly et al., 2013; Habbas et al., 2015; Prieto and Cotman, 2017). Furthermore, enhanced expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines reduces the secretion of hippocampal brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Barrientos et al., 2004; Yirmiya and Goshen, 2011; Littlefield et al., 2015), a critical trophic factor involved in synaptic transmission (Kang and Schuman, 1995). Studies utilizing the PB/PM GWI model have found varying results surrounding glial activation in the hippocampus during the progression of GWI. In one study, at 5 months post PB/PM exposure, astrogliosis but not microgliosis was apparent (Abdullah et al., 2011), whereas both were observed at 15 months (Abdullah et al., 2016; Joshi et al., 2018), but not different from controls at 22 months (Zakirova et al., 2016). These results are in line with the current study. Here, at 9 months post-prior PB/PM exposure, immunohistochemical analysis of GFAP (astrocytes) and IBA-1 (microglia) revealed a PB/PM-dependent GFAP increase and a less pronounced one of

IBA-1 in the hippocampus. Importantly, LNFPIII treatment reduced both GFAP and IBA-1 within the GWI context, indicative of its anti-inflammatory properties. This sustained neuroinflammation post-GWI exposures may underlie the persisting impairments in hippocampal synaptic transmission as well as the beneficial effects of LNFPIII discussed herein.

Hippocampal electrophysiology data revealed reduced dH and vH basal synaptic transmission by PB/PM, an effect that is consistent with a GWI study employing a different exposure paradigm that observed prolonged deficits in excitatory and inhibitory hippocampal neurotransmission (Wang et al., 2020). These preclinical findings of persisting disruptions in glutamatergic neurotransmission are in line with a recent clinical trial that observed amelioration of some GWI-specific symptoms in veterans that received a low glutamate diet (Holton et al., 2020). Interestingly, LNFPIII recovered vH, but not dH, basal synaptic transmission, which may be attributed to LNFPIII-mediated normalization of glial function, namely of pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion and enhancement of anti-inflammatory cytokine production in this inflammation-sensitive hippocampal sector (Onufriev et al., 2017; Pearson-Leary et al., 2017; Zheng et al., 2017; Kyran et al., 2018; Pearson-Leary et al., 2019; Pearson-Leary et al., 2020).

Finally, hippocampal LTP, a well-established synaptic substrate for learning and memory (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993; Whitlock et al., 2006), was assessed to determine if PB/PM exposure adversely impacted hippocampal synaptic plasticity and if LNFPIII would be beneficial. While PB/PM exposure did not affect LTP, an enhancement of dH and vH LTP magnitude was detected in LNFPIII-treated mice, suggesting prolonged treatment likely increased ERK-1/2 phosphorylation and potentiated hippocampal synaptic efficacy (Tundup et al., 2015). Additionally, a lack of a PB/PM-induced effect on a presynaptic-related mechanism of synaptic plasticity (i.e paired-pulse facilitation) in addition to PB/PM-mediated impairments of dH and vH synaptic transmission is consistent with a decrease in the density of synapses in the CA1 subfield. This interpretation is in line with preclinical GWI studies that observed reductions in hippocampal CA1 apical dendritic spine density (Speed et al., 2011), CA1 principal cell

postsynaptic density protein 95 expression (Wang et al., 2020), as well as decreased hippocampal neuronal cellular proliferation and neurogenesis months after GWI-related exposures (Parihar et al., 2013; Megahed et al., 2014; Kodali et al., 2018; Shetty et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). Although previous studies indicated synaptic density and hippocampal neurogenesis may be persistently impaired in animals exposed to GW chemicals, normalization of the fEPSP slope value in the LTP response provides the opportunity to detect the LNFPIII induced enhancement of LTP magnitude. Accordingly, while delayed LNFPIII treatment enhanced dH and vH LTP magnitude irrespective of prior PB/PM exposure, given the progressive nature of the disease, LNFPIII may be an even more efficacious treatment for ameliorating synaptic anomalies that underlie GWI-related cognitive impairments later in the course of the disease.

Acknowledgments:

This research was supported by Department of Defense grant number W81XWH-16-1-0586 to NMF. AND and RAB's participation in this research was made possible by National Institute of Health (NIH) grant T35OD010433.

References

- Abdullah L, Crynen G, Reed J, Bishop A, Phillips J, Ferguson S, Mouzon B, Mullan M, Mathura V, Mullan M, Ait-Ghezala G, and Crawford F (2011) Proteomic CNS profile of delayed cognitive impairment in mice exposed to Gulf War agents. *NeuroMolecular Medicine* **13**: 275-288.
- Abdullah L, Evans JE, Bishop A, Reed JM, Crynen G, Phillips J, Pelot R, Mullan MA, Ferro A, Mullan CM, Mullan MJ, Ait-Ghezala G, and Crawford FC (2012) Lipidomic profiling of phosphocholine-containing brain lipids in mice with sensorimotor deficits and anxiety-like features after exposure to Gulf War agents. *NeuroMolecular Medicine* **14**: 349-361.
- Abdullah L, Evans JE, Joshi U, Crynen G, Reed J, Mouzon B, Baumann S, Montague H, Zakirova Z, Emmerich T, Bachmeier C, Klimas N, Sullivan K, Mullan M, Ait-Ghezala G, and Crawford F (2016) Translational potential of long-term decreases in mitochondrial lipids in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *Toxicology* **372**: 22-33.
- Abdullah L, Evans JE, Montague H, Reed JM, Moser A, Crynen G, Gonzalez A, Zakirova Z, Ross I, and Mullan C (2013) Chronic elevation of phosphocholine containing lipids in mice exposed to Gulf War agents pyridostigmine bromide and permethrin. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **40:** 74-84.
- Abou-Donia MB, Dechkovskaia AM, Goldstein LB, Abdel-Rahman A, Bullman SL, and Khan WA (2004) Co-exposure to pyridostigmine bromide, DEET, and/or permethrin causes sensorimotor deficit and alterations in brain acetylcholinesterase activity. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior* **77**: 253-262.
- Abou-Donia MB, Dechkovskaia AM, Goldstein LB, Bullman SL, and Khan WA (2002) Sensorimotor Deficit and Cholinergic Changes following Coexposure with Pyridostigmine Bromide and Sarin in Rats. *Toxicological Sciences* **66**: 148-158.
- Alonso M, Medina JH, and Pozzo-Miller L (2004) ERK1/2 activation is necessary for BDNF to increase dendritic spine density in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons. *Learn Mem* **11**: 172-178.
- Alshelh Z, Albrecht DS, Bergan C, Akeju O, Clauw DJ, Conboy L, Edwards RR, Kim M, Lee YC, Protsenko E, Napadow V, Sullivan K, and Loggia ML (2020) In-vivo imaging of neuroinflammation in veterans with Gulf War illness. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*.
- Anger WK, Storzbach D, Binder LM, Campbell KA, Rohlman DS, McCauley L, Kovera CA, and Davis KL (1999) Neurobehavioral deficits in Persian Gulf veterans: Evidence from a population-based study. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society* **5:** 203-212.
- Atochina O, Da'dara AA, Walker M, and Harn DA (2008) The immunomodulatory glycan LNFPIII initiates alternative activation of murine macrophages in vivo. *Immunology* **125:** 111-121.
- Axelrod BN and Milner IB (1997) Neuropsychological findings in a sample of Operation Desert Storm veterans. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences* **9:** 23-28.
- Babb SJ and Crystal JD (2006) Discrimination of what, when, and where is not based on time of day. *Learning & Behavior* **34**: 124-130.
- Baraniuk JN, El-Amin S, Corey R, Rayhan R, and Timbol C (2013) Carnosine treatment for gulf war illness: a randomized controlled trial. *Glob J Health Sci* **5**: 69-81.
- Barrientos RM, Sprunger DB, Campeau S, Watkins LR, Rudy JW, and Maier SF (2004) BDNF mRNA expression in rat hippocampus following contextual learning is blocked by intrahippocampal IL-1β administration. *J Neuroimmunol* **155**: 119-126.
- Bhargava P, Li C, Stanya KJ, Jacobi D, Dai L, Liu S, Gangl MR, Harn DA, and Lee CH (2012) Immunomodulatory glycan LNFPIII alleviates hepatosteatosis and insulin resistance through direct and indirect control of metabolic pathways. *Nature Medicine* **18:** 1665-1672.

- Bliss TV and Collingridge GL (1993) A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Nature* **361:** 31.
- Boyer P (2000) Do anxiety and depression have a common pathophysiological mechanism? *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* **102:** 24-29.
- Braun AA, Skelton MR, Vorhees CV, and Williams MT (2011) Comparison of the elevated plus and elevated zero mazes in treated and untreated male Sprague–Dawley rats: Effects of anxiolytic and anxiogenic agents. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior* **97:** 406-415.
- Broderick G, Ben-Hamo R, Vashishtha S, Efroni S, Nathanson L, Barnes Z, Fletcher MA, and Klimas N (2013) Altered immune pathway activity under exercise challenge in Gulf War Illness: an exploratory analysis. *Brain Behav Immun* **28**: 159-169.
- Broderick G, Fletcher MA, Gallagher M, Barnes Z, Vernon SD, and Klimas NG (2018) Exploring the Diagnostic Potential of Immune Biomarker Co-expression in Gulf War Illness. *Psychoneuroimmunology*: 101-120.
- Carpenter JM, Gordon HE, Ludwig HD, Wagner JJ, Harn DA, Norberg T, and Filipov NM (2020) Neurochemical and neuroinflammatory perturbations in two Gulf War Illness models: Modulation by the immunotherapeutic LNFPIII. *NeuroToxicology* **77**: 40-50.
- Carreras I, Aytan N, Mellott T, Choi J-K, Lehar M, Crabtree L, Leite-Morris K, Jenkins BG, Blusztajn JK, and Dedeoglu A (2018) Anxiety, neuroinflammation, cholinergic and GABAergic abnormalities are early markers of Gulf War illness in a mouse model of the disease. *Brain Res* **1681:** 34-43.
- Chao LL, Abadjian L, Hlavin J, Meyerhoff DJ, and Weiner MW (2011) Effects of low-level sarin and cyclosarin exposure and Gulf War Illness on Brain Structure and Function: A study at 4T. *NeuroToxicology* **32**: 814-822.
- Chao LL, Rothlind JC, Cardenas VA, Meyerhoff DJ, and Weiner MW (2010) Effects of low-level exposure to sarin and cyclosarin during the 1991 Gulf War on brain function and brain structure in US veterans. *NeuroToxicology* **31**: 493-501.
- Chao LL, Zhang Y, and Buckley S (2015) Effects of low-level sarin and cyclosarin exposure on white matter integrity in Gulf War Veterans. *NeuroToxicology* **48**: 239-248.
- Clark JK, Furgerson M, Crystal JD, Fechheimer M, Furukawa R, and Wagner JJ (2015) Alterations in synaptic plasticity coincide with deficits in spatial working memory in presymptomatic 3xTg-AD mice. *Neurobiol Learn Mem* **125**: 152-162.
- Conrad KL, Louderback KM, Gessner CP, and Winder DG (2011) Stress-induced alterations in anxiety-like behavior and adaptations in plasticity in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. *Physiology & Behavior* **104**: 248-256.
- Cooney JW and Stacy M (2016) Neuropsychiatric Issues in Parkinson's Disease. *Current* Neurology and Neuroscience Reports **16:** 49.
- DDGWIRP (2018) The Gulf War Illness Landscape in (Programs DoDCDMR ed).
- Deacon R (2012) Assessing burrowing, nest construction, and hoarding in mice. *J Vis Exp*: e2607.
- Donta ST, Engel CC, Jr., Collins JF, Baseman JB, Dever LL, Taylor T, Boardman KD, Kazis LE, Martin SE, Horney RA, Wiseman AL, Kernodle DS, Smith RP, Baltch AL, Handanos C, Catto B, Montalvo L, Everson M, Blackburn W, Thakore M, Brown ST, Lutwick L, Norwood D, Bernstein J, Bacheller C, Ribner B, Church LW, Wilson KH, Guduru P, Cooper R, Lentino J, Hamill RJ, Gorin AB, Gordan V, Wagner D, Robinson C, DeJace P, Greenfield R, Beck L, Bittner M, Schumacher HR, Silverblatt F, Schmitt J, Wong E, Ryan MA, Figueroa J, Nice C, Feussner JR, and Group VAC (2004) Benefits and harms of doxycycline treatment for Gulf War veterans' illnesses: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 141: 85-94.
- Eagle AL, Mazei-Robison M, and Robison AJ (2016) Sucrose Preference Test to Measure Stress-induced Anhedonia. *Bio-protocol* **6:** e1822.

- Fanselow MS and Dong H-W (2010) Are the dorsal and ventral hippocampus functionally distinct structures? *Neuron* **65:** 7-19.
- Filipov NM, Norwood AB, and Sistrunk SC (2009) Strain-specific sensitivity to MPTP of C57BL/6 and BALB/c mice is age dependent. *NeuroReport* **20**.
- Fleming SM, Ekhator OR, and Ghisays V (2013) Assessment of sensorimotor function in mouse models of Parkinson's disease. *Journal of visualized experiments : JoVE*: 50303.
- Floresco SB, Seamans JK, and Phillips AG (1997) Selective roles for hippocampal, prefrontal cortical, and ventral striatal circuits in radial-arm maze tasks with or without a delay. *J Neurosci* **17**: 1880-1890.
- Furgerson M, Clark JK, Crystal JD, Wagner JJ, Fechheimer M, and Furukawa R (2014) Hirano body expression impairs spatial working memory in a novel mouse model. *Acta Neuropathologica Communications* **2:** 131.
- Golier JA, Caramanica K, Michaelides AC, Makotkine I, Schmeidler J, Harvey PD, and Yehuda R (2016) A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover trial of mifepristone in Gulf War veterans with chronic multisymptom illness. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* **64**: 22-30.
- Golomb BA, Allison M, Koperski S, Koslik HJ, Devaraj S, and Ritchie JB (2014) Coenzyme Q10 benefits symptoms in Gulf War veterans: results of a randomized double-blind study. *Neural Comput* **26**: 2594-2651.
- Habbas S, Santello M, Becker D, Stubbe H, Zappia G, Liaudet N, Klaus FR, Kollias G, Fontana A, and Pryce CR (2015) Neuroinflammatory TNFα impairs memory via astrocyte signaling. *Cell* **163**: 1730-1741.
- Hattiangady B, Mishra V, Kodali M, Shuai B, Rao X, and Shetty AK (2014) Object location and object recognition memory impairments, motivation deficits and depression in a model of Gulf War illness. *Front Behav Neurosci* 8: 78.
- Heaton KJ, Palumbo CL, Proctor SP, Killiany RJ, Yurgelun-Todd DA, and White RF (2007) Quantitative magnetic resonance brain imaging in US army veterans of the 1991 Gulf War potentially exposed to sarin and cyclosarin. *NeuroToxicology* **28**: 761-769.
- Helmer DA, Van Doren WW, Litke DR, Tseng CL, Ho L, Osinubi O, and Pasinetti GM (2020) Safety, Tolerability and Efficacy of Dietary Supplementation with Concord Grape Juice in Gulf War Veterans with Gulf War Illness: A Phase I/IIA, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial. *International journal of environmental research and public health* **17**.
- Hofele K, Sedelis M, Auburger GW, Morgan S, Huston JP, and Schwarting RKW (2001) Evidence for a Dissociation between MPTP Toxicity and Tyrosinase Activity Based on Congenic Mouse Strain Susceptibility. *Experimental Neurology* **168**: 116-122.
- Holton KF, Kirkland AE, Baron M, Ramachandra SS, Langan MT, Brandley ET, and Baraniuk JN (2020) The Low Glutamate Diet Effectively Improves Pain and Other Symptoms of Gulf War Illness. *International journal of environmental research and public health* **12**: 2593.
- Hubbard NA, Hutchison JL, Motes MA, Shokri-Kojori E, Bennett IJ, Brigante RM, Haley RW, and Rypma B (2014) Central Executive Dysfunction and Deferred Prefrontal Processing in Veterans with Gulf War Illness. *Clinical Psychological Science* **2**: 319-327.
- Janulewicz PA, Krengel MH, Maule A, White RF, Cirillo J, Šisson E, Heeren T, and Sullivan K (2017) Neuropsychological characteristics of Gulf War illness: A meta-analysis. *PLoS One* **12**: e0177121-e0177121.
- Joshi U, Evans JE, Joseph R, Emmerich T, Saltiel N, Lungmus C, Oberlin S, Langlois H, Ojo J, and Mouzon B (2018) Oleoylethanolamide treatment reduces neurobehavioral deficits and brain pathology in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *Sci Rep* **8**: 12921.

- Joshi U, Evans JE, Pearson A, Saltiel N, Cseresznye A, Darcey T, Ojo J, Keegan AP, Oberlin S, and Mouzon B (2020) Targeting sirtuin activity with nicotinamide riboside reduces neuroinflammation in a GWI mouse model. *NeuroToxicology* **79**: 84-94.
- Joshi U, Pearson A, Evans JE, Langlois H, Saltiel N, Ojo J, Klimas N, Sullivan K, Keegan AP, and Oberlin S (2019) A permethrin metabolite is associated with adaptive immune responses in Gulf War Illness. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*: 545-559.
- Kalia LV and Lang AE (2015) Parkinson's disease. The Lancet 386: 896-912.
- Kang H and Schuman EM (1995) Long-lasting neurotrophin-induced enhancement of synaptic transmission in the adult hippocampus. *Science* **267**: 1658-1662.
- Kelly RJ, Minogue AM, Lyons A, Jones RS, Browne TC, Costello DA, Denieffe S, O'Sullivan C, Connor TJ, and Lynch MA (2013) Glial activation in AβPP/PS1 mice is associated with infiltration of IFNγ-producing cells. *J Alzheimers Dis* **37**: 63-75.
- Kimono D, Bose D, Seth RK, Mondal A, Saha P, Janulewicz P, Sullivan K, Lasley S, Horner R, Klimas N, and Chatterjee S (2020) Host Akkermansia muciniphila Abundance Correlates With Gulf War Illness Symptom Persistence via NLRP3-Mediated Neuroinflammation and Decreased Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor. *Neuroscience Insights* 15: 2633105520942480.
- Kodali M, Hattiangady B, Shetty G, Bates A, Shuai B, and Shetty A (2018) Curcumin treatment leads to better cognitive and mood function in a model of Gulf War Illness with enhanced neurogenesis, and alleviation of inflammation and mitochondrial dysfunction in the hippocampus. *Brain Behav Immun* **69:** 499-514.
- Krishna S, Dodd CA, Hekmatyar SK, and Filipov NM (2014) Brain deposition and neurotoxicity of manganese in adult mice exposed via the drinking water. *Arch Toxicol* **88**: 47-64.
- Krishna S, Lin Z, de La Serre CB, Wagner JJ, Harn DH, Pepples LM, Djani DM, Weber MT, Srivastava L, and Filipov NM (2016) Time-dependent behavioral, neurochemical, and metabolic dysregulation in female C57BL/6 mice caused by chronic high-fat diet intake. *Physiology & Behavior* **157**: 196-208.
- Kyran EL, Robinson C, Kocovski P, Li Z, Dang PT, Hale MW, and Orian JM (2018) Multiple pathological mechanisms contribute to hippocampal damage in the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis model of multiple sclerosis. *Neuroreport* **29:** 19-24.
- Lin Z, Dodd CA, and Filipov NM (2013) Short-term atrazine exposure causes behavioral deficits and disrupts monoaminergic systems in male C57BL/6 mice. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology* **39:** 26-35.
- Littlefield AM, Setti SE, Priester C, and Kohman RA (2015) Voluntary exercise attenuates LPSinduced reductions in neurogenesis and increases microglia expression of a proneurogenic phenotype in aged mice. *J Neuroinflammation* **12:** 138.
- Macht VA, Woodruff JL, Maissy ES, Grillo CA, Wilson MA, Fadel JR, and Reagan LP (2019) Pyridostigmine bromide and stress interact to impact immune function, cholinergic neurochemistry and behavior in a rat model of Gulf War Illness. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity.*
- Madhu LN, Attaluri S, Kodali M, Shuai B, Upadhya R, Gitai D, and Shetty AK (2019) Neuroinflammation in Gulf War Illness is linked with HMGB1 and complement activation, which can be discerned from brain-derived extracellular vesicles in the blood. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity* **81:** 430-443.
- Maher FO, Clarke RM, Kelly A, Nally RE, and Lynch MA (2006) Interaction between interferon γ and insulin-like growth factor-1 in hippocampus impacts on the ability of rats to sustain long-term potentiation. *J Neurochem* **96:** 1560-1571.
- Megahed T, Hattiangady B, Shuai B, and Shetty AK (2014) Parvalbumin and neuropeptide Y expressing hippocampal GABA-ergic inhibitory interneuron numbers decline in a model of Gulf War illness. *Front Cell Neurosci* **8**: 447.

- Merikangas KR, Zhang H, Avenevoli S, Acharyya S, Neuenschwander M, and Angst J (2003) Longitudinal Trajectories of Depression and Anxiety in a Prospective Community Study: The Zurich Cohort Study. *Archives of General Psychiatry* **60**: 993-1000.
- Michalovicz LT, Kelly KA, Sullivan K, and O'Callaghan JP (2020) Acetylcholinesterase inhibitor exposures as an initiating factor in the development of Gulf War Illness, a chronic neuroimmune disorder in deployed veterans. *Neuropharmacology* **171:** 108073.
- Miller JV, LeBouf RF, Kelly KA, Michalovicz LT, Ranpara A, Locker AR, Miller DB, and O'Callaghan JP (2018) The neuroinflammatory phenotype in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness is unrelated to brain regional levels of acetylcholine as measured by quantitative HILIC-UPLC-MS/MS. *Toxicol Sci* **165**: 302-313.
- Minichiello L (2009) TrkB signalling pathways in LTP and learning. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* **10:** 850.
- Mote RS, Carpenter JM, Dockman RL, Steinberger AJ, Suen G, Norberg T, Harn DA, Wagner JJ, and Filipov NM (2020) Assessing the Beneficial Effects of the Immunomodulatory Glycan LNFPIII on Gut Microbiota and Health in a Mouse Model of Gulf War Illness. International journal of environmental research and public health **17**: 7081.
- Mulherkar S, Liu F, Chen Q, Narayanan A, Couvillon AD, Shine HD, and Tolias KF (2013) The small GTPase RhoA is required for proper locomotor circuit assembly. *PLoS One* **8**: e67015.
- NASEM, National Academies of Sciences E, and Medicine (2018) Veterans and Agent Orange: Update 11 (2018). The National Academies Press, Washington, DC.
- O'Callaghan JP, Kelly KA, Locker AR, Miller DB, and Lasley SM (2015) Corticosterone primes the neuroinflammatory response to DFP in mice: potential animal model of Gulf War Illness. *Journal of Neurochemistry* **133:** 708-721.
- O'Neill P-K, Gordon JA, and Sigurdsson T (2013) Theta oscillations in the medial prefrontal cortex are modulated by spatial working memory and synchronize with the hippocampus through its ventral subregion. *J Neurosci* **33**: 14211-14224.
- Ojo JO, Abdullah L, Evans J, Reed JM, Montague H, Mullan MJ, and Crawford FC (2014) Exposure to an organophosphate pesticide, individually or in combination with other Gulf War agents, impairs synaptic integrity and neuronal differentiation, and is accompanied by subtle microvascular injury in a mouse model of Gulf War agent exposure. *Neuropathology* **34:** 109-127.
- Onufriev M, Freiman S, Moiseeva YV, Stepanichev MY, Lazareva N, and Gulyaeva N (2017) Accumulation of corticosterone and interleukin-1β in the hippocampus after focal ischemic damage of the neocortex: Selective vulnerability of the ventral hippocampus. *Neurochemical Journal* **11**: 236-241.
- Papatheodoropoulos C (2018) Electrophysiological evidence for long-axis intrinsic diversification of the hippocampus. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)* **23:** 109-145.
- Parihar VK, Hattiangady B, Shuai B, and Shetty AK (2013) Mood and memory deficits in a model of Gulf War illness are linked with reduced neurogenesis, partial neuron loss, and mild inflammation in the hippocampus. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **38**: 2348-2362.
- Parkitny L, Middleton S, Baker K, and Younger J (2015) Evidence for abnormal cytokine expression in Gulf War Illness: A preliminary analysis of daily immune monitoring data. *BMC Immunol* **16:** 57-57.
- Paul SM (1988) Anxiety and depression: a common neurobiological substrate? *The Journal of clinical psychiatry* **49 Suppl:** 13-16.
- Pearson-Leary J, Eacret D, and Bhatnagar S (2019) Interleukin-1α in the ventral hippocampus increases stress vulnerability and inflammation-related processes. *Stress*: 1-10.
- Pearson-Leary J, Eacret D, Chen R, Takano H, Nicholas B, and Bhatnagar S (2017) Inflammation and vascular remodeling in the ventral hippocampus contributes to vulnerability to stress. *Translational Psychiatry* **7**: e1160-e1160.

- Pearson-Leary J, Zhao C, Bittinger K, Eacret D, Luz S, Vigderman AS, Dayanim G, and Bhatnagar S (2020) The gut microbiome regulates the increases in depressive-type behaviors and in inflammatory processes in the ventral hippocampus of stress vulnerable rats. *Mol Psychiatry* **25**: 1068-1079.
- Phillips KF, Santos E, Blair RE, and Deshpande LS (2019) Targeting Intracellular Calcium Stores Alleviates Neurological Morbidities in a DFP-Based Rat Model of Gulf War Illness. *Toxicological Sciences* **169**: 567-578.
- Polani PE (2004) Attacks of anxiety, panic and frenzy, and their related depression: a hypothesis. *Medical Hypotheses* **63**: 124-127.
- Porter B, Long K, Rull RP, and Dursa EK (2020) Prevalence of Chronic Multisymptom Illness/Gulf War Illness Over Time Among Millennium Cohort Participants, 2001 to 2016. *Journal of occupational and environmental medicine* **62:** 4-10.
- Potvin O, Allen K, Thibaudeau G, Doré FY, and Goulet S (2006) Performance on spatial working memory tasks after dorsal or ventral hippocampal lesions and adjacent damage to the subiculum. *Behav Neurosci* **120**: 413.
- Preston CJ, Brown KA, and Wagner JJ (2019) Cocaine conditioning induces persisting changes in ventral hippocampus synaptic transmission, long-term potentiation, and radial arm maze performance in the mouse. *Neuropharmacology* **150**: 27-37.
- Prieto GA and Cotman CW (2017) Cytokines and cytokine networks target neurons to modulate long-term potentiation. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* **34**: 27-33.
- Proctor SP, Heaton KJ, Heeren T, and White RF (2006) Effects of sarin and cyclosarin exposure during the 1991 Gulf War on neurobehavioral functioning in US army veterans. *NeuroToxicology* **27:** 931-939.
- R Development Core Team (2016, <u>https://www.r-project.org/</u>) R: A language and environment for statistical computing., in, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Rayhan RU, Stevens BW, Timbol CR, Adewuyi O, Walitt B, VanMeter JW, and Baraniuk JN (2013) Increased brain white matter axial diffusivity associated with fatigue, pain and hyperalgesia in Gulf War illness. *PLoS One* **8**: e58493.
- Ribeiro AC, Zhu J, Kronfol MM, Jahr FM, Younis RM, Hawkins E, McClay JL, and Deshpande LS (2020) Molecular mechanisms for the antidepressant-like effects of a low-dose ketamine treatment in a DFP-based rat model for Gulf War Illness. *Neurotoxicology*.
- Shetty AK, Attaluri S, Kodali M, Shuai B, Shetty GA, Upadhya D, Hattiangady B, Madhu LN, Upadhya R, and Bates A (2020) Monosodium luminol reinstates redox homeostasis, improves cognition, mood and neurogenesis, and alleviates neuro-and systemic inflammation in a model of Gulf War Illness. *Redox Biol* **28**: 101389.
- Speed HE, Blaiss CA, Kim A, Haws ME, Melvin NR, Jennings M, Eisch AJ, and Powell CM (2011) Delayed reduction of hippocampal synaptic transmission and spines following exposure to repeated subclinical doses of organophosphorus pesticide in adult mice. *Toxicol Sci* **125**: 196-208.
- Srivastava L, Tundup S, Choi BS, Norberg T, and Harn D (2014) Immunomodulatory glycan lacto-N-fucopentaose III requires clathrin-mediated endocytosis to induce alternative activation of antigen-presenting cells. *Infect Immun* **82**: 1891-1903.
- Steele L, Sastre A, Gerkovich MM, and Cook MR (2012) Complex factors in the etiology of Gulf War illness: wartime exposures and risk factors in veteran subgroups. *Environ Health Perspect* **120**: 112-118.
- Stellman JM and Stellman SD (2018) Agent Orange During the Vietnam War: The Lingering Issue of Its Civilian and Military Health Impact. *Am J Public Health* **108**: 726-728.
- Sullivan K, Krengel M, Bradford W, Stone C, Thompson TA, Heeren T, and White RF (2018) Neuropsychological functioning in military pesticide applicators from the Gulf War: Effects on information processing speed, attention and visual memory. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology* **65:** 1-13.

- Sullivan K, Krengel M, Proctor SP, Devine S, Heeren T, and White RF (2003) Cognitive Functioning in Treatment-Seeking Gulf War Veterans: Pyridostigmine Bromide Use and PTSD. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment* **25**: 95-103.
- Sunyer B, Patil S, Höger H, and Lubec G (2007) Barnes maze, a useful task to assess spatial reference memory in the mice. *Protocol Exchange*.
- Tamura M, Spellman TJ, Rosen AM, Gogos JA, and Gordon JA (2017) Hippocampal-prefrontal theta-gamma coupling during performance of a spatial working memory task. *Nat Commun* **8:** 2182.
- Toomey R, Alpern R, Vasterling JJ, Baker DG, Reda DJ, Lyons MJ, Henderson WG, Kang HK, Eisen SA, and Murphy FM (2009) Neuropsychological functioning of U.S. Gulf War veterans 10 years after the war. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc* **15**: 717-729.
- Torres-Altoro MI, Mathur BN, Drerup JM, Thomas R, Lovinger DM, O'Callaghan JP, and Bibb JA (2011) Organophosphates dysregulate dopamine signaling, glutamatergic neurotransmission, and induce neuronal injury markers in striatum. *Journal of Neurochemistry* **119:** 303-313.
- Tundup S, Srivastava L, Norberg T, Watford W, and Harn D (2015) A Neoglycoconjugate Containing the Human Milk Sugar LNFPIII Drives Anti-Inflammatory Activation of Antigen Presenting Cells in a CD14 Dependent Pathway. *PLoS One* **10**: e0137495.
- Wang X, Wang QM, Meng Z, Yin Z, Luo X, and Yu D (2017) Gait disorder as a predictor of spatial learning and memory impairment in aged mice. *PeerJ* **5**: e2854.
- Wang X, Xu Z, Zhao F, Lin KJ, Foster JB, Xiao T, Kung N, Askwith CC, Bruno JP, and Valentini V (2020) Restoring tripartite glutamatergic synapses: A potential therapy for mood and cognitive deficits in Gulf War illness. *Neurobiology of Stress*: 100240.
- White RF, Steele L, O'Callaghan JP, Sullivan K, Binns JH, Golomb BA, Bloom FE, Bunker JA, Crawford F, Graves JC, Hardie A, Klimas N, Knox M, Meggs WJ, Melling J, Philbert MA, and Grashow R (2016) Recent research on Gulf War illness and other health problems in veterans of the 1991 Gulf War: Effects of toxicant exposures during deployment. *Cortex* 74: 449-475.
- Whitlock JR, Heynen AJ, Shuler MG, and Bear MF (2006) Learning induces long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Science* **313**: 1093-1097.
- Yirmiya R and Goshen I (2011) Immune modulation of learning, memory, neural plasticity and neurogenesis. *Brain Behav Immun* **25:** 181-213.
- Zakirova Z, Crynen G, Hassan S, Abdullah L, Horne L, Mathura V, Crawford F, and Ait-Ghezala G (2016) A chronic longitudinal characterization of neurobehavioral and neuropathological cognitive impairment in a mouse model of Gulf War agent exposure. *Front Integr Neurosci* **9**: 71.
- Zakirova Z, Reed J, Crynen G, Horne L, Hassan S, Mathura V, Mullan M, Crawford F, and Ait-Ghezala G (2017) Complementary proteomic approaches reveal mitochondrial dysfunction, immune and inflammatory dysregulation in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *PROTEOMICS–Clinical Applications* **11**: 1600190.
- Zakirova Z, Tweed M, Crynen G, Reed J, Abdullah L, Nissanka N, Mullan M, Mullan MJ, Mathura V, Crawford F, and Ait-Ghezala G (2015) Gulf War agent exposure causes impairment of long-term memory formation and neuropathological changes in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *PLoS One* **10**: e0119579-e0119579.
- Zheng J, Jiang Y-Y, Xu L-C, Ma L-Y, Liu F-Y, Cui S, Cai J, Liao F-F, Wan Y, and Yi M (2017) Adult hippocampal neurogenesis along the dorsoventral axis contributes differentially to environmental enrichment combined with voluntary exercise in alleviating chronic inflammatory pain in mice. *J Neurosci* **37**: 4145-4157.
- Zhu B, Trikudanathan S, Zozulya AL, Sandoval-Garcia C, Kennedy JK, Atochina O, Norberg T, Castagner B, Seeberger P, Fabry Z, Harn D, Khoury SJ, and Guleria I (2012) Immune

modulation by Lacto-N-fucopentaose III in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Clin Immunol* **142**: 351-361.

Zundel CG, Krengel MH, Heeren T, Yee MK, Grasso CM, Janulewicz Lloyd PA, Coughlin SS, and Sullivan K (2019) Rates of Chronic Medical Conditions in 1991 Gulf War Veterans Compared to the General Population. *International journal of environmental research and public health* **16**.

Figures



Figure 4.1. Experimental and Behavioral Timelines. (A) depicts the experimental timeline for both the short- and long-term studies in which mice received pyridostigmine bromide (PB) and permethrin (PM) daily for 10 days. Lacto-N-fucopentaose III (LNFPIII) treatment began 4 months after PB/PM exposure. Electrophysiology was performed during month 8. (B) is a detailed timeline of behavioral tests that were performed during months 6-8. (C) Monthly weights were monitored and are presented for the start of study (0), post PB/PM treatment (1), start of LNFPIII treatment (5), prior to RAM FR (6), post RAM FR (8), and sacrifice (9). ^ indicates trend for PB/PM effect $p \le 0.10$. *Abbreviations:* FR: food restriction; GWI: Gulf War Illness; i.p.: intraperitoneally; LNFPIII: Lacto-N-fucopentaose III; PB: pyridostigmine bromide; PM: permethrin; RAM: radial arm maze; s.c.: subcutaneously.



Figure 4.2. Effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment on motor function. Several motor effects of prior PB/PM exposure and LNFPIII treatment were evaluated by grip strength (N/body weight) (A); sticker removal time (B); 5 min distance and rears (C) and habituation over time (D) in the open field; total steps (E), stride length (F), and stride length variability (G) in the gait test; entry time into the closed arm (H) of the elevated zero maze. Data are present as mean \pm SEM (n=8-10 for grip strength, OF, and gait test; n=14-16 for sticker removal and elevated zero maze). * and ** indicate p < 0.05 and 0.01, respectively for PB/PM main effects. # and ## indicates p < 0.05 and 0.01, respectively for main effect of LNFPIII

treatment. ^{\$\$\$} indicates p < 0.001 of time in the OF. ^a indicates p < 0.05 for Vehicle-Vehicle vs. PB/PM-Vehicle.



Figure 4.3. Long term mood effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment. Mood disturbances of prior PB/PM exposure and LNFPIII treatment were evaluated by several tests for anxiety-like and depressive-like behaviors: number of marbles buried (A) in the marble burying test; open arm entries (B) in the elevated zero maze; center and periphery time (C) in the open field; immobile time (D) and latency to first immobile bout (E) in the swim test; sucrose preference (F) in the sucrose preference test. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n = 8-10 for open field; n = 14-16 for marble burying, elevated zero maze, swim, and sucrose preference test). ^a indicates p < 0.05 for Vehicle-Vehicle vs PB/PM-Vehicle.



Figure 4.4. Cognition and memory effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment. Cognitive/memory effects of prior PB/PM exposure and LNFPIII treatment were evaluated by several tests: nest-building ability (A) in the nesting test; total errors (B) during the training phase of the Barnes maze; approach novelty preference index (NPI) (C) in the novel object recognition test; total errors in the radial arm maze foraging (D) and Win-shift tasks (E). Data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n = 14-16 for nesting, Barnes maze, and novel object recognition; n = 13-15 for radial arm maze). ^{\$} and ^{\$\$\$} indicate p < 0.05 and 0.001 for time. * and *** indicate p < 0.05 and 0.001, respectively, for PB/PM main effects. ^{##} indicates p < 0.01 for main effect of LNFPIII treatment. ^a indicates p < 0.05 for Vehicle-Vehicle vs. PB/PM-Vehicle.



Figure 4.5. Hippocampal measurements of synaptic plasticity and transmission after prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment. A) and C) show summary quantification of dorsal hippocampus (dH) and ventral hippocampus (vH), respectively, LTP magnitude recorded 8 months after PB/PM exposure. B) and D) show the stimulus-response relationship of the average fEPSP slopes elicited by increasing stimulus intensities from the dH and vH, respectively. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Reported n-values (x(y)) indicate the number of slices (x) and the number of mice (y) assessed: Vehicle-Vehicle (dH, n=14(6); vH, n=14(6)), Vehicle-LNFPIII (dH, n=9(6); vH, n=20(6)), PB/PM-Vehicle (dH, n=12(6); vH, n=21(6)), and PB/PM-LNFPIII (dH, n=13(6); vH, n=17(6)).^{##} indicates main effect of LNFPIII treatment. ^{a, b,} and ° indicate p < 0.05 for Vehicle-Vehicle vs PB/PM-Vehicle, PB/PM-Vehicle vs PB/PM-LNFPIII, and Vehicle-Vehicle vs Vehicle-LNFPIII groups, respectively. ^ indicates trend p < 0.10 for either Vehicle-Vehicle vs PB/PM-Vehicle or PB/PM-Vehicle vs PB/PM-LNFPIII.



Figure 4.6. Tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) immunoreactivity in the dorsolateral and ventromedial striatum 9 months post PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment. Semi-quantitative analysis of TH+ CV+ cells in the dorsolateral (yellow oval) and ventromedial (red oval) striatum. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. n = 5 animals per group/3 sections per animal. * and ^ indicate p \leq 0.05 or p \leq 0.10 for Vehicle-Vehicle vs. Vehicle-LNFPIII, respectively.



Figure 4.7. GFAP and IBA-1 immunoreactivity in the hilus region of the hippocampus 9 months post-PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment. Double-stained astrocytes (GFAP/Hoescht)(A) or microglia (IBA-1/Hoescht) (B) were counted using ImageJ. (C) shows representative staining at 40x in the hilus region of the hippocampus for astrocytes (GFAP), microglia (IBA-1), and nuclear stain (Hoescht). Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. n = 11-19 images per group. ^a and ^b indicate p ≤ 0.05 for Vehicle-Vehicle vs. PB/PM-Vehicle and PB/PM-Vehicle vs. PB/PM-LNFPIII comparisons, respectively.



Figure 4.8. Radar Plots Summary. The radar plots highlight the neurobehavioral **(A)** and neurobiological **(B)** effects of prior PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment at study completion. * denotes main/interaction effect (p<0.05) whereas # denotes trending main/interaction effect (p<0.1). Blue indicates an LNFPIII effect, red denotes a PB/PM effect, and orange denotes a beneficial effect of LNFPIII in the presence of PB/PM. ^{a, b,} and ^c denote a significant (p<0.05) pairwise effect for Vehicle-Vehicle vs PB/PM-Vehicle (red), PB/PM-Vehicle

vs PB/PM-LNFPIII (orange), and Vehicle-Vehicle vs Vehicle-LNFPIII (blue), respectively. ^{a#} indicates a trending (p<0.1) pairwise effect for Vehicle-Vehicle vs PB/PM-Vehicle (red), PB/PM-Vehicle vs PB/PM-LNFPIII (orange), and Vehicle-Vehicle vs Vehicle-LNFPIII (blue), respectively.



Supplemental Figure 4.1. Paired-pulse facilitation magnitude post PB/PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment. The PPF magnitude for dH (A) and vH (B) recorded after PB/PM chemicals exposure (interpulse interval = 50 ms). Data are expressed as mean ± SEM. Reported n-values (x(y)) indicate the number of slices (x) and the number of mice (y) assessed: Vehicle-Vehicle (dH, n=14(6); vH, n=14(6)), Vehicle-LNFPIII (dH, n=9(6); vH, n=20(6)), PB/PM-Vehicle (dH, n=12(6); vH, n=21(6)), and PB/PM-LNFPIII (dH, n=13(6); vH, n=17(6)).

CHAPTER 5

LACTO-N-FUCOPENATOSE-III AMELIORATES ACUTE AND PERSISTING HIPPOCAMPAL SYNAPTIC PLASTICITY AND TRANSMISSION DEFICITS IN A GULF WAR ILLNESS MOUSE MODEL⁴

⁴ Brown KA, Carpenter JM, Preston CJ, Ludwig HD, Clay KB, Harn DA, Norberg T, Wagner JJ, Filipov NM. *Lacto-N-fucopentaose-III ameliorates acute and persisting hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission deficits in a Gulf War Illness mouse model.* Submitted to Life Sciences.

Abstract

Aims: The present study investigated if treatment with the immunotherapeutic, lacto-N-fucopentaose-III (LNFPIII), resulted in amelioration of acute and persisting deficits in synaptic plasticity and transmission as well as trophic factor expression along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness (GWI).

Main methods: Mice received either coadministered or delayed LNFPIII treatment throughout or following, respectively, exposure to a 15-day GWI induction paradigm. Subsets of animals were subsequently sacrificed 48 h, seven months, or 11 months post GWI-related (GWIR) exposure for hippocampal qPCR or *in vitro* electrophysiology experiments.

Key findings: Progressively worsened impairments in hippocampal synaptic plasticity, as well as a biphasic effect on hippocampal synaptic transmission, were detected in GWIR-exposed animals. Dorsoventral-specific impairments in hippocampal synaptic responses became more pronounced over time, particularly in the dorsal hippocampus. Notably, delayed LNFPIII treatment ameliorated GWI-related aberrations in hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission seven and 11 months post-exposure, an effect that was consistent with enhanced hippocampal trophic factor expression in animals treated with LNFPIII.

Significance: Approximately a third of Gulf War Veterans have GWI; however, GWI therapeutics are presently limited to targeted and symptomatic treatments. As increasing evidence underscores the substantial role of persisting neuroimmune dysfunction in GWI, efficacious neuroactive immunotherapeutics may hold substantial promise in yielding GWI remission. The findings in the present report indicate that LNFPIII may be an efficacious candidate for ameliorating persisting neurological abnormalities presented in GWI.
5.1 Introduction

Gulf War Illness (GWI) is a chronic multisymptom condition that affects approximately one-third of the 700,000 U.S. military personnel deployed in the 1990-1991 Gulf War (White et al., 2016). Neurological (i.e., cognitive) and immunological (i.e., inflammation) deficits feature in GWI prominently (White et al., 2016). Although the etiology of GWI is unknown, overexposures to neurotoxic pesticides, organophosphate (OP) nerve agents, nerve agent prophylactics, and wartime stress have been associated with GWI symptoms (Cherry et al., 2001; Winkenwerder, 2003; Steele et al., 2012). GWI symptom severity is correlated to the degree, duration, and type of GWI-related (GWIR) exposures (Steele et al., 2012; Sullivan et al., 2018). Notably, the reported incidence (Zundel et al., 2019) and symptom severity (Porter et al., 2020; Zundel et al., 2020) of GWI has increased over time, suggesting disease progression. This underscores the critical need to employ GWI animal models reflecting the progressive nature of the disease and use such models for identifying efficacious GWI therapeutics.

GWI models have been established in the mouse (Abdullah et al., 2011; O'Callaghan et al., 2015). These models recapitulate GWI by utilizing GWIR chemical exposures that, in some models, are interfaced with modeling of stress-like conditions, i.e., by administering glucocorticoids such as corticosterone (Cort) (O'Callaghan et al., 2015). GWIR chemicals used to recapitulate GWI include pesticides such as N,N-diethyl-meta-toluamide (DEET), nerve agent prophylactics such as pyridostigmine bromide (PB), and a nerve agent surrogate, diisopropylfluorophosphate (DFP) (O'Callaghan et al., 2015). DEET preferentially targets insect olfactory receptors; however, reports have indicated that overexposures may produce mammalian toxicity (Corbel et al., 2009). The carbamate PB, a reversible acetylcholinesterase (AChE) inhibitor, functions as a nerve agent prophylactic in the absence of stress; however, during chronic stress, PB might cross the blood-brain barrier and be neurotoxic (Blick et al., 1991; Friedman et al., 1996). Military operations exposed thousands of U.S. personnel to low levels of OP nerve agent, making the incorporation of a relatively less volatile OP like DFP an

appropriate component of recapitulating GWIR exposures (Winkenwerder, 2002; Haley and Tuite, 2013).

While a number of preclinical and clinical studies have evaluated potential GWI therapeutics (Reviewed in: Dickey et al., 2020; Nugent et al., 2020), only symptomatic treatments are available. Increasing evidence indicates that prolonged symptoms of GWI are a result of neuroimmune dysfunction (Coughlin, 2017; Georgopoulos et al., 2017; Trageser et al., 2020). Inhibition of pro-inflammatory cytokines is a strategy that holds potential for extended remission of GWI (Craddock et al., 2015); however, studies employing immunotherapeutics to target persisting GWI-induced immune system dysregulation are limited. We previously demonstrated that the neoglycoconjugate lacto-N-fucopentaose-III (LNFPIII) is a safe and efficacious agent for restoring central and peripheral immune function in disease states (Bhargava et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2012; Tundup et al., 2015). This neoglycoconjugate induces therapeutic effects, in part, by rebalancing the anti-inflammatory:inflammatory cytokine milieu, but it also directly stimulates the mitogen-activated protein kinase ERK-1/2 (Tundup et al., 2015). Importantly, recent work by our group demonstrated that LNFPIII rebalanced short-term neurochemical and inflammatory-related aberrations in two GWI models (Carpenter et al., 2020) and it ameliorated gut dysbiosis and inflammation when treatment was initiated months after GWIR exposures (Mote et al., 2020). However, LNFPIII's efficacy in a progressive model of GWI is unknown.

Reports of impaired hippocampal-dependent behavior in GWI animal models (Joshi et al., 2020; Shetty et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020) and GW veterans (Odegard et al., 2013; Chao et al., 2017; Sullivan et al., 2018) are abundant. Persisting hippocampal structural abnormalities have been documented in clinical GWI studies (Li et al., 2011; Chao et al., 2017; Cheng et al., 2020). Loss of hippocampal principal cells and interneurons (Parihar et al., 2013; Megahed et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2020) and aberrant glial activity (Parihar et al., 2013; Joshi et al., 2018; Belgrad et al., 2019) in GWI models have also been characterized. Electrophysiological studies

describing alterations in hippocampal synaptic plasticity or transmission in GWI models are sparse. The available preclinical reports indicate that glutamatergic, GABAergic, and dopaminergic synaptic plasticity and transmission are impaired in GWI (Torres-Altoro et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2020). Yet, studies accounting for the progressive nature of GWI that are focused on hippocampal neurophysiology are critically needed but unavailable. Accordingly, we evaluated the efficacy of LNFPIII in ameliorating acute and persisting electrophysiological, trophic factor, and cytokine aberrations presented in a well-established PB/DEET/CORT/DFP GWI model (O'Callaghan et al., 2015).

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Animal Maintenance

Male C57BL/6J (Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) mice, aged eight-nine weeks, were housed in groups of five. Animals were acclimated to their home cages for at least one week after arrival and were maintained on a 12 h light/dark cycle (lights on from 0700-1900 h). Food and water were provided *ad libitum*. Following acclimation, animals were randomly assigned to one of four treatment groups: vehicle-vehicle, vehicle-LNFPIII, GWI-vehicle, and GWI-LNFPIII groups. All experiments were approved in advance by the University of Georgia Animal Care and Use Committee and were in accordance with the latest NIH and ARRIVE guidelines.

5.2.2 Materials

The following chemicals were used for animal treatments: corticosterone (Cort; Steraloids, Newport, RI), N,N-diethyl-meta-toluamide (DEET; Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), diisopropylfluorophosphate (DFP; Sigma Aldrich), and pyridostigmine bromide (PB; Sigma Aldrich). Lacto-N-fucopentaose-III (LNFPIII) dextran conjugate was produced as previously described (Tundup et al., 2015). All additional chemicals and reagents used in this study, unless otherwise noted, were of analytical or higher grade and were obtained from Sigma Aldrich or Fisher Scientific (Hampton, NH).

5.2.3 GWI Exposure Protocol

The exposure protocol has been previously described (O'Callaghan et al., 2015; Carpenter et al., 2020) and is presented in Fig. 5.1A. Briefly, mice from the GWI-vehicle and GWI-LNFPIII groups were treated with a combination of PB (2 mg/kg, subcutaneous [s.c.]) and DEET (30 mg/kg, s.c.) daily for 14 days. PB and DEET were both delivered in 0.9% saline. Home cage drinking water of GWI-vehicle and GWI-LNFPIII groups were treated with Cort (200 mg/L in 1.2% ethanol [EtOH]) on days 8-14 to emulate combat-related stress. Following the same timeline as described for GWI-vehicle and GWI-LNFPIII treatment groups, vehicle-vehicle and vehicle-LNFPIII treated animals received saline vehicle injections and 1.2% EtOH/water. On day 15, animals from the GWI-vehicle and GWI-LNFPIII groups received a single injection of DFP (3.75 mg/kg, intraperitoneal [i.p.] in sterile saline). Vehicle-vehicle and vehicle-LNFPIII treated animals were treated with the saline vehicle (i.p.). The LNFPIII dosage used in the present report was selected based on our previous studies (Atochina et al., 2008; Bhargava et al., 2012; Tundup et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2012; Tundup et al., 2015; Carpenter et al., 2020; Mote et al., 2020). Animals received vehicle carrier or LNFPIII treatment based on the following timelines:

Acute effects time point: The exposure protocol and electrophysiology schedule are presented in Fig. 5.1A. A subset of animals was selected to evaluate the acute effects of GWIR exposure, as well as the efficacy of LNFPIII coadministration in ameliorating GWIR exposure effects. On days 1-14, mice from the vehicle-LNFPIII and GWI-LNFPIII groups received daily treatments of LNFPIII (35 μ g/mouse, s.c.) whereas mice from the vehicle-vehicle and GWIvehicle groups received equivalent amounts of the dextran vehicle carrier (35 μ g/mouse, s.c.) diluted in sterile saline. Animals were sacrificed for experiments 48 h post GWIR exposure ± LNFPIII treatment. The bodyweight of animals sacrificed at the acute time point was monitored daily for the duration of the study as well as immediately prior to sacrifice for electrophysiology experiments.

Early persisting time point: The exposure protocol and electrophysiology schedule are presented in Fig. 5.2A. A subset of animals was utilized to evaluate the early persisting effects of GWIR exposure, as well as the efficacy of delayed LNFPIII treatment in ameliorating GWIR exposure-induced abnormalities seven months after exposure termination. Notably, these animals did not receive vehicle or LNFPIII during the GWIR exposure duration. Vehicle or LNFPIII treatment began four months after GWIR exposure termination and continued twice per week until the animals were sacrificed for electrophysiology experiments three months later (seven months post GWIR exposure).

Late persisting time point: The exposure protocol and electrophysiology schedule are presented in Fig. 5.3A. A subset of animals was used to evaluate the late persisting effects of GWIR exposure and the efficacy of delayed LNFPIII treatment in ameliorating GWIR exposureinduced abnormalities 11 months after exposure. Mice began receiving vehicle or LNFPIII treatment eight months post GWIR exposure, which continued twice per week until the animals were sacrificed for electrophysiology experiments three months later (11 months post GWIR exposure termination).

The bodyweight of animals used for the early and late persisting time points was monitored every other week for the duration of the study, as well as immediately before sacrifice for electrophysiology experiments.

5.2.4 Slice Preparation and Electrophysiology

Hippocampal slice preparation and electrophysiology experiments were conducted as previously described (Keralapurath et al., 2017; Preston et al., 2019). Briefly, mice were sacrificed following deep anesthetization with 2-bromo-2-chloro-1,1,1-trifluoroethane (halothane). Brains were removed and quickly submerged in oxygenated (95% O₂ / 5% CO₂), ice-cold dissection artificial cerebrospinal fluid (dACSF; 120mM NaCl, 3mM KCl, 4mM MgCl₂, 1mM NaH₂PO₄, 26mM NaHCO₃, and 10mM glucose). A mid-sagittal cut was made, and half of the brain was mounted on its caudal pole and sectioned along the horizontal plane with a

vibratome to obtain 400 μ m slices containing the dorsal hippocampus. The other half of the brain was mounted on its rostral pole and sectioned along the horizontal plane with a vibratome to acquire 400 μ m slices containing the ventral hippocampus. The dorsal hippocampus and ventral hippocampus were subdissected free from the rest of the slice and the CA3 subfield was removed. These slices were then quickly placed in a submersion-type chamber and perfused with oxygenated (95% O₂ / 5% CO₂) ACSF (120mM NaCl, 3mM KCl, 1.5mM MgCl₂, 1mM NaH₂PO₄, 2.5mM CaCl₂, 26mM NaHCO₃, and 10mM glucose). Slices were continuously perfused with ACSF (one mL/min) during a 45 min recovery period at room temperature followed by a 45 min recovery period at the recording temperature of 30 °C. Schaffer collateral fibers were stimulated by placing a bipolar electrode (Kopf Instruments, Tujunga, CA) in the stratum radiatum of the CA1 subfield; a 1.0 MΩ tungsten recording microelectrode (World Precision Instruments, Sarasota, FL) was inserted in the same layer of CA1. During recording experiments, a stimulus pulse was applied once every minute to elicit responses from Schaffer collateral-CA1 synapses.

An input-output curve (I/O curve) was acquired at the beginning of each experiment by incrementally applying individual 15 µA stimulus pulses from 45-180 µA in intensity. The fEPSP slope (mV/ms) was measured in a one ms interval immediately following the fiber volley. After recording the I/O curve, the stimulus intensity was modified to elicit 35% of the maximal fEPSP slope and paired-pulse fEPSPs (50 ms interpulse interval) were recorded each minute for five min. Individual stimulus pulses were then applied each min for 30 min and baseline fEPSP responses were monitored. After recording baseline responses for 30 min, a high-frequency stimulation (HFS) protocol (three x 100 Hz/one-sec train at 20-sec intervals) was utilized to induce long-term potentiation (LTP) and fEPSP responses were monitored for the subsequent 60 min. fEPSP responses were normalized to the average fEPSP slope value recorded during 26-30 min of baseline recording. LTP magnitude was calculated by averaging the normalized fEPSP slope values from 56-60 min post-HFS.

5.2.5 Quantitative PCR (qPCR) Analysis

Analyses were completed on brain tissue (48 h: ventral hippocampus; 11 months: dorsal hippocampus and ventral hippocampus) as described in (Carpenter et al., 2020). Briefly, total RNA from a single hippocampal brain punch (1.5 mm diameter, 500 µm thick section) was isolated by an E.Z.N.A total RNA isolation kit (Omega Bio-Tek, Norcross, GA) according to the manufacturer's directions. RNA was quantified with a Take3 micro-volume plate and Epoch microplate spectrophotometer (BioTek, Winooski, VT). Seventy-five ng RNA/sample was used to synthesize cDNA with a Maxima first-strand cDNA synthesis kit for RT-qPCR (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) and a PTC-200 Peltier thermal cycler (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA; 10 min at 25 °C, 15 min at 50 °C, 5 min at 85 °C). Using one or two ng of cDNA per sample, expression of various inflammatory genes and growth factors (48 h), or growth factors-only (11 months) were determined by a qPCR with mouse-specific primers (RealTimePrimers, Elkins Park, PA) and Maxima SYBR Green/lowRox qPCR Master Mix (2x) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). Amplifications were performed on Mx3005 P qPCR machine (Stratagene, San Diego, CA) programed for initial warming cycle (95°C, 10 min) followed by 45 cycles (95°C, 15 s, 60°C, 1 min) with each sample run in duplicate. Treatment differences detected in qPCR data were calculated using the ^{AA}Ct method and presented as a fold change normalized to 18S as the housekeeping gene, as described previously (Lin et al., 2013; Krishna et al., 2016; Carpenter et al., 2020). Primer sequences are in Table 1.

5.2.6 Data Analysis

Electrophysiology data was digitized at 10kHz, low-pass filtered at 1kHz, and analyzed with pCLAMP 10.2 software (Axon Instruments, Sunnyvale, CA). Electrophysiology statistical analysis was completed using R version 4.0.2 (The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria). For electrophysiology data, statistical analysis was completed by using the aov() function for analysis of variance (ANOVA), the PostHocTest() function under the DescTools package (version 0.99.38) for Student-Newman-Keuls *post hoc* test, and the t.test

function for preplanned Student's *t*-tests. Graphic production was completed using GraphPad Prism 8.0 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA). Electrophysiology data were analyzed via two-way ANOVA with factor A being GWI treatment (vehicle or GWIR treatment) and factor B being LNFPIII treatment (vehicle or LNFPIII treatment). If a two-way ANOVA was significant ($p\leq0.05$), treatment means were separated via Student-Newman-Keuls *post hoc* test or pairwise comparisons (as appropriate). An α level of 0.05 was used as the criterion for statistical significance. Reported n-values (x(y)) indicate the number of slices (x) and the number of mice (y) assessed. All data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Coadministration of LNFPIII enhanced LTP magnitude whereas both GWIR exposure and LNFPIII treatment increased hippocampal basal synaptic transmission 48 h post-exposure

The GWIR exposure ± LNFPIII coadministration timeline is represented in Fig. 5.1A. No significant main effect of GWIR exposure on LTP was observed 48 h post-exposure (p=0.80; Fig. 5.1B, 5.1C, 5.1D). Coadministration of LNFPIII resulted in a significant main effect of LNFPIII on LTP magnitude 48 h post GWIR/LNFPIII treatments (p=0.018; Fig. 5.1B, 5.1C, 5.1D). An interaction effect between GWIR X LNFPIII on LTP magnitude also approached significance (p=0.077). A *post hoc* comparison revealed a significant LTP enhancement in vehicle-LNFPIII animals compared to vehicle-vehicle animals (p=0.0059; Fig. 5.1D).

Significant main GWIR (p's<0.05; stimulus intensities: 45-180 μ A) and LNFPIII (p's=0.05; stimulus intensities: 105-180 μ A) effects on basal synaptic transmission were detected, resulting in increased basal synaptic activity 48 h post-exposure (Fig. 5.1E). A main effect of LNFPIII treatment on basal synaptic transmission approached significance at stimulus intensities of 75 and 90 μ A (p<0.1). A *post hoc* analysis showed significant increases in basal synaptic transmission in GWI-vehicle mice compared to vehicle-vehicle mice at stimulus intensities of 60, 75, 90, 105, 120, 135, 150, 165, and 180 μ A (p<0.05). Additionally, significant increases in basal synaptic transmission in GWI-LNFPIII mice compared to GWI-vehicle mice at stimulus

intensities of 45, 120, 135, 150, 165, and 180 μ A were observed (p<0.05). Finally, basal synaptic transmission in vehicle-LNFPIII mice compared to vehicle-vehicle mice was increased at stimulus intensities of 105, 120, 135, 150, 165, and 180 μ A (p<0.05). Neither GWIR exposure (p=0.67) nor LNFPIII treatment (p=0.27) had a significant main effect on paired-pulse facilitation (PPF; Fig. 5.1F).

5.3.2 LTP magnitude is reduced seven months after GWIR exposure, a reduction that is ameliorated by LNFPIII treatment initiated four months after GWIR exposure termination

Four months after GWIR exposure termination, a subset of animals began receiving vehicle or LNFPIII treatment twice per week until the animals were sacrificed for electrophysiology experiments (Fig. 5.2A). Following three months of vehicle or LNFPIII treatment (seven months post GWIR exposure termination), we found a significant effect of LNFPIII treatment on LTP magnitude in GWIR exposed animals (p=0.027), resulting in a trending main effect of LNFPIII on LTP (p=0.09; Fig. 5.2B, 5.2C, 5.2D). Specifically, a trend of a significant difference in LTP magnitude between vehicle-vehicle and GWI-vehicle animals was observed (p=0.063), whereas a significant decrease in LTP magnitude in GWI-vehicle animals compared to GWI-LNFPIII animals was detected (p=0.013; Fig. 5.2D). No significant differences in LTP magnitude between vehicle-LNFPIII, and GWI-LNFPIII animals were revealed (p's>0.05).

Interestingly, no significant main effects of GWIR exposure or LNFPIII treatment on basal synaptic transmission were detected at any assessed stimulation intensities (p>0.05; Fig. 5.2E). Similar to the 48 h time point, no significant main effects of GWIR exposure (p=0.44) or LNFPIII treatment (p=0.80) on PPF were found (Fig. 5.2F).

5.3.3 Dorsal hippocampal LTP magnitude and basal synaptic transmission is reduced 11 months after GWIR exposure, an effect that is ameliorated by delayed LNFPIII treatment

Eight months after GWIR exposure termination, a subset of animals began receiving LNFPIII or vehicle treatment twice per week until the end of the study (Fig. 5.3A). Following

three months of LNFPIII or vehicle treatment (11 months post-GWIR exposure), a significant main effect of GWIR exposure, driven by the decrease in the GWI-vehicle group, on dorsal hippocampal (dH) LTP magnitude was revealed (p=0.029; Fig. 5.3B, 5.3C, 5.3D). A trend of a significant LNFPIII main effect on dH LTP magnitude was also observed (p=0.076) and it was due to the LNFPIII's ability to ameliorate the effect of GWIR exposure (Fig. 5.3D). An interaction effect between GWIR X LNFPIII on LTP magnitude also approached significance (p=0.096). A *post hoc* comparison revealed that the decrease in dH LTP magnitude of GWI-vehicle animals compared to vehicle-vehicle animals was significant (p=0.0029). Importantly, dH LTP magnitude of GWI-LNFPIII animals was significantly greater compared to the dH LTP magnitude of GWI-vehicle animals (p=0.016; Fig. 5.3C, 5.3D). No significant differences in LTP magnitude between vehicle-vehicle, vehicle-LNFPIII, and GWI-LNFPIII animals were observed in the dH (p's>0.05).

In contrast to our findings 48 h and seven months post GWIR exposure, a significant reduction in dH basal synaptic transmission was detected 11 months post-exposure (Fig. 5.3E). Specifically, a significant main effect of GWIR exposure on dH basal synaptic transmission was found at stimulation intensities of 75-180 μ A (p's<0.05). A main effect of GWIR exposure on basal synaptic transmission also approached significance at a stimulus intensity of 60 μ A (p<0.1). A *post hoc* analysis indicated that decreases in dH basal synaptic transmission in GWI-vehicle mice compared to vehicle-vehicle mice at stimulus intensities of 60, 75, 90, 105, 120, 135, 150, 165, and 180 μ A were significant (p<0.05). Moreover, a significant increase in dH basal synaptic transmission in GWI-LNFPIII mice was displayed compared to GWI-vehicle mice at stimulus intensities of 120, 135, and 180 μ A (p<0.05); at 165 μ A stimulus intensity, this effect was trending (p<0.1). No significant difference in dH basal synaptic transmission between vehicle-vehicle and vehicle-LNFPIII-treated animals was detected (p>0.05). Similar to the other time points, there were no significant main effects of GWIR exposure (p=0.31) or LNFPIII treatment (p=0.75) on PPF in the dH (Fig. 5.3F).

5.3.4 Ventral hippocampal basal synaptic transmission is reduced 11 months after GWIR exposure, an effect that is ameliorated by delayed LNFPIII treatment

Interestingly, there was no significant main effect of GWIR exposure on ventral hippocampal (vH) LTP magnitude (p=0.75); however, a significant main effect of LNFPIII led to an increase in vH LTP magnitude (p=0.019; Fig. 5.4A, 5.4B, 5.4C). Notably, due to a numeric decrease in GWI-vehicle and an increase in GWI-LNFPIII animals, vH LTP magnitude of the GWI-LNFPIII group was significantly greater compared to GWI-vehicle animals (p=0.0028; Fig. 5.4C). No significant differences in LTP magnitude between vehicle-vehicle, vehicle-LNFPIII, GWI-LNFPIII animals were observed in the vH (p's>0.05).

Additionally, a significant main effect of GWIR exposure on basal synaptic transmission was found in the vH at stimulus intensities of 135-180 μ A (p's<0.05; Fig. 5.4D). A main effect of GWIR exposure on basal synaptic transmission also approached significance at stimulus intensities of 105 and 120 μ A (p<0.1). A *post hoc* analysis found a significant decrease in vH basal synaptic transmission in GWI-vehicle animals compared to vehicle-vehicle animals at stimulus intensities of 135, 150, 165, and 180 μ A (p<0.01). Compared to vehicle-vehicle animals at stimulus intensities of a decrease in vH basal synaptic transmission in GWI-vehicle animals, a trend of a decrease in vH basal synaptic transmission in GWI-vehicle animals that approached significance (p=0.055) was detected at 120 μ A. A significant increase in the maximal basal synaptic response elicited in the vH of GWI-LNFPIII mice compared to GWI-vehicle mice was also found (p=0.035). No significant difference in vH basal synaptic transmission between vehicle-vehicle and vehicle-LNFPIII treated animals was present (p>0.05). Similar to the dH, no significant main effects of GWIR exposure (p=0.81) or LNFPIII treatment (p=0.22) on PPF were detected in the vH (Fig. 5.4E).

5.3.5 Coadministration of LNFPIII with GWIR treatment or delayed LNFPIII treatment enhanced the production of BDNF in the ventral hippocampus

The expression of key inflammatory mediators (caspase 1, IL-6, IL-1 β , and TNF α) and trophic factors (brain-derived neurotrophic factor [BDNF], nerve growth factor [NGF], and ciliary neurotrophic factor [CNTF]) were assessed in the vH 48 h post GWIR exposure ± LNFPIII coadministration (Tables 5.1 and 5.2). No significant effects of GWIR exposure or LNFPIII treatment on vH inflammatory markers were detected via qPCR, but there were numerical increases of IL-6, IL-1 \Box and TNF \Box in the GWI-vehicle group at this time point (p>0.05; Table 5.2). Interestingly, both BDNF and NGF expression increases were detected in GWI-LNFPIII animals compared to vehicle-vehicle animals 48 h post-exposures, with the effect on BDNF being significant (p=0.04). While the NGF increase in the GWI-LNFPIII group compared to the vehicle-vehicle was only numeric, there was a stronger trend for an elevation in vH NGF expression when GWI-LNFPIII NGF was compared to GWI-vehicle NGF 48 h post-exposure (p=0.08).

Additionally, trophic factor expression was evaluated in both dH and the vH 11 months post GWIR exposure with LNFPIII treatment beginning eight months post-exposure (Table 5.3). A trend for a significant increase in dH BDNF expression in GWI-LNFPIII animals compared to vehicle-vehicle animals was revealed (p=0.10). Importantly, there was a trend for enhancement of dH BDNF expression in GWI-LNFPIII animals compared to GWI-vehicle animals that approached significance (p=0.06). Notably, significant elevations in dH NGF levels in vehicle-LNFPIII animals compared to vehicle-vehicle animals (p=0.03) as well as in GWI-LNFPIII animals compared to vehicle-vehicle animals (p=0.03) is well as in GWI-LNFPIII animals compared to vehicle-vehicle animals (p=0.001) were observed. A trend of a significant increase in dH NGF levels was detected in GWI-vehicle animals compared to vehicle-vehicle animals (p=0.08); however, importantly, a strong trend of a significant increase in GWI-LNFPIII animals compared to GWI-vehicle animals was present (p=0.06). In the vH, there were no significant differences in BDNF or NGF expression between treatment groups, although all three trophic factors were numerically reduced in GWI-vehicle animals compared to vehicle-vehicle animals, something not seen in the vH of the GWI-LNFPIII mice. Of the numeric decreases of

vH trophic factors in the GWI-vehicle group, the decrease of CNTF was most pronounced (p=0.07).

5.4 Discussion

GWI models have been developed in the mouse (Abdullah et al., 2011; O'Callaghan et al., 2015) and the rat (Abdel-Rahman et al., 2002; Macht et al., 2018). Acute studies employing the model used in the present report (or a modification of it) described neurochemical abnormalities within six h after GWIR exposure such as dyshomeostasis of monoaminergic neurotransmitters in limbic structures (Carpenter et al., 2020) and notable reductions in brain AChE specific activity that led to enhanced brain ACh levels (Locker et al., 2017). In general, cholinergic transmission is impacted by acute exposure to AChE inhibitors, such as PB and DFP, resulting in learning and memory modulation (Hasselmo, 2006). Acute PB and DEET exposure has also been shown to increase hippocampal pyramidal cell excitability, an effect attributed to enhanced cholinergic transmission (Friedman et al., 1996; Corbel et al., 2009). Additionally, mice that received repeated exposure to chlorpyrifos, an OP that shares the same mechanism as DFP and has been implicated in GWI etiology, exhibited enhanced hippocampal basal synaptic transmission one-week post-chlorpyrifos exposure (Speed et al., 2011). Chlorpyrifos exposure increased phosphorylation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase-1/2 (ERK-1/2) and enhanced the secretion of neurotrophic factors such as BDNF (Betancourt et al., 2007; Tan et al., 2009). Phosphorylation of ERK-1/2 is essential for facilitating the signaling cascade that results in BDNF-induced increases in hippocampal spine density (Alonso et al., 2004) and synaptic transmission (Kang and Schuman, 1995). The present report demonstrated a significant increase in hippocampal basal synaptic transmission 48 h post GWIR exposure, which is consistent with the aforementioned studies. We postulate that this increase in basal synaptic transmission is due to elevated cholinergic activity, enhanced ERK-1/2 activation, and increased hippocampal BDNF, all of which are supported by the observed numerical and significant enhancement of vH BDNF mRNA levels in GWI-LNFPIII and GWI-vehicle animals,

respectively. The numerical increase in LTP magnitude in GWI-vehicle and GWI-LNFPIII animals detected 48 h post-GWIR exposure is also consistent with an enhanced cholinergic tone as well as ERK-dependent BDNF expression.

Acute neuroimmune abnormalities induced by the GWI exposure model used in the present study have been characterized. Specifically, an increase of multiple inflammatory cytokines in the brain (Miller et al., 2018), detrimental effects on prefrontal cortex glia functionality (Belgrad et al., 2019), and neuroinflammatory-related structural anomalies in the hippocampus (Koo et al., 2018) are among the acute (6 h) GWI-related effects in this model. These data are in line with acute neuroimmune dysfunction reported in other GWI animal models (Abdel-Rahman et al., 2004; Ojo et al., 2014; Zakirova et al., 2015), consistent with the hypothesis of GWI being a neuroimmune disease (O'Callaghan et al., 2016). Notably, some studies have found beneficial effects of immunoactive therapies on adverse components of GWI (O'Callaghan et al., 2015; Golier et al., 2016). The potential therapeutic, LNFPIII, investigated in the present study utilizes the CD14/TLR-MAPK (ERK) axis to induce anti-inflammatory chemokine and cytokine production, facilitating ERK-1/2 phosphorylation (Tundup et al., 2015). In the current report, we did not detect significant differences in key inflammatory markers in the vH 48 h post-exposure, a finding that is consistent with investigations demonstrating that inflammatory cytokine production peaks within six h after exposure and subsequently returns to baseline levels (O'Callaghan et al., 2015; Michalovicz et al., 2019; Carpenter et al., 2020). However, coadministration of LNFPIII throughout GWIR exposure resulted in a significant enhancement of synaptic transmission and LTP, which is in line with a direct (Tundup et al., 2015), likely BDNF-mediated effect. These results would also be consistent with LNFPIII shaping synaptic plasticity via diffuse, anti-inflammatory effects (Prieto and Cotman, 2017). Finally, as we found no changes in paired-pulse facilitation (PPF) at the acute time point, a postsynaptic mechanism was likely responsible for the observed enhancement. These electrophysiological data are consistent with an increase in synaptic density, suggesting that

LNFPIII-mediated enhancement of trophic factor production may also enhance synaptic transmission and LTP via modulation of structural plasticity 48 h post-exposure.

While our findings at the acute time point indicate LNFPIII can affect measures of synaptic plasticity and transmission and trophic factor levels, the results reported at the persisting time points underscore the potential therapeutic efficacy of LNFPIII for the treatment of GWI. Importantly, the 11-month duration of rodent aging between GWI induction and electrophysiology recordings recapitulates the aging process of GW veterans (Sengupta, 2013), suggesting translational relevance of our results. The acute neuroinflammatory response in GWI models is short-lived; however, months after exposure, re-emerging neuroinflammatory aberrations are present and associate with GWI symptomology (Alshelh et al., 2020; Cheng et al., 2020). Notably, a delayed progressive worsening of clinical GWI symptoms has been established (Zundel et al., 2019; Porter et al., 2020) and it is attributed, at least in part, to neuroimmune dysfunction (O'Callaghan et al., 2016). As it relates to the focus of our study, aberrant activation of microglia impairs hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission, resulting in deficits in learning and memory (Maggio et al., 2013; Prieto and Cotman, 2017). Moreover, abnormal microglia activation facilitates an undesirable activation of astrocytes, further modulating synaptic responses (Pascual et al., 2012). Persisting neuroinflammation is associated with biasing microglia to a pro-inflammatory, M1, activation state (Cherry et al., 2014), leading to an enhanced inflammatory tone that hinders hippocampal synaptic transmission (Maher et al., 2006; Kelly et al., 2013). Enhanced neuroinflammation also reduces the secretion of hippocampal trophic factors (Barrientos et al., 2004; Yirmiya and Goshen, 2011; Littlefield et al., 2015). Reports of delayed neuroimmune dysfunction in GWI (Coughlin, 2017) may be particularly relevant to hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission as aging alone leads to neuroinflammatory aberrations and reductions of hippocampal trophic factor production (Kelly et al., 2013; Littlefield et al., 2015), underscoring the necessity to evaluate GWI animal models and the efficacy of GWI therapeutics at clinically relevant time points.

In the present report, following an initial enhancement in basal synaptic transmission 48 h after GWIR exposure, no change was found seven months post-exposure, and a reduction was observed 11 months after exposure. This delayed reduction in hippocampal basal synaptic transmission is consistent with the expected synaptic effects induced by the aforementioned delayed GWIR exposure-induced neuroinflammatory phenotype. These findings are in line with a preclinical study demonstrating that exposure to an OP implicated in the etiology of GWI, chlorpyrifos, leads to an initial enhancement of hippocampal synaptic transmission followed by a reduction three months later (Speed et al., 2011). This delayed reduction was attributed to a decrease in CA1 apical dendritic spine density. In addition, we found a delayed decrease in LTP magnitude 11 months post-GWIR exposure. As we did not detect any significant changes in PPF at any time point, a postsynaptic, structure-specific effect, such as decreased synaptic density following GWI exposure, is indicated. This is further supported by the apparent reduction in all trophic factors assessed in the vH of GWI-vehicle animals 11 months post-GWIR exposure. Taken together, the findings in the present study are consistent with a GWIR exposure-induced delayed reduction in CA1 synaptic density, but this structural change has to be verified in the future.

Importantly, delayed LNFPIII treatment restored hippocampal synaptic transmission and LTP seven and 11 months after GWIR exposure. The prolonged impact of delayed LNFPIII treatment on microglia, astrocytes, and/or the CD14/TLR-MAPK (ERK) axis may be responsible for restoring hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission. This is supported by studies in which LNFPIII treatment reduced the severity of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by modulating innate and T cell immune responses (Zhu et al., 2012), which are both dysfunctional in GWI (Coughlin, 2017). LNFPIII also enhanced IL-10 levels, mitigated chronic inflammation, and restored metabolic function associated with diet-induced obesity (Bhargava et al., 2012). Recent reports by our group demonstrated that LNFPIII treatment rebalanced neurochemical and neuroimmune functionality in multiple GWI animal models, acutely and chronically

(Carpenter et al., 2020; Mote et al., 2020). Therefore, we postulate that one likely reason for the restoration of synaptic transmission and LTP months after GWIR exposure is a result of LNFPIII-mediated anti-inflammatory:inflammatory milieu rebalancing. We observed an enhancement of hippocampal BDNF and NGF expression in GWI-LNFPIII-treated animals, suggesting that recovery of synaptic transmission and LTP months after GWIR exposure may also be a result of a direct, LNFPIII-induced increase in trophic factor production. Most notably, the efficacy of delayed LNFPIII treatment on ameliorating GWIR exposure-induced aberrations in hippocampal synaptic measurements and trophic factor levels is particularly encouraging as potential clinical treatment of GWI with LNFPIII would also follow a delayed timeline (i.e., beginning LNFPIII treatment decades after exposure).

The dH and the vH have been increasingly appreciated as functionally distinct structures (Fanselow and Dong, 2010; Papatheodoropoulos, 2018). Monitoring the persisting/delayed dorsoventral-specific impact of neurotoxin overexposures on measurements of hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission may be essential for interpreting subtle behavioral changes described in disease states, such as GWI, especially early in the course of the disease. We observed no distinct dorsoventral-specific effects of GWIR exposure on measurements of synaptic plasticity and transmission at the 48 h and seven-month time points; however, we detected differential responses at the 11-month time point. For instance, we found a significant main effect of GWIR exposure on LTP magnitude in the dH, but not in the vH. We also detected a differential impact of GWIR exposure on trophic factor production in the dH compared to the vH. These findings may provide insight into reports of impairments in dH-dependent spatial memory tasks (Parihar et al., 2013; Hattiangady et al., 2014; Joshi et al., 2018; Madhu et al., 2019). Abnormal vH-dependent behavior (i.e., anxiety), while reported, might be less pronounced (Parihar et al., 2013; Hattiangady et al., 2014; Zakirova et al., 2016), at least in GWI models and veterans with GWI that have experienced GWIR exposures in line with the model we used in the current study. Similar to the delayed effects we observed, clinical GWI learning

and memory deficits appear to become more marked over time (Zundel et al., 2019; Porter et al., 2020). Studies describing hippocampal sector- and subfield-specific structural abnormalities in GW veterans have also been reported (Vythilingam et al., 2005; Chao et al., 2014; Chao et al., 2017). As we detected biphasic impairments in synaptic plasticity and transmission that were differentially manifested along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis, accounting for such hippocampal sector-specific effects may be essential for interpreting subtle, progressive neurological alterations presented in GWI.

Acknowledgments:

This research was supported by the Department of Defense (CDMRP grant number W81XWH-16-1-0586) to NMF. KAB, CJP, and HDL received support from the Interdisciplinary Toxicology Program of the University of Georgia.

References

- Abdel-Rahman A, Abou-Donia SM, El-Masry EM, Shetty AK, and Abou-Donia MB (2004) Stress and combined exposure to low doses of pyridostigmine bromide, DEET, and permethrin produce neurochemical and neuropathological alterations in cerebral cortex, hippocampus, and cerebellum. *J Toxicol Environ Health A* **67**: 163-192.
- Abdel-Rahman A, Shetty AK, and Abou-Donia MB (2002) Disruption of the blood–brain barrier and neuronal cell death in cingulate cortex, dentate gyrus, thalamus, and hypothalamus in a rat model of Gulf-War syndrome. *Neurobiol Dis* **10**: 306-326.
- Abdullah L, Crynen G, Reed J, Bishop A, Phillips J, Ferguson S, Mouzon B, Mullan M, Mathura V, and Mullan M (2011) Proteomic CNS profile of delayed cognitive impairment in mice exposed to Gulf War agents. *Neuromolecular Med* **13**: 275-288.
- Alonso M, Medina JH, and Pozzo-Miller L (2004) ERK1/2 activation is necessary for BDNF to increase dendritic spine density in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons. *Learn Mem* **11**: 172-178.
- Alshelh Z, Albrecht DS, Bergan C, Akeju O, Clauw DJ, Conboy L, Edwards RR, Kim M, Lee YC, and Protsenko E (2020) In-vivo imaging of neuroinflammation in veterans with Gulf War illness. *Brain Behav Immun*.
- Atochina O, Da'dara AA, Walker M, and Harn DA (2008) The immunomodulatory glycan LNFPIII initiates alternative activation of murine macrophages in vivo. *Immunology* **125**: 111-121.
- Barrientos RM, Sprunger DB, Campeau S, Watkins LR, Rudy JW, and Maier SF (2004) BDNF mRNA expression in rat hippocampus following contextual learning is blocked by intrahippocampal IL-1β administration. *J Neuroimmunol* **155**: 119-126.
- Belgrad J, Dutta DJ, Bromley-Coolidge S, Kelly KA, Michalovicz LT, Sullivan KA, O'Callaghan JP, and Fields RD (2019) Oligodendrocyte involvement in Gulf War Illness. *Glia*.
- Betancourt AM, Filipov NM, and Carr RL (2007) Alteration of neurotrophins in the hippocampus and cerebral cortex of young rats exposed to chlorpyrifos and methyl parathion. *Toxicol Sci* **100**: 445-455.
- Bhargava P, Li C, Stanya KJ, Jacobi D, Dai L, Liu S, Gangl MR, Harn DA, and Lee C-H (2012) Immunomodulatory glycan LNFPIII alleviates hepatosteatosis and insulin resistance through direct and indirect control of metabolic pathways. *Nat Med* **18**: 1665.
- Blick DW, Kerenyi SZ, Miller S, Murphy MR, Brown GC, and Hartgraves SL (1991) Behavioral toxicity of anticholinesterases in primates: Chronic pyridostigmine and soman interactions. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* **38**: 527-532.
- Carpenter J, Gordon H, Ludwig H, Wagner J, Harn D, Norberg T, and Filipov N (2020) Neurochemical and neuroinflammatory perturbations in two Gulf War Illness models: Modulation by the immunotherapeutic LNFPIII. *Neurotoxicology* **77**: 40-50.
- Chao LL, Kriger S, Buckley S, Ng P, and Mueller SG (2014) Effects of low-level sarin and cyclosarin exposure on hippocampal subfields in Gulf War Veterans. *Neurotoxicology* **44:** 263-269.
- Chao LL, Raymond MR, Leo CK, and Abadjian LR (2017) Evidence of Hippocampal Structural Alterations in Gulf War Veterans With Predicted Exposure to the Khamisiyah Plume. J Occup Environ Med **59:** 923-929.
- Cheng C-H, Koo B-B, Calderazzo S, Quinn E, Aenlle K, Steele L, Klimas N, Krengel M, Janulewicz P, and Toomey R (2020) Alterations in high-order diffusion imaging in veterans with Gulf War Illness is associated with chemical weapons exposure and mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain Behav Immun*.
- Cherry JD, Olschowka JA, and O'Banion MK (2014) Neuroinflammation and M2 microglia: the good, the bad, and the inflamed. *J Neuroinflammation* **11**: 98.

- Cherry N, Creed F, Silman A, Dunn G, Baxter D, Smedley J, Taylor S, and MacFarlane GJ (2001) Health and exposures of United Kingdom Gulf war veterans. Part II: The relation of health to exposure. *Occup Environ Med* **58**: 299-306.
- Corbel V, Stankiewicz M, Pennetier C, Fournier D, Stojan J, Girard E, Dimitrov M, Molgó J, Hougard J-M, and Lapied B (2009) Evidence for inhibition of cholinesterases in insect and mammalian nervous systems by the insect repellent deet. *BMC Biol* **7**: 47.
- Coughlin SS (2017) A neuroimmune model of Gulf War Illness. J Environ Health Sci 3.
- Craddock TJ, Del Rosario RR, Rice M, Zysman JP, Fletcher MA, Klimas NG, and Broderick G (2015) Achieving remission in Gulf War Illness: a simulation-based approach to treatment design. *PLoS One* **10**: e0132774.
- Dickey B, Madhu LN, and Shetty AK (2020) Gulf War Illness: Mechanisms Underlying Brain Dysfunction and Promising Therapeutic Strategies. *Pharmacol Ther*: 107716.
- Fanselow MS and Dong H-W (2010) Are the dorsal and ventral hippocampus functionally distinct structures? *Neuron* **65:** 7-19.
- Friedman A, Kaufer D, Shemer J, Hendler I, Soreq H, and Tur-Kaspa I (1996) Pyridostigmine brain penetration under stress enhances neuronal excitability and induces early immediate transcriptional response. *Nat Med* **2**: 1382.
- Georgopoulos AP, James LM, Carpenter AF, Engdahl BE, Leuthold AC, and Lewis SM (2017) Gulf War illness (GWI) as a neuroimmune disease. *Exp Brain Res* **235**: 3217-3225.
- Golier JA, Caramanica K, Michaelides AC, Makotkine I, Schmeidler J, Harvey PD, and Yehuda R (2016) A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover trial of mifepristone in Gulf War veterans with chronic multisymptom illness. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* **64**: 22-30.
- Haley RW and Tuite JJ (2013) Epidemiologic evidence of health effects from long-distance transit of chemical weapons fallout from bombing early in the 1991 Persian Gulf War. *Neuroepidemiology* **40**: 178-189.
- Hasselmo ME (2006) The role of acetylcholine in learning and memory. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* **16**: 710-715.
- Hattiangady B, Mishra V, Kodali M, Shuai B, Rao X, and Shetty AK (2014) Object location and object recognition memory impairments, motivation deficits and depression in a model of Gulf War illness. *Front Behav Neurosci* **8**: 78.
- Joshi U, Evans JE, Joseph R, Emmerich T, Saltiel N, Lungmus C, Oberlin S, Langlois H, Ojo J, and Mouzon B (2018) Oleoylethanolamide treatment reduces neurobehavioral deficits and brain pathology in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *Sci Rep* **8**: 12921.
- Joshi U, Evans JE, Pearson A, Saltiel N, Cseresznye A, Darcey T, Ojo J, Keegan AP, Oberlin S, and Mouzon B (2020) Targeting sirtuin activity with nicotinamide riboside reduces neuroinflammation in a GWI mouse model. *Neurotoxicology*.
- Kang H and Schuman EM (1995) Long-lasting neurotrophin-induced enhancement of synaptic transmission in the adult hippocampus. *Science* **267**: 1658-1662.
- Kelly RJ, Minogue AM, Lyons A, Jones RS, Browne TC, Costello DA, Denieffe S, O'Sullivan C, Connor TJ, and Lynch MA (2013) Glial activation in AβPP/PS1 mice is associated with infiltration of IFNγ-producing cells. *J Alzheimers Dis* **37**: 63-75.
- Keralapurath MM, Briggs SB, and Wagner JJ (2017) Cocaine self-administration induces changes in synaptic transmission and plasticity in ventral hippocampus. *Addict Biol* **22**: 446-456.
- Koo B-B, Michalovicz LT, Calderazzo S, Kelly KA, Sullivan K, Killiany RJ, and O'Callaghan JP (2018) Corticosterone potentiates DFP-induced neuroinflammation and affects highorder diffusion imaging in a rat model of Gulf War Illness. *Brain Behav Immun* **67**: 42-46.
- Krishna S, Lin Z, Claire B, Wagner JJ, Harn DH, Pepples LM, Djani DM, Weber MT, Srivastava L, and Filipov NM (2016) Time-dependent behavioral, neurochemical, and metabolic

dysregulation in female C57BL/6 mice caused by chronic high-fat diet intake. *Physiol Behav* **157**: 196-208.

- Li X, Spence JS, Buhner DM, Hart Jr J, Cullum CM, Biggs MM, Hester AL, Odegard TN, Carmack PS, and Briggs RW (2011) Hippocampal dysfunction in Gulf War veterans: investigation with ASL perfusion MR imaging and physostigmine challenge. *Radiology* **261:** 218-225.
- Lin Z, Dodd CA, and Filipov NM (2013) Short-term atrazine exposure causes behavioral deficits and disrupts monoaminergic systems in male C57BL/6 mice. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **39**: 26-35.
- Littlefield AM, Setti SE, Priester C, and Kohman RA (2015) Voluntary exercise attenuates LPSinduced reductions in neurogenesis and increases microglia expression of a proneurogenic phenotype in aged mice. *J Neuroinflammation* **12**: 138.
- Locker AR, Michalovicz LT, Kelly KA, Miller JV, Miller DB, and O'Callaghan JP (2017) Corticosterone primes the neuroinflammatory response to Gulf War Illness-relevant organophosphates independently of acetylcholinesterase inhibition. *J Neurochem* **142**: 444-455.
- Macht V, Woodruff J, Grillo C, Wood C, Wilson M, and Reagan L (2018) Pathophysiology in a model of Gulf War Illness: Contributions of pyridostigmine bromide and stress. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* **96:** 195-202.
- Madhu LN, Attaluri S, Kodali M, Shuai B, Upadhya R, Gitai D, and Shetty AK (2019) Neuroinflammation in Gulf War Illness is Linked with HMGB1 and Complement Activation, which can be Discerned from Brain-Derived Extracellular Vesicles in the Blood. *Brain Behav Immun*.
- Maggio N, Shavit-Stein E, Dori A, Blatt I, and Chapman J (2013) Prolonged systemic inflammation persistently modifies synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus: modulation by the stress hormones. *Front Mol Neurosci* **6**: 46.
- Maher FO, Clarke RM, Kelly A, Nally RE, and Lynch MA (2006) Interaction between interferon γ and insulin-like growth factor-1 in hippocampus impacts on the ability of rats to sustain long-term potentiation. *J Neurochem* **96**: 1560-1571.
- Megahed T, Hattiangady B, Shuai B, and Shetty AK (2015) Parvalbumin and neuropeptide Y expressing hippocampal GABA-ergic inhibitory interneuron numbers decline in a model of Gulf War illness. *Front Cell Neurosci* **8**: 447.
- Michalovicz LT, Locker AR, Kelly KA, Miller JV, Barnes Z, Fletcher MA, Miller DB, Klimas NG, Morris M, and Lasley SM (2019) Corticosterone and pyridostigmine/DEET exposure attenuate peripheral cytokine expression: Supporting a dominant role for neuroinflammation in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *Neurotoxicology* **70**: 26-32.
- Miller JV, LeBouf RF, Kelly KA, Michalovicz LT, Ranpara A, Locker AR, Miller DB, and O'Callaghan JP (2018) The neuroinflammatory phenotype in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness is unrelated to brain regional levels of acetylcholine as measured by quantitative HILIC-UPLC-MS/MS. *Toxicol Sci* **165**: 302-313.
- Mote RS, Carpenter JM, Dockman RL, Steinberger AJ, Suen G, Norberg T, Harn DA, Wagner JJ, and Filipov NM (2020) Assessing the Beneficial Effects of the Immunomodulatory Glycan LNFPIII on Gut Microbiota and Health in a Mouse Model of Gulf War Illness. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* **17:** 7081.
- Nugent SM, Freeman M, Ayers CK, Winchell KA, Press AM, O'Neil ME, Paynter R, and Kansagara D (2020) A Systematic Review of Therapeutic Interventions and Management Strategies for Gulf War Illness. *Mil Med*.
- O'Callaghan JP, Kelly KA, Locker AR, Miller DB, and Lasley SM (2015) Corticosterone primes the neuroinflammatory response to DFP in mice: potential animal model of Gulf War Illness. *J Neurochem* **133**: 708-721.

- O'Callaghan JP, Michalovicz LT, and Kelly KA (2016) Supporting a neuroimmune basis of Gulf war illness. *EBioMedicine* **13:** 5-6.
- Odegard TN, Cooper CM, Farris EA, Arduengo J, Bartlett J, and Haley R (2013) Memory impairment exhibited by veterans with Gulf War Illness. *Neurocase* **19**: 316-327.
- Ojo JO, Abdullah L, Evans J, Řeed JM, Montague H, Mullan MJ, and Crawford FC (2014) Exposure to an organophosphate pesticide, individually or in combination with other G ulf W ar agents, impairs synaptic integrity and neuronal differentiation, and is accompanied by subtle microvascular injury in a mouse model of G ulf W ar agent exposure. *Neuropathology* **34:** 109-127.
- Papatheodoropoulos C (2018) Electrophysiological evidence for long-axis intrinsic diversification of the hippocampus. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)* **23:** 109-145.
- Parihar VK, Hattiangady B, Shuai B, and Shetty AK (2013) Mood and memory deficits in a model of Gulf War illness are linked with reduced neurogenesis, partial neuron loss, and mild inflammation in the hippocampus. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **38**: 2348.
- Pascual O, Achour SB, Rostaing P, Triller A, and Bessis A (2012) Microglia activation triggers astrocyte-mediated modulation of excitatory neurotransmission. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **109:** E197-E205.
- Porter B, Long K, Rull RP, Dursa EK, and Team MCS (2020) Prevalence of Chronic Multisymptom Illness/Gulf War Illness Over Time Among Millennium Cohort Participants, 2001 to 2016. J Occup Environ Med **62:** 4-10.
- Preston CJ, Brown KA, and Wagner JJ (2019) Cocaine conditioning induces persisting changes in ventral hippocampus synaptic transmission, long-term potentiation, and radial arm maze performance in the mouse. *Neuropharmacology* **150**: 27-37.
- Prieto GA and Cotman CW (2017) Cytokines and cytokine networks target neurons to modulate long-term potentiation. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* **34**: 27-33.
- Sengupta P (2013) The laboratory rat: relating its age with human's. Int J Prev Med 4: 624.
- Shetty AK, Attaluri S, Kodali M, Shuai B, Shetty GA, Upadhya D, Hattiangady B, Madhu LN, Upadhya R, and Bates A (2020) Monosodium luminol reinstates redox homeostasis, improves cognition, mood and neurogenesis, and alleviates neuro-and systemic inflammation in a model of Gulf War Illness. *Redox Biol* **28**: 101389.
- Speed HE, Blaiss CA, Kim A, Haws ME, Melvin NR, Jennings M, Eisch AJ, and Powell CM (2011) Delayed reduction of hippocampal synaptic transmission and spines following exposure to repeated subclinical doses of organophosphorus pesticide in adult mice. *Toxicol Sci* **125**: 196-208.
- Steele L, Sastre A, Gerkovich MM, and Cook MR (2012) Complex factors in the etiology of Gulf War illness: wartime exposures and risk factors in veteran subgroups. *Environ Health Perspect* **120**: 112-118.
- Sullivan K, Krengel M, Bradford W, Stone C, Thompson TA, Heeren T, and White RF (2018) Neuropsychological functioning in military pesticide applicators from the Gulf War: effects on information processing speed, attention and visual memory. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **65:** 1-13.
- Tan D-H, Peng S-Q, Wu Y-L, Wang Y-M, Lu C-F, Ding W, Wang Q-X, and Yan C-H (2009) Chlorpyrifos induces delayed cytotoxicity after withdrawal in primary hippocampal neurons through extracellular signal-regulated kinase inhibition. *Biol Pharm Bull* **32**: 1649-1655.
- Torres-Altoro MI, Mathur BN, Drerup JM, Thomas R, Lovinger DM, O'Callaghan JP, and Bibb JA (2011) Organophosphates dysregulate dopamine signaling, glutamatergic neurotransmission, and induce neuronal injury markers in striatum. *J Neurochem* **119**: 303-313.

- Trageser KJ, Sebastian-Valverde M, Naughton SX, and Pasinetti GM (2020) The Innate Immune System and Inflammatory Priming: Potential Mechanistic Factors in Mood Disorders and Gulf War Illness. *Front Psychiatry* **11**.
- Tundup S, Srivastava L, and Harn J, Donald A (2012) Polarization of host immune responses by helminth-expressed glycans. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1253:** E1-E13.
- Tundup S, Srivastava L, Norberg T, Watford W, and Harn D (2015) A neoglycoconjugate containing the human milk sugar LNFPIII drives anti-inflammatory activation of antigen presenting cells in a CD14 dependent pathway. *PLoS One* **10**: e0137495.
- Vythilingam M, Luckenbaugh DA, Lam T, Morgan III CA, Lipschitz D, Charney DS, Bremner JD, and Southwick SM (2005) Smaller head of the hippocampus in Gulf War-related posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging* **139**: 89-99.
- Wang X, Xu Z, Zhao F, Lin KJ, Foster JB, Xiao T, Kung N, Askwith CC, Bruno JP, and Valentini V (2020) Restoring tripartite glutamatergic synapses: A potential therapy for mood and cognitive deficits in Gulf War illness. *Neurobiology of Stress*: 100240.
- White RF, Steele L, O'Callaghan JP, Sullivan K, Binns JH, Golomb BA, Bloom FE, Bunker JA, Crawford F, and Graves JC (2016) Recent research on Gulf War illness and other health problems in veterans of the 1991 Gulf War: Effects of toxicant exposures during deployment. *Cortex* **74**: 449-475.
- Winkenwerder W (2002) US demolition operations at Khamisiyah. final report. U.S. Department of Defense, Washington, D.C.
- Winkenwerder W (2003) Environmental exposure report: pesticides final report. Department of Defense, Washington, D.C.
- Yirmiya R and Goshen I (2011) Immune modulation of learning, memory, neural plasticity and neurogenesis. *Brain Behav Immun* **25:** 181-213.
- Zakirova Z, Crynen G, Hassan S, Abdullah L, Horne L, Mathura V, Crawford F, and Ait-Ghezala G (2016) A chronic longitudinal characterization of neurobehavioral and neuropathological cognitive impairment in a mouse model of Gulf War agent exposure. *Front Integr Neurosci* **9**: 71.
- Zakirova Z, Tweed M, Crynen G, Reed J, Abdullah L, Nissanka N, Mullan M, Mullan MJ, Mathura V, and Crawford F (2015) Gulf War agent exposure causes impairment of longterm memory formation and neuropathological changes in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *PLoS One* **10**: e0119579.
- Zhu B, Trikudanathan S, Zozulya AL, Sandoval-Garcia C, Kennedy JK, Atochina O, Norberg T, Castagner B, Seeberger P, and Fabry Z (2012) Immune modulation by Lacto-Nfucopentaose III in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Clin Immunol* **142:** 351-361.
- Zundel CG, Heeren T, Grasso CM, Spiro III A, Proctor SP, Sullivan K, and Krengel M (2020) Changes in Health Status in the Ft. Devens Gulf War Veterans Cohort: 1997-2017. *Neurosci Insights* **15:** 1-7.
- Zundel CG, Krengel MH, Heeren T, Yee MK, Grasso CM, Janulewicz Lloyd PA, Coughlin SS, and Sullivan K (2019) Rates of Chronic Medical Conditions in 1991 Gulf War Veterans Compared to the General Population. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* **16:** 949.

Figures and tables



Figure 5.1. The effect of Gulf War Illness-related (GWIR) exposure ± LNFPIII coadministration on measurements of hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission 48 h post GWIR/LNFPIII treatment. A. Timeline of GWIR exposure and LNFPIII treatment for animals that were dissected at the acute electrophysiological timepoint. B and C. Summary plots of normalized fEPSP values recorded from either vehicle-treated (B) or GWIR-exposed (C) animals 48 h post GWIR exposure. (B) compares Vehicle-Vehicle (\circ) and Vehicle-LNFPIII (\bullet) treated mice whereas (C) compares GWI-Vehicle (
) and GWI-LNFPIII (
) treated mice. Insets show traces composed of average sweeps from 5 min pre-tetanus (grey) and 56-60 min post tetanus (black). D. Summary quantification of LTP magnitude recorded 48 h after GWIR exposure from Vehicle-Vehicle $(1.41 \pm 0.06, n=11(4))$, Vehicle-LNFPIII $(1.63 \pm 0.05, n=18(4))$, GWI-Vehicle $(1.51 \pm 0.04, n=21(4))$, and GWI-LNFPIII $(1.56 \pm 0.05, n=17(4))$ treated animals. E. Stimulus-response relationship of the average fEPSP slopes elicited by increasing stimulus intensities from Vehicle-Vehicle (○), Vehicle-LNFPIII (●), GWI-Vehicle (□), and GWI-LNFPIII (■) treatment groups recorded 48 h after GWIR exposure. F. The paired-pulse ratio for Vehicle-Vehicle (1.48 ± 0.05), Vehicle-LNFPIII (1.40 ± 0.04), GWI-Vehicle (1.43 ± 0.06), and GWI-LNFPIII (1.39 ± 0.05) treatment groups recorded 48 h after GWIR exposure (interpulse interval = 50 ms). ^a denotes main effect of GWIR exposure (p < 0.05, ^{aa} denotes p < 0.01, ^{aaa} denotes p< 0.001) whereas ^b denotes main effect of LNFPIII (p < 0.05, ^{bb} denotes p < 0.01, ^{bbb} denotes p < 0.01, ^{bbbb} denotes p < 0.01, ^{bbb} 0.001). * denotes p < 0.05; ** denotes p < 0.01. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM.





Figure 5.2. The effect of GWIR exposure ± delayed LNFPIII treatment on measurements of hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission 7 months post GWIR treatment. A. Timeline of GWIR exposure and LNFPIII treatment for animals that were dissected at the early persisting electrophysiological timepoint. B and C. Summary plots of normalized fEPSP values recorded from either vehicle-treated (B) or GWIR-exposed (C) animals 7 months post GWIR exposure. (B) compares Vehicle-Vehicle (\circ) and Vehicle-LNFPIII (\bullet) treated mice whereas (C) compares GWI-Vehicle (□) and GWI-LNFPIII (■) treated mice. Insets show traces composed of average sweeps from 5 min pre-tetanus (grey) and 56-60 min post tetanus (black). D. Summary quantification of LTP magnitude recorded 7 months after GWIR exposure from Vehicle-Vehicle $(1.76 \pm 0.07, n=16(3))$, Vehicle-LNFPIII $(1.81 \pm 0.10, n=15(3))$, GWI-Vehicle $(1.61 \pm 0.06, n=14(3))$, and GWI-LNFPIII $(1.86 \pm 0.09, n=12(3))$ treated animals. E. Stimulus-response relationship of the average fEPSP slopes elicited by increasing stimulus intensities from Vehicle-Vehicle (○), Vehicle-LNFPIII (●), GWI-Vehicle (□), and GWI-LNFPIII (**■**) treatment groups recorded 7 months after GWIR exposure. **F.** The paired-pulse ratio for Vehicle-Vehicle (1.52 ± 0.06) , Vehicle-LNFPIII (1.53 ± 0.07) , GWI-Vehicle (1.46 ± 0.05) , and GWI-LNFPIII (1.49 ± 0.06) treatment groups recorded 7 months after GWIR exposure (interpulse interval = 50 ms). ^a denotes main effect of GWIR exposure (p < 0.05) whereas ^b denotes main effect of LNFPIII (p < 0.05, b^{\wedge} denotes p < 0.1). # denotes p < 0.1; * denotes p < 0.1; 0.05; ** denotes p < 0.01. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM.



1.0

Figure 5.3. The effect of GWIR exposure ± delayed LNFPIII treatment on measurements of dorsal hippocampal (dH) synaptic plasticity and transmission 11 months post GWIR treatment. A. Timeline of GWIR exposure and LNFPIII treatment for animals that were dissected at the late persisting electrophysiological timepoint. This timeline was also employed for the data presented in Fig. 5.4. B and C. Summary plots of normalized fEPSP values recorded in the dH from either vehicle-treated (B) or GWIR-exposed (C) animals 11 months post GWIR exposure. (B) compares Vehicle-Vehicle (0) and Vehicle-LNFPIII (0) treated mice whereas (C) compares GWI-Vehicle (
) and GWI-LNFPIII (
) treated mice. Insets show traces composed of average sweeps from 5 min pre-tetanus (grey) and 56-60 min post tetanus (black). D. Summary quantification of LTP magnitude recorded in the dH 11 months after GWIR exposure from Vehicle-Vehicle (1.65 ± 0.05, n=15(7)), Vehicle-LNFPIII $(1.66 \pm 0.07, n=13(5))$, GWI-Vehicle $(1.39 \pm 0.07, n=14(6))$, and GWI-LNFPIII $(1.62 \pm 0.07, n=12(6))$ n=14(5)) treated animals. E. Stimulus-response relationship of the average dH fEPSP slopes elicited by increasing stimulus intensities from Vehicle-Vehicle (•), Vehicle-LNFPIII (•), GWI-Vehicle (o), and GWI-LNFPIII (c) treatment groups recorded in the dH 11 months after GWIR exposure. **F.** The paired-pulse ratio for Vehicle-Vehicle (1.62 ± 0.06) , Vehicle-LNFPIII (1.57 ± 0.06) 0.05), GWI-Vehicle (1.53 \pm 0.07), and GWI-LNFPIII (1.55 \pm 0.05) treatment groups recorded in the dH 11 months after GWIR exposure (interpulse interval = 50 ms). ^a denotes main effect of GWIR exposure (p < 0.05) whereas ^b denotes main effect of LNFPIII (p <0.05, b[^] denotes p < 0.1). * denotes p < 0.05. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM.



Figure 5.4. The effect of GWIR exposure ± delayed LNFPIII treatment on measurements of ventral hippocampal (vH) synaptic plasticity and transmission 11 months post GWIR treatment. A and B. Summary plots of normalized fEPSP values recorded in the vH from either vehicle-treated (A) or GWIR-exposed (B) animals 11 months post GWIR exposure. (A) compares Vehicle-Vehicle (\circ) and Vehicle-LNFPIII (\bullet) treated mice whereas (**B**) compares GWI-Vehicle (\Box) and GWI-LNFPIII (\bullet) treated mice. Insets show traces composed of average sweeps from 5 min pre-tetanus (grey) and 56–60 min post tetanus (black). **C.** Summary quantification of LTP magnitude recorded in the vH 11 months after GWIR exposure from Vehicle-Vehicle (1.63 ± 0.05, n=15(7)), Vehicle-LNFPIII (1.71 ± 0.07, n=14(5)), GWI-Vehicle (1.55 ± 0.05, n=12(6)), and GWI-LNFPIII (1.74 ± 0.04, n=12(5)) treated animals. **D.** Stimulus-response relationship of the average dH fEPSP slopes elicited by increasing stimulus intensities from Vehicle-Vehicle (\bullet), Vehicle-LNFPIII (\bullet), GWI-Vehicle (\circ), and GWI-LNFPIII (\Box) treatment groups recorded in the vH 11 months after GWIR exposure. **E.** The paired-pulse ratio for Vehicle-Vehicle (1.36 ± 0.04), Vehicle-LNFPIII (1.30 ± 0.04), GWI-Vehicle (1.34 ± 0.04), and GWI-LNFPIII (1.31 ± 0.03) treatment groups recorded in the vH 11 months after GWIR exposure (p < 0.05, ^{aa} denotes p < 0.01) whereas ^b denotes main effect of LNFPIII (p <0.05). * denotes p < 0.05; ** denotes p < 0.01. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM.

Table 5.1. List of primers used in the quantitative PCR (qPCR) analysis

CTGAGCGTGTGTGACAGTATTA	CTTTGGATACCGGGACTTTCTC
GAGATGGTGAAAGAGGTGAA	GTGTTGAAGAGCAGAAAGCA
ACAAGGTCTCCATAAGTGTCAGC	CTGCCATTGGTCCAGGATGA
GAGGACATGAGCACCTTCTTT	GCCTGTAGTGCAGTTGTCTAA
ATGGATGCTACCAAACTGGAT	TGAAGGACTCTGGCTTTGTCT
CAGTGAGGTGCATAGCGTAAT	CTCCTTCTGGGACATTGCTATC
GCAGGTCTACTTTGGAGTCATTGC	TCCCTTTGCAGAACTCAGGAATGG

Table 5.2. The effect of GWIR exposure ± LNFPIII on the expression of key inflammatory cytokines and growth factors in the ventral hippocampus (vH) measured by qPCR 48 h post GWIR exposure. vH samples from mice (n=6 per treatment) were used for RNA isolation and subsequent qPCR analyses. Data were analyzed by the $2-\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with 18S as the housekeeping gene and are expressed as a mean fold change from the Vehicle-Vehicle control ± SEM. Gene abbreviations: IL-6, Interleukin 6; IL-1 β , Interleukin 1 beta; TNF α , Tumor necrosis factor alpha; BDNF, Brain-derived neurotrophic factor; NGF, Nerve growth factor; CNTF, Ciliary neurotrophic factor.

Table 5.2. qPCR assessment of cytokines and trophic factors in the ventral hippocampus 48 h post GWIR exposure									
		Fold Change		p-values					
Gene	Veh. – LNFPIII vs. control	GWI – Veh. vs. control	GWI – LNFPIII vs. control	Veh. – LNFPIII vs. control	GWI – Veh. vs. control	GWI – LNFPIII vs. control	GWI – Veh. vs. GWI – LNFPIII		
Casp1	0.54 ± 0.04	0.70 ± 0.05	0.67 ± 0.05	0.21	0.28	0.19	0.93		
IL-6	1.09 ± 0.13	1.19 ± 0.14	0.97 ± 0.12	0.86	0.52	0.93	0.52		
IL-1β	0.50 ± 0.15	1.31 ± 0.41	0.64 ± 0.20	0.23	0.64	0.29	0.13		
TNFα	1.32 ± 0.40	1.78 ± 0.54	0.94 ± 0.28	0.51	0.26	0.90	0.26		
BDNF	0.88 ± 0.07	1.39 ± 0.11	1.87 ± 0.14	0.71	0.28	0.04	0.43		
NGF	1.06 ± 0.14	0.92 ± 0.12	1.29 ± 0.17	0.90	0.80	0.39	0.08		
CNTF	1.07 ± 0.04	0.92 ± 0.03	0.82 ± 0.03	0.83	0.73	0.12	0.66		

Table 5.3. The effect of GWIR exposure \pm LNFPIII on the expression of growth factors in the dorsal (dH) and ventral hippocampus (vH) measured by qPCR post GWIR exposure.

dH and vH samples from mice (n=7, 4, 7, 6, for the, respectively, Vehicle-Vehicle, Vehicle-LNFPIII, GWI-Vehicle, GWI-LNFPIII groups) were used for RNA isolation and subsequent qPCR analyses. Data were analyzed by the $2^{-\Delta\Delta}$ Ct method with 18S as the housekeeping gene and are expressed as a mean fold change from the Vehicle-Vehicle control ± SEM. Gene abbreviations: BDNF, Brain-derived neurotrophic factor; NGF, Nerve growth factor; CNTF, Ciliary neurotrophic factor.

Table 5.3. qPCR assessment of trophic factors in the hippocampus 11 months post GWIR exposure								
		Fold Change			p-values			
		Veh. –						
Region	Gene	vs control	vs control	vs control	ven. – LINFPIII vs. control	vs control	vs control	GWI – Ven. vs.
Dorsal Hippocampus	BDNF	0.67 ± 0.09	0.90 ± 0.12	1.55 ± 0.20	0.13	0.69	0.10	0.06
	NGF	1.48 ± 0.10	1.42 ± 0.09	2.18 ± 0.15	0.03	0.08	0.001	0.06
	CNTF	0.97 ± 0.05	0.98 ± 0.05	1.03 ± 0.05	0.84	0.93	0.74	0.84
Ventral Hippocampus	BDNF	1.05 ± 0.07	0.87 ± 0.31	1.01 ± 0.07	0.82	0.54	0.95	0.56
	NGF	0.83 ± 0.08	0.67 ± 0.001	0.89 ± 0.09	0.48	0.11	0.61	0.19
	CNTF	0.79 ± 0.08	0.72 ± 0.09	0.96 ± 0.10	0.28	0.07	0.86	0.11

CHAPTER 6

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

The hippocampus is a bilateral structure located in the medial temporal lobe of mammalian organisms and is fundamentally associated with behavioral responses such as learning and memory. While the responsibility of the hippocampus in phases of learning and memory such as encoding, consolidation, and retrieval has been established for decades, emerging evidence continues to illuminate differential functionality between the dorsal hippocampus (dH) and the ventral hippocampus (vH; Fanselow and Dong, 2010). Studies indicate that unique roles of the dH sector compared to the vH sector may be due to distinctions at the intrinsic and extrinsic levels. For instance, differences in local circuitry and receptor densities between the dH and the vH have been proposed as a basis for sector-specific synaptic plasticity and transmission (Papatheodoropoulos, 2018). Projections from the dH to brain regions linked to higher-order cognitive processes whereas vH fibers predominately sent to neuroanatomical structures related to affective responses may also underlie a rudimental reason for these sectors diverging roles in behavioral responses (Fanselow and Dong, 2010). Accordingly, monitoring dH- and vH-specific synaptic and behavioral responses in complex preclinical models of neurological disease states such as Gulf War Illness (GWI) may provide valuable insight into clinical presentation of GWI.

GWI is a chronic multisymptom condition that affects approximately one-third of the 700,000 U.S. personnel deployed in the 1990-1991 Persian Gulf War (White et al., 2016). GWI presents with a constellation of symptoms, but neurological (i.e., cognitive) and immunological (i.e., inflammation) symptoms are consistently reported (Coughlin, 2017). While the initiating factors related to the etiology of GWI are unknown, overexposures to neurotoxic pesticides,

organophosphate (OP) nerve agents, nerve agent prophylactics, and wartime stress have been associated with GWI symptoms (Cherry et al., 2001; Winkenwerder, 2003; Steele et al., 2012). GWI symptom severity is correlated to factors of GWI-related exposures such as the degree. duration, and type of exposures (Steele et al., 2012; Sullivan et al., 2018). Increases in the reported incidence (Zundel et al., 2019) and symptom severity (Porter et al., 2020; Zundel et al., 2020) of GWI suggests disease progression. The previous two sentences underscore the critical need to employ translationally relevant doses and timelines of GWIR exposures in animal models that reflect the progressive presentation of GWI to identify the pathobiology of the disease as well as efficacious GWI therapeutics. The hippocampus has been implicated as a site of pathology in GWI as GWI-specific molecular, cellular, anatomical, and behavioral aberrations within and related to this structure have been consistently reported (White et al., 2016). Preclinical and clinical investigations of GWI therapeutics have found some success in ameliorating GWI-specific hippocampal abnormalities (Dickey et al., 2020; Nugent et al., 2020). Nonetheless, there are a limited number of reports detailing hippocampal synaptic abnormalities presented in GWI and even fewer studies that assessed the beneficial effects of therapeutics on GWI-related hippocampal synaptic anomalies. The objective of the present document was to ameliorate GWI-specific impairments in cognitive and synaptic function using an immunotherapeutic therapeutic, lacto-N-fucopenatose-III (LNFPIII). The current chapter will provide a summary of our novel findings and review some of challenges currently facing GWI researchers. A description of how our results address some of the obstacles and knowledge gaps within the field of GWI research will also be discussed.

6.1 Review of Experimental Results

<u>6.1.1 Acute effects of the nerve agent surrogate diisopropylfluorophosphate on hippocampal</u> <u>synaptic transmission along the dorsoventral axis</u>

The impact of low-level exposures to GWIR chemicals employed in GWI (O'Callaghan et al., 2015; Phillips et al., 2019) and status epilepticus (Deshpande et al., 2010; Pouliot et al.,

2016) animal models, such as the organophosphate alkylphosphate diisopropylfluorophosphate (DFP), on hippocampal functionality have been studied in a preclinical setting (White et al., 2016); however, publications investigating the mechanisms that underlie the aberrant effects of DFP on hippocampal synaptic transmission along the dorsoventral axis are limited. Therefore, we aimed to contribute to the understanding of these animal models by evaluating the cholinergic and noncholinergic mechanisms associated with the effect of bath-applied DFP on excitatory and inhibitory hippocampal synaptic transmission in dH and vH slices. DFP inhibited excitatory transmission in the dH via a muscarinic acetylcholine receptor M2 (M₂R)-dependent mechanism, a mechanism that was not observed in the vH. Rather, blockade of the M_2R , nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChRs), and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) were required to prevent the inhibitory effect of DFP on excitatory transmission in the vH. Therefore, DFP-induced inhibition of excitatory neurotransmission was produced via a cholinergic mechanism in the dH while a noncholinergic mechanism was indispensable in mediating the inhibitory effect of DFP on excitatory transmission in the vH. Interestingly, blockade of the NMDAR, but not cholinergic receptors, with the NMDAR antagonist D-APV prevented DFPinduced impairments in inhibitory transmission in both the dH and the vH. To the best of our knowledge, this was the first study to demonstrate dorsoventral-specific effects of an OP on excitatory and inhibitory hippocampal synaptic transmission. The novel noncholinergic mechanisms underlying the observed effects of DFP on synaptic responses may also provide important insight into OP overexposure cases as well. Of particular relevance to this document, these findings indicated that we may detect unique responses in the dH compared to the vH in our studies assessing abnormalities in hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission in GWI animal models.
<u>6.1.2 The beneficial effects of lacto-n-fucopentaose-III on acute and persisting neurological</u> impairments in a pyridostigmine bromide/permethrin Gulf War Illness animal model

Investigating the impact of GWIR chemicals on hippocampal-related responses in a bath preparation was extended to an in vivo setting by employing a well-established GWI animal model consisting of 10 days of exposure to a reversible acetylcholinesterase inhibitor nerve agent prophylactic, pyridostigmine bromide (PB), and a type II pyrethroid insecticide, permethrin (PM; Zakirova et al., 2015). The efficacy of an immunomodulatory glycan conjugate, LNFPIII, on ameliorating GWIR neurological abnormalities was assessed. Notably, LNFPIII was previously shown to be beneficial for short-term and long-term GWI-specific neurochemical and neuroimmune impairments (Carpenter et al., 2020; Mote et al., 2020). A subset of animals was coadministered LNFPIII during the duration of GWIR exposure and was sacrificed 48 h postexposure for assessment of synaptic plasticity and transmission as well as trophic factor/cytokine expression. Another subset of animals began receiving delayed LNFPIII treatment four months after exposure and was utilized for electrophysiology, neurobehavioral assays, and immunohistochemistry beginning one month after initiation of LNFPIII treatment and up to eight months post-PB-PM-exposure. Overall, we observed PB-PM-related behavioral deficits in the motor, mood, and cognitive domains, impairments in hippocampal synaptic responses, and elevated hippocampal glial activation, abnormalities that were partly ameliorated by delayed LNFPIII treatment. Specifically, numerous motor tasks revealed sensorimotor, locomotor, and neuromuscular deficits following PB-PM exposure. Mood tests also demonstrated modest anxiety-like behavior in PB-PM animals. Subtle PB-PM-induced learning and memory impairments were detected in cognitive tasks, particularly during the initial days of training in hippocampal-dependent tasks. Performance in tasks related to motor and cognitive domains was notably benefited by delayed LNFPIII treatment following PB-PM exposure. DH and vH basal synaptic transmission was impaired 48 h and seven months post-PB-PM exposure. Coadministered LNFPIII ameliorated basal synaptic transmission deficits, particularly

in the dH, whereas delayed LNFPIII treatment was beneficial for vH, but not dH, synaptic transmission. Interestingly, LTP magnitude was unaffected by PB-PM exposure at both time points but coadministered and delayed LNFPIII treatment enhanced LTP magnitude uniquely along the dorsoventral axis in animals exposed to PB-PM. LNFPIII treatment also resulted in distinct enhancements in basal synaptic transmission and LTP magnitude at both time points along the dorsoventral axis in vehicle animals, indicating potential efficacy of the immunotherapeutic in non-GWI disease states. Furthermore, vH brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) expression was enhanced in PB-PM-exposed animals that received LNFPIII coadministration. Of particular interest to this document, no observable effects of PB-PM exposure were detected on LTP or paired-pulse facilitation magnitude, indicating PB-PM may be impacting synaptic responses via a postsynaptic-specific effect (i.e., decreased synaptic density). This proposed effect on synaptic density is supported by beneficial effects of LNFPIII on synaptic transmission and plasticity as well as trophic factor expression (the latter shown in chapter five as well). The prolonged impact of PB-PM exposure and delayed LNFPIII treatment on RAM performance suggest modest aberrant and ameliorative effects, respectively, on dH and vH-dependent behavior, indicating that distinguishing the distinct impact of previous PB-PM exposures and delayed LNFPIII treatment on synaptic plasticity and transmission along the dorsoventral axis may be critical for interpreting subtle GWI-specific cognitive impairments. Additionally, evidence of progressively worsened neuroinflammation was detected where key inflammatory cytokine expression in the vH was unaffected 48 h post-PB-PM exposure whereas delayed LNFPIII treatment ameliorated prolonged activation of hippocampal GFAP+ astrocytes and IBA-1+ microglia months after PB-PM exposure. Overall, these findings suggest that PB-PM exposure results in persisting neurological abnormalities consistent with GWI. Importantly, delayed LNFPIII treatment may hold potential as a therapeutic in cases involving PB-PM overexposures, such as GWI.

<u>6.1.3 Lacto-n-fucopentaose-III ameliorates short-term and long-term aberrations in hippocampal</u> <u>synaptic plasticity and transmission in a pyridostigmine bromide/N,N-diethyl-meta-</u> toluamide/diisopropylfluorophosphate/corticosterone Gulf War Illness animal model

The efficacy of LNFPIII in ameliorating acute and persisting hippocampal synaptic, trophic factor, and cytokine aberrations in a different GWI animal model consisting of PB, N,Ndiethyl-meta-toluamide (DEET), DFP, and corticosterone (cort; O'Callaghan et al., 2015) exposures was also investigated. During a 15 day period, animals were exposed to PB and DEET on days 1-14, cort on days 6-14, and DFP on day 15. A subset of animals was coadministered LNFPIII during the duration of GWIR exposure (sacrificed 48 h post-exposure), another subset began receiving LNFPIII four months after exposure (sacrificed seven months post-exposure), and another subset began LNFPIII treatment eight months after exposure (sacrificed 11 months post-exposure). Basal synaptic transmission was increased by GWIR exposure 48 h post-exposure, an effect that was further enhanced by LNFPIII coadministration. LNFPIII treatment also numerically enhanced LTP magnitude 48 h post-exposure. Key inflammatory cytokine expression was unaffected by GWIR exposure and LNFPIII treatment at this early time point; however, trophic factor expression (i.e., BDNF) was enhanced by LNFPIII coadministration. Basal synaptic transmission was unaffected by either GWIR exposure or LNFPIII treatment seven months post-exposure whereas a GWIR-induced reduction in LTP magnitude was ameliorated by delayed LNFPIII treatment. A progressively worsened impairment in LTP magnitude was detected in GWIR-exposed animals 11 months postexposure, an effect that differentially manifested in the dH compared to the vH. A significant reduction in basal synaptic transmission was also detected in both sectors at this late time point. Strikingly, delayed LNFPIII treatment ameliorated these deficits in synaptic plasticity and transmission. The beneficial effects of delayed LNFPIII treatment on synaptic responses were also accompanied by improvements or enhancements in trophic factor expression in both the dH and the vH, results that may partly explain the ameliorative effects of the glycan conjugate

on synaptic plasticity and transmission. Collectively, GWIR exposures resulted in biphasic effects on basal synaptic transmission as well as a delayed reduction in LTP magnitude, a finding that is consistent with the progressively worsened phenotype of clinical GWI. Dorsoventral-specific impairments in synaptic plasticity and transmission also became more pronounced over time, a response that is consistent with clinical and preclinical data. Importantly, the ameliorative effects of delayed LNFPIII treatment on abnormalities in hippocampal synaptic responses and trophic factor expression in GWIR exposed-animals are especially promising as potential LNFPIII treatment for clinical GWI may also utilize a delayed timeline.

6.2 Current Challenges in Gulf War Illness Research

6.2.1 Overview

The present document has highlighted substantial advancement in GWI research over the past decade; however, many challenges persist. Some of these challenges include utilizing a single diagnosis criterion for GWI, contextualizing older GWI literature in which increasingly relevant subpopulation features (i.e., deployment status, symptomatic, etc.) are accounted for, balancing experimental designs with both male and female GWV, considering ethnic and racial disparities in the GWI population, and ensuring GWI animal model exposure paradigms and endpoints are relevant for GWI. The following section will review these clinical and preclinical challenges.

6.2.2 Clinical challenges

6.2.2.1 Clinical challenges: GWI diagnosis criteria

The National Academy of Medicine recommended that the CDC definition of GWI be employed for clinical GWI diagnoses and the Kansas criteria be utilized for research, facilitating the consistent use of two GWI diagnosis criteria rather than using other criteria like the Haley definition (Shine et al., 2014); however, the lack of a single, consistent GWI case definition is still an obstacle at multiple levels in a clinical setting. For instance, recent reports found that

many health care providers were unaware of GWI symptomology in addition to differential symptom severity based on distinct levels of exposure, resulting in inconsistent diagnoses and treatment plans for GWI veterans (Baldwin et al., 2019; Kaimal and Dieterich-Hartwell, 2020). Further, another study described the likelihood of ensuring approval of disability compensation programs for GWI claims was low and inconsistent as a result of an absence of a single GWI case definition (GAO, 2017). Not only will the absence of a consistent, single case definition obscure accurate diagnosis of GWI and limit financial support for continued treatment of the disease, but lacking an individual case definition will continue to influence the reproducibility of clinical GWI studies as well as cast doubt on the translational relevance of GWI animal models. Accordingly, a recent report by DDGWIRP (2018) highlighted an effort spearheaded by the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs to develop a single case definition of GWI.

6.2.2.2 Clinical challenges: contextualizing outdated GWI literature with recent advancements

The lack of a single case definition of GWI coupled with an increasing understanding of the intricacy of GWI has led to an interest in contextualizing older GWI literature. For instance, decades ago there was less appreciation for the impact of causal factors in shaping GWI symptom severity such as pattern, degree, or frequency of exposure to individual/multiple GWIR exposures, deployment status, deployment location in the Gulf War theater, history of mild traumatic brain injury, genetic susceptibility, and variability in enzymes responsible for the metabolism of GWIR chemicals (Steele et al., 2012; Steele et al., 2015; James and Georgopoulos, 2018; Janulewicz et al., 2018). Additionally, researchers are increasingly taking into consideration the general progressive nature of GWI coupled with the additive toxicological effect of aging on symptom severity. Disparities in subpopulations utilized in GWI studies have also led to inconsistencies between older and more recent literature. Some of the discrepancies in subpopulations employed in GWI studies include comparing dissimilar domains of neuropsychological function, employing different variations of experimental instruments and test batteries to evaluate the same function within a neuropsychological domain, not considering

dose-response effects, inconsistent definitions of symptomatic GWI as a result of lacking an individual case definition of the disease, juxtaposing the behavioral performance of GWV with GWIR chemical exposure to GWV that were unexposed, comparing deployed and non-deployed GWV, and using non-veteran population as controls. These variations in experimental design, coupled with irregular sample sizes, provided an unclear representation of GWI-specific neuropsychological dysfunction in the early years of GWI research (Axelrod and Milner, 2000), stalling the formation of not only a clear, single case definition of GWI, but also the development of objective biomarkers and therapies for GWI. Recent meta-analyses and reviews have attempted to assess emerging evidence of the complexities of GWI, contextualizing these complexities with older findings by determining reproducible GWI-specific impairments in neuropsychological domains that can be detected via sensitive and robust behavioral tasks (Janulewicz et al., 2017; Jeffrey et al., 2019). Namely, a meta-analysis by Janulewicz et al. (2017) surveyed GWI neuropsychological publications from 1992-2015 based on two factors within subpopulations: deployment status or presentation of GWI-specific symptomology. By establishing strict cognitive criteria for GWI-specific deficits, the result of this approach provided a thorough illustration of impairments in a variety of neuropsychological domains presented in GWI subpopulations. Further, the meta-analysis approach led to the suggestion that future clinical GWI behavioral studies aiming to develop objective biomarkers as well as therapies include tasks representing domains of visuospatial capacity, executive function, attentional abilities, and learning and memory. Block Design from the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Third Edition, Trail-making Test Digit Span, Continuous Performance Task, and California Verbal Learning Task were sensitive and robust tests that detected GWI-specific impairments in the suggested cognitive domains, leading to their recommended use in GWI studies by the recently published Common Data Elements (CDEs; CDMRP, 2019). Another review of neuropsychological GWI studies found that early studies framed their experimental design around a limited number of factors while more recent reports have considered multiple GWI

parameters and increasingly utilized a uniform GWI case definition (Jeffrey et al., 2019). This review calls for the investigation of the four cognitive domains impaired in GWI suggested by the aforementioned meta-analysis via the use of the CDE-recommended behavioral batteries. Additionally, the review suggested the utilization of objective and robust immunological, genetic, or neuroanatomical GWI biomarkers that are sensitive to dose-response effects. This is in line with findings of the present literature review. The field of GWI research may also greatly benefit from guidance that continues to refine approaches for incorporation of appropriate baseline controls when considering complex factors such as deployment status and chemical exposure. Additionally, expanded recommendation of behavioral batteries and instruments for investigating reproducible GWI-specific deficits in particular neuropsychological domains may also facilitate the production of reproducible findings.

6.2.2.3 Clinical challenges: heterogenous GWI populations

6.2.2.3.1 Clinical challenges: sex-specific presentation of GWI

Increasing evidence suggests that GWI manifests in a sex-specific manner (Coughlin, 2016; Coughlin et al., 2017; Brown et al., 2019; Dursa et al., 2019; Heboyan et al., 2019; Porter et al., 2020; Sullivan et al., 2020; Abou-Donia et al., 2021). There has been augmented interest in studying sex-specific manifestations of GWI over the past five years, resulting from the variable presentation of GWI in women due to a paucity of females included in GWI epidemiological studies and a litany of sex-related confounding factors presented in these studies i.e., comparing male and female GWV or juxtaposing female GWV with healthy controls (Coughlin, 2016; Coughlin et al., 2017; Danan et al., 2017; Brown et al., 2019). A few recent reports studied GWI in women GWV while also considering sex-specific confounding factors (Brown et al., 2019; Heboyan et al., 2019; Porter et al., 2020; Sullivan et al., 2020). Heboyan et al. (2019) reanalyzed the CDC Air Force study dataset that was used in Fukuda et al. (1998) to evaluate sex disparities presented in a large GWI population. Using either the CDC or Kansas case definition of GWI, deployed female veterans had a greater GWI risk and exhibited GWI at

greater rates than their male counterparts. Additionally, female GWI veterans presented severe GWI symptomology at a significantly elevated rate compared to male GWI veterans. A fundamental drawback of this investigation is that it lacks the ability to assess the current health of veterans. Addressing the obstacle of assessing current health of female GWV while also analyzing sex-specific effects, Brown et al. (2019) found that although the percentage of male and females that were deployed and utilized the Veterans Health Administration were similar, female GWV were significantly more likely to report adverse health conditions than males. Specifically, female GWV were more likely to present health problems such as asthma, irritable bowel syndrome, nervous system disorders like migraines, musculoskeletal abnormalities such as osteoarthritis and osteoporosis, and mental health disorders like bipolar disorder, depression, anxiety/panic disorder, and eating disorders. On the contrary, men were more likely to report diabetes, tinnitus, hearing loss, hypertension, and spinal cord dysfunction. A limitation of this study is that while the authors investigated aberrations that are in line with GWI symptomology, the investigation did not determine if sex-specific distinctions manifested as defined by GWI case definitions like the Kansas or CDC criteria. A recent report by Sullivan et al. (2020) assessed the current health of female GWV and evaluated how their current symptoms relate to GWI case definitions and if sex-specific disparities are present. This study also observed that deployed female GWV exhibited significantly greater GWI-related symptoms than nondeployed female GWV as defined by CDC and Kansas criteria. Further, the results of this report were in line with female GWV being more likely to meet GWI-specific criterion than their male counterparts as defined by the Kansas definition of GWI, particularly respiratory abnormalities. A study by Porter et al. (2020) also indicated that women had a greater adjusted odds for being diagnosed with GWI by the CDC criteria compared to males. Collectively, these studies suggest that GWI presents in a sex-specific manner. It is currently unclear why GWI presents in female GWV at an elevated rate than male GWV. Notably, female veterans that served during the 1990-1991 Gulf War era comprise 56% of all living women U.S. veterans (VA, 2011),

underscoring the fact that more American women served in the 1991 Persian Gulf War than any previous war zone in U.S. history due to expanded military roles (Coughlin et al., 2017). As a result of the uniquely high levels of exposure to neurotoxicants in the Persian Gulf War, distinct sex-related differences in enzymes related to the metabolism of GWIR neurotoxicants may have contributed to the vulnerability of females to developing GWI (Heboyan et al., 2019). Increased female exposure to neurotoxicants as a result of deployment location may also shape GWI symptom severity. Additionally, persisting differences in GWI symptomology may be related to distinct proinflammatory cytokine signaling stemming from sex-specific differences in sex hormone profiles (Smylie et al., 2013; Coughlin, 2017). For instance, a recent investigation by Abou-Donia et al. (2021) identified plasma autoantibodies that distinctly presented in females with GWI compared to male GWI veterans. Future studies of sex-specific effects are warranted and would be strengthened by using a longitudinal approach to assess how women's general health, overall GWI symptoms, and diseases that disproportionately affect female GWI veterans change over time. Considering factors such as aging and menopause as well as comorbid conditions like PTSD may also be fruitful. Further, evaluating GWI-related teratogenicity may be beneficial for post-9/11 veterans. These future studies will aid in the development of robust and sensitive objective GWI biomarkers and facilitate the development of safe and efficacious GWI therapeutics.

6.2.2.3.2 Clinical challenges: race-specific presentation of GWI

Emerging evidence of GWI presenting in a race-specific manner has also been described (Coughlin and Heboyan, 2018). For instance, studies have revealed that GWI is more common in African American GWV than their white counterparts (Steele, 2000; Steele et al., 2012; Porter et al., 2020; Sullivan et al., 2020). Within a decade after the 1990-1991 Persian Gulf War, Steele (2000) found that the odds of black GWV to develop GWI were 23% greater than their white counterparts, even when their analysis was adjusted for the duration in theater, deployment location, service branch, rank, educational background, sex, and economic income.

A later study that considered several confounding factors reported that the unadjusted odds of black GWV developing GWI was 243% (Steele et al., 2012). A recent study by Sullivan et al. (2020) discovered that American Indian/Alaska Native, Asian/Pacific Islander, and all additional women defined as "nonwhite-other racial groups" were almost four times as likely to report more GWI-related symptoms than white GWV women. On the contrary, a recent study by Porter et al. (2020) found mixed results of race-specific presentation of GWI. It is presently unclear why race-specific disparities in GWI incidence and symptom severity exist. Race-specific differences in enzymes related to metabolism of GWIR chemicals such as paraoxonase-1 may underlie differences in the onset of GWI (Golomb, 2008; Davis et al., 2009). Further, the persisting phenotype of GWI may be related to distinct frequency and type of HLA allele expression across races (Allele-Frequencies, 2020). Collectively, these data suggest that future investigations into race-specific differences in GWI incidence and symptom severity are warranted. This is underscored by the paucity of reports that have investigated racial disparities in the occurrence of GWI (Coughlin and Heboyan, 2018). Accordingly, future longitudinal studies evaluating the current and altered prevalence of GWI-specific symptoms across racial groups are needed. Additionally, longitudinal studies assessing race-related distinctions in factors influencing GWI symptom severity such as deployment duration as well as location may be fruitful for understanding race-specific differences in GWI. Continued research into differential expression of protective factors like HLA alleles and the activity of enzymes that interact with GWIR chemicals will facilitate interpretation of race-related differences in patterns of GWI, which may potentially fill knowledge gaps required to define a single definition of GWI. Further, continued studies evaluating race-specific dissimilarities in GWI prevalence will aid not only in the production of robust, sensitive, and objective GWI-specific biomarkers but also in assessing safe and efficacious therapeutics for diverse GWI veteran populations.

6.2.3 Preclinical challenges

This review has established that complex factors of sex and race in an aging GWV population that can be subdivided by features such as deployment location and type of chemical exposure influences the prevalence and patterns of GWI symptomology. This heterogeneous population presents health care providers and clinical researchers with a substantial challenge. Accordingly, animal models utilized to study the clinical condition of GWI must be translationally relevant. Some considerations for preclinical GWI researchers that may be beneficial in addressing the relevance of animal models include the following: 1) determining if the ROA and dose of GWIR exposures are relevant to GWI; 2) establishing if the duration of aging an animal before beginning molecular, cellular, and behavioral experiments is translational to the current age of GWI veterans; 3) evaluating if the abnormalities presented in a GWI animal model are consistent with those observed in a clinical setting; 4) resolving if the delay prior to the assessment of the safety and efficacy of a potential therapeutic agent in treating GWI-specific aberrations is clinically relevant; 5) and validating the predictive validity of a GWI therapeutic by ensuring the assessed ROA has high patient compliance as well as translationally-relevant endpoints.

6.2.3.1 Preclinical challenges: GWI animal model exposure paradigms

We will highlight three exposure paradigms that are widely employed in preclinical studies to illustrate the importance of translationally-relevant ROA and doses of GWIR chemical and stress exposure (Abdel-Rahman et al., 2002; O'Callaghan et al., 2015; Zakirova et al., 2015). These paradigms induce a range of GWI-related pathological effects as a result of different concentrations and durations of GWIR chemical exposure and distinct methods of inducing stress; nevertheless, the GWIR chemical regimen and stress experience is based upon estimated Gulf War exposure levels to ensure construct and etiological validity of the animal model. Abdel-Rahman et al. (2002) utilized a daily exposure paradigm consisting of DEET, PB, PM, and restraint stress over 28 days in Sprague-Dawley rats to simulate the experience of

GWV. Specifically, the concentration of DEET, PB, and PM was derived from exposure estimated by IOM (1995) whereas five min restraint stress was selected after evaluating doseresponse effects of the synergistic impact of differing restraint stress times and GWIR chemical exposure on neuropathology. The ROA of DEET, PB, and PM exposure was dermal, oral, and dermal, respectively, routes that are consistent with those experienced by GWV in the combat arena. Another widely-employed animal model consisting of a 10-day exposure paradigm of PB and PM was developed in CD1 (Abdullah et al., 2011) and C57BL/6J (Zakirova et al., 2015) mice. The authors justify the exposure paradigm by using a concentration of PB that is in line with a probable high-level daily dosage consumed by GWV and a concentration of PM that is consistent with previous studies showing pathology induced by the pesticide; however, while the i.p. ROA may share a similar general pharmacokinetic profile to the PB (oral) and PM (dermal) exposure experience of GWV, there are clearly limitations to the i.p. ROA used in this model. O'Callaghan et al. (2015) also recapitulated GW conditions by employing a 15-day exposure paradigm where animals were exposed to GW-relevant concentrations of PB (Friedman et al., 1996) and DEET (IOM, 1995) during day 1-14, corticosterone via drinking water on days 8-15, and DFP on day 15. While the concentration and ROA utilized for corticosterone exposure was selected to simulate the immunosuppressive phenotype presented in GWI (O'Callaghan, 1991), the justification for selecting 4 mg/kg DFP, a dose that is employed in status epilepticus animal models (Pouliot et al., 2016), is unclear. Additionally, the ROA of PB (s.c.), DEET (s.c.), and DFP (i.p.) share similar challenges as described in the PB-PM model. Recent work by this group used 1.5 mg/kg DFP (i.p.) and corticosterone exposure in Sprague-Dawley rats without PB and DEET to study the effects of GWIR chemicals and stress, an exposure paradigm that may be more translationally relevant to GWI (Belgrad et al., 2019). Future studies employing novel GWI animal models should strongly consider the translational relevance of the dose, ROA, and duration of GWIR chemical and stress exposure to ensure effective construct and etiological validity. Further, development and validation of female GWI animal models is warranted. These

considerations will aid in the development of GWI-specific objective biomarkers as well as safe and efficacious therapies for GWI.

6.2.3.2 Preclinical challenges: aging animals following GWIR exposure(s)

Evidence increasingly suggests that GWI symptomology progressively worsens (Porter et al., 2020; Zundel et al., 2020), and aging GWV are at a greater risk for developing other adverse health conditions compared to the general public (Zundel et al., 2019). Accordingly, ensuring that GWI animal models are aged to a time point that is relevant to the current age of GWV is critical for investigating the persisting phenotype of GWI. For instance, a recent study by Madhu et al. (2019) aged animals for 10 months (i.e., approximately 29 human years (Sengupta, 2013)) after exposure to GWIR chemicals and stress before beginning behavioral, histopathological, and molecular experiments. As the Persian Gulf War occurred 30 years ago, the results of this report may be more transitionally relevant than studies that aged animals for too short or too long of a period. Specifically, using the same animal model as Madhu et al. (2019), Carreras et al. (2018) did not observe consistent pathology with the former report when animals were only aged for three months post-GWIR chemical and stress exposure. On the contrary, a study found behavioral and pathological abnormalities that were in line with GWI six months after PB-PM exposure (i.e., approximately 17 human years (Sengupta, 2013; Zakirova et al., 2015)), but not in the same animal model 22 months post-PB-PM exposure (Zakirova et al., 2016). These data suggest that confounding effects of aging can prevent the observation of GWI-specific pathology. Accordingly, future GWI preclinical studies should ensure appropriate aging occurs in animals to confirm construct and etiological validity of the investigated animal model, which will maximize translational relevance of such a study's findings and contribute to the development of objective GWI-specific biomarkers as well as safe and efficacious GWI therapies.

6.2.3.3 Preclinical challenges: are abnormalities in GWI models consistent with clinical GWI symptoms?

It has been established that GWV were exposed to a variety of GWI-specific etiological agents at varying durations and concentrations as a result of factors such as deployment location (Steele et al., 2012). Therefore, GWV present varying GWI-specific symptom severity, which should be accounted for by the use of different GWI models to ensure face validity. These GWI models may employ different etiological agents at varying concentrations over time, resulting in distinct pathology. For instance, the model developed by Abdel-Rahman et al. (2002) consistently results in more severe and wide-spread GWI-related pathology and symptoms than the model developed by O'Callaghan et al. (2015). This may be due to the use of a longer exposure protocol or a uniquely stressful experience in the former model compared to the latter. Nevertheless, these two models still result in the development of detrimental neuroimmune signaling and other underlying factors of GWI pathophysiology, suggesting that they are both clinically-relevant GWI models that recapitulate differing degrees of symptom severity. Therefore, it is critical that future researchers developing or selecting a GWI animal model consider the construct, etiological, and face validity of the proposed animal model in relation to the subpopulation of GWI veterans of interest. The recently published CDEs (CDMRP, 2019) and general GWI landscape (DDGWIRP, 2018) should serve as guideposts for preclinical researchers in selecting particular tasks to investigate distinct neuropsychological domains as well as underlying neuropathological mechanisms consistently associated with GWI. This coherent approach may lead to not only advancement in developing a single case definition and animal model of GWI but also the development of objective biomarkers and therapeutics for GWI.

6.2.3.4 Preclinical challenges: delayed therapeutic intervention in GWI animal models

We have previously described the importance of aging animals following GWIR chemical and stress exposure to ensure clinically-relevant translation of GWI progression. Delaying the

initiation of GWI treatment with a novel therapeutic in animal models is also essential as 30 years have passed since the instigation of GWI. For instance, Laferriere et al. (2019) aged animals for nine months following GWIR exposures before beginning treatment with a therapeutic, an excellent delay period that substantially enhances the clinical relevance of the report's findings. Therefore, future studies investigating the safety and efficacy of therapies for the treatment of GWI should critically examine the delay between initial GWIR chemical exposure and the initiation of treating animals with a therapeutic to maximize the predictive validity of their results.

6.2.3.5 Preclinical challenges: Route of administration in assessing preclinical GWI therapies

Another factor that must be considered during preclinical investigations of the safety and efficacy of a novel therapeutic for the treatment of GWI includes the use of a translational ROA with likely high patient compliance. An example of a recent study using a translational ROA to assess the safety and efficacy of a novel therapeutic can be observed in Joshi et al. (2020) where the researchers introduced a GWI therapeutic into the chow of animals six months after PB-PM exposure and found amelioration of a variety of underlying GWI pathophysiological features. Some preclinical studies have reported promising results in treating GWI-specific aberrations but have employed a ROA that cannot be used in a clinical setting. For instance, Laferriere et al. (2019) detected an efficacious effect of a miRNA inhibitor on GWI-related abnormalities nine months after GWIR chemical and stress exposure; however, animals received an intracerebroventricular infusion of the inhibitor via an osmotic pump, a ROA that the authors note in their manuscript is impractical for a clinical setting. Indeed, this approach resulted in the amelioration of GWI-related pathology, but developing a miRNA inhibitor formulation that uses a ROA with greater patient compliance will likely be necessary for clinical trials.

6.2.3.6 Preclinical challenges: GWI animal model endpoints

A final consideration for future researchers investigating the safety and efficacy of potential therapeutics for GWI is the use of clinically relevant endpoints that are in line with GWI-specific symptomology. GWI symptomology is diverse and complex, leading to a myriad of endpoints used in previous studies. The lack of a unified approach to determining the safety and efficacy of therapeutics has led to slow progress in the development of a GWI therapy (Chester et al., 2019). Accordingly, the development of consistent endpoints to facilitate the production of clinically relevant and translational data from investigations of GWI animal models is essential for sustained progress in the production of a GWI therapeutic. Chester et al. (2019) recommended following the National Institute of Health roadmap to curtail many inconsistencies and advance the development of clinical GWI therapeutics. The application of this perspective to preclinical studies may also be fruitful. For instance, the CDEs established by CDMRP (2019) recommended that future clinical GWI neuropsychological studies include tasks that evaluate the cognitive domains of visuospatial capacity, executive function, attentional abilities, and learning and memory. Sensitive and robust tasks that were recommended by this report to evaluate these domains include the Block Design from the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Third Edition, Trail-making Test Digit Span, Continuous Performance Task, and California Verbal Learning Task. Validation of preclinical tasks that are similar to the aforementioned clinical tests and assess the same cognitive domains recommended by the CDEs would likely augment the impact of studies investigating potential therapeutics in animal models. Collectively, defining consistent, clinically relevant endpoints to assess the safety and efficacy of therapies in treating GWI-specific molecular, cellular, and behavioral aberrations may greatly benefit the rate and magnitude of success in developing a therapy for GWI.

There are many challenges in the field of GWI research. Moving towards a single case definition of GWI that considers the diverse subpopulations of GWV is critical. Additionally, ensuring that endpoints used to validate the dose and ROA of GWIR chemical and stress

exposure in an age-relevant animal model is crucial for recapitulating GWI. Assessing a ROA with high patient compliance and clinically relevant endpoints in preclinical investigations of GWI therapies will also accelerate progress in developing a treatment for this disease.

6.3 Implications for Clinical Gulf War Illness

Clinical GWI is a disease state that presents with a constellation of neurological symptoms that differ between individuals due to inherent physiological characteristics of the veteran (Coughlin, 2017) as well as the frequency, type, and duration of exposures to GWI causal factors (White et al., 2016). Therefore, preclinical evaluation of multiple forms of GWIR exposures (i.e., in vitro vs. in vivo) and presentation of their detrimental effects within distinct systems (i.e., ex vivo slice preparation vs. in vivo) may address knowledge gaps within the field of GWI research. The findings in the current document have addressed knowledge gaps related to preclinical, progressive pathological mechanisms initiated by GWIR exposures in vitro and in vivo as well as the efficacy of a coadministered and delayed immunotherapy in ameliorating neurological aberrations in multiple GWI animal models.

Several research groups have published a myriad of publications highlighting the pathological mechanisms initiated by GWIR exposures in vitro (Friedman et al., 1996; Pavlovsky et al., 2003; Grigoryan et al., 2008; Corbel et al., 2009; Grigoryan et al., 2009a; Grigoryan et al., 2009b; Ferchmin et al., 2015) as well as exposures in vivo including DEET, PB, PM, and restraint stress (Abdel-Rahman et al., 2002; Abdullah et al., 2012; Carreras et al., 2018; Shetty et al., 2020), variations of PB, DEET, DFP, and corticosterone (O'Callaghan et al., 2015; Koo et al., 2018; Michalovicz et al., 2019), PB-PM (Abdullah et al., 2011; Zakirova et al., 2015; Bose et al., 2020; Joshi et al., 2020), and PB along with restraint stress (Macht et al., 2018; Macht et al., 2020). These laboratories and many others have extensively investigated acute as well as persisting neurological aberrations and the pathological mechanisms that underlie these aberrations; however, the number of published studies available that employed electrophysiological techniques to investigate the effects of GWIR exposures on mammalian

neurophysiology is noticeably limited. As common neurophysiological measurements such as LTP serve as a synaptic substrate for learning and memory (Whitlock et al., 2006), a component of the cognitive domain that is consistently impaired in GWI (White et al., 2016), preclinical interrogation of synaptic circuits with electrophysiology approaches may provide insight into subtle and profound behavioral deficits that present in a heterogeneous disease state such as GWI. For instance, chapter two highlighted distinct cholinergic and noncholinergic mechanisms involved in mediating abnormalities in excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission along the hippocampal dorsoventral axis following in vitro DFP exposure. While this work was completed in vitro and via an acute exposure paradigm, the finding of a unique response to a GWIR exposure along the dorsoventral axis was consistent with the reported differential presentation of pathology along the hippocampal longitudinal axis in GWV (Vythilingam et al., 2005; Odegard et al., 2013), indicating to our group that we may find dorsoventral-specific effects on synaptic plasticity and transmission responses following in vivo GWIR exposures. Indeed, we also detected diverging effects of GWIR exposures on hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission in two different GWI animal models in chapters three-five. Although the finding of dissimilar adverse effects on synaptic responses in two GWI animal models is consistent with the heterogeneity of clinical GWI, and we speculate that the abnormalities in synaptic activity in both models and sectors converge around a mechanism involving a reduction in CA1 subfield synaptic density, the dorsoventral-specific effects within each model became more pronounced over time. Delayed presentation of dorsoventral-specific effects was particularly noteworthy in the animal model described in chapter five where we did not detect significant differences in dH and vH synaptic plasticity and transmission until 11 months post-GWIR exposures. The detection of delayed and worsened dorsoventral-specific effects of GWIR exposures as described in chapter five is also consistent with the growing consensus that GWI becomes worse over time (Coughlin, 2017), underscoring the importance of assessing experimental endpoints at translationally relevant time points in GWI animal models. Additionally, the

progressive dorsoventral-specific effects of GWIR exposures on hippocampal synaptic responses may underlie differential, subtle impairments in learning and memory tasks described in chapter four as well as experiments (i.e., the 8-arm radial arm maze and the Barnes maze) with the animal model described in chapter five that are not shown here. Collectively, employing powerful techniques underused in GWI preclinical research (i.e., electrophysiology) on physiological systems that provide insight into modest or profound behavioral alterations implicated in the GWI phenotype (i.e., hippocampal dorsoventral axis) may shed light on heterogeneous and complex neuropsychological aberrations presented by GWI veterans (Jeffrey et al., 2019).

The present document highlighted some of the preclinical candidates currently being assessed for the treatment of GWI. Clinical GWI therapeutics are targeted and symptomatic, resulting in limitations for efficacious treatment of GWI in a diverse veteran population. As increasing evidence implicates neuroimmune dysfunction as one of the major underlying components of the GWI phenotype (O'Callaghan et al., 2016; Coughlin, 2017; Georgopoulos et al., 2017), we specifically aimed to assess if a coadministered immunotherapeutic, LNFPIII, would ameliorate neurological aberrations in multiple GWI animal models 48 h after GWIR exposures. Additionally, we investigated if LNFPIII treatment, initiated months after GWIR exposures, would ameliorate neurological abnormalities in two GWI animal models. Indeed, chapters three and five illustrated that coadministered LNFPIII led to enhancements in hippocampal synaptic plasticity and transmission 48 h post-GWIR exposure, results that coincided with elevated hippocampal trophic factor expression. Moreover, chapters four and five revealed that delayed LNFPIII treatment enhanced and ameliorated, respectively, deficits in LTP magnitude in both hippocampal sectors months after GWIR exposures. Deficits in synaptic transmission were similarly ameliorated in both animal models following delayed LNFPIII treatment. Chapter four describes further beneficial effects of delayed LNFPIII treatment on motor and cognitive function as well as glial activation months after PB-PM exposure whereas

chapter five illustrates ameliorative and enhancing effects of delayed LNFPIII administration on trophic factor production. However, there are some limitations of these studies. Chapter one discussed the emerging evidence of sex-specific GWI presentation (Dursa et al., 2019; Sullivan et al., 2020), underscoring the need to incorporate female rodents in preclinical GWI investigations. The studies that comprise the present document only employed male mice, limiting the scope of our findings. The work described in chapter four utilized a battery of behavioral tasks, which may have introduced an undesirable stress effect on the behavioral performance of animals. While previous work by our group established an ideal LNFPIII treatment dose (Atochina et al., 2008; Bhargava et al., 2012; Tundup et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2012; Tundup et al., 2015; Carpenter et al., 2020; Mote et al., 2020), utilization of multiple LNFPIII concentrations to generate a dose-response curve in the context of GWI may have been fruitful. No evidence of adverse drug effects have been reported following LNFPIII treatment; however, the use of toxicological assays to assess the safety of LNFPIII within the examined GWI animal models may have improved the present work. On the other hand, the studies described in the current document have many strengths. For instance, the randomization procedure and blinded design reduced experimental bias introduced by researchers. The number of animals used in the included reports resulted in sufficient experimental power, minimizing type II statistical error. The experimental design of chapter five incorporated multiple time points to track the progressive effects of GWIR exposures until the animals reached an age that was translationally relevant to the current age of GWI veterans (Sengupta, 2013), substantially broadening the impact of our findings. Chapters three and four also used acute and persisting time points (i.e., 48 h up until eight months post-PB-PM exposure) that enhanced the translational relevance of those particular reports' results as well. While chapter two utilized an acute exposure paradigm that resulted in limited relevance to the delayed presentation of GWI, the data in that chapter may provide particular insight into the general, short-term mechanisms that underlie the detrimental effects of OP overexposures on

hippocampal synaptic transmission. This document has consistently emphasized the heterogenous nature of clinical GWI, and the use of multiple animal models to assess the efficacy of LNFPIII in treating this disease state extended the impact of our findings. We previously stated that the behavioral test battery used in chapter four may have introduced an undesirable stress effect on our data, but this approach allowed us to rigorously assess the effect of GWIR exposures on multiple cognitive domains in two animal models. The utilization of an interdisciplinary approach to assess the efficacy of LNFPIII in the context of GWI (i.e., neurochemistry, neuroimmunology, and neurophysiology) also expanded the scope of our results. Importantly, we used a powerful technique underrepresented in GWI reports, electrophysiology, to address substantial knowledge gaps within the field of GWI research. Collectively, our findings demonstrate the beneficial effects of LNFPIII on neurological abnormalities in multiple GWI animal models, underscoring the potential of LNFPIII as a therapeutic for treating GWI in a clinical setting.

References

- Abdel-Rahman A, Shetty AK, and Abou-Donia MB (2002) Disruption of the blood–brain barrier and neuronal cell death in cingulate cortex, dentate gyrus, thalamus, and hypothalamus in a rat model of Gulf-War syndrome. *Neurobiol Dis* **10**: 306-326.
- Abdullah L, Crynen G, Reed J, Bishop A, Phillips J, Ferguson S, Mouzon B, Mullan M, Mathura V, and Mullan M (2011) Proteomic CNS profile of delayed cognitive impairment in mice exposed to Gulf War agents. *Neuromolecular Med* **13**: 275-288.
- Abdullah L, Evans JE, Bishop A, Reed JM, Crynen G, Phillips J, Pelot R, Mullan MA, Ferro A, and Mullan CM (2012) Lipidomic profiling of phosphocholine containing brain lipids in mice with sensorimotor deficits and anxiety-like features after exposure to Gulf War agents. *Neuromolecular Med* **14:** 349-361.
- Abou-Donia MB, Krengel MH, Lapadula ES, Zundel CG, LeClair J, Massaro J, Quinn E, Conboy LA, Kokkotou E, and Nguyen DD (2021) Sex-Based Differences in Plasma Autoantibodies to Central Nervous System Proteins in Gulf War Veterans versus Healthy and Symptomatic Controls. *Brain Sciences* **11**: 148.
- Allele-Frequencies (Accessed: May 7 2020) http://www.allelefrequencies.net/pop6001b.asp?pop_geog_region=North%20America
- Atochina O, Da'dara AA, Walker M, and Harn DA (2008) The immunomodulatory glycan LNFPIII initiates alternative activation of murine macrophages in vivo. *Immunology* **125:** 111-121.
- Axelrod BN and Milner BI (2000) Forum Gulf War Illness research: separating the wheat from the chaff. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist* **14**: 344-348.
- Baldwin N, Rudquist RR, Lava-Parmele S, Trembley JH, Butterick TA, and Bach RR (2019) Improving Health Care for Veterans With Gulf War Illness. *Federal Practitioner* **36:** 212.
- Belgrad J, Dutta DJ, Bromley-Coolidge S, Kelly KA, Michalovicz LT, Sullivan KA, O'Callaghan JP, and Fields RD (2019) Oligodendrocyte involvement in Gulf War Illness. *Glia*.
- Bhargava P, Li C, Stanya KJ, Jacobi D, Dai L, Liu S, Gangl MR, Harn DA, and Lee C-H (2012) Immunomodulatory glycan LNFPIII alleviates hepatosteatosis and insulin resistance through direct and indirect control of metabolic pathways. *Nat Med* **18**: 1665.
- Bose D, Saha P, Mondal A, Fanelli B, Seth RK, Janulewicz P, Sullivan K, Lasley S, Horner R, and Colwell RR (2020) Obesity Worsens Gulf War Illness Symptom Persistence Pathology by Linking Altered Gut Microbiome Species to Long-Term Gastrointestinal, Hepatic, and Neuronal Inflammation in a Mouse Model. *Nutrients* **12**: 2764.
- Brown MC, Sims KJ, Gifford EJ, Goldstein KM, Johnson MR, Williams CD, and Provenzale D (2019) Gender-based Differences among 1990–1991 Gulf War Era Veterans: Demographics, Lifestyle Behaviors, and Health Conditions. *Womens Health Issues* **29**: S47-S55.
- Carpenter J, Gordon H, Ludwig H, Wagner J, Harn D, Norberg T, and Filipov N (2020) Neurochemical and neuroinflammatory perturbations in two Gulf War Illness models: Modulation by the immunotherapeutic LNFPIII. *Neurotoxicology* **77**: 40-50.
- Carreras I, Aytan N, Mellott T, Choi J-K, Lehar M, Crabtree L, Leite-Morris K, Jenkins BG, Blusztajn JK, and Dedeoglu A (2018) Anxiety, neuroinflammation, cholinergic and GABAergic abnormalities are early markers of Gulf War illness in a mouse model of the disease. *Brain Res* **1681**: 34-43.
- CDMRP (Accessed:

https://cdmrp.army.mil/gwirp/research_highlights/19gwi_cde_initiative_highlight.aspx

- Cherry N, Creed F, Silman A, Dunn G, Baxter D, Smedley J, Taylor S, and MacFarlane GJ (2001) Health and exposures of United Kingdom Gulf war veterans. Part II: The relation of health to exposure. *Occup Environ Med* **58**: 299-306.
- Chester JE, Rowneki M, Van Doren W, and Helmer DA (2019) Progression of interventionfocused research for Gulf War illness. *Military Medical Research* 6: 31.

- Corbel V, Stankiewicz M, Pennetier C, Fournier D, Stojan J, Girard E, Dimitrov M, Molgó J, Hougard J-M, and Lapied B (2009) Evidence for inhibition of cholinesterases in insect and mammalian nervous systems by the insect repellent deet. *BMC Biol* **7**: 47.
- Coughlin SS (2016) Need for studies of the health of Gulf War women veterans. *Mil Med* **181:** 198-198.
- Coughlin SS (2017) A neuroimmune model of Gulf War Illness. J Environ Health Sci 3.
- Coughlin SS and Heboyan V (2018) On the Need for Epidemiologic Studies of Gulf War Illness among African-American Veterans.
- Coughlin SS, Krengel M, Sullivan K, Pierce PF, Heboyan V, and Wilson LCC (2017) A review of epidemiologic studies of the health of Gulf War women veterans. *J Environ Health Sci* **3**.
- Danan ER, Krebs EE, Ensrud K, Koeller E, MacDonald R, Velasquez T, Greer N, and Wilt TJ (2017) An evidence map of the women veterans' health research literature (2008–2015). *J Gen Intern Med* **32:** 1359-1376.
- Davis KA, Crow JA, Chambers HW, Meek EC, and Chambers JE (2009) Racial differences in paraoxonase-1 (PON1): a factor in the health of southerners? *Environ Health Perspect* **117:** 1226-1231.
- DDGWIRP (2018) The Gulf War Illness Landscape, in *Programs*, D.o.D.C.D.M.R.
- Deshpande LS, Carter DS, Blair RE, and DeLorenzo RJ (2010) Development of a prolonged calcium plateau in hippocampal neurons in rats surviving status epilepticus induced by the organophosphate diisopropylfluorophosphate. *Toxicol Sci* **116**: 623-631.
- Dickey B, Madhu LN, and Shetty AK (2020) Gulf War Illness: Mechanisms Underlying Brain Dysfunction and Promising Therapeutic Strategies. *Pharmacol Ther*: 107716.
- Dursa EK, Barth SK, Porter BW, and Schneiderman AI (2019) Health Status of Female and Male Gulf War and Gulf Era Veterans: A Population-Based Study. *Womens Health Issues* 29: S39-S46.
- Fanselow MS and Dong H-W (2010) Are the dorsal and ventral hippocampus functionally distinct structures? *Neuron* **65:** 7-19.
- Ferchmin P, Pérez D, Cuadrado BL, Carrasco M, Martins AH, and Eterović VA (2015) Neuroprotection against diisopropylfluorophosphate in acute hippocampal slices. *Neurochem Res* **40**: 2143-2151.
- Friedman A, Kaufer D, Shemer J, Hendler I, Soreq H, and Tur-Kaspa I (1996) Pyridostigmine brain penetration under stress enhances neuronal excitability and induces early immediate transcriptional response. *Nat Med* **2:** 1382.
- Fukuda K, Nisenbaum R, Stewart G, Thompson WW, Robin L, Washko RM, Noah DL, Barrett DH, Randall B, and Herwaldt BL (1998) Chronic multisymptom illness affecting Air Force veterans of the Gulf War. *JAMA* **280**: 981-988.
- GAO (2017) Improvements Needed for VA to Better Understand, Process, and Communicate Decisions on Claims, in, GAO Government Accountability Office, Report to Congressional Requesters.
- Georgopoulos AP, James LM, Carpenter AF, Engdahl BE, Leuthold AC, and Lewis SM (2017) Gulf War illness (GWI) as a neuroimmune disease. *Exp Brain Res* **235**: 3217-3225.
- Golomb BA (2008) Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors and Gulf War illnesses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A **105**: 4295-4300.
- Grigoryan H, Li B, Anderson EK, Xue W, Nachon F, Lockridge O, and Schopfer LM (2009a) Covalent binding of the organophosphorus agent FP-biotin to tyrosine in eight proteins that have no active site serine. *Chem Biol Interact* **180**: 492-498.
- Grigoryan H, Li B, Xue W, Grigoryan M, Schopfer LM, and Lockridge O (2009b) Mass spectral characterization of organophosphate-labeled lysine in peptides. *Anal Biochem* **394:** 92-100.
- Grigoryan H, Schopfer LM, Thompson CM, Terry AV, Masson P, and Lockridge O (2008) Mass spectrometry identifies covalent binding of soman, sarin, chlorpyrifos oxon, diisopropyl

fluorophosphate, and FP-biotin to tyrosines on tubulin: a potential mechanism of long term toxicity by organophosphorus agents. *Chem Biol Interact* **175**: 180-186.

- Heboyan V, Krengel MH, Sullivan K, Iobst S, Klimas N, Wilson C, and Coughlin SS (2019) Sex Differences in Gulf War Illness: A Reanalysis of Data From the CDC Air Force Study Using CDC and Modified Kansas Case Definitions. *J Occup Environ Med* **61**: 610-616.
- IOM (1995) Health consequences of service during the Persian Gulf War: initial findings and recommendations for immediate action. National Academies Press.
- James LM and Georgopoulos AP (2018) Persistent antigens hypothesis: the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) connection. *J Neurol Neuromed* **3**: 27-31.
- Janulewicz P, Krengel M, Quinn E, Heeren T, Toomey R, Killiany R, Zundel C, Ajama J, O'Callaghan J, and Steele L (2018) The multiple hit hypothesis for gulf war illness: Selfreported chemical/biological weapons exposure and mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain sciences* **8**: 198.
- Janulewicz PA, Krengel MH, Maule A, White RF, Cirillo J, Sisson E, Heeren T, and Sullivan K (2017) Neuropsychological characteristics of Gulf War illness: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One* **12**.
- Jeffrey MG, Krengel M, Kibler J, Zundel C, Klimas NG, Sullivan K, and Craddock TJ (2019) Neuropsychological Findings in Gulf War Illness: A Review. *Front Psychol* **10**: 2088.
- Joshi U, Evans JE, Pearson A, Saltiel N, Cseresznye A, Darcey T, Ojo J, Keegan AP, Oberlin S, and Mouzon B (2020) Targeting sirtuin activity with nicotinamide riboside reduces neuroinflammation in a GWI mouse model. *Neurotoxicology*.
- Kaimal G and Dieterich-Hartwell R (2020) Grappling with Gulf War Illness: Perspectives of Gulf War Providers. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* **17:** 8574.
- Koo B-B, Michalovicz LT, Calderazzo S, Kelly KA, Sullivan K, Killiany RJ, and O'Callaghan JP (2018) Corticosterone potentiates DFP-induced neuroinflammation and affects highorder diffusion imaging in a rat model of Gulf War Illness. *Brain Behav Immun* **67**: 42-46.
- Laferriere NR, Kurata WE, Grayson III CT, Stecklow KM, and Pierce LM (2019) Inhibition of microRNA-124-3p as a novel therapeutic strategy for the treatment of Gulf War Illness: Evaluation in a rat model. *Neurotoxicology* **71**: 16-30.
- Macht V, Woodruff J, Burzynski H, Grillo C, Reagan L, and Fadel J (2020) Interactions between pyridostigmine bromide and stress on glutamatergic neurochemistry: Insights from a rat model of Gulf War Illness. *Neurobiology of Stress* **12**: 100210.
- Macht V, Woodruff J, Grillo C, Wood C, Wilson M, and Reagan L (2018) Pathophysiology in a model of Gulf War Illness: Contributions of pyridostigmine bromide and stress. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* **96:** 195-202.
- Madhu LN, Attaluri S, Kodali M, Shuai B, Upadhya R, Gitai D, and Shetty AK (2019) Neuroinflammation in Gulf War Illness is Linked with HMGB1 and Complement Activation, which can be Discerned from Brain-Derived Extracellular Vesicles in the Blood. *Brain Behav Immun*.
- Michalovicz LT, Locker AR, Kelly KA, Miller JV, Barnes Z, Fletcher MA, Miller DB, Klimas NG, Morris M, and Lasley SM (2019) Corticosterone and pyridostigmine/DEET exposure attenuate peripheral cytokine expression: Supporting a dominant role for neuroinflammation in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *Neurotoxicology* **70**: 26-32.
- Mote RS, Carpenter JM, Dockman RL, Steinberger AJ, Suen G, Norberg T, Harn DA, Wagner JJ, and Filipov NM (2020) Assessing the Beneficial Effects of the Immunomodulatory Glycan LNFPIII on Gut Microbiota and Health in a Mouse Model of Gulf War Illness. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* **17:** 7081.
- Nugent SM, Freeman M, Ayers CK, Winchell KA, Press AM, O'Neil ME, Paynter R, and Kansagara D (2020) A Systematic Review of Therapeutic Interventions and Management Strategies for Gulf War Illness. *Mil Med*.

O'Callaghan JP (1991) Quantification of glial fibrillary acidic protein: comparison of slotimmunobinding assays with a novel sandwich ELISA. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **13:** 275-281.

- O'Callaghan JP, Kelly KA, Locker AR, Miller DB, and Lasley SM (2015) Corticosterone primes the neuroinflammatory response to DFP in mice: potential animal model of Gulf War Illness. *J Neurochem* **133**: 708-721.
- O'Callaghan JP, Michalovicz LT, and Kelly KA (2016) Supporting a neuroimmune basis of Gulf war illness. *EBioMedicine* **13:** 5-6.
- Odegard TN, Cooper CM, Farris EA, Arduengo J, Bartlett J, and Haley R (2013) Memory impairment exhibited by veterans with Gulf War Illness. *Neurocase* **19:** 316-327.
- Papatheodoropoulos C (2018) Electrophysiological evidence for long-axis intrinsic diversification of the hippocampus. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)* **23:** 109-145.
- Pavlovsky L, Browne RO, and Friedman A (2003) Pyridostigmine enhances glutamatergic transmission in hippocampal CA1 neurons. *Exp Neurol* **179:** 181-187.
- Phillips KF, Santos E, Blair RE, and Deshpande LS (2019) Targeting intracellular calcium stores alleviates neurological morbidities in a DFP-based rat model of Gulf War Illness. *Toxicol Sci.*
- Porter B, Long K, Rull RP, Dursa EK, and Team MCS (2020) Prevalence of Chronic Multisymptom Illness/Gulf War Illness Over Time Among Millennium Cohort Participants, 2001 to 2016. *J Occup Environ Med* **62:** 4-10.
- Pouliot W, Bealer S, Roach B, and Dudek F (2016) A rodent model of human organophosphate exposure producing status epilepticus and neuropathology. *Neurotoxicology* **56:** 196-203.
- Sengupta P (2013) The laboratory rat: relating its age with human's. Int J Prev Med 4: 624.
- Shetty AK, Attaluri S, Kodali M, Shuai B, Shetty GA, Upadhya D, Hattiangady B, Madhu LN, Upadhya R, and Bates A (2020) Monosodium luminol reinstates redox homeostasis, improves cognition, mood and neurogenesis, and alleviates neuro-and systemic inflammation in a model of Gulf War Illness. *Redox Biol* **28**: 101389.
- Shine K, Bloom F, Cook K, Cory-Slechta D, Friedberg F, and Grossblatt N (2014) Chronic Multisymptom Illness in Gulf War Veterans: Case Definitions Reexamined.
- Smylie AL, Broderick G, Fernandes H, Razdan S, Barnes Z, Collado F, Sol C, Fletcher MA, and Klimas N (2013) A comparison of sex-specific immune signatures in Gulf War illness and chronic fatigue syndrome. *BMC Immunol* **14:** 29.
- Steele L (2000) Prevalence and patterns of Gulf War illness in Kansas veterans: association of symptoms with characteristics of person, place, and time of military service. *Am J Epidemiol* **152**: 992-1002.
- Steele L, Lockridge O, Gerkovich MM, Cook MR, and Sastre A (2015) Butyrylcholinesterase genotype and enzyme activity in relation to Gulf War illness: preliminary evidence of gene-exposure interaction from a case–control study of 1991 Gulf War veterans. *Environmental Health* **14:** 4.
- Steele L, Sastre A, Gerkovich MM, and Cook MR (2012) Complex factors in the etiology of Gulf War illness: wartime exposures and risk factors in veteran subgroups. *Environ Health Perspect* **120**: 112-118.
- Sullivan K, Krengel M, Bradford W, Stone C, Thompson TA, Heeren T, and White RF (2018) Neuropsychological functioning in military pesticide applicators from the Gulf War: effects on information processing speed, attention and visual memory. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **65:** 1-13.
- Sullivan K, Krengel M, Heboyan V, Schildroth S, Wilson CC, lobst S, Klimas N, and Coughlin SS (2020) Prevalence and Patterns of Symptoms Among Female Veterans of the 1991 Gulf War Era: 25 Years Later. *J Womens Health*.
- Tundup S, Srivastava L, and Harn J, Donald A (2012) Polarization of host immune responses by helminth-expressed glycans. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1253:** E1-E13.

- Tundup S, Srivastava L, Norberg T, Watford W, and Harn D (2015) A neoglycoconjugate containing the human milk sugar LNFPIII drives anti-inflammatory activation of antigen presenting cells in a CD14 dependent pathway. *PLoS One* **10**: e0137495.
- VA (2011) Gulf War Era Veterans Report: Pre-9/11. Washington, Department of Veterans Affairs.
- Vythilingam M, Luckenbaugh DA, Lam T, Morgan III CA, Lipschitz D, Charney DS, Bremner JD, and Southwick SM (2005) Smaller head of the hippocampus in Gulf War-related posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging* **139**: 89-99.
- White RF, Steele L, O'Callaghan JP, Sullivan K, Binns JH, Golomb BA, Bloom FE, Bunker JA, Crawford F, and Graves JC (2016) Recent research on Gulf War illness and other health problems in veterans of the 1991 Gulf War: Effects of toxicant exposures during deployment. *Cortex* **74:** 449-475.
- Whitlock JR, Heynen AJ, Shuler MG, and Bear MF (2006) Learning induces long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Science* **313**: 1093-1097.
- Winkenwerder W (2003) Environmental exposure report: pesticides final report. Department of Defense, Washington, D.C.
- Zakirova Z, Crynen G, Hassan S, Abdullah L, Horne L, Mathura V, Crawford F, and Ait-Ghezala G (2016) A chronic longitudinal characterization of neurobehavioral and neuropathological cognitive impairment in a mouse model of Gulf War agent exposure. *Front Integr Neurosci* **9**: 71.
- Zakirova Z, Tweed M, Crynen G, Reed J, Abdullah L, Nissanka N, Mullan M, Mullan MJ, Mathura V, and Crawford F (2015) Gulf War agent exposure causes impairment of longterm memory formation and neuropathological changes in a mouse model of Gulf War Illness. *PLoS One* **10**: e0119579.
- Zhu B, Trikudanathan S, Zozulya AL, Sandoval-Garcia C, Kennedy JK, Atochina O, Norberg T, Castagner B, Seeberger P, and Fabry Z (2012) Immune modulation by Lacto-Nfucopentaose III in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Clin Immunol* **142:** 351-361.
- Zundel CG, Heeren T, Grasso CM, Spiro III A, Proctor SP, Sullivan K, and Krengel M (2020) Changes in Health Status in the Ft. Devens Gulf War Veterans Cohort: 1997-2017. *Neurosci Insights* **15:** 1-7.
- Zundel CG, Krengel MH, Heeren T, Yee MK, Grasso CM, Janulewicz Lloyd PA, Coughlin SS, and Sullivan K (2019) Rates of Chronic Medical Conditions in 1991 Gulf War Veterans Compared to the General Population. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* **16:** 949.